# tanulmányok 84/1978

# MTA Számitástechnikai és Automatizálási Kutató Intézet Budapest





## MAGYAR TUDOMÁNYOS AKADÉMIA SZÁMITÁSTECHNIKAI ÉS AUTOMATIZÁLÁSI KUTATÓ INTÉZET

## DISCRETE-TIME IDENTIFICATION OF LINEAR DYNAMIC PROCESS

Cs. BÁNYÁSZ – L. KEVICZKY

Tanulmányok 84/1978.

A kiadásért felelős: DR VÁMOS TIBOR

ISBN 963 311 071 8 ISSN 0324-2951

Készült a KSH Nemzetközi Számitástechnikai Oktató és Tájékoztató Központ Reprográfiai Üzemében

### TABLE OF CONTENTS

Page

ABSTI	RACT	5
SYMBO	OLS	7
I.	INTRODUCTION	9
	1.1 Formulation of the problem	9
	1.2 Structure of the applied models	13
	1.3 Parameter estimation methods	28
	1.4 On the continuous-time correspondence	
	of discrete-time system models	34
II.	OFF-LINE IDENTIFICATION METHODS FOR SINGLE	
	OUTPUT SYSTEMS	38
	2.1 Least squares method	40
	2.2 Maximum likelihood method	. 42
	2.3 The generalized least squares method	58
	2.4 The extended matrix methods. Quasiline-	
	arization	68
	2.5 The method of instrumental variables	79
	2.6 The priori knowledge fitting method	82
	2.7 The KOOPMANS-LEVIN method	87
	2.8 Identification in closed loop	96
III.	OFF-LINE IDENTIFICATION METHODS FOR MULTIPLE	
	OUTPUT SYSTEMS	102
	3.1 Least squares method	105
	3.2 Maximum likelihood method	108
	3.3 The generalized least squares method	115
	3.4 Extended matrix methods	120
	3.5 The priori knowledge fitting method	122

- 3 -

#### Page

IV.	ON-LINE IDENTIFICATION METHODS FOR SINGLE	
	OUTPUT SYSTEMS	125
	4.1 The on-line least squares method	130
	4.2 The on-line maximum likelihood method	135
	4.3 The on-line version of the generalized	
	least squares method	139
	4.4 On-line extended matrix methods	146
	4.5 The on-line version of the instrumental	
	variable method	149
۷.	ON-LINE IDENTIFICATION METHODS FOR MULTIPLE	
	OUTPUT SYSTEMS	150
	5.1 The on-line least squares method	151
APPI	ENDIX	154
Al.		155
A2.	9	163
A3.		168
A4.		170
A5.		172
A6.		180
A7.		181
A8.		185
A9.		186
ALU		189
ALL		193
AIZ		196
אכידא.		203
A15		206
A16		209
ALU.		210
REFI	ERENCES	211

- 4 -

#### ABSTRACT

In this report the discrete-time identification methods of linear dynamic systems are considered. The report is formulated on the basis of the authors' candidate dissertations. This work gives a survey on the related topics, on the one hand, and contains the own results of the authors, on the other. The report is recommended for experts dealing with algorithmical problems of computer aided process identification.

The purpose of the work, the applied different models and estimation methods are formulated in the Introduction. Section 2 deals with the off-line identification methods for SISO and MISO systems. Off-line identification methods for MIMO systems are considered in Section 3. On-line identification algorithms of MISO or MIMO systems are discussed in Section 4 or Section 5, respectively. Section 6 is devoted to the appendices. Section 7 gives a very detailed bibliography of the related topic.



SYMBOLS

=	equals; is equivalent to
≠	does not equal
=	identically equals to
>	greater than
<	less than
2	greater than or equal to
$\leq$	less than or equal to
Ŷ	estimated value of variable y
E { }	operator stands for the mathematical
	expectation
<b>≜</b> . <u>B</u> , <u>C</u>	matrices
$\underline{\underline{A}}^{\mathrm{T}}, \underline{\underline{B}}^{\mathrm{T}}, \underline{\underline{C}}^{\mathrm{T}}$	transposed matrices
$\underline{\mathbb{A}}^{\mathbf{A}}, \ \underline{\mathbb{A}}^{\mathbf{A}}, \ \underline{\mathbb{A}}^{\mathbf{A}}$	adjoint matrices
<u>x</u> , <u>u</u> , <u>v</u>	column vectors
$\underline{\mathbf{x}}^{\mathrm{T}}, \ \underline{\mathbf{u}}^{\mathrm{T}}, \ \underline{\mathbf{v}}^{\mathrm{T}}$	row vectors
<u>Q</u>	zero matrix
<u>0</u>	zero vector
Ī	unit matrix
diag <>	diagonal matrix
<u>A</u>	determinant of matrix A
tr (A)	trace of matrix A
≜	inverse of matrix A
d dx	ordinary derivative column operator
$df(\mathbf{x})$	
dx	derivate or gradient of function $f(\underline{x})$
d <u>f(x</u> )	Jacobian matrix, vector derivative
T_ab	of function $f(\underline{x})$

- 7 -

$d^2 f(x)$	Hessian matrix of the second
dxdx <sup>T</sup>	derivatives of function $f(\underline{x})$
sup	supremum over all u
<u>u</u>	(least upper bound)
inf	infinum over all u
<u>u</u>	(greatest lower bound)
lim N→∞	limit of series
plim N→∞	probability limits of series
8	symbol of the KRONECKER matrix product
LS	Least Squares Method
GLS	Generalized Least Squares Method
ML	Maximum Likelihood Method
IV	Instrumental Variable Method
PKF	Priori Knowledge Fitting Method
K-L	KOOPMANS-LEVIN Method
STA	STochastic Approximation
EXM	EXtended Matrix Method
FEXM	First EXtended Matrix Method
SEXM	Second EXtended Matrix Method
TEXM	Third EXtended Matrix Method
SISO	<u>S</u> ingle <u>I</u> nput <u>S</u> ingle <u>O</u> utput
MISO	<u>M</u> ultiple <u>I</u> nput <u>S</u> ingle <u>O</u> utput
MIMO	<u>Multiple Input Multiple Output</u>
MLG	Maximum Likelihood Method with
	noise model of <u>G</u> eneralized structure
SGLS	STEIGLITZ' Generalized Least Squares
	Method
OI	Observability Index
AR	<u>A</u> uto- <u>R</u> egressive
MA	Moving-Average
ARMA	Auto-Regressive and Moving Average

- 8 -

#### 1.1 Formulation of the problem

This report - according to its title - is devoted to the identification of linear dynamic processes using sampled data.

The process identification beginning with the classical grapho-analytical methods up to the modern, computer-aided procedures, has been very popular among the researchers. Now the issues of identification terminology, the classification of the methods are not dealt with. These questions have been discussed on a very high level by famous authors on several IFAC Symposia and Congresses on Identification [12, 15, 46] and many books have been published in this field [47, 110, 111]. In this report the terminology of the international literature dealing with identification is used, the notations are the same as in the papers of ÅSTRÖM' school and for the teaching of control theory at the Technical University, Budapest. Since the terminology of the international literature is widely used, definitions are elaborated on only in the most important cases.

The object of the identification is assumed to be a linear, dynamic system with lumped parameters, or this latter restriction is eased sometimes by allowing serial dead-time (transportation delay). It is also assumed that the input and output signals of the process can be recorded in every sampling time  $\Delta T$ . (The measurements are supposed to be coherent.) The above measuring situation is shown on Fig. 1.1-1 for a single input, single output system where u(t) and y(t) mean the sampled values of the input and output signals, respectively. The argument t means (in the whole report) the discrete-time and taking the sampling time  $\Delta T$  for a unit, the values of t can only be integers. The situation is the same



Fig. 1.1-1



Fig. 1.1-2

for multiple input multiple output systems, too, but everything is valid only for vector-variables.

The measuring situation is suitable for both passive and active identification. So it includes e.g. the identification based on the classical step responses and contains at the same time the application possibilities of other, more up-todate methods. This approach is called "discrete identification" in the literature, and the term refers to the discreteness of the measuring circumstances and also to the character of the applicable models.

At the beginning of the 60s, the attention has been directed towards the discrete system description and discrete process models. Its reason is partly the availability of data in discrete forms and, perhaps mainly, the possibility of (often on-line) data processing and evaluating by digital computers. In consequence of this, there was a quick upsurge in the development of the theory and techniques of the discrete identification. Perhaps KALMAN [77] was the first to publish in this field, but the basically pilot activity was due to the group at IBM led by ASTROM [8]. Even up to now, it is their off-line method that gives the best result and affords the basis for comparison with other methods. Since then, several other approaches have been suggested which might have been advantageous under their special conditions, but they actually correspond to the special cases of the original idea [12, 47]. The aim of our report is - among others - to clarify the relations between the several types of approaches and also to show the restrictions of the applications.

Thus numerous methods have been worked out for the off-line identification of single input single output systems, although the comprehensive analysis of their interconnections has figured until now either not at all or only with regard to very few methods in the literature. On-line versions of methods have been elaborated, their comparative analysis has been carried out until now only within the frame of simulation tests [72]. The situation is not so clear in the field of identification methods of multiple input - multiple output systems. Though the generalization of several methods elaborated for a single output system has already been completed [57, 91, 108, 109, 101, 136] but easy to use methods can not be mentioned neither in off-line, nor in on-line relation. Neither has any author made the comparison.

Considering the practical application, we can state without fear that the off-line discrete identification methods of single input single output systems already mean in many places of research, in many countries the everyday identification technique and the literature reported already of the accomplishment of a great number of industrial modelling tasks. The demand for on-line application is considerably less which accounts for the rather scarce references to practical results. There are likewise very few reports on practical application in the international literature for the case of multiple-output systems whether we consider off-line or on-line approach.

According to the above survey, this report has set the following objectives:

- Comparison of off-line identification algorithms of single output systems and consideration - where it is possible - of new ideas and perspectives.
- Comparison of the on-line algorithms of the single input single output systems on the basis of the canonic algorithm of the stochastic approximation.
- Generalization of the methods worked out for single output systems to multiple output systems and comparison of algorithms.

rational spectrum can be generated by a linear filter C/D). Let the variance of e(t) be  $\lambda^2$  and to ensure unambiguousness, the zero-order term of the polynomial  $C(z^{-1})$  be a unit. We can follow the connection of the particular signals in Fig. 1.2-1. Quantities  $a_i$ ,  $b_i$ ,  $c_i$ ,  $d_i$  are the system parameters, d is the deadtime (integer) measured in the unit of the sampling interval, so that its magnitude is  $d\Delta t$ . Applying the various parameter estimation procedures it is usually required that u(t) be measured without error and its value be uncorrelated with the source noise. Maximum likelihood (hereinafter ML) type estimation can be used if the condition of normal distribution of e(t) holds.

In control theory the direct use of the formal description in Fig. 1.2-1, i.e.

$$y(t) = z^{-d} \frac{B(z^{-1})}{A(z^{-1})} u(t) + \frac{C(z^{-1})}{D(z^{-1})} e(t) = v(t) + w(t)$$
(1.2-3)

is more useful. Although  $B(z^{-1})/A(z^{-1})$  and  $C(z^{-1})/D(z^{-1})$ correspond here formally to the pulse transfer functions, in the reality, however, we can restore the original input and output signal only with the help of appropriate holding elements so that we never have to imagine a pulse on the input of the discrete model. Therefore, in many cases one speaks in the literature simply of a discrete transfer function.

In the expression  $(1.2-3) A(z^{-1})$ ,  $B(z^{-1})$ ,  $C(z^{-1})$ ,  $D(z^{-1})$  are the polynomials of  $z^{-1}$  and  $z^{-1}$  means the backward shift operator which practically coincides with the inverse of the variable of the Z-transformation. So that for a signal  $x(t)=z^{-1}x(t)=x(t-1)$ , which facilitates very much the handling of difference equations of the type (1.2-1). Let the structure of the polynomials have the following form:

- 14 -

#### 1.2 Structure of the applied models

Let us consider first Single Input Single Output systems (called hereinafter by their abbreviation used in the international literature SISO systems).

As already mentioned in the preceding section, we are engaged in linear dynamic systems where the system is assumed to be as a series connection of at most one member with concentrated parameter and one with dead-time. On the basis of the sampled values of the input and output signal the discrete--time model equivalent to the original system has to be determined in the sampling instants. The task is therefore to perform the experimental identification with the knowledge of the primary structure in order to establish the secondary structure, resp. the estimation of parameters [47].

ASTROM and his research colleagues have recommended in their paper listed as sources, the application of the model in Fig. 1.2-1. [8, 9, 12, 13]. This model describes the process with the following linear stochastic difference equation

$$y(t) = \sum_{i=0}^{n} b_{i}u(t-d-i) - \sum_{i=1}^{n} a_{i}y(t-i) + \sum_{i=1}^{n} a_{i}w(t-i) + w(t),$$

$$i=1$$

$$(1.2-1)$$

where

$$w(t) = e(t) + \sum_{i=1}^{n} c_i e(t-i) - \sum_{i=1}^{n} d_i w(t-i). \qquad (1.2-2)$$

Here u(t) is the input signal, v(t) the output signal of the process. y(t) denotes the measured output signal, corrupted by the measurement and environmental noise w(t) reduced to the output. e(t) is the source of the output noise, the so-called source noise assumed practically as a zero---mean white noise (from which arbitrary output noise with



Fig. 1.2-1



Fig. 1.2-2

$$A(z^{-1}) = 1 + a_1 z^{-1} + \dots + a_n z^{-n} = 1 + \tilde{A}(z^{-1})$$
  

$$B(z^{-1}) = b_0 + b_1 z^{-1} + \dots + b_n z^{-n}$$
  

$$C(z^{-1}) = 1 + c_1 z^{-1} + \dots + c_n z^{-n}$$
  

$$D(z^{-1}) = 1 + d_1 z^{-1} + \dots + d_n z^{-n}$$
  
(1.2-4)

where the n order is common in the equations, allowing for the particular coefficients being zeros within the frame of physical realizability. This latter condition means that the order of denominators must be greater than or equal to those of the numerators. (Hereinafter reference  $a_0$ ,  $c_0$  means according to (1.2-4)  $a_0 \equiv c_0 \equiv 1$ ).

ASTRÖM and his co-workers have afterwards pointed out that because of practical considerations it is not desirable to distinguish the polynomials  $A(z^{-1})$  and  $D(z^{-1})$  for the reduction to a common denominator can always be achieved and the shape of our model takes the simplest form as shown in Fig. 1.2-2. On the other hand, redundant poles and zeros introduced by reduction to a common denominator can be eliminated by relatively simple procedure. Thus in this case  $D(z^{-1}) =$  $A(z^{-1})$  and the system equation will take the form

$$y(t) = z^{-d} \frac{B(z^{-1})}{A(z^{-1})} u(t) + \frac{C(z^{-1})}{A(z^{-1})} e(t) = v(t) + w(t)$$
(1.2-5)

It is easy to see on the right side of the relations (1.2-3)and (1.2-5) the separation of the process model and the so--called noise model.

It is to be noted that the forms of models presented until now are partly or totally linear in parameters. The relations (1.2-1) and (1.2-2) can be written e.g. in the form

- 16 -

$$y(t) = \underline{f}^{T}(u, y, w, t) \underline{p}_{baa} + w(t) = \underline{f}^{T}(u, y, t) \underline{p}_{ba} + A(z^{-1})w(t), \quad (1.2-6)$$

or

$$\mathbf{w}(t) = \underline{f}^{\mathrm{T}}(e, \mathbf{w}, t) \underline{p}_{\mathrm{cd}} + e(t)$$
(1.2-7)

where

$$\underline{f}^{T}(u,y,w,t) = [u(t-d), \dots, u(t-d-n); -y(t-1), \dots, -y(t-n); w(t-1), \dots, w(t-n)], \qquad (1.2-8)$$

$$\underline{f}^{T}(u,y,t) = [u(t-d), \dots, u(t-d-n); -y(t-1), \dots, -y(t-n)], (1.2-9)$$

and

$$\underline{f}^{T}(e,w,t) = [e(t-1), \dots, e(t-n); -w(t-1), \dots, -w(t-n)]. \quad (1.2-10)$$

Further

$$\underline{p}_{baa} = [b_{0}, b_{1}, \dots, b_{n}; a_{1}, \dots, a_{n}; a_{1}, \dots, a_{n}]^{T}, \qquad (1.2-11)$$

$$\underline{\mathbf{p}}_{ba} = [\mathbf{b}_0, \mathbf{b}_1, \dots, \mathbf{b}_n; \mathbf{a}_1, \dots, \mathbf{a}_n]^T$$
(1.2-12)

and

$$\underline{\mathbf{p}}_{cd} = [c_1, \dots, c_n; d_1, \dots, d_n]^T.$$
 (1.2-13)

Likewise the noiseless output v(t) of the system can be expressed in the form linear in parameters (apply the substitution  $w(t) \equiv 0$ ):  $v(t)=\underline{f}^{T}(u,v,t)\underline{p}_{ba}$  (1.2-14)

where

$$\underline{f}^{T}(u,v,t) = [u(t-d), \dots, u(t-d-n); -v(t-1), \dots, -v(t-n)]. \quad (1.2-15)$$

Similarly to what has gone before the form linear in parameters of (1.2-5) is e.g.

$$y(t) = \underline{f}^{T}(u, y, t) \underline{p}_{ba} + C(z^{-1}) e(t).$$
 (1.2-16)

Here the so-called equation error  $C(z^{-1})e(t)$  is now a stochastic process with a moving average.

The discrete-time systems can also be given by state equations. The state equations of system described by the Eqs. (1.2-1), (1.2-2) are [6, 7, 8]:  $\underline{x}(t+1) = \underline{Fx}(t) + \underline{gu}(t) + \underline{ge}(t)$  (1.2-17)  $y(t) = \underline{h}^{T} \underline{x}(t) + b_{0} u(t) + e(t)$  (1.2-18)

where  $\underline{F}$ ,  $\underline{g}$ ,  $\underline{q}$  and  $\underline{h}$  can be constructed in infinite many ways according to the various resolution of the pulse transfer functions. We present now for the system equation (1.2-5) a possible mode of resolution

$$\underline{x}(t+1) = \begin{bmatrix} -a_1 & 1 & 0 & \dots & 0 \\ -a_2 & 0 & 0 & \dots & 0 \\ \vdots & \vdots & \vdots & \vdots \\ -a_{n-1} & 0 & 0 & \dots & 1 \\ -a_n & 0 & 0 & \dots & 0 \end{bmatrix} \underbrace{\underline{x}(t)}_{(t)} + \begin{bmatrix} b_1 - a_1 b_0 \\ b_2 - a_2 b_0 \\ \vdots \\ b_{n-1} - a_{n-1} b_0 \\ b_n - a_n - 1 b_0 \\ b_n - a_n b_0 \end{bmatrix} u(t) + \begin{bmatrix} c_1 - a_1 \\ c_2 - a_2 \\ \vdots \\ \vdots \\ c_{n-1} - a_{n-1} \\ c_n - a_n \end{bmatrix} e(t)$$

and

$$y(t) = [1,0,...,0] \underline{x}(t) + b_0 u(t) + e(t),$$
 (1.2-20)

which practically corresponds to the cross-resolution [8, 42, 60].

The system equations given by state equations usually do not fit directly for identification purposes for they contain too many parameters. However, special forms containing minimum number of parameters, so e.g. equations (1.2-19) and (1.2-20), can be well used, also suitable models can be obtained by other methods of resolution too [42], (phase variable form, etc.).

We have presented above the model types used for discrete identification methods. The methods recommended by various authors can be considered actually as sub-cases of (1.2-3). Out of these, we give now only the most important ones in the following table:

Symbol	$C(z^{-1})/D(z^{-1})$	Author	Output noise	Equation 。error
MLG	$C(z^{-1})/D(z^{-1})$	Aström	ARMA	ARMA
ML	$C(z^{-1})/A(z^{-1})$	ASTRÖM	ARMA	MA
LS .	$1/A(z^{-1})$	KALMAN	AR	white
SGLS	1	STEIGLITZ	white	MA .
GLS	$1/A(z^{-1})H(z^{-1})$	CLARKE	AR	AR
IV	$C(z^{-1})/A(z^{-1})H(z^{-1})$	TALMON	ARMA	ARMA

Table 1.2-I.

Notations in the Symbol column of the Table can be found in the list of abbreviations at the beginning of the report on the one hand, and will be explained in detail in the course of the discussion of the corresponding methods on the other.

One of the most important considerations in constructing the discrete-time identification models of the multiple input multiple output systems is to obtain the identification methods of the MIMO systems by the formal extension of the methods worked out for SISO systems and already generally used, to multiple output models. (Hereinafter we are going to denote by the abbreviation MIMO the multiple input multiple output systems.) We would like to emphasize that in the case of the MIMO systems the multiple output is stressed, since the discrete model of the multiple input single output systems does not differ with regard to parameter estimation from the SISO models (multiple input single output systems are denoted by the abbreviation MISO). The MISO version of the system model (1.2-5) can be constructed in a simple way.

$$y(t) = \sum_{j=1}^{m} \frac{B_j(z^{-1})}{A(z^{-1})} u_j(t-d_j) + \frac{C(z^{-1})}{A(z^{-1})} e(t)$$
 (1.2-21)

Here  $u_j(t)$  is the j-th input signal from the m inputs and  $B_j(z^{-1})_{=b_{j0}+b_{j1}}z^{-1}+\cdots+b_{jn}z^{-n}; j=1,2,\ldots,m.$  (1.2-22)

The block diagram of the process model is shown in Fig.1.2-3. The quantities d, denote the dead-time by input variables (channels). This system is also linear in parameters, i.e.

$$y(t) = \underline{f}^{T}(u_{1}, \dots, u_{m}, y, t) \underline{p}_{b_{1}} \dots \underline{b}_{m} a^{+} C(z^{-1}) e(t),$$
 (1.2-23)

where

$$\underline{f}^{T}(u_{1},...,u_{m},y,t) = [u_{1}(t-d_{1}),...,u_{1}(t-d_{1}-n);...;u_{m}(t-d_{m}), ...,u_{m}(t-d_{m}-n);-y(t-1),...,-y(t-n)]$$
(1.2-24)

and

$$\underline{\mathbf{p}}_{\mathbf{b}_1\cdots\mathbf{b}_m} = [\mathbf{b}_{10},\cdots,\mathbf{b}_{1n};\cdots;\mathbf{b}_{m0},\cdots,\mathbf{b}_{mn};\mathbf{a}_1,\cdots,\mathbf{a}_n]^T \cdot (1.2-25)$$

If the system has several outputs, then the system model needs essential change. Let  $\underline{u}(t)$  be the m dimensional vector of the input signals,  $\underline{y}(t)$  and  $\underline{e}(t)$  the q dimensional vectors of the output signal and source noise, respectively. The discrete time MIMO process model has to construct relation between these vector variables so that the "basic philosophy" of the SISO models remains unchanged resp. we can use the corresponding multivariate generalizations (e.g. parameter matrix) of the various notions (e.g. parameter vector). Without going into details regarding the analysis of the inner structure, we simply consider the system model as according to Fig. 1.2-4.

We obtain the MIMO extension of the SISO process model (1.2-5), i.e. a linear stochastic vector difference equation if the coefficient matrices  $\underline{A}_i$ ,  $\underline{B}_i$ ,  $\underline{C}_i$  are used instead of coefficients  $\underline{a}_i$ ,  $\underline{b}_i$ ,  $\underline{c}_i$  and the already defined vectors  $\underline{u}(t)$ ,  $\underline{y}(t)$ ,  $\underline{e}(t)$  instead of u(t), y(t), e(t). Thus the MIMO system model:

$$\underline{\mathbf{y}}(t) = \underline{\mathbf{A}}^{-1}(z^{-1}) \underline{\mathbf{B}}(z^{-1}) \underline{\mathbf{u}}(t-d) + \underline{\mathbf{A}}^{-1}(z^{-1}) \underline{\mathbf{C}}(z^{-1}) \underline{\mathbf{e}}(t)$$
(1.2-26)

where

$$\underline{\underline{A}}(z^{-1}) = \underline{\underline{I}} + \underline{\underline{A}}_{1} z^{-1} + \dots + \underline{\underline{A}}_{n} z^{-n} = \underline{\underline{I}} + \underline{\underline{\underline{A}}}(z^{-1})$$

$$(1.2-27)$$

$$\underline{B}(z^{-1}) = \underline{B}_{0} + \underline{B}_{1} z^{-1} + \dots + \underline{B}_{n} z^{-n}$$
(1.2-28)

$$\underline{\underline{C}}(z^{-1}) = \underline{\underline{I}} + \underline{\underline{C}}_{1} z^{-1} + \dots + \underline{\underline{C}}_{n} z^{-n}$$
(1.2-29)

are matrix polynomials [108, 109, 145]. Here  $\underline{I}$  denotes the unit matrix (therefore  $\underline{A}_0$  and  $\underline{C}_0$  denote hereinafter unit matrices if they are to be distinguished), further it is assumed that  $\underline{e}(t)$  is an element of the independent stochastic vector series with zero mean and covariance matrix  $\underline{A}$ . Fig. 1.2-5 shows the block diagram of the model. By multiplying both sides of (1.2-26) by  $A(z^{-1})$  and considering the meaning of the shift operator  $z^{-1}$ , we obtain the vector difference equation of the MIMO system:

$$y(t) = \sum_{i=0}^{n} \underbrace{\mathbb{B}_{i} u(t-d-i)}_{i=1} - \sum_{i=1}^{n} \underbrace{\mathbb{A}_{i} y(t-i)}_{i=1} + \sum_{i=1}^{n} \underbrace{\mathbb{C}_{i} e(t-i)}_{i=1} + \underbrace{e(t)}_{i=1}.$$
(1.2-30)



Fig. 1.2-3



Fig. 1.2-4



Fig. 1.2-5

- 22 -

This form is like (1.2-16) linear in the parameter matrices of the process, i.e. can be written also in the form [108]

$$\underline{\mathbf{y}}(t) = \underline{\underline{P}}_{BA} \underline{f}(\underline{\mathbf{u}}, \underline{\mathbf{y}}, t) + \underline{\underline{C}}(z^{-1}) \underline{\mathbf{e}}(t)$$
(1.2-31)

where

$$\underline{\underline{P}}_{BA} = [\underline{\underline{B}}_{0}, \underline{\underline{B}}_{1}, \dots, \underline{\underline{B}}_{n}, \underline{\underline{A}}_{1}, \dots, \underline{\underline{A}}_{n}]$$
(1.2-32)

and

$$\underline{f}^{\mathrm{T}}(\underline{u},\underline{y},\mathtt{t}) = [\underline{u}^{\mathrm{T}}(\mathtt{t}-\mathtt{d}), \dots, \underline{u}^{\mathrm{T}}(\mathtt{t}-\mathtt{d}-\mathtt{n}); -\underline{y}^{\mathrm{T}}(\mathtt{t}-\mathtt{l}), \dots, -\underline{y}^{\mathrm{T}}(\mathtt{t}-\mathtt{n})].$$
(1.2-33)

In equation (1.2-30) we are bound to have same dead-time for every input variable because of the demand of formal description. We can approximate better the real cases by choosing the minimum dead-time value for d and so certain elements of the matrices  $\underset{=i}{B}$  become zeros at small i values. This can result from estimation too, but can be considered in advance by prohibition, masking of the corresponding coefficients (cf. section 1.3).

The MIMO version of the state equations (1.2-17), (1.2-18) is obtained simply by increasing the dimension of <u>g</u>, <u>q</u>, <u>h</u>:

 $\underline{x}(t+1) = \underline{F}\underline{x}(t) + \underline{G}\underline{u}(t) + \underline{Q}\underline{e}(t)$ (1.2-34)

 $\underline{\mathbf{y}}(t) = \underline{\mathbf{H}}\underline{\mathbf{x}}(t) + \underline{\mathbf{B}}_{\underline{\mathbf{u}}}(t) + \underline{\mathbf{e}}(t).$ 

It holds also for MIMO systems that there exist many types of state-space description forms. A form which can simply be constructed is the following:

(1.2-35)

$$\underline{\mathbf{x}}(t+1) = \begin{bmatrix} -\underline{\mathbf{A}}_{1} & \underline{\mathbf{I}} & \underline{\mathbf{0}} & \cdots & \underline{\mathbf{0}} \\ -\underline{\mathbf{A}}_{2} & \underline{\mathbf{0}} & \underline{\mathbf{I}} & \cdots & \underline{\mathbf{0}} \\ \vdots & \vdots & \ddots & \vdots \\ -\underline{\mathbf{A}}_{n-1} & \underline{\mathbf{0}} & \underline{\mathbf{0}} & \underline{\mathbf{I}} \\ -\underline{\mathbf{A}}_{n} & \underline{\mathbf{0}} & \underline{\mathbf{0}} & \underline{\mathbf{0}} \end{bmatrix} \\ \underline{\mathbf{x}}(t) + \begin{bmatrix} \underline{\mathbf{B}}_{1} - \underline{\mathbf{A}}_{1} \\ \underline{\mathbf{B}}_{2} - \underline{\mathbf{A}}_{2} \\ \vdots \\ \vdots \\ \underline{\mathbf{B}}_{n-1} - \underline{\mathbf{A}}_{n-1} \\ \underline{\mathbf{B}}_{n-1} - \underline{\mathbf{B}}_{n-1} \\ \underline{\mathbf{B}}_{n-1} - \underline{\mathbf{B}}_{n-1} \\ \underline{\mathbf{B}}_{n-1} - \underline{\mathbf{B}}_{n-1} \\ \underline{\mathbf{B}}_{n-1} - \underline{\mathbf{B}}_{n-1} \\ \underline{\mathbf{B}}_{n-1$$

and

 $\underline{\mathbf{x}}(t) = [\underline{\mathbf{I}}, \underline{\mathbf{0}}, \dots, \underline{\mathbf{0}}] \underline{\mathbf{x}}(t) + \underline{\mathbf{B}}_{\mathbf{0}} \underline{\mathbf{u}}(t) + \underline{\mathbf{e}}(t), \qquad (1.2-37)$ 

which can be constructed in a quite similar way to the cross--resolution. The problem of the determination of the minimum dimension of the state vector is a very essential problem from both identification and other considerations, these questions, however, will not be considered in this report. In App.l., on the other hand, we will point to some very important relationships which will promote the analysis of the structural problems of the MIMO systems.

All noise models used for SISO systems can formally be generalized for MIMO systems. The most important of these are summed up in Table 1.2-II. The notions here, of course, have to be related to vector variables.

- 24 -

- 25 -

Table 1.2-II.

Symbol	$\underline{\underline{D}}^{-1}(z^{-1})\underline{\underline{C}}(z^{-1})$	Author	Output noise	Equation error
MLG	$\underline{\underline{p}}^{-1}(z^{-1})\underline{\underline{c}}(z^{-1})$	EATON	ARMA	ARMA
ML	$\underline{\underline{A}}^{-1}(z^{-1})\underline{\underline{C}}(z^{-1})$	ROWE	ARMA	MA
LS	≜ <sup>-1</sup> ( z <sup>-1</sup> )	ROWE	AR	white
GLS	$\underline{\underline{A}}^{-1}(\underline{z}^{-1}) \underline{\underline{H}}^{-1}(z^{-1})$	BÁNYÁSZ	AR	AR

The use of a system model describing the behaviour of the process simultaneously in all N time instants has a particular importance for off-line identification methods when N related input - output signal data pairs are processed at the same time. Such system description forms can be obtained by the so-called TOEPLITZ matrices [6, 7, 145]. Assume at a SISO system that the related data pairs of the input and output signals { u(t), y(t);  $t=1,2,\ldots,N$  } are available in vectors  $\underline{u}$  and  $\underline{y}$ . On the basis of the system equation (1.2-3) we can write the equation of the process for the vectors containing N measurements, too:

$$\underline{\mathbf{y}} = \underline{\mathbf{S}}^{\mathrm{d}} \underline{\mathbf{A}}^{-1} \underline{\mathbf{B}} \underline{\mathbf{u}} + \underline{\mathbf{D}}^{-1} \underline{\mathbf{C}} \underline{\mathbf{e}} + \underline{\mathbf{A}}^{-1} \underline{\mathbf{E}} \underline{\mathbf{z}}_{\mathrm{o}}. \qquad (1.2-38)$$

Here <u>e</u> is, alike <u>u</u> and <u>y</u>, vector with N elements, containing the values of the source noise. <u>E</u> is a (N x n) matrix in whose upper part there is an n x n unit matrix, its other parts contain zeros:

$$\underline{\mathbf{E}} = \begin{bmatrix} \underline{\mathbf{I}} \\ \underline{\mathbf{O}} \end{bmatrix} \cdot (1.2 - 39)$$

 $\underline{z}_{0}$  is an (n x 1) vector containing the initial conditions (the system's past preceding the observations). As the parameter estimations become asymptotically independent from the initial conditions [6, 8], we can use hereinafter the assumption  $\underline{z}_{0} = \underline{0}$  without loss of generality. The rest of the matrices in (1.2-38) have a (N x N) size, whose structures are:

 $\underline{\underline{A}} = \underline{\underline{I}} + \underline{a}_{1}\underline{\underline{S}} + \dots + \underline{a}_{n}\underline{\underline{S}}^{n} = \underline{\underline{I}} + \underline{\underline{A}},$   $\underline{\underline{B}} = \underline{b}_{0}\underline{\underline{I}} + \underline{b}_{1}\underline{\underline{S}} + \dots + \underline{b}_{n}\underline{\underline{S}}^{n},$   $\underline{\underline{C}} = \underline{\underline{I}} + \underline{c}_{1}\underline{\underline{S}} + \dots + \underline{c}_{n}\underline{\underline{S}}^{n},$   $\underline{\underline{D}} = \underline{\underline{I}} + \underline{d}_{1}\underline{\underline{S}} + \dots + \underline{d}_{n}\underline{\underline{S}}^{n},$ (1.2.40)

where  $\underline{S}^{g}$  is an (N x N) TOEPLITZ matrix (a special lower triangle matrix), where 1-s are only in the g-th row under the main diagonal, the rest of its elements are zeros [6, 145]. I.e. for the ij-th element of  $\underline{S}^{g}$  the equality  $S_{ij}^{g} = \delta_{(i-g),j}$  holds, where  $\delta_{p,q}$  is the KRONECKER symbol. Some essential features of the so-called shift matrices  $\underline{S}^{g}$  are analyzed in detial in Appendix 2.

(As can be seen from the foregoing, it is often necessary to use the same letter for the notation of different notions as the alphabet proves to be insufficient. Therefore, we do draw your attention to the meaning of indices and arguments!)

The joint equation of the MIMO systems related to N measurements can be written is a concise form with the help of the so-called KRONECKER matrix products [97]. The operational identities referring to the KRONECKER matrix product are summed up in Appendix 3. Assume that with a MIMO system the related data pairs of input and output vectors  $\{\underline{u}(t), \underline{y}(t); t=1,2,...,N\}$  are available in the form of a vector

$$\underline{\mathbf{u}}_{\mathrm{M}} = [\underline{\mathbf{u}}^{\mathrm{T}}(1), \dots, \underline{\mathbf{u}}^{\mathrm{T}}(\mathrm{N})]^{\mathrm{T}}$$
(1.2-41)

and

$$\underline{\mathbf{y}}_{\mathrm{M}} = \left[ \underline{\mathbf{y}}^{\mathrm{T}}(1), \dots, \underline{\mathbf{y}}^{\mathrm{T}}(\mathrm{N}) \right]^{\mathrm{T}}.$$
 (1.2-42)

Let the vector

$$\underline{\mathbf{e}}_{\mathrm{M}} = [\underline{\mathbf{e}}^{\mathrm{T}}(1), \dots, \underline{\mathbf{e}}^{\mathrm{T}}(\mathrm{N})]^{\mathrm{T}}$$
(1.2-43)

be also of the same construction. The analogue form of the MIMO system (1.2-26) with (1.2-38) for N observations is

$$\underline{\mathbf{X}}_{\mathrm{M}} = \begin{bmatrix} n \\ \Sigma \\ i=0 \end{bmatrix} \underbrace{\mathbf{S}}_{\mathrm{N}}^{i}(1) \otimes \underbrace{\mathbf{A}}_{=i}^{-1} \begin{bmatrix} n+d \\ \Sigma \\ i=d \end{bmatrix} \underbrace{\mathbf{S}}_{\mathrm{N}}^{i}(1) \otimes \underbrace{\mathbf{B}}_{=i}^{-1} \underbrace{\mathbf{M}}_{\mathrm{i}=d}^{\mathrm{M}} + \begin{bmatrix} n \\ \Sigma \\ i=0 \end{bmatrix} \underbrace{\mathbf{S}}_{\mathrm{N}}^{i}(1) \otimes \underbrace{\mathbf{A}}_{=i}^{-1} \begin{bmatrix} n \\ \Sigma \\ i=0 \end{bmatrix} \underbrace{\mathbf{S}}_{\mathrm{N}}^{i}(1) \otimes \underbrace{\mathbf{C}}_{=i}^{-1} \underbrace{\mathbf{C}}_{\mathrm{i}=0}^{\mathrm{M}} + \begin{bmatrix} n \\ \Sigma \\ i=0 \end{bmatrix} \underbrace{\mathbf{S}}_{\mathrm{N}}^{i}(1) \otimes \underbrace{\mathbf{C}}_{=i}^{-1} \underbrace{\mathbf{C}}_{\mathrm{i}=0}^{\mathrm{M}} + \begin{bmatrix} n \\ \Sigma \\ i=0 \end{bmatrix} \underbrace{\mathbf{S}}_{\mathrm{N}}^{i}(1) \otimes \underbrace{\mathbf{C}}_{=i}^{-1} \underbrace{\mathbf{C}}_{\mathrm{i}=0}^{\mathrm{M}} + \begin{bmatrix} n \\ \Sigma \\ i=0 \end{bmatrix} \underbrace{\mathbf{S}}_{\mathrm{N}}^{i}(1) \otimes \underbrace{\mathbf{C}}_{=i}^{-1} \underbrace{\mathbf{C}}_{\mathrm{i}=0}^{\mathrm{M}} + \begin{bmatrix} n \\ \Sigma \\ i=0 \end{bmatrix} \underbrace{\mathbf{S}}_{\mathrm{N}}^{i}(1) \otimes \underbrace{\mathbf{C}}_{=i}^{-1} \underbrace{\mathbf{C}}_{\mathrm{i}=0}^{\mathrm{M}} + \begin{bmatrix} n \\ \Sigma \\ i=0 \end{bmatrix} \underbrace{\mathbf{C}}_{\mathrm{N}}^{i}(1) \otimes \underbrace{\mathbf{C}}_{=i}^{-1} \underbrace{\mathbf{C}}_{\mathrm{i}=0}^{\mathrm{M}} + \begin{bmatrix} n \\ \Sigma \\ i=0 \end{bmatrix} \underbrace{\mathbf{C}}_{\mathrm{N}}^{i}(1) \otimes \underbrace{\mathbf{C}}_{=i}^{-1} \underbrace{\mathbf{C}}_{\mathrm{i}=0}^{\mathrm{M}} + \begin{bmatrix} n \\ \Sigma \\ i=0 \end{bmatrix} \underbrace{\mathbf{C}}_{\mathrm{N}}^{i}(1) \otimes \underbrace{\mathbf{C}}_{=i}^{-1} \underbrace{\mathbf{C}}_{\mathrm{i}=0}^{\mathrm{M}} + \begin{bmatrix} n \\ \Sigma \\ i=0 \end{bmatrix} \underbrace{\mathbf{C}}_{\mathrm{N}}^{i}(1) \otimes \underbrace{\mathbf{C}}_{=i}^{-1} \underbrace{\mathbf{C}}_{\mathrm{i}=0}^{\mathrm{M}} + \begin{bmatrix} n \\ \Sigma \\ i=0 \end{bmatrix} \underbrace{\mathbf{C}}_{\mathrm{N}}^{i}(1) \otimes \underbrace{\mathbf{C}}_{=i}^{-1} \underbrace{\mathbf{C}}_{\mathrm{i}=0}^{\mathrm{M}} + \begin{bmatrix} n \\ \Sigma \\ i=0 \end{bmatrix} \underbrace{\mathbf{C}}_{\mathrm{N}}^{i}(1) \otimes \underbrace{\mathbf{C}}_{i}^{-1} \underbrace{\mathbf{C}}_{\mathrm{i}=0}^{\mathrm{M}} + \begin{bmatrix} n \\ \Sigma \\ i=0 \end{bmatrix} \underbrace{\mathbf{C}}_{\mathrm{N}}^{i}(1) \otimes \underbrace{\mathbf{C}}_{\mathrm{i}=0}^{\mathrm{M}} + \begin{bmatrix} n \\ \Sigma \\ i=0 \end{bmatrix} \underbrace{\mathbf{C}}_{\mathrm{N}}^{i}(1) \otimes \underbrace{\mathbf{C}}_{\mathrm{i}=0}^{\mathrm{M}} + \begin{bmatrix} n \\ \Sigma \\ i=0 \end{bmatrix} \underbrace{\mathbf{C}}_{\mathrm{N}}^{i}(1) \otimes \underbrace{\mathbf{C}}_{\mathrm{i}=0}^{\mathrm{M}} + \begin{bmatrix} n \\ \Sigma \\ i=0 \end{bmatrix} \underbrace{\mathbf{C}}_{\mathrm{N}}^{i}(1) \otimes \underbrace{\mathbf{C}}_{\mathrm{i}=0}^{\mathrm{M}} + \begin{bmatrix} n \\ \Sigma \\ i=0 \end{bmatrix} \underbrace{\mathbf{C}}_{\mathrm{N}}^{i}(1) \otimes \underbrace{\mathbf{C}}_{\mathrm{i}=0}^{\mathrm{M}} + \begin{bmatrix} n \\ \Sigma \\ i=0 \end{bmatrix} \underbrace{\mathbf{C}}_{\mathrm{N}}^{i}(1) \otimes \underbrace{\mathbf{C}}_{\mathrm{i}=0}^{\mathrm{M}} + \begin{bmatrix} n \\ \Sigma \\ i=0 \end{bmatrix} \underbrace{\mathbf{C}}_{\mathrm{N}}^{i}(1) \otimes \underbrace{\mathbf{C}}_{\mathrm$$

Here  $\otimes$  denotes the KRONECKER matrix product and  $\underline{\underline{C}}_{0}$  must be taken, obviously, for  $\underline{\underline{I}} \cdot \underline{\underline{S}}_{N}^{i}(1)$  is an (N x N) shift matrix. For the simplicity in (1.2-44) we have disregarded the initial conditions.

1.3 Parameter estimation methods

We shall use the system equation of the form

y(t) = f(u,y,p,t) + e(t) (1.3-1)

in general for the parametric identification of the SISC models, where <u>p</u> denotes the parameter vector. Assume that the estimation of the structure was exact and the expected value of e(t) is zero so that in the difference  $y(t)-f(u,y,\underline{p},t)$  only random (and not systematic) error components can arise. The classical parameter estimation problem is the determination of the estimated value  $\underline{\hat{p}}$  of the parameter vector <u>p</u> so that  $f(u,y,\underline{p},t)$  fits best the observed y(t) values according to certain optimality criterion. The various statistical estimation methods are usually classified on the basis of the nature of this quality criterion on the one hand, and on that of the previous knowledge of the residual error (measurement noise) on the other [12, 15, 47].

The system equation (1.3-1) enables us to calculate the residual errors  $e(1), \ldots, e(N)$  for every <u>p</u> parameter vector on basis of the samples containing the value of number N of the input and output signal. Let us arrange these in a vector  $\underline{e} = \left[ e(1), \dots, e(N) \right]^{T}$ . According to the maximum likelihood (hereinafter ML) method, realizing the principle of maximum probability, the estimation of the parameter vector p is determined so that it maximizes the joint probability density of N elements of the error vector e that is the probability of coincidence of the real random error and e calculated from the related u(t) and y(t) values, as well as  $\hat{p}$ . Thus in the ML method the conditional probability density function  $d_N(\underline{e}|\underline{p})$ has to be maximized. Instead of the conditional probability density function  $d_N(\underline{e}|\underline{p})$  in most cases its natural logarithm, the so-called likelihood funciton  $L(\underline{p})=\ln d_N(\underline{e}|\underline{p})$  is maximized. In the ML method, consequently, the likelihood function can be constructed only on basis of the apriori knowledge (or assumption) of the density function. In the discrete identification methods e(t) is assumed to be of normal distribution in applying the ML method and this assumption is valid for the majority of practical cases. (Otherwise the normality examination of the residuals, - that is the e(t)-s calculated after the parameter estimation - is a routine statistical investigation [8, 47, 57, 80].)

Assuming  $\underline{e}$  to be a vector variable of normal distribution, the its probability density function is [80]

 $d_{N}(\underline{e}|\underline{p}) = (2\pi)^{-\frac{N}{2}} |\underline{z}|^{-\frac{1}{2}} \exp\{-\frac{1}{2}\underline{e}^{T}\underline{z}^{-1}\underline{e}\}, \qquad (1.3-2)$ 

where

$$\underline{Z} = \mathbb{E}\left\{\underline{e} \ \underline{e}^{\mathrm{T}}\right\},\tag{1.3-3}$$

i.e. the covariance matrix of the noise. Here |...| denotes the determinant. Therefore the likelihood function for normal distribution is

$$L(\underline{p}) = -\frac{N}{2} \ln 2\pi - \frac{1}{2} \ln |\underline{z}| - \frac{1}{2} \underline{e}^{T} \underline{z}^{-1} \underline{e}. \qquad (1.3-4)$$

In case of given  $\underline{Z}$  we can get the maximum of  $L(\underline{p})$  from the equvalent condition [57]:

$$Q(\hat{\underline{p}}) = \min Q(\underline{p}) = \min \frac{1}{2} \underline{e}^{\mathrm{T}} \underline{\underline{z}}^{-1} \underline{\underline{e}}. \qquad (1.3-5)$$

The solution obviously requires the knowledge of the covariance matrix  $\underline{Z}$  of the noise. By assuming furthermore also the elements of  $\underline{Z}$  to be unknown, the minimization has to be extended for these variables, too.

For a stationary white noise e(t) having standard deviation  $\lambda$ 

$$\underline{Z} = \lambda^2 \underline{I}. \tag{1.3-6}$$

In this case the ML estimation is obtained by solving the extremum problem

$$Q(\hat{\underline{p}}) = \min_{p} \frac{1}{2} \underline{e}^{T} \underline{e}. \qquad (1.3-7)$$

Both tasks (1.3-5) and (1.3-7) are nonlinear extremum problems often to be solved in a general case by taking into account, in addition, some restrictions related to the parameters. Assume now that the system equation (1.3-1)can be written in the form linear in parameters

$$y(t) = \underline{f}^{T}(u, y, t)\underline{p} + e(t).$$
 (1.3-8)

(Thus  $\underline{f}(u, y, t)$  does not depend on  $\underline{p}$ , it contains only the function components characterizing the structure). If N related values of the u(t) and y(t) signals are available in vectors  $\underline{u}$  and  $\underline{y}$ , then the minimum of the cost or loss function (1.3-7) is supplied by the estimated parameter vector.

$$\hat{\underline{p}} = \left[ \underline{F}^{T}(\underline{u}, \underline{x}) \underline{F}(\underline{u}, \underline{x}) \right]^{-1} \underline{F}^{T}(\underline{u}, \underline{x}) \underline{x} \equiv$$

$$\equiv \left( \underline{F}^{T}_{uy} \underline{F}_{uy} \right)^{-1} \underline{F}^{T}_{uy} \underline{x} . \qquad (1.3-9)$$

(cf. Appendix 5.)

Here

$$\underline{\underline{f}}(\underline{u},\underline{y}) \equiv \underline{\underline{F}}_{uy} = \begin{bmatrix} \underline{\underline{f}}^{T}(u,y,1) \\ \vdots \\ \vdots \\ \underline{\underline{f}}^{T}(u,y,N) \end{bmatrix}. \qquad (1.3-10)$$

)

Note that the loss function of form (1.3-7) can be minimized not only in case of normal distribution error, so that the expression (1.3-9) has a general validity and is called the least squares method, hereinafter denoted by LS [77]. In case of normal distribution error, the LS estimation yields simultaneously ML estimation, too. The most important statements related to the LS estimation are summed up in Appendix 5.

Let us consider matrix  $\underline{Z}$  to be given at the minimization of the loss function (1.3-5). By proper choice of  $\underline{Z}$ , we can influence objectively or subjectively the form of the fitting. By choosing e.g. for  $\underline{Z}$  a diagonal matrix, where the elements are large in the point where the uncertainty of the measurement is great and small there, where the accuracy is great, the loss function (1.3-5) makes, in a fairly apparent way, measurement points with small measurement error dominant. The estimated parameter vector assuring the minimum in case of system equation (1.3-8) is (cf. Appendix 5.):

$$\hat{\underline{p}} = \begin{bmatrix} \underline{F}^{T}(\underline{u}, \underline{y}) \underline{Z}^{-1} & \underline{F}(\underline{u}, \underline{y}) \end{bmatrix}^{-1} & \underline{F}^{T}(\underline{u}, \underline{y}) \underline{Z}^{-1} & \underline{y} =$$

$$\equiv (\underline{F}^{T}_{uy} & \underline{Z}^{-1} & \underline{F}_{uy})^{-1} & \underline{F}^{T}_{uy} & \underline{Z}^{-1} & \underline{y}. \qquad (1.3-11)$$

This method is called Generalized Least Squares and denoted by GLS. The method GLS yields at the same time, by the choice of  $\underline{Z}$  according to (1.3-3), an ML estimation. The method is dealt with more in detail in Appendix 5.

It can be realized (App.5.) that the parameter estimation

$$\hat{\underline{p}} = \left[ \underline{G}^{T}(\underline{v}, \underline{v}) \underline{F}(\underline{u}, \underline{v}) \right]^{-1} \underline{G}^{T}(\underline{u}, \underline{v}) \underline{v} =$$

$$\equiv \left( \underline{G}^{T}_{uv} \underline{F}_{uy} \right)^{-1} \underline{G}^{T}_{uv} \underline{v} \qquad (1.3-12)$$

has also satisfactory statistical properties. Here  $\underline{v}$  denotes the vector of N elements constructed from the noiseless output  $\mathbf{v}(t)$  of the system, furthermore  $\underline{G}(\underline{u},\underline{v}) \equiv \underline{G}_{uv}$ . As this cannot be measured in reality, it is usually estimated by the assumed parameter values. The construction of  $\underline{G}(\underline{u},\underline{v}) \equiv \underline{G}_{uv}$ can otherwise correspond with (1.3-10) but now v is used instead of y. This procedure is called method of Instrumental Variables and denoted by IV [57, 143].

All of the above surveyed methods are applied for the determination of parameter estimation among the discrete time identification methods. These estimation methods yield, in case of the fulfilment of the necessary conditions, an asymptotically unbiased, consistent estimation. In case of a finite number of samples, the bias is much smaller than the deviation of the parameters which makes the methods completely suitable for practical purposes.

For the general SISO system equations (1.2-1) and (1.2-2)we have assumed that the source noise e(t) is a white noise with zero mean and has, in stationary case, a time-independent  $\lambda$  deviation and a covariance matrix according to (1.3-6). In an analogue way in the MIMO system equation (1.2-26) the source noise vector  $\underline{e}(t)$  with zero mean is uncorrelated, and has constant covariance matrix  $\underline{A}$ . (Note that  $\underline{A}$  actually corresponds to the generalization of  $\lambda^2$ ). If there are N numbers of measurement vector values available, then the joint density function of the N numbers of  $\underline{e}(t)$  values calculated from the measured ones is [4, 57, 108]:

$$d(\underline{\mathbf{e}}_{\mathbf{M}}|\underline{\mathbf{P}}) = \prod_{t=1}^{N} d(\underline{\mathbf{e}}(t)|\underline{\mathbf{P}}) = (2\pi)^{\frac{-qN}{2}} |\underline{\mathbf{A}}|^{-\frac{N}{2}} \exp\left[-\frac{1}{2}\sum_{t=1}^{N} \underline{\mathbf{e}}^{\mathrm{T}}(t)\underline{\mathbf{A}}^{-1}\underline{\mathbf{e}}(t)\right],$$

$$(1, 3-13)$$

where

$$d(\underline{e}(t)|\underline{P}) = (2\pi)^{\frac{q}{2}} |\underline{A}|^{\frac{1}{2}} \exp(-\frac{1}{2}\underline{e}^{T}(t) \underline{A}^{-1} \underline{e}(t)) \quad (1.3-14)$$

is the conditional probability density function of  $\underline{e}(t)$ . Here  $\underline{P}$  is the parameter matrix of the MIMO system and q is the dimension of  $\underline{e}(t)$ , i.e. the number of outputs. On the basis of (1.3-13) the likelihood function for the MIMO systems is:

$$L = -\frac{qN}{2} \ln 2^{q} - \frac{N}{2} \ln \left| \frac{\Lambda}{2} \right| - \frac{1}{2} \sum_{t=1}^{N} \underline{e}^{T}(t) \underline{A}^{-1} \underline{e}(t). \quad (1.3-15)$$

According to the deduction presented in App.5. the maximization of the likelihood function (1.3-15) is an equivalent task with the minimization of the loss function (i.e. determinant of a matrix) [108]

$$Q(\hat{\underline{P}}) = \min_{\underline{P}} Q(\underline{P}) = \min_{\underline{P}} \left| \frac{1}{N} \sum_{t=1}^{N} \underline{e}(t) \underline{e}^{T}(t) \right|.$$
(1.3-16)

- 33 -

# 1.4 On the continuous-time correspondence of discrete-time system models

In the sub-section 1.1 it was already mentioned that the linear, dynamic, discrete-time process models investigated in this report are - according to the sampling principle - equivalent with the original continuous system in respect of the sampling times.

The discrete-time models obtained by identification methods can be directly utilized in the design of DDC circuits and in general in computer process control systems. In practice, however, it occurs more frequently that the identification is used as a preparatory step of the optimal design of classical control circuits and in this case even today the continuoustime system model resp. the transfer function description mode connected therewith is the most widespread. It is therefore necessary to transform the discrete transfer function obtained by parametric identification (we shall revert to this terminology) to the conventional Laplace transfer function. In this subsection we would like to draw attention in short to that the discrete-continuous transformation can be considered unambiguous for the approximation of a given type of the input signal.

Consider now the description of a continuous SISO system by state equations in the form

$$\underline{\mathbf{x}}(\tau) = \underline{\mathbf{G}} \ \underline{\mathbf{x}}(\tau) + \underline{\mathbf{b}} \ \mathbf{u}(\tau) \tag{1.4-1}$$

 $y(\tau) = \underline{h}^{T} \underline{x}(\tau) + b_{o} u(\tau) \qquad (1.4-2)$ 

The solution of continuous state equations is [42]:
$$\underline{\mathbf{x}}(\tau) = \underline{\mathbf{e}} \stackrel{\mathbf{G}}{=} \underline{\mathbf{x}}(0) + \stackrel{\tau}{\mathcal{I}} \stackrel{\mathbf{G}}{=} \stackrel{(\tau-\nu)}{\underline{\mathbf{b}}} \mathbf{u}(\nu) \quad d\nu , \qquad (1.4-3)$$

where  $\tau$  is the continuous time of the system. Let  $\tau=\, {\vartriangle}\, T$  , then

$$\underline{\mathbf{x}} (\Delta \mathbf{T}) = \mathbf{e} \stackrel{\mathbf{G}}{=} \stackrel{\Delta \mathbf{T}}{\mathbf{x}} (0) + \stackrel{\Delta \mathbf{T}}{\stackrel{\mathbf{G}}{\to}} \stackrel{\mathbf{G}}{=} \stackrel{\mathbf{u}(\vee)}{\underbrace{\mathbf{u}}(\vee) \ \mathbf{d} \vee \underline{\mathbf{b}}} = \mathbf{e} \stackrel{\mathbf{G}}{=} \stackrel{\Delta \mathbf{T}}{\underbrace{\mathbf{x}}(0) + \mathbf{a} [\mathbf{u}(0), \underline{\mathbf{G}}, \underline{\mathbf{b}}, \Delta \mathbf{T}]}.$$
(1.4-4)

By comparing this latter result with equation (1.2-17), taking the noiseless case  $\underline{q} = \underline{0}$  and evaluating the so-called input integral for the approximation of a given type of the input signal u(v) between  $\tau = 0$  and  $\tau = \Delta T$ , i.e. determining  $\underline{a}[u(0),\underline{G},\underline{b},\Delta t]$ , we obtain unambiguous relations between the continuous and discrete state equations, by the comparison of the coefficient matrices. On the basis of the equation (1.4-4), by taking advantage of the time-independence of the system, we can write for any two states following each other by  $\Delta T$  that

$$\underline{\mathbf{x}}(t+1) = e^{\underline{\mathbf{G}}\Delta T} \underline{\mathbf{x}}(t) + \underline{\mathbf{a}}[u(t), \underline{\mathbf{G}}, \underline{\mathbf{b}}, \Delta T]. \qquad (1.4-6)$$

If suitable canonical equations are chosen for comparison, then the utilization of common notations applied in (1.4-2), resp. (1.2-18) is justified. Otherwise, the change-over to such a form can be carried out by simple transformations [42].

By assuming u(v) = u(0) = const. in the whole sampling period, it can be deduced that the coefficient matrices of the continuous state equation equivalent for the given approximation can be obtained from the <u>F</u> and <u>g</u> in the following way:

$$\underline{\mathbf{G}} = \frac{1}{\Delta \mathbf{T}} \ln(\underline{\mathbf{F}}) \tag{1.4-7}$$

$$\underline{\mathbf{b}} = \frac{1}{\Delta T} \ln(\underline{\mathbf{F}}) \cdot (\underline{\mathbf{F}} - \underline{\mathbf{I}})^{-1} \underline{\mathbf{g}}. \tag{1.4-8}$$

and

If we need the transfer function of the SISO system, then we transform the state equations on the basis of the obtained  $\underline{G}$  and  $\underline{b}$  to a canonical form where the coefficients of the numerator and denominator can be directly read out [42].

Note that some authors prefer to carry out the retransformation by decomposition to subsystems (separately for every eigenvalue of the system), however the numerical technique required by the relations (1.4-7) and (1.4-8) - logarithm and inversion of the matrix, etc. - can be considered nowadays as elaborated.

In case of another type of approximation of the input signal the formula (1.4-7) remains unchanged, on the other hand (1.4-8) changes. We wish to emphasize again that in case of a <u>given approximation</u> the discrete-continuous change-over, often called <u>"z  $\rightarrow$  s" transformation is unambiguous.</u>

These considerations make understandable why we prefer to speak, maybe with more exactness, of discrete transfer functions. The pulse transfer function assumes namely an approximation  $u(v) \equiv u(0) \delta(0)$ , i.e. a pulse of magnitude u(0) occurring in the moment v = 0, but this approximation is only a subcase of the possible approximation of the input signal. The higher-order quadrature is used for the approximation of the input signal, the more exact transformation will be obtained for the coefficients in the numerator, the conversion of the denominator is performed in an exact way. In practice, due to the appropriate choice of the sampling

- 36 -

period it is usually sufficient to consider the input signal to be constant for every sampling (i.e. to imagine a zero--order hold element at the transformation).

# II. OFF-LINE IDENTIFICATION METHODS FOR SINGLE OUTPUT SYSTEMS

In the introduction we have indicated that in the description forms the basic differences are caused by the number of outputs. Therefore, we classify also the off-line identification methods according to the number of the outputs of the process or the model. This section deals with the identification methods of single output systems. The methods will be discussed mainly for SISO systems but the way of direct generalization for multiple input case will be given, too. Similarly the issue of deadtime will also be dealt with. Detailed investigations will be made with respect to the case d=0 and the possibility of generalization will also be pointed out. Issues related to deadtime will be discussed in the greatest detail with the LS method which is otherwise the simplest with regard to identification.

At the discussion of off-line methods, simultaneous presence of the related values of N number of the input signals and the output signal is assumed. The task is to minimize a criterion constructed from these signals and corresponding to a loss function of subsection 1.3 in the space of parameters. For this reason the off-line identification methods mean <u>deterministic</u> extremum seeking problems which can be solved by one of the methods of mathematical programming. They are called deterministic because the loss function yields always the same value for a given measurement situation at a given parameter vector.

The most of the off-line identification methods require matrix inversion, furthermore the intermediate iteration steps or the explicit solution have usually the form

 $\underline{\mathbf{p}} = \underline{\mathbf{M}}^{-1} \underline{\mathbf{v}}$ 

(2.1)

where  $\underline{\underline{M}}$  is a square matrix,  $\underline{\underline{v}}$  a vector of appropriate dimension. If we now do not wish to estimate the i-th  $\underline{p}_i$  element of parameter vector  $\underline{\underline{p}}$  or in another formulation we wish to estimate under restriction  $\underline{p}_i \equiv 0$ , then it can be achieved the following way. The i-th column and row of matrix  $\underline{\underline{M}}$  will be made equal to zero and e.g. 1. is chosen for the element  $\underline{M}_{ii}$  at their intersection. Thereafter the i-th element of vector  $\underline{\underline{v}}$  is made equal to zero. So we obtain definitely zero for  $\underline{p}_i$ 

	•	
• • • •	•	•
	•	•
• 0 • 0	•	
$\underline{p} =  p_i  =  00100   0  =  00100 $	0 =	0
· · · · · · · ·	•	•
	•	•
· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	•	•
	•	•

(2.2)

This technique is called masking. In practical applications we used to give a mask vector whose elements have value 1 if we wish to estimate the coefficient concerned and value zero if we wish to exclude it from the estimation.

#### 2.1 Least squares method

General information about the least square method for SISO systems is given in App.5. The condition of the asymtotically unbiased parameter estimation (App.5-6) is fulfilled by the assumption  $C(z^{-1})\equiv 1$  and  $D(z^{-1})\equiv A(z^{-1})$  from the general system equation (1.2-3), in addition it should be required from the input signal that it should be uncorrelated with the source noise and fulfils the CESARO condition of persistently exciting (cf.App.6) [12, 88].

The system equation can now be written in the form of the following difference equation:

$$A(z^{-1})y(t) = z^{-d} B(z^{-1})u(t) + e(t).$$
 (2.1-1)

By assuming d=0 and utilizing the meaning of  $A(z^{-1})$  and  $B(z^{-1})$ :

$$y(t) = \sum_{i=0}^{n} b_{i}u(t-i) - \sum_{i=1}^{n} a_{i}y(t-i) + e(t) = \underline{f}^{T}(u,y,t)\underline{p}_{ba} + e(t),$$

$$i=0 \qquad i=1 \qquad (2.1-2)$$

where

$$\underline{f}(u,y,t) = [u(t), u(t-1), \dots, u(t-n); -y(t-1), \dots, -y(t-n)]^{T}$$
(2.1-3)

and

$$\underline{\mathbf{p}}_{ba} = \begin{bmatrix} \mathbf{b}_0, \mathbf{b}_1, \dots, \mathbf{b}_n; \mathbf{a}_1, \dots, \mathbf{a}_n \end{bmatrix}^T, \qquad (2.1-4)$$
  
as it follows also from (1.2-16).

In case of zero initial condition (which does not reduce

substantially the generality) [7, 8], the vector equation simultaneously valid for N samples can be obtained from relations (1.2-38) and (1.2-40):

$$\underline{y} = b_0 \underline{\underline{I}}\underline{u} + b_1 \underline{\underline{S}}\underline{u} + \dots + b_n \underline{\underline{S}}^n \underline{u} - a_1 \underline{\underline{S}}\underline{y} - \dots - a_n \underline{\underline{S}}^n \underline{y} + \underline{e} =$$
$$= \underline{\underline{F}}(\underline{u}, \underline{y}) \underline{p}_{ba} + \underline{e} \equiv \underline{\underline{F}}_{uy} \underline{p}_{ba} + \underline{e} \qquad (2.1-5)$$

where

$$\underline{\underline{F}}_{uy} \equiv \underline{\underline{F}}(\underline{u},\underline{y}) = [\underline{u},\underline{\underline{S}}\underline{u},\dots,\underline{\underline{S}}^{n}\underline{u}; -\underline{\underline{S}}\underline{y},\dots,-\underline{\underline{S}}^{n}\underline{y}] = \begin{bmatrix} \underline{\underline{f}}^{T}(u,y,1) \\ \vdots \\ \vdots \\ \underline{\underline{f}}^{T}(u,y,N) \end{bmatrix}.$$
(2.1-6)

We have deduced in App. 5 that the LS estimation of the parameters of the above system equation is given by

$$\hat{\underline{p}}_{ba} = (\underline{F}_{uy}^{T} \underline{F}_{uy})^{-1} \underline{F}_{uy}^{T} \underline{y} = [\underline{F}_{uy}^{T}(\underline{u},\underline{y})\underline{F}(\underline{u},\underline{y})]^{-1} \underline{F}_{uy}^{T}(\underline{u},\underline{y}) \underline{y}.$$
(2.1-7)

This relation is also called - after the classical regression analysis - the solution of the GAUSSIAN normal equation system, and in case of the discrete-time identification the KALMAN estimation. [57, 77, 80].

By taking into account the relations

$$\underline{\underline{F}}_{uy}^{T} \underline{\underline{F}}_{uy} = \sum_{t=1}^{N} \underline{\underline{f}}(u,y,t) \underline{\underline{f}}^{T}(u,y,t) \qquad (2.1-8)$$

- 41 -

and

$$\mathbf{F}_{uy}^{T} \mathbf{y} = \sum_{t=1}^{N} \underline{f}(u, y, t) \mathbf{y}(t)$$
(2.1-9)

the solution (2.1-7) can be made easier with respect to the computations.

Estimation properties are discussed in App.5. more in detail, here only some remarks are made on the conditions (App. 5-6) of asymptotic unbiasedness. Of the two conditions the second is more important. This means in case of an estimation linear in parameters that in the expression on the right side of (2.1-2) the vector of the function components in the scalar product (now f(u,y,t)) and the additive disturbing term, the so-called equation error (now e(t)) can not be in correlation. This uncorrelatedness can be easily understood in our case. The input signal has been assumed to be uncorrelated with e(t); on the other hand,  $\underline{f}(u,y,t)$  contains only the values of the output signal of a preceeding time- and through them source noise values of a preceding time. Hence the uncorrelatedness of f(u,y,t) and e(t) already follows. The more exact proof is given in App. 7.

With respect to equation (2.1-6) we note that although the description mode applied there with the shift matrices requires the zero initial conditions (that is the start with the zero <u>f</u> vector in the sums (2.1-8) and (2.1-9)), we have no problem in changing over to the non-zero initial conditions on the basis of the right side of the equation. Here it is easy to be seen that this change-over means only that at t=1 (at the beginning of the investigations) the measurements u(o), y(o),..., u(-n+1), y(-n+1) have also to be available in order to construct <u>f</u>(u,y,1) which needs N+n samples altogether. This problem can be of interest for small N, as the effect of the initial conditions on the estimation disappears asymptotically [6, 7].

- 42 -

Our further statements refer to the coefficient b and deadtime d. In case d=0 the coefficient b has an increased role. Then the non-zero value of b means that either a proportional "channel" without dynamics is also represented in the process or the process has a differentiating character. Those systems have b, in whose transient function there is a jump at zero moment. In the identification programs written by the various research workshops, two kinds of conceptions can be discovered [8, 60, 117]. According to one, the estimation procedure is suitable fitted, as a matter of course, also for the estimation of b and if one does not wish to estimate it, then it is excluded from the approximation model by the masking technique described above. According to the other, the estimation of  $b_0$  is not built in the program (the parameter vector begins by  $b_1$  ) and the effect corresponding to b is obtained by the choice d=-1. Then b, will be b and so on  $b_n$  will be  $b_{n-1}$ . If the program has been originally written for the estimation of polynomials of the order n, then in this case  $B(z^{-1})$  will always be of one degree less than  $A(z^{-1})$ . (By special masking it can be achieved to make the order of  $B(z^{-1})$ ,  $A(z^{-1})$  equal.)

The consideration of the given deadtime d can be attained on the one hand by the adequate contruction of the function component vectors (special programming demand), on the other by the suitable shift of the input and output signals with respect to each other. The latter possibility covers a far more general possibility than the former. For it is not difficult to write a computer program which performs the shifts corresponding to the deadtimes by inputs even for a multiple input system so that it determines at the same time the number of sampling elements available for identification, too. (The shifts caused by the deadtimes reduce namely the number of the usable related values). On the basis of the shifted samples we can already perform the identification with a program written for the case d=0 and after all, in the final In connection with the special issues, also not that opinions differ also with regard to the order of the polynomials  $B(z^{-1})$  and  $A(z^{-1})$ . According to one approach, both orders can be considered identical (programming is simpler because of cycles of same effect) and use, if necessary, masking. With the second approach different orders are also allowed (more complicated cycles). The first solution proved more reasonable in the practice.

We would like also to advert to the extension of the LS method to multiple input, i.e. MISO systems. For these systems the LS method can be formally used according to the same equations (2.1-6) and (2.1-7), only  $\underline{f}(u,y,t)$  will be modified according to (1.2-24) and obviously  $\underline{p}_{ba}$  to (1.2-25). The system equation will now have the form:

$$y(t) = \sum_{j=1}^{m} \frac{B_j(z^{-1})}{A(z^{-1})} u_j(t-d_j) + \frac{1}{A(z^{-1})} e(t) =$$
$$= \underline{f}^T(u_1, \dots, u_m, y, t) \underline{p}_{b_1} \dots \underline{b}_m a^+ e(t)$$
(2.1-10)

where

$$\underline{f}^{T}(u_{1}, \dots, u_{m}, y, t) = [u_{1}(t-d_{1}), \dots, u_{1}(t-d_{1}-n); \dots; u_{m}(t-d_{m}), \dots, u_{m}(t-d_{m}-n); -y(t-1), \dots, -y(t-n)]$$
(2.1-11)

and

$$\underline{\mathbf{p}} = \begin{bmatrix} \mathbf{b}_{10}, \dots, \mathbf{b}_{1n}; \dots; \mathbf{b}_{m0}, \dots, \mathbf{b}_{mn}; \mathbf{a}_1, \dots, \mathbf{a}_n \end{bmatrix}^{\mathrm{T}}.$$
 (2.1-12)

## 2.2 Maximum likelihood method

ASTRÖM and his co-workers worked out the method of maximum likelihood first for the general SISO system equation (1.2-3) and prepared programs for this task for the firm IBM [8]. Later, in the course of practical applications, it became completely clear that the use of the model (1.2-5) is sufficient for identification tasks [9]. Meanwhile the ASTRÖM or ASTRÖM-BOHLIN and the maximum likelihood method resp. ML structure have practically merged.

The ML method is discussed by assuming  $d \equiv 0$  and  $b_0 \equiv 0$  as already mentioned in the introduction of this chapter and their estimation is going to be performed via shifting of the input and output signals with respect to each other.

In case of zero initial conditions the system equation for N samples is now

$$\underline{\mathbf{y}} = \underline{\mathbf{A}}^{-1} \underline{\mathbf{B}} \underline{\mathbf{u}} + \underline{\mathbf{A}}^{-1} \underline{\mathbf{C}} \underline{\mathbf{e}}, \qquad (2.2-1)$$

can be obtained from (1.2-38) by the assumption  $\underline{z}_0 \equiv \underline{0}$  and  $\underline{D} = \underline{A}$ . As e(t) is uncorrelated and

$$\mathbf{E} \{ \underline{\mathbf{e}} \ \underline{\mathbf{e}}^{\mathrm{T}} \} = \lambda^{2} \mathbf{I}, \qquad (2.2-2)$$

we obtain the maximum likelihood estimation on basis of (1.3-5) resp. (1.3-7) by solving the extremum problem

$$Q(\hat{\underline{p}}) = \min_{\underline{p}} \frac{1}{2} \underline{e}^{\mathrm{T}} \underline{e} . \qquad (2.2-3)$$

The parameters of the SISO system are contained now by the parameter vector

$$\underline{\mathbf{p}}_{\text{bac}} = \begin{bmatrix} \mathbf{b}_1, \dots, \mathbf{b}_n; \mathbf{a}_1, \dots, \mathbf{a}_n, \mathbf{c}_1, \dots, \mathbf{c}_n \end{bmatrix}^{\mathrm{T}}$$
(2.2-4)

as we can write on basis of (1.2-16) that

$$y(t) = \underline{f}^{T}(u,y,t)\underline{p}_{ba} + C(z^{-1})e(t) = \underline{f}^{T}(u,y,e,t)\underline{p}_{bac} + e(t),$$

$$(2.2-5)$$

where  $\underline{f}(u,y,e,t)$  is according to (2.2-14). Here e(t) is not measurable but can be calculated at a given  $\underline{p}_{bac}$ . Both the equation

$$e(t) = \frac{A(z^{-1})y(t) - B(z^{-1})u(t)}{C(z^{-1})} = y(t) - \underline{f}^{T}(u, y, e, t)\underline{p}_{bac} (2.2-6)$$

or the vector equation

$$\underline{\mathbf{e}} = \underline{\mathbf{C}}^{-1}(\underline{\mathbf{A}}\underline{\mathbf{y}} - \underline{\mathbf{B}}\underline{\mathbf{u}}) \tag{2.2-7}$$

are equally suitable for its calculation. From the scalar equation (2.2-6) by the cross-resolution we can get a state equation much simpler from the point of view of computational aspect for the calculation of e(t) which is the following:

$$\underline{x}(t) = \begin{bmatrix} -c_1 & 1 & 0 \dots 0 \\ -c_2 & 0 & 1 \dots 0 \\ \vdots & \vdots & \vdots \\ -c_{n-1} & 0 & 0 \dots 1 \\ -c_n & 0 & 0 \dots 0 \end{bmatrix} \underbrace{x(t-1)}_{(t-1)} \begin{bmatrix} 1 & a_1 & -b_1 \\ 0 & a_2 & -b_2 \\ \vdots & \vdots & \vdots \\ 0 & a_{n-1} & -b_{n-1} \\ 0 & a_n & -b_n \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} y(t) \\ y(t-1) \\ u(t-1) \end{bmatrix} (2.2-8)$$

 $\underline{e}(t) = [1,0,...,0,0] \underline{x}(t); t = 1,2,...,N$  (2.2-9)

(These equations do not mean that the coefficient matrices have to be constructed in the computer, they only refer to a simple computational algorithm.)

As neither the parameters are known, it would be more exact to use the symbol  $\hat{}$  to denote the estimated value both for e(t) and the coefficients, for the sake of simplicity, however disregard from this.

The ML estimation requires essentially the solution of a nonlinear extremum problem. The nonlinearity is caused by the fact that in  $\underline{f}(u,y,e,t)$  in (2.2-5) e(t) can be generated as a function of the parameters.

For the minimum seeking of  $Q(\underline{p})$  one can choose between many methods of mathematical programming. Pure seeking procedures are generally not applied as the first and second derivatives of Q are relatively easy to be calculated. This latter fact encourages us to have recourse to methods using derivatives. Although already several authors have reported the use of a first-order method or of what asymptotically converges to the second order ones (POWELL, FLETSCHER-POWELL, gradient, etc.) but in the practice mostly the NEWTON-RAPHSON secondorder seeking method is used, with certain modifications [8, 15, 60, 14]. The canonical form of this latter algorithm:

$$\hat{\underline{p}}_{bac}[j+1] = \hat{\underline{p}}_{bac}[j] - \alpha[j] \underline{\mathbb{R}}[j] \frac{dQ(\hat{\underline{p}}_{bac}[j])}{d\hat{\underline{p}}_{bac}[j]}$$
(2.2-10)

Here j refers to the iteration cycle and  $^{\text{denotes}}$  the estimated value. The optimum choice of  $\mathbb{R}[j]$ 

$$\underline{\mathbf{R}}[\mathbf{j}] = \underline{\mathbf{T}}(\hat{\underline{\mathbf{p}}}_{\text{bac}}[\mathbf{j}])^{-1}, \qquad (2.2-11)$$

where  $\underline{\mathbb{I}}(\hat{\underline{p}}_{bac}[j])$  is the Hessian matrix of the second derivatives of Q calculated by  $\hat{\underline{p}}_{bac}[j]$ . Modifications differing from the original algorithm are implied in factor  $\alpha[j]$ . The computer realization of the method is somewhat different [60, 145]. After the presentation of the computational possibility of the derivatives, we are going to describe the applied seeking strategy.

Consider the following for the construction of the gradient:

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}Q(\underline{p}_{\mathrm{bac}})}{\mathrm{d}\underline{p}_{\mathrm{bac}}} = \frac{\mathrm{d}\underline{e}^{\mathrm{T}}}{\mathrm{d}\underline{p}_{\mathrm{bac}}} \underbrace{\mathbf{e}}_{\mathrm{bac}} = -\underbrace{\mathbf{F}}_{\mathrm{uye}}^{\mathrm{T}}(\underline{C}^{-1})^{\mathrm{T}} \underbrace{\mathbf{e}}_{\mathrm{t}=1} = -\underbrace{\sum_{\mathrm{t}=1}^{\mathrm{N}} \underline{f}(u^{\mathrm{F}}, y^{\mathrm{F}}, e^{\mathrm{F}}, t) \underline{e}(t),$$

$$(2.2-12)$$

where

$$\underbrace{\underline{F}}_{uye} = \underbrace{\underline{F}}(\underline{u}, \underline{y}, \underline{e}) = \underbrace{\underline{Su}}_{u}, \dots, \underline{\underline{S}}^{n}\underline{u}; -\underline{\underline{Sv}}_{u}, \dots, -\underline{\underline{S}}^{n}\underline{y}; \underline{\underline{Se}}_{u}, \dots, \underline{\underline{S}}^{n}\underline{e} = \\
 = \begin{bmatrix} \underline{f}^{T}(u, y, e, 1) \\ \vdots \\ \underline{f}^{T}(u, y, e, N) \end{bmatrix},$$
(2.2-13)

further

$$\underline{f}(u,y,e,t) = [u(t-1),...,u(t-n);-y(t-1),...,-y(t-n); e(t-1),...,e(t-n)]^T$$

$$(2.2-14)$$

and

$$\underline{f}(u^{F}, y^{F}, e^{F}, t) = [u^{F}(t-1), \dots, u^{F}(t-n); -y^{F}(t-1), \dots, -y^{F}(t-n);$$

$$e^{F}(t-1), \dots, e^{F}(t-n)]^{T}. \qquad (2.2-15)$$

Here

$$u^{F}(t) = \frac{1}{C(z^{-1})} u(t),$$
 (2.2-16)

$$y^{F}(t) = \frac{1}{c(z^{-1})} y(t), \qquad (2.2-17)$$

$$e^{F}(t) = \frac{1}{c(z^{-1})} e(t) \qquad (2.2-18)$$

i.e. auxiliary parameters obtained by autoregressive filtering (indicated by the upper script F: "filtered").  $\underline{S}$ denotes the shift matrix.

To justify (2.2-12) we show the calculation of the derivatives of <u>e</u> by coefficients  $b_i$ ,  $a_i$  and  $c_i$ . By utilizing the equation (2.2-7), as well as (1.2-40),

$$\frac{\partial \underline{e}}{\partial b_{i}} = \frac{\partial}{\partial b_{i}} \underline{c}^{-1} (\underline{A}\underline{y} - \underline{B}\underline{u}) = - \underline{c}^{-1} \frac{\partial \underline{B}_{i}}{\partial b_{i}} \underline{u} = -\underline{c}^{-1} \underline{s}^{i} \underline{u},$$

$$(2.2-19)$$

$$\frac{\partial \underline{e}}{\partial \underline{a}_{i}} = \frac{\partial}{\partial \underline{a}_{i}} \underline{c}^{-1} (\underline{A}\underline{y} - \underline{B}\underline{u}) = \underline{c}^{-1} \frac{\partial \underline{A}}{\partial \underline{a}_{i}} \underline{y} = \underline{c}^{-1} \underline{\underline{S}}^{i} \underline{y},$$

$$(2.2-20)$$

$$\frac{\partial \underline{e}}{\partial c_{i}} = \frac{\partial}{\partial c_{i}} \underbrace{\underline{c}^{-1}}_{\partial c_{i}} \underbrace{\underline{C}^{-1}}_{\partial c_{i}} \underbrace{\underline{Ay}}_{\partial c_{i}} - \underbrace{\underline{Bu}}_{\partial c_{i}} = -\underbrace{\underline{C}^{-1}}_{\partial c_{i}} \underbrace{\underline{S^{-1}}}_{\partial c_{i}} \underbrace{\underline{C}^{-1}}_{\partial c_{i}} \underbrace{\underline{Ay}}_{\partial c_{i}} - \underbrace{\underline{Bu}}_{\partial c_{i}} = -\underbrace{\underline{C}^{-1}}_{\partial c_{i}} \underbrace{\underline{S^{i}}}_{\partial c_{i}} \underbrace{\underline$$

In the last equation the identity  $\partial \underline{C}^{-1} / \partial c_1 \equiv -\underline{C}^{-1} \partial \underline{C} / \partial c_1 \underline{C}^{-1}$ is used. These equations enable us to construct the complete gradient vector according to (2.2-12).

The partial derivatives constructed for one element e(t) of <u>e</u>, are in complete analogy with Eqs. (2.2-19) - (2.2-21):

$$\frac{\partial e(t)}{\partial b_{i}} = -z^{-i} \frac{u(t)}{c(z^{-1})} = - \frac{u(t-i)}{c(z^{-1})} \qquad (2.2-22)$$

$$\frac{\partial e(t)}{\partial a_{i}} = z^{-i} \frac{y(t)}{c(z^{-1})} = \frac{y(t-i)}{c(z^{-1})} \qquad (2.2-23)$$

$$\frac{\partial e(t)}{\partial c_{i}} = -z^{-i} \frac{e(t)}{c(z^{-1})} = - \frac{e(t-i)}{c(z^{-1})} \qquad (2.2-24)$$

At the end of the '60s, the calculations were still based on these relations, considering that (2.2-12) can be written also in the form of

$$\frac{dQ(\underline{p}_{bac})}{d\underline{p}_{bac}} = \sum_{t=1}^{N} \frac{\partial e(t)}{\partial \underline{p}_{bac}} e(t). \qquad (2.2-25)$$

The programming of these calculations required, however, a large-size memory, while  $\underline{f}(u^F, y^F, e^F, t) = \underline{f}_1^F(t)$  in (2.2-12) can be got by a very simple calculation. This can be achieved by the following state equation:

 $\underline{\underline{f}}_{1}^{\mathrm{F}}(\mathtt{t}) = \underline{\underline{\alpha}}_{1} \underline{\underline{f}}_{1}^{\mathrm{F}}(\mathtt{t}-1) + \underline{\underline{\omega}}_{1}(\mathtt{t}) =$ 

- 50 -



(2.2-26)

The Hessian matrix consists of two parts:

$$T = \frac{d^2 Q(\underline{p}_{bac})}{d\underline{p}_{bac} d\underline{p}_{bac}} = \underline{T}_1 + \underline{T}_2 = \frac{d\underline{e}^T}{d\underline{p}_{bac}} \quad \frac{d\underline{e}}{d\underline{p}_{bac}^T} + \frac{d\underline{e}}{d\underline{p}_{bac}^T} + \frac{d\underline{e}^T}{d\underline{p}_{bac}^T} + \frac{d\underline{e}^T}{d\underline{p}_{ba$$

Here

$$\underline{\underline{T}}_{1} = \underline{\underline{F}}_{uye}^{T} (\underline{\underline{C}}^{-1})^{T} \underline{\underline{C}}^{-1} \underline{\underline{F}}_{uye} = \sum_{t=1}^{N} \underline{\underline{f}} (u^{F}, y^{F}, e^{F}, t) \underline{\underline{f}} (u^{F}, y^{F}, e^{F}, t)^{T},$$

$$(2.2-28)$$

i.e. can be formed from quantities already known as we have already given the recursive calculation of  $\underline{f}_{1}^{F}(t)$ .

The construction of  $\underline{T}_2$  deserves more attention

		⊴	Q	T∎bc
<b>T</b> 2	=	Q	Q	Tac
		Ţcb	Taca	Tec

In this matrix  $\underline{T}_{cb} = \underline{T}_{bc}^{T}$  and  $\underline{T}_{ca} = \underline{T}_{ac}^{T}$ , further  $\underline{T}_{cc}$  is symmetric ( $\underline{T}$  itself is also symmetric!). Only the first row and last column of the matrices  $\underline{T}_{bc}$ ,  $\underline{T}_{ac}$  and  $\underline{T}_{cc}$  contain informative new element. For the other elements it is valid that  $t_{ij}=t_{(i-1)}, (j+1)$ . Thus a (3-2n-1) dimensional vector is sufficient to construct  $\underline{T}_{2}$ . The construction of this vector

$$\underline{g}^{FF}(t) = \left[ u^{FF}(t-1), \dots, u^{FF}(t-2n+1); -y^{FF}(t-1), \dots, -y^{FF}(t-2n+1); \right]$$

$$2e^{FF}(t-1), \dots, 2e^{FF}(t-2n+1) \right]^{T}, \qquad (2.2-30)$$

where

$$u^{FF}(t) = \frac{u^{F}(t)}{C(z^{-1})}$$
(2.2-31)

$$y^{FF}(t) = \frac{y^{F}(t)}{c(z^{-1})}$$
(2.2-32)  
$$e^{FF}(t) = \frac{e^{F}(t)}{c(z^{-1})} .$$
(2.2-33)

In order to form recursively  $g^{FF}(t)$  we could also now construct a state equation similar to (2.2-26), but as it would differ only in size, we do not go now into details of its construction.  $\underline{T}_2$  can be formed from the vector

$$\underline{\mathbf{q}}^{\mathrm{FF}} = \sum_{\mathbf{t}=1}^{\mathrm{N}} \underline{\mathbf{g}}^{\mathrm{FF}}(\mathbf{t}) \mathbf{e}(\mathbf{t}) = \left[\underline{\mathbf{q}}_{\mathrm{bc}}^{\mathrm{T}}, \underline{\mathbf{q}}_{\mathrm{ac}}^{\mathrm{T}}, \underline{\mathbf{q}}_{\mathrm{cc}}^{\mathrm{T}}\right]^{\mathrm{T}}$$
(2.2-34)

since this contains the elements of  $\underline{T}_2$  different from 0.  $\underline{T}_{\underline{E}bc}$  can be constructed from  $\underline{q}_{bc}$ , containing the first 2n-1 elements of  $\underline{q}^{FF}$ , in the following way:



(2.2 - 35)

where the repetition of identical elements was denoted by arrows. A similar regularity is valid also for the other submatrices.

The above special structural relations follow from the scalar form

$$t_{ij} = \sum_{t=1}^{N} \frac{\partial^2 e(t)}{\partial p_i} e(t)$$
 (2.2-36)

deduced from the elements of matrix  $\underline{T}_2$  where the value of the second derivatives of e(t):

$$\frac{\partial^{2} \mathbf{e}(\mathbf{t})}{\partial \mathbf{b}_{i} \partial \mathbf{b}_{j}} = 0; \quad \frac{\partial^{2} \mathbf{e}(\mathbf{t})}{\partial \mathbf{b}_{i} \partial \mathbf{a}_{j}} = 0; \quad \frac{\partial^{2} \mathbf{e}(\mathbf{t})}{\partial \mathbf{a}_{i} \partial \mathbf{a}_{j}} = 0;$$

$$\frac{\partial^{2} \mathbf{e}(\mathbf{t})}{\partial \mathbf{b}_{i} \partial \mathbf{c}_{j}} = z^{-(\mathbf{i}+\mathbf{j})} \frac{\mathbf{u}(\mathbf{t})}{\mathbf{c}^{2}(z^{-1})} = \frac{\mathbf{u}^{\mathbf{F}}(\mathbf{t}-\mathbf{i}-\mathbf{j})}{\mathbf{c}(z^{-1})};$$

$$\frac{\partial^{2} \mathbf{e}(\mathbf{t})}{\partial \mathbf{a}_{i} \partial \mathbf{c}_{j}} = -z^{-(\mathbf{i}+\mathbf{j})} \frac{\mathbf{y}(\mathbf{t})}{\mathbf{c}^{2}(z^{-1})} = -\frac{\mathbf{y}^{\mathbf{F}}(\mathbf{t}-\mathbf{i}-\mathbf{j})}{\mathbf{c}(z^{-1})};$$

$$\frac{\partial^{2} \mathbf{e}(\mathbf{t})}{\partial \mathbf{a}_{i} \partial \mathbf{c}_{j}} = 2z^{-(\mathbf{i}+\mathbf{j})} \frac{\mathbf{e}(\mathbf{t})}{\mathbf{c}^{2}(z^{-1})} = 2 \frac{\mathbf{e}^{\mathbf{F}}(\mathbf{t}-\mathbf{i}-\mathbf{j})}{\mathbf{c}(z^{-1})}$$

Note that in case of  $N \rightarrow \infty \underline{\mathbb{T}}_2$  becomes a zero matrix. This is a simple consequence of the fact that of  $\underline{\mathbb{T}}_2$  is formed from vector <u>a</u> according to (2.2-34), which is, however, asymptotically equal with the zero vector, as it contains the correlations of e(t) formed by quantities uncorrelated with it. Alike the gradient, we use today already for the calculation of the Hessian matrix, too, the recursive relations presented above, and not the difference equations represented by the scalar equations according to (2.2-37). We acknowledge, however, that without these we would be unable to perform the detailed analysis for the deduction of the simpler algorithms. As in the Newton-Raphson technique, the calculation of inverse matrix, the gradient and the second derivatives require the greater part of the calculation time by so the described relations can form a basis for fast computer programs.

The algorithm (2.2-10) ensures, of course, only local extremum values. The result of the LS estimation is considered - in the absence of other information - as the starting point of the seeking under condition  $c_i \equiv 0$ . The computer programs can usually start also from other starting points given in advance. By this operation mode we can check also the globality of the local minimum obtained. The extremum seeking is further complicated by the fact that the roots of the polynomial  $z^n C(z^{-1})$  must fall inside of the unit circle (the noise model is now of "minimum phase") because of the autoregressive filtering by  $1/C(z^{-1})$  required for the calculation of the auxiliary quantities.

Our seeking strategy is as follows. The search can start from the LS estimation or external starting point. We use the  $\underline{T} \cong \underline{T}_1$  approximation in some of the first steps. The calculation of  $\underline{T}_1$  is much more simple and the speed of the search fairly great. But in the vicinity of the optimum  $\underline{T}_2$ has already to be taken into consideration. During the search, the positive definiteness of  $\underline{T}^{-1}$  has to be checked. If this is not fulfilled, then the convergence of the search is no more ensured (in this case the step would have been made in the direction of the gradient, although the right direction in searching for the minimum is the other way round). Therefore, in every step of the search we investigate the non-negativeness of the main diagonal elements of  $\underline{T}$  and  $\underline{T}^{-1}$ . If any of them is negative, then we use the  $\underline{T} \cong \underline{T}_{1}$ approximation, as I is by definition a positive definite matrix. (The investigation of the main diagonal yields a not sufficient only necessary condition, but as computation this is the simplest and in practice completely satisfactory solution). The stability of  $C(z^{-1})$  is ensured by a simple strategy. In every iteration step we check for  $z^n C(z^{-1})$  given by the new parameter estimation by a numerical method whether the roots fall into the permitted domain. If yes, then we accept the new point, if not, then we consider the arithmetic mean of the old and new points as a new point. The halving was, of course, meant only for the part of the parameter vector containing the c,-s. (With this method we get again in a permissibly domain, if the old point was also there). In consequence of the numerical errors of inversion, on the one hand, and complexity of the surface, on the other hand, a situation can arise in which the value of the loss function Q is greater in the new point than in the old one. In this case we change over to the suboptimal minimum search in an opposite direction to the gradient. This can be ensured by the choice of

$$\alpha[j]\underline{R}[j] = \frac{\frac{dQ(\underline{p}_{bac}[j])}{d\underline{p}_{bac}^{T}[j]} \quad \frac{dQ(\underline{p}_{bac}[j])}{d\underline{p}_{bac}[j]}}{\frac{dQ(\underline{p}_{bac}[j])}{d\underline{p}_{bac}^{T}[j]} \quad \underline{I}(\underline{p}_{bac}[j]) \quad \frac{dQ(\underline{p}_{bac}[j])}{d\underline{p}_{bac}^{T}[j]} \quad \underline{I}(2.2-38)$$

(See rf. [81].)

If here, too, the value of the loss function appears to be greater, then we can again pass over to the halving strategy (now for the complete  $\underline{p}_{bac}$  vector) for it is sure that after some steps Q will again be smaller than its value in the preceding step. According to our experiences this is the combined strategy which has proved the best with both our simulation and industrial identification tasks. We always had various problems with other solutions suggested in the literature.

The extension of the algorithm discussed just now to the MISO system (1.2-21) is very simple as the role of the polynomials  $B_i(z^{-1})$  regarding the particular input signals  $u_i(t)$  completely coincides. So the consideration of m inputs can be simply realized for the calculation of e(t), the gradient and the Hessian matrix. Thanks to this the computer program working according to the ML method can at present consider simultaneously several inputs, too.

For the calculation of both the gradient vector and the Hessian matrix the output signal of the autoregressive filter  $1/C(z^{-1})$  has to be calculated for various input signals. On the other hand, the "memory" of these filters has to be known at the start of the calculations. As we, in general, do not know this, we assume the output signal of the filter to be zero for the moments before the beginning of the calculations. Experience shows that this approximation has no relevant influence on the exactness of the calculation and its effect can be neglected asymptotically.

- 57 -

### 2.3 The generalized least squares method

For the case of the system equation containing  $C(z^{-1}) \equiv 1$  and  $D(z^{-1}) \equiv A(z^{-1}) * H(z^{-1})$ , CLARKE suggested an estimation technique [33]. This structure is called the generalized least squares structure (GLS) because the estimation method obtained this way agrees asymptotically with the GLS method of AITKEN [57].

So the equation of the SISO system is now (by assuming d=0):

$$y(t) = \frac{B(z^{-1})}{A(z^{-1})} u(t) + \frac{1}{A(z^{-1})H(z^{-1})} e(t)$$
(2.3-1)

where

$$H(z^{-1}) = 1 + h_1 z^{-1} + \dots + h_s z^{-s}$$
 (2.3-2)

By multiplying the Eq. (2.3-1) by  $H(z^{-1})$ , we obtain the form

$$y^{F}(t) = \frac{B(z^{-1})}{A(z^{-1})} u^{F}(t) + \frac{1}{A(z^{-1})} e(t)$$
(2.3-3)

which exactly corresponds to the LS structure. Here

$$y^{F}(t) = H(z^{-h})y(t)$$
 and  $u^{F}(t) = H(z^{-1})u(t)$ . (2.3-4)

The analogous version of the eq. (2.1-2) is now

$$y^{F}(t) = \sum_{i=1}^{n} b_{i}u^{F}(t-i) - \sum_{i=1}^{n} a_{i}y^{F}(t-i) + e(t) =$$
$$= \underline{f}^{T}(u^{F}, y^{F}, t) \underline{p}_{ba} + e(t), \qquad (2.3-5)$$

where

$$\underline{f}(u^{F}, y^{F}, t) = [u^{F}(t-1), \dots, u^{F}(t-n); -y^{F}(t-1), \dots, -y^{F}(t-n)]^{T}.$$
(2.3-6)

The vector equation corresponding to (2.1-5) is now

$$\underline{\mathbf{y}}^{\mathrm{F}} = \mathbf{b}_{1} \underline{\underline{\mathbf{S}}} \underline{\mathbf{u}}^{\mathrm{F}} + \dots + \mathbf{b}_{n} \underline{\underline{\mathbf{S}}}^{n} \underline{\mathbf{u}}^{\mathrm{F}} - \mathbf{a}_{1} \underline{\underline{\mathbf{S}}} \underline{\mathbf{y}}^{\mathrm{F}} - \dots - \mathbf{a}_{n} \underline{\underline{\mathbf{S}}}^{n} \underline{\mathbf{y}}^{\mathrm{F}} + \underline{\mathbf{e}} =$$

$$= \underline{\underline{\mathbf{F}}} (\underline{\mathbf{u}}^{\mathrm{F}}, \underline{\mathbf{y}}^{\mathrm{F}}) \underline{\mathbf{p}}_{\mathrm{ba}} + \underline{\mathbf{e}} = \underline{\underline{\mathbf{H}}} \underline{\underline{\mathbf{F}}} (\underline{\mathbf{u}}, \underline{\mathbf{y}}) \underline{\mathbf{p}}_{\mathrm{ba}} + \underline{\mathbf{e}} =$$

$$= \underline{\underline{\mathbf{H}}} \underline{\underline{\mathbf{F}}}_{\mathrm{uy}} \underline{\underline{\mathbf{p}}}_{\mathrm{ba}} + \underline{\mathbf{e}} , \qquad (2.3-7)$$

where the commutativity of the TOEPLITZ matrices have been utilized. Here in consequence of (2.3-4)

$$\underline{\mathbf{y}}^{\mathrm{F}} = \underline{\mathbf{H}}\underline{\mathbf{y}} \qquad \text{and} \qquad \underline{\mathbf{u}}^{\mathrm{F}} = \underline{\mathbf{H}}\underline{\mathbf{u}} \qquad (2.3-8)$$

where

$$\underline{\underline{H}} = \underline{\underline{I}} + \underline{\underline{h}}_{\underline{\underline{S}}} + \dots + \underline{\underline{h}}_{\underline{\underline{S}}} = \underline{\underline{I}} + \underline{\underline{H}} . \qquad (2.3-9)$$

Further

$$\underline{\underline{F}}(\underline{\underline{u}}^{\mathrm{F}},\underline{\underline{y}}^{\mathrm{F}}) = [\underline{\underline{S}} \ \underline{\underline{u}}^{\mathrm{F}}, \dots, \underline{\underline{S}}^{\mathrm{n}} \ \underline{\underline{u}}^{\mathrm{F}}; -\underline{\underline{S}} \ \underline{\underline{y}}^{\mathrm{F}}, \dots, -\underline{\underline{S}}^{\mathrm{n}} \ \underline{\underline{y}}^{\mathrm{F}}] = \begin{bmatrix} \underline{\underline{f}}^{\mathrm{T}}(\underline{u}^{\mathrm{F}}, \underline{y}^{\mathrm{F}}, 1) \\ \vdots \\ \underline{\underline{f}}^{\mathrm{T}}(\underline{u}^{\mathrm{F}}, \underline{y}^{\mathrm{F}}, N) \end{bmatrix}.$$

$$(2.3-10)$$

As the equation error in Eq. (2.3-7) is also now white noise, by minimizing the loss function

$$Q_{1}(\underline{p}_{ba},\underline{p}_{h}) = [\underline{y}^{F} - \underline{\underline{F}}(\underline{u}^{F},\underline{y}^{F})\underline{p}_{ba}]^{T}[\underline{y}^{F} - \underline{\underline{F}}(\underline{u}^{F},\underline{y}^{F})\underline{p}_{ba}]$$
(2.3-11)

an asymptotically unbiased parameter estimation can be obtained.

In accordance with (2.1-7) this will now be  

$$\hat{\underline{p}}_{ba} = \left[\underline{F}^{T}(\underline{u}^{F}, \underline{y}^{F}) \underline{F}(\underline{u}^{F}, \underline{y}^{F})\right]^{-1} \underline{F}^{T}(\underline{u}^{F}, \underline{y}^{F}) \underline{y}^{F} = \left[\underline{F}^{T}_{uy} \underline{H}^{T} \underline{H} \underline{F}_{uy}\right]^{-1} \underline{F}^{T}_{uy} \underline{H}^{T} \underline{H} \underline{y} = \hat{\underline{p}}_{ba}(\underline{p}_{b}). \quad (2.3-12)$$

But here we have to consider that the solution is obtained as a function of

$$\underline{\mathbf{p}}_{\mathbf{h}} = \left[ \mathbf{h}_{1}, \mathbf{h}_{2}, \dots, \mathbf{h}_{s} \right]^{\mathrm{T}} . \tag{2.3-13}$$

As we do not know  $\underline{p}_h$ , this also has to be estimated.

We obtain from Eq. (2.3-1) after some arrangement that

$$\left[y(t) - \underline{f}^{T}(u,y,t)\underline{p}_{ba}\right] = r(t) = -\underline{g}^{T}(r,t)\underline{p}_{h} + e(t), \quad (2.3-14)$$

where

$$\underline{g}(\mathbf{r},t) = [r(t-1),...,r(t-s)]^{T}$$
. (2.3-15)

Here r(t) is the so-called residual

$$r(t) = y(t) - \underline{f}^{T}(u, y, t) \underline{p}_{ba}$$
 (2.3-16)

As (2.3-14) is linear in the parameters  $h_i$  and the equation error is white noise, we can use again the LS method. The vector equation for N samples is now

$$\underline{x} - \underline{F}_{uy}\underline{p}_{ba} = \underline{r} = -h_1\underline{\underline{Sr}} - \dots - h_s \underline{\underline{S}}^s \underline{r} + \underline{e} =$$
$$= -\underline{\underline{G}}(\underline{r})\underline{p}_h + \underline{e} = -\underline{\underline{G}}_r \underline{p}_h + \underline{e}. \qquad (2.3-17)$$

Here <u>r</u> contains the N values of r(t) in a form similar to <u>u</u>, y and <u>e</u>. The loss function to be minimized is

$$Q_2(\underline{p}_h, \underline{p}_{ba}) = (\underline{r} + \underline{G}_r \underline{p}_h)^T (\underline{r} + \underline{G}_r \underline{p}_h)$$
(2.3-18)

and the parameter estimation ensuring the minimum will be

$$\hat{\underline{p}}_{h} = -(\underline{\underline{G}}_{r}^{T} \underline{\underline{G}}_{r})^{-1} \underline{\underline{G}}_{r}^{T} \underline{\underline{r}} = \hat{\underline{p}}_{h}(\underline{p}_{ba}). \qquad (2.3-19)$$

Thus the parameter estimation  $\hat{\underline{p}}_{h}$  is the function of  $\underline{p}_{ba}$ . So in order to carry out a complete parameter estimation, we can use a successive approximation method, recommended in the literature first by CLARKE [33]. This estimation technique consists of the following steps:

- 1. By assuming  $\underline{p}_{h} = \underline{0}$  a simple LS estimation is carried out according to (2.1-7) for  $\underline{p}_{ha}$
- Thereafter on the basis of (2.3-16) the residuals r(t),
   i.e. <u>r</u> is calculated.
- 3. In the next step an estimation for  $\underline{p}_h$  is made according to (2.3-19).
- 4. With the help of the obtained  $\hat{\underline{p}}_{h}, \underline{y}^{F}$  and  $\underline{u}^{F}$ , i.e. the values of the input and output signal filtered by  $H(z^{-1})$  are calculated.
- 5. The procedure is continued by an estimation according to (2.3-12), thereafter the particular steps of the iteration will be repeated beginning with point 2. until the achievement of the required accuracy.

The CLARKE's iteration method means essentially the minimization of the loss function  $Q_1$  according to the relaxation (or GAUSS-SEIDELL) method to be used in the space of the joint parameter vector  $\underline{p}_{bah} = \begin{bmatrix} \underline{p}_{ba}^T, \ \underline{p}_{h}^T \end{bmatrix}^T$ . I.e. the minimization proceeds in the subspace corresponding to parameters  $\underline{p}_{ba}$ , resp.  $\underline{p}_{b}$  step by step. There is a nonlinear estimation with respect to the parameter vector  $\underline{p}_{bah}$  of the process model (2.3-1) and the CLARKE method decomposes this task to two estimation problems linear in parameters by iteration steps. It is also possible, of course, to minimize  $Q_1(\underline{p}_{ba},\underline{p}_h) = Q_1(\underline{p}_{bah})$  directly according to  $\underline{p}_{bah}$ with the NEWTON-RAPHSON technique (2.2-10). Alike to those discussed with the ML structure, here the relations to be used for the calculation of the gradient vector and the Hessian matrix for the system equation (2.3-1) are also given.

From the vector equation (2.3-7)

$$\underline{\mathbf{e}} = \underline{\mathbf{H}} \left( \underline{\mathbf{A}} \ \underline{\mathbf{y}} - \underline{\mathbf{B}} \ \underline{\mathbf{u}} \right) = \underline{\mathbf{A}} \ \underline{\mathbf{y}}^{\mathrm{F}} - \underline{\mathbf{B}} \ \underline{\mathbf{u}}^{\mathrm{F}} = \underline{\mathbf{H}} \ \underline{\mathbf{r}}$$
(2.3-20)

hence the derivatives of e by parameters are

$$\frac{\partial \mathbf{e}}{\partial \mathbf{b}_{i}} = -\frac{\partial \mathbf{E}}{\partial \mathbf{b}_{i}} \mathbf{\underline{u}}^{\mathbf{F}} = -\mathbf{\underline{S}}^{\mathbf{i}} \mathbf{\underline{u}}^{\mathbf{F}}, \qquad (2.3-21)$$

$$\frac{\partial \underline{\mathbf{e}}}{\partial \mathbf{a}_{i}} = \frac{\partial \underline{\mathbf{A}}}{\partial \mathbf{a}_{i}} \underline{\mathbf{y}}^{\mathrm{F}} = \underline{\mathbf{S}}^{\mathrm{i}} \underline{\mathbf{y}}^{\mathrm{F}}, \qquad (2.3-22)$$

$$\frac{\partial \underline{\mathbf{e}}}{\partial \mathbf{h}_{i}} = \frac{\partial \underline{\mathbf{H}}}{\partial \mathbf{h}_{i}} \left( \underline{\mathbf{A}} \underline{\mathbf{y}} - \underline{\mathbf{B}} \underline{\mathbf{u}} \right) = \underline{\mathbf{S}}^{i} \underline{\mathbf{r}}$$
(2.3-23)

On basis of the above equations as well as (2.2-12) now

$$\frac{dQ(\underline{p}_{bah})}{d\underline{p}_{bah}} = \frac{d\underline{e}^{T}}{d\underline{p}_{bah}} \quad \underline{e} = -\underline{F}_{uye}^{\mathbf{x}T} \quad \underline{H}^{T} \quad \underline{e} =$$

$$= -\sum_{t=1}^{N} \underline{f}(u^{F}, y^{F}, r, t) e(t), \qquad (2.3-24)$$

where

$$\underline{\underline{F}}_{uye}^{\mathtt{x}} \equiv \underline{\underline{F}}^{\mathtt{x}}(\underline{u}, \underline{v}, \underline{e}^{\mathtt{F}}) = [\underline{\underline{S}}\underline{u}, \dots, \underline{\underline{S}}^{n}\underline{u}, -\underline{\underline{S}}\underline{v}, \dots, -\underline{\underline{S}}^{n}\underline{v}, -\underline{\underline{S}}\underline{\underline{H}}^{-2}\underline{\underline{e}}, \dots, -\underline{\underline{S}}^{n}\underline{\underline{H}}^{-2}\underline{\underline{e}}] = \\ = [\underline{\underline{S}}\underline{u}, \dots, \underline{\underline{S}}^{n}\underline{u}, -\underline{\underline{S}}\underline{v}, \dots, -\underline{\underline{S}}^{n}\underline{v}, -\underline{\underline{S}}^{n}\underline{\underline{H}}^{-1}\underline{r}, \dots, -\underline{\underline{S}}^{n}\underline{\underline{H}}^{-1}\underline{r}] \\ (2.3-25)$$

further

$$\underline{f}(u^{F}, y^{F}, r, t) = [u^{F}(t-1), \dots, u^{F}(t-n); -y^{F}(t-1), \dots, -y^{F}(t-n);$$
  
-r(t-1), ..., -r(t-n)]<sup>T</sup>, (2.3-26)

where  $u^{F}(t)$  and  $y^{F}(t)$  are according to (2.3-4), and r(t) can be calculated from (2.3-16). e(t) is still necessary to (2.3-24) which can be obtained from (2.3-5). (It is important to note that  $r(t) = y(t) - \underline{f}^{T}(u,y,t)\underline{p}_{ba}$  and  $e(t) = y^{F}(t) - \underline{f}^{T}(u^{F},y^{F},t)\underline{p}_{ba}$ .) The  $\underline{f}(u^{F},y^{F},r,t) = \underline{f}_{2}^{F}(t)$  required for the gradient vector can, of course, be formed even now in a simple recursive way, as with the ML structure:

$$\underline{f}_{2}^{F}(t) = \underline{\Omega}_{2} \underline{f}_{2}^{F}(t-1) + \underline{S}(t-1)\underline{p}_{h} + \underline{\omega}_{2}(t) =$$

u <sup>F</sup> (t-1) u <sup>F</sup> (t-2) u <sup>F</sup> (t-n)		0	Q	u <sup>F</sup> (t-2) u <sup>F</sup> (t-3) u <sup>F</sup> (t-n-1)	$\begin{bmatrix} u & (t-2) & \dots & u & (t-s-1) \\ 0 & \dots & 0 \\ \vdots & & \vdots \\ 0 & \dots & 0 \end{bmatrix}$	[h]]	u(t-1) 0 0
	 0 1 2 0	00 0	<u>Q</u>	$-y^{F}(t-2) + \frac{1}{2}$		h <sub>2</sub> h <sub>s</sub> ]+	y(t-1) 0 0
		Q		-r(t-2) -r(t-3)			-r(t-l) 0 0

(2.3-27)

- 64

Alike (2.2-27) the Hessian matrix consists here, too, of two parts. Now

$$\underline{\underline{T}}_{l} = \underline{\underline{F}}_{uye}^{\mathbf{x}T} \underline{\underline{H}}^{T} \underline{\underline{H}}_{u} \underline{\underline{F}}_{uye}^{\mathbf{x}} = \sum_{t=1}^{N} \underline{\underline{f}}(u^{F}, y^{F}, r, t) \underline{\underline{f}}^{T}(u^{F}, y^{F}, r, t),$$

$$(2.3-28)$$

the construction of  $\underline{\mathbb{T}}_2$  is the following:

$$\underline{\underline{T}}_{2} = \begin{bmatrix} \underline{\underline{O}} & \underline{\underline{O}} & \underline{\underline{T}}_{bh} \\ \underline{\underline{O}} & \underline{\underline{O}} & \underline{\underline{T}}_{ah} \\ \underline{\underline{T}}_{hb} & \underline{\underline{T}}_{ha} & \underline{\underline{O}} \end{bmatrix} . \qquad (2.3-29)$$

Here  $\underline{T}_{bh} = \underline{T}_{hb}^{T}$  and  $\underline{T}_{ah} = \underline{T}_{ha}^{T}$ . Only the first row and last column of the matrices  $\underline{T}_{bh}$  and  $\underline{T}_{ab}$  contain informative new elements. For the other elements it is valid that  $t_{ij} = t_{(i-1),(j+1)}$ . So a 2(2n-1) dimensional vector is sufficient for storing the elements of  $\underline{T}_{2}$ . The construction of  $\underline{T}_{2}$  can be understood on the basis of the second derivatives of  $\underline{e}$  by parameters, as

$$\frac{\partial^2 \underline{e}}{\partial b_i b_j} = \underline{0}; \quad \frac{\partial^2 \underline{e}}{\partial b_i \partial a_j} = \underline{0}; \quad \frac{\partial^2 \underline{e}}{\partial a_i \partial a_j} = \underline{0}; \quad \frac{\partial^2 \underline{e}}{\partial h_i \partial h_j} = \underline{0}$$

$$\frac{\partial^2 \mathbf{e}}{\partial \mathbf{h}_j \partial \mathbf{b}_i} = -\underline{\mathbf{s}}^{\mathbf{i}} \quad \frac{\partial \underline{\mathbf{H}}}{\partial \mathbf{h}_j} \underline{\mathbf{u}} = -\underline{\mathbf{s}}^{\mathbf{i}+\mathbf{j}} \underline{\mathbf{u}}$$
(2.3-30)

$$\frac{\partial^2 \underline{e}}{\partial h_j \partial a_i} = \underline{\underline{S}^i} \frac{\partial \underline{\underline{H}}}{\partial h_j} \underline{\underline{x}} = \underline{\underline{S}^{i+j}} \underline{\underline{x}}$$

and  $t_{ij}$  is calculated according to (2.2-36). On the basis of the latter equations the construction of the 2(2n-1) dimensional vector facilitating the calculation of  $\underline{T}_2$  is:

$$\underline{g(t)} = [u(t-2), \dots, u(t-2n); -y(t-2), \dots, -y(t-2n)]^{T}$$
(2.3-31)

and the filling of  $\underline{T}_2$  is carried out on basis of the vector

$$\underline{\mathbf{q}} = -\sum_{t=1}^{N} \underline{\mathbf{g}}(t) \mathbf{e}(t) = [\underline{\mathbf{q}}_{bh}^{T}, \underline{\mathbf{q}}_{ah}^{T}]^{T}$$
(2.3-32)

according to the procedure presented with (2.2-35). With the help of the above relations also in case of the GLS structure the NEWTON-RAPHSON extremum seeking method can be realized. This yields faster convergence than the original CLARKE procedure, but at the price of much more work of computation. It may be reasonable to reduce the calculations by the approximation  $\underline{T} \cong \underline{T}_1$  as  $\underline{T}_2$  disappears asymptotically, thus in case of sufficiently large number of samples our approximation will already be justified.

If we do not need separately the parameters  $\underline{p}_h$  and our aim is only the determination of an equivalent model, then we can proceeed in a much simpler way. The system equation (2.3-1) can be reduced by simple transformation to the form

$$y(t) = \frac{B(z^{-1})_{H}(z^{-1})}{A(z^{-1})_{H}(z^{-1})} u(t) + \frac{1}{A(z^{-1})_{H}(z^{-1})} e(t) =$$

$$= \frac{P(z^{-1})}{Q(z^{-1})} u(t) + \frac{1}{Q(z^{-1})} e(t)$$
(2.3-33)

i.e. to a system equation corresponding to the LS structure. Therefore, in case of increased order, also the simple LS estimation yields an equivalent system model with the GLS structure. The  $P(z^{-1})/Q(z^{-1})$  - which contains now common factors in the numerator and denominator - can be reduced by appropriate numerical methods to the minimum number of parameters.

Thus the GLS structure uses instead of the autoregressive noise model  $1/A(z^{-1})$  of the LS structure a more complex, but likewise autoregressive noise model  $1/A(z^{-1}) \cdot H(z^{-1})$ . The only advantage of this expansion can be to achieve with this latter noise model, by choosing the order of  $H(z^{-1})$  for sufficiently large, a good approximation of the general noise model  $C(z^{-1})/D(z^{-1})$ .

We have to mention the second CLARKE's method by which he recommends in the particular iteration steps not the filtering of the original data according to (2.3-4), but always the renewed filtering of the previously already filtered values. This method corresponds to the autoregressive noise model of the type

$$\frac{C(z^{-1})}{D(z^{-1})} = \frac{1}{A(z^{-1}) \prod_{i=1}^{\infty} H_i(z^{-1})}$$

(2.3-34)

In many cases this model approximates better the general noise model and its application is more practical.

The conditions of the convergence of the GLS method were dealt in detail by SÖDERSTRÖM [123].

# 2.4 The extended matrix methods. Quasilinearization

In subsection 1.2 the linearity of the models in parameter was underlined several times. SMETS [120] and later TALMON [130, 131] have utilized this advantage in developing the extended matrix methods.

SMETS elaborated the so-called "First Extended Matrix Method" (hereinafter FEXM) for the system equation (2.3-1) of the GLS structure. On the basis of the vector equation (2.3-7) it can be written that

$$\underline{\mathbf{x}} = \underline{\mathbf{H}} \underline{\mathbf{F}}_{uy} \underline{\mathbf{p}}_{ba} - \underline{\widetilde{\mathbf{H}}} \underline{\mathbf{x}} + \underline{\mathbf{e}} = \underline{\mathbf{F}}_{uy} \underline{\mathbf{p}}_{ba} - \underline{\mathbf{H}} (\underline{\mathbf{x}} - \underline{\mathbf{F}}_{uy} \underline{\mathbf{p}}_{ba}) + \underline{\mathbf{e}} =$$

$$= \underline{\mathbf{F}}_{uy} \underline{\mathbf{p}}_{ba} - \underline{\widetilde{\mathbf{H}}} \underline{\mathbf{r}} + \underline{\mathbf{e}} = [\underline{\mathbf{F}}_{uy}, - \underline{\mathbf{G}}_{r}]\underline{\mathbf{p}}_{bah} + \underline{\mathbf{e}} =$$

$$= \underline{\mathbf{F}}_{uyr} \underline{\mathbf{p}}_{bah} + \underline{\mathbf{e}} = \underline{\mathbf{F}} (\underline{\mathbf{u}}, \underline{\mathbf{x}}, \underline{\mathbf{r}}) \underline{\mathbf{p}}_{bah} + \underline{\mathbf{e}} =$$

$$(2.4-1)$$

where

$$\underline{\underline{F}}(\underline{u},\underline{y},\underline{r}) \equiv \underline{\underline{F}}_{uyr} = [\underline{\underline{F}}_{uy}, -\underline{\underline{G}}_{r}]. \qquad (2.4-2)$$

The definition of  $\underline{\tilde{H}}$ ,  $\underline{G}_r$ , as well as <u>r</u> and <u>p</u><sub>bah</sub> can be found in subsection 2.3, the other notations have occurred already several times.

The system equation linear in parameters (2.4-1) formally exactly corresponds to the form applicable for LS estimation, so that  $\underline{p}_{bah}$  is the LS estimation of the joint parameter vector.

 $\hat{\underline{p}}_{bah} = (\underline{\underline{F}}_{uyr}^{T} \underline{\underline{F}}_{uyr})^{-1} \underline{\underline{F}}_{uyr}^{T} \underline{\underline{v}}.$ (2.4-3)

In  $\underline{\underline{F}}_{=uyr}$  the value  $\underline{\underline{r}}$  is required which, of course, is not known in advance, therefore  $\underline{\underline{r}}$  can only be calculated, i.e. estimated. This leads necessarily to an iterative solution. A possible construction of the iterative solution is the following:

- 1. For vector  $\underline{p}_{ba}$  a LS estimation is performed on the basis of the relation (2.1-7)
- 2. On the basis of (2.3-14) by taking the obtained  $\underline{\hat{p}}_{ba}$ , the values  $\hat{r}(t)$  and thus  $\underline{\hat{r}}$ , too are calculated. By using  $\underline{\hat{r}}$  the auxiliary quantities necessary for (2.4-3) are also computed.
- 3. On the basis of (2.4-3) the estimation  $\hat{\underline{p}}_{bah}$  is determined thereafter by utilizing the subvector  $\hat{\underline{p}}_{ba}$  of  $\hat{\underline{p}}_{bah}$ , the iteration is continued from 2. until the achievement of the required accuracy.

SMETS has compared in details the methods of CLARKE's GLS and his FEXM. The basic difference between the two methods is that CLARKE's method asymptotically converges to the classical GLS method of AITKEN, while SMETS' method tends towards a non optimal instrumental variables method hereinafter (IV).

The principle of the FEXM method was used by TALMON for the system equation (1.2-5) applied with the ML method. He called this method "Second EXtended Matrix" method (hereinafter SEXM).

The system equation (2.2-1) can be arranged into the following form:

 $\underline{y} = \underline{\underline{B}}\underline{u} - \underline{\underline{A}}\underline{y} + \underline{\underline{C}}\underline{e} + \underline{e} = \underline{\underline{F}}_{uve}\underline{\underline{p}}_{bac} + \underline{e} =$ 

=  $\underline{F}(\underline{u}, \underline{y}, \underline{e}) \underline{p}_{bac} + \underline{e} = \underline{F}_{uye} \underline{p}_{bac} + \underline{e}$ .

(2.4-4)

As this system equation is also linear in parameters with a white noise equation error, we can again use the LS estimation according to which

$$\hat{\underline{p}}_{bac} = (\underline{F}_{uye}^{T} \underline{F}_{uye})^{-1} \underline{F}_{uye}^{T} \underline{Y}.$$
(2.4-5)

Alike FEXM, here also an iterative solution is only possible, as <u>e</u> had to be known to form  $\underline{F}(\underline{u},\underline{y},\underline{e})$ . A possible iteration scheme is the following.

- 1. LS estimation is made for the vector  $\hat{\underline{p}}_{ba}$  according to (2.1-7).  $\hat{\underline{p}}_{ba}$  is put in the corresponding part of  $\hat{\underline{p}}_{bac}$ , the values of the  $c_i$ -s are still zeros.
- 2. The e(t) i.e. <u>e</u> values belonging to the given  $\hat{\underline{p}}_{bac}$ , are calculated by Eq. (2.2-6). Let us form the auxiliary quantities required for (2.4-5).
- 3. The estimation  $\hat{\underline{p}}_{bac}$  is calculated according to (2.4-5), thereafter the iteration is continued from point 2. until the attainment of a given accuracy.

The detailed analysis of the method can be found in [131].

TALMON has applied the principle of matrix extension, i.e. the consideration of linearity in parameters also for the general SISO system equations (1.2-1) - (1.2-2). This method is called "Third EXtended Matrix" method (hereinafter TEXM). This report will not advert to it, as the ML estimation of the general form (1.2-1) has not been discussed either.

In the following we intend to represent another method connected with those discussed in this subsection in the sense that it takes advantage of the linearity in parameters, resp. carries out in a certain sense quasilinearization. Already ASTRÖM [12, 13] pointed at the possibility of quasilinearization, but the following method was suggested by FURHT [49].
It is well known that while we perform the ML identification of the system (1.2-5), we minimize a prediction error relating to a fictitious output signal

$$v_{f}(t) = \frac{B(z^{-1})_{u}(t) - [A(z^{-1}) - C(z^{-1})]_{y}(t)}{C(z^{-1})}$$
(2.4-6)  
(See rf. [49].)

Although FURHT carried out the deduction of his method, in another way, we are applying now a train of thoughts enabling us to further generalizations. Let us write the system equation (2.2-1) in the form

$$\underline{e} = \underline{\underline{C}}^{-1}(\underline{\underline{A}}\underline{y} - \underline{\underline{B}}\underline{u}) = \underline{\underline{A}} \underline{\underline{C}}^{-1} \underline{y} - \underline{\underline{B}} \underline{\underline{C}}^{-1} \underline{u} = \underline{\underline{A}}\underline{y}^{\mathrm{F}} - \underline{\underline{B}}\underline{u}^{\mathrm{F}}$$
(2.4-7)

where the fact has been considered that the multiplication by  $\underline{C}^{-1}$  consisting of the sum of shift matrices is interchangeable (cf. App. 2-20), further that now

$$\underline{\mathbf{y}}^{\mathrm{F}} = \underline{\underline{\mathbf{G}}}^{-1} \underline{\mathbf{y}} \quad \text{and} \quad \underline{\underline{\mathbf{u}}}^{\mathrm{F}} = \underline{\underline{\mathbf{G}}}^{-1} \underline{\underline{\mathbf{u}}} \,. \tag{2.4-8}$$

The scalar autoregressive filtering corresponding to these latter equations means the signal formation according to

$$y^{F}(t) = \frac{1}{C(z^{-1})} y(t)$$
 and  $u^{F}(t) = \frac{1}{C(z^{-1})} u(t)$ . (2.4-9)

By an additional formation of (2.4-7), we obtain

$$\underline{e} = \underline{A}\underline{y}^{F} - \underline{B}\underline{u}^{F} + \underline{y} - \underline{v} - \underline{C}\underline{C}\underline{C}^{-1}(\underline{y}-\underline{v}) =$$

$$= \underline{A}\underline{y}^{F} - \underline{B}\underline{u}^{F} + \underline{y} - \underline{v} - \underline{C}\underline{y}^{F} + \underline{C}\underline{v}^{F} \equiv$$

$$= \underline{y}^{F} + \underline{A}\underline{y}^{F} - \underline{B}\underline{u}^{F} + \underline{y} - \underline{v} - \underline{y}^{F} - \underline{C}\underline{C}(\underline{y}^{F}-\underline{v}^{F}) + \underline{v}^{F} =$$

$$= (\underline{y} - \underline{v} + \underline{v}^{F}) - [\underline{B}\underline{u}^{F} - \underline{A}\underline{y}^{F} + \underline{C}(\underline{y}^{F} - \underline{v}^{F})], \qquad (2.4-10)$$

where  $\underline{v}$  is an arbitrary (Nxl) vector.

From (2.4-10) we obtain the equation

$$\underline{\mathbf{x}}_{\mathbf{f}} = \underline{\mathbf{x}} - \underline{\mathbf{v}} + \underline{\mathbf{v}}^{\mathbf{F}} = \underline{\underline{B}}\underline{\mathbf{u}}^{\mathbf{F}} - \underline{\underline{A}}\underline{\mathbf{x}}^{\mathbf{F}} + \underline{\underline{C}}(\underline{\mathbf{x}}^{\mathbf{F}} - \underline{\mathbf{v}}^{\mathbf{F}}) + \underline{\mathbf{e}} =$$

$$= \underline{\underline{F}}(\underline{\mathbf{u}}^{\mathbf{F}}, \underline{\mathbf{x}}^{\mathbf{F}}, \underline{\mathbf{y}}^{\mathbf{F}} - \underline{\mathbf{v}}^{\mathbf{F}}) \underline{p}_{\text{bac}} + \underline{\mathbf{e}} \qquad (2.4-11)$$

where  $\underline{y}_{f}$  is a (Nxl) vector containing values of not a really measured output signal. The construction of the matrix  $\underline{F}(\underline{u}, \underline{y}^{F}, \underline{y}^{F} - \underline{v}^{F})$  is

$$\underline{\underline{F}}(\underline{u}^{F},\underline{v}^{F},\underline{v}^{F}-\underline{v}^{F}) = \begin{bmatrix} \underline{\underline{S}}\underline{u}^{F}, \dots, \underline{\underline{S}}^{n}\underline{u}^{F}; & -\underline{\underline{S}}\underline{v}^{F}, \dots, -\underline{\underline{S}}^{n}\underline{v}^{F}; & \underline{\underline{S}}(\underline{v}^{F}-\underline{v}^{F}), \\ \dots, & \underline{\underline{S}}^{n}(\underline{v}^{F}-\underline{v}^{F}) \end{bmatrix} = \\ = \begin{bmatrix} \underline{\underline{f}}^{T}(u^{F},\underline{v}^{F},\underline{v}^{F}-\underline{v}^{F},1) \\ \vdots \\ \vdots \\ \underline{\underline{f}}^{T}(u^{F},\underline{v}^{F},\underline{v}^{F}-\underline{v}^{F},N) \end{bmatrix}$$
(2.4-12)

where

$$\underline{f}(u^{F}, y^{F}, y^{F}-v^{F}, t) = [u^{F}(t-1), \dots, u^{F}(t-n); -y^{F}(t-1), \dots, -y^{F}(t-n);$$
$$y^{F}(t-1) - v^{F}(t-1), \dots, y^{F}(t-n) - v^{F}(t-n)]^{T}.$$
$$(2.4-13)$$

As in (2.4-11) the equation error is white noise, we can again apply the LS estimation, whose result is

$$\hat{\underline{p}}_{bac} = \left[\underline{\underline{F}}^{T}(\underline{u}^{F}, \underline{y}^{F}, \underline{y}^{F} - \underline{v}^{F})\underline{\underline{F}}(\underline{u}^{F}, \underline{y}^{F}, \underline{y}^{F} - \underline{v}^{F})\right]^{-1} *$$

$$* \underline{\underline{F}}^{T}(\underline{u}^{F}, \underline{y}^{F}, \underline{y}^{F} - \underline{v}^{F})\underline{y}_{f}. \qquad (2.4-14)$$

In (2.4-14) FURHT has chosen for <u>v</u> the fictive model output

$$\underline{\mathbf{v}}_{f} = \underline{\underline{C}}^{-1} [\underline{\underline{B}}_{\underline{\underline{u}}} - (\underline{\underline{A}} - \underline{\underline{C}})_{\underline{\underline{Y}}}]$$
(2.4-15)

which can be calsulated on the basis of (2.4-6). Starting from the LS estimation, we can - alike the extended matrix methods - construct here also an iterative estimation scheme, where the calculated values of <u>v</u> have to be updated step by step.

We have chosen an arbitrary  $\underline{v}$  in the deduction in order to indicate that the solution proposed by FURHT is not the only one, but a lot of other approaches can also be formed. Another possible approach is e.g. to take the noiseless output of the process for  $\underline{v}$ , for it can be obtained in a simpler form than  $\underline{v}_{f}$ , in the form of

$$\underline{\mathbf{v}} = \underline{\mathbf{A}}^{-1} \underline{\mathbf{B}} \underline{\mathbf{u}} \tag{2.4-16}$$

i.e.

$$v(t) = \frac{B(z^{-1})}{A(z^{-1})} u(t)$$
 (2.4-17)

We obtain an even more simple possibility of quasilinearization on the basis of Eq. (2.4-7):

$$\underline{\mathbf{y}}^{\mathrm{F}} = \underline{\mathbf{B}}\underline{\mathbf{u}}^{\mathrm{F}} - \underline{\mathbf{A}}\underline{\mathbf{y}}^{\mathrm{F}} + \underline{\mathbf{e}} = \underline{\mathbf{F}}(\underline{\mathbf{u}}^{\mathrm{F}}, \underline{\mathbf{y}}^{\mathrm{F}})\underline{\mathbf{p}}_{\mathrm{ba}} + \underline{\mathbf{e}}, \qquad (2.4-18)$$

where now  $\underline{y}^{F}$  and  $\underline{u}^{F}$  are according to (2.4-8). As the equation error is also here white noise, the LS estimation can be applied:

$$\hat{\underline{p}}_{ba} = \left[\underline{\underline{F}}^{T}(\underline{\underline{u}}^{F},\underline{\underline{y}}^{F})\underline{\underline{F}}(\underline{\underline{u}}^{F},\underline{\underline{y}}^{F})\right]^{-1} \underline{\underline{F}}^{T}(\underline{\underline{u}}^{F},\underline{\underline{y}}^{F})\underline{\underline{y}}^{F}. \qquad (2.4-19)$$

On the other hand, the calculation of the  $\underline{u}^{F}$  and  $\underline{y}^{F}$  containing the filtered values, requires also the c<sub>i</sub> parameters.

We are presenting now a simple method for the estimation of the coefficients of the polynomial  $\underline{C}(z^{-1})$ . We can write the equation (2.4-7) also in the form of

$$(\underline{A}\underline{y} - \underline{B}\underline{u}) = \underline{r} = \underline{C}\underline{e} = \underline{C}\underline{e} + \underline{e} = \underline{G}(\underline{e})\underline{p}_{c} + \underline{e} \equiv \underline{G}\underline{e}\underline{p}_{c} + \underline{e}$$

$$(2.4-20)$$

where

$$\underline{\mathbf{p}}_{\mathbf{c}} = \begin{bmatrix} \mathbf{c}_1, \dots, \mathbf{c}_n \end{bmatrix}^{\mathrm{T}}$$
(2.4-21)

and

$$\underline{\underline{G}}(\underline{e}) = [\underline{\underline{S}}\underline{e}, \dots, \underline{\underline{S}}^{n}\underline{e}] = \begin{bmatrix} \underline{\underline{g}}^{T}(\underline{e}, 1) \\ \vdots \\ \vdots \\ \underline{\underline{g}}^{T}(\underline{e}, N) \end{bmatrix} . \qquad (2.4-22)$$

Here

The calculation of the signals r(t) and e(t) with a given  $\hat{p}_{ba}$ , resp.  $\underline{\hat{p}}_{bac}$  (known from a previous iterative step) is performed on the basis of Eqs. (2.3-14) and (2.2-6). The iterative procedure agrees, according to the meaning, with what was discussed in respect of the extended matrix methods. (In the practice the values a proved to be fairly good initial values for the coefficients  $c_i$  as in this case  $C(z^{-1}) \equiv A(z^{-1})$ , which corresponds to a white noise output error. The  $C(z^{-1})$ corresponding to the real noise transfer function can be easier derived, hence than from the much more gross  $C(z^{-1}) \equiv 1$ approximation, since this latter supposes a special noise spectrum as a start).

Among the methods of quasilinearization have to be mentioned those of STIEGLITZ and McBRIDE [129] which also take advantage of the linearity in parameters of the system equation and perform LS estimation by iterations. Their method was elaborated for the white noise output error, i.e. when the system equation has the form

$$y(t) = \frac{B(z^{-1})}{A(z^{-1})} u(t) + e(t). \qquad (2.4-24)$$

For N samples

$$\underline{\mathbf{y}} = \underline{\mathbf{A}}^{-1} \underline{\mathbf{B}} \mathbf{u} + \underline{\mathbf{e}} = \underline{\mathbf{B}} \mathbf{u} - \underline{\mathbf{A}} \underline{\mathbf{y}} + \underline{\mathbf{A}} \underline{\mathbf{e}} =$$
$$= \underline{\mathbf{F}}(\mathbf{u}, \mathbf{y}) \underline{\mathbf{p}}_{ba} + \underline{\mathbf{A}} \underline{\mathbf{e}} \equiv \underline{\mathbf{F}}_{uy} \underline{\mathbf{p}}_{ba} + \underline{\mathbf{A}} \underline{\mathbf{e}}. \qquad (2.4-25)$$

This latter equation is linear in parameters, with a moving average equation error. By a simple transformationwe get the equation

$$\underline{\underline{A}}^{-1}\underline{\underline{v}} = \underline{\underline{v}}^{F} = \underline{\underline{B}}\underline{\underline{A}}^{-1}\underline{\underline{u}} - \underline{\underline{A}}\underline{\underline{A}}^{-1}\underline{\underline{v}} + \underline{\underline{e}} = \underline{\underline{B}}\underline{\underline{u}}^{F} - \underline{\underline{A}}\underline{\underline{v}}^{F} + \underline{\underline{e}} =$$

$$= \underline{\underline{F}}(\underline{\underline{u}}^{F}, \underline{\underline{v}}^{F})\underline{\underline{p}}_{ba} + \underline{\underline{e}} \qquad (2.4-26)$$

where the equation error is already white noise. Here the equations

$$\underline{\mathbf{y}}^{\mathrm{F}} = \underline{\underline{A}}^{-1} \underline{\mathbf{y}} \qquad \text{and} \quad \underline{\underline{u}}^{\mathrm{F}} = \underline{\underline{A}}^{-1} \underline{\underline{u}} \qquad (2.4-27)$$

mean the filtering, and the corresponding scalar equations

$$y^{F}(t) = \frac{1}{A(z^{-1})} y(t)$$
 and  $u^{F}(t) = \frac{1}{A(z^{-1})} u(t)$ . (2.4-28)

On the basis of (2.4-26) the LS equation can be got in the form

$$\hat{\underline{p}}_{ba} = \left[\underline{F}^{T}(\underline{u}^{F}, \underline{y}^{F}) \underline{F}(\underline{u}^{F}, \underline{y}^{F})\right]^{-1} \underline{F}^{T}(\underline{u}^{F}, \underline{y}^{F})\underline{y}^{F} \qquad (2.4-29)$$

for the parameters of the system. It is now very simple to obtain an iterative scheme:

- 1. An LS estimation is made for  $\underline{p}_{ba}$  with the assumption  $\underline{y}^{F} = \underline{y}$  and  $\underline{u}^{F} = \underline{u}$ , i.e.  $A(z^{-1}) = 1$  in the filtering equations.
- 2. The filtered values or other auxiliary quantities are calculated.
- 3. The estimation according to (2.4-29) is performed, thereafter from point 2. the procedure is contained until the attainment of the given accuracy.

The authors proposed two more procedures which accelerate the convergence near the minimum point. The necessity of such a correction can be understood in the following way. Let us write the derivatives of

$$\underline{\mathbf{e}} = \underline{\mathbf{y}} - \underline{\underline{\mathbf{A}}}^{-1} \underline{\underline{\mathbf{B}}}$$
(2.4-30)

by the particular parameters:

$$\frac{\partial \mathbf{e}}{\partial \mathbf{b}_{i}} = -\mathbf{\underline{A}}^{-1} \quad \frac{\partial \mathbf{\underline{B}}}{\partial \mathbf{b}_{i}} \mathbf{\underline{u}} = -\mathbf{\underline{A}}^{-1} \mathbf{\underline{S}}^{i} \mathbf{\underline{u}} = -\mathbf{\underline{S}}^{i} \mathbf{\underline{A}}^{-1} \mathbf{\underline{u}} = -\mathbf{\underline{S}}^{i} \mathbf{\underline{u}}^{\mathrm{F}} \quad (2.4-31)$$

$$\frac{\partial \mathbf{e}}{\partial \mathbf{a}_{i}} = -\frac{\partial \mathbf{\underline{A}}^{-1}}{\partial \mathbf{a}_{i}} \underline{\mathbf{B}}_{\mathbf{u}} = \mathbf{\underline{A}}^{-1} \frac{\partial \mathbf{\underline{A}}}{\partial \mathbf{a}_{i}} \mathbf{\underline{A}}^{-1} \underline{\mathbf{B}}_{\mathbf{u}} = \mathbf{\underline{A}}^{-1} \underline{\mathbf{S}}^{i} \mathbf{\underline{v}} = \underline{\mathbf{S}}^{i} \mathbf{\underline{v}}^{\mathrm{F}}.$$

$$(2.4-32)$$

Here

$$\underline{\mathbf{v}} = \underline{\mathbf{A}}^{-1} \underline{\mathbf{B}} \underline{\mathbf{u}} \tag{2.4-33}$$

contains the values of the noiseless output signal and

$$\underline{\mathbf{v}}^{\mathrm{F}} = \underline{\mathbf{A}}^{-1} \ \underline{\mathbf{v}} \cdot \tag{2.4-34}$$

The derivative of the loss function of the ML method is therefore

$$\frac{dQ(\underline{p}_{ba})}{d\underline{p}_{ba}} = \frac{d\underline{e}^{T}}{d\underline{p}_{ba}} \underline{e} = -\underline{F}^{T}(\underline{u}^{F}, \underline{v}^{F})\underline{e} =$$
$$= -\underline{F}^{T}(\underline{u}^{F}, \underline{v}^{F})[\underline{v}^{F} - \underline{F}(\underline{u}^{F}, \underline{v}^{F})\underline{p}_{ba}] \qquad (2.4-35)$$

where we have considered the equation (2.4-26) further

$$\underline{\underline{F}}(\underline{\underline{u}}^{\mathrm{F}},\underline{\underline{v}}^{\mathrm{F}}) = \left[\underline{\underline{S}} \ \underline{\underline{u}}^{\mathrm{F}}, \dots, \underline{\underline{S}}^{\mathrm{n}}\underline{\underline{u}}^{\mathrm{F}}; \ -\underline{\underline{S}}\underline{\underline{v}}^{\mathrm{F}}, \dots, -\underline{\underline{S}}^{\mathrm{n}}\underline{\underline{v}}^{\mathrm{F}}\right]$$
(2.4-36)

and

$$\underline{\underline{F}}(\underline{\underline{u}}^{\mathrm{F}},\underline{\underline{y}}^{\mathrm{F}}) = \left[\underline{\underline{S}} \ \underline{\underline{u}}^{\mathrm{F}}, \dots, \underline{\underline{S}}^{\mathrm{n}}\underline{\underline{u}}^{\mathrm{F}}; -\underline{\underline{S}}\underline{\underline{y}}^{\mathrm{F}}, \dots, -\underline{\underline{S}}^{\mathrm{n}}\underline{\underline{y}}^{\mathrm{F}}\right].$$
(2.4-37)

(This latter has already been mentioned several times above.) By making the gradient (2.4-35) equal to zero vector, we get

$$\hat{\underline{p}}_{ba} = \left[ \underline{F}^{T}(\underline{u}^{F}, \underline{v}^{F}) \underline{F}(\underline{u}^{F}, \underline{v}^{F}) \right]^{-1} \underline{F}^{T}(\underline{u}^{F}, \underline{v}^{F}) \underline{v}^{F}, \qquad (2.4-38)$$

which corresponds formally to an IV estimation, as it is easy to see. The estimation (2.4-38) makes the gradient (under given  $A(z^{-1})$ ) equal to zero in every step, but it can be applied only if we have got a fairly good estimation for <u>v</u>, i.e. in the vicinity of the optimum.

As we can express  $\underline{e}$  on the basis of (2.4-25), also in the following way:

$$\underline{\mathbf{e}} = \underline{\mathbf{y}} - \underline{\mathbf{A}}^{-1} \underline{\mathbf{B}} \underline{\mathbf{u}} = \underline{\mathbf{y}} - \underline{\mathbf{v}} = \underline{\mathbf{y}} - (\underline{\mathbf{B}} \underline{\mathbf{u}} - \underline{\mathbf{A}} \underline{\mathbf{v}}) =$$
$$= -\underline{\mathbf{y}} - \underline{\mathbf{F}}(\underline{\mathbf{u}}, \underline{\mathbf{v}}) \underline{\mathbf{p}}_{ba}, \qquad (2.4-39)$$

so substituting this into (2.4-35), we get the LS estimation

$$\hat{\underline{p}}_{ba} = \left[\underline{F}^{T}(\underline{u}^{F}, \underline{v}^{F}) \quad \underline{F}(\underline{u}, \underline{v})\right]^{-1} \quad \underline{F}^{T}(\underline{u}^{F}, \underline{v}^{F}) \underline{v} \quad (2.4-40)$$

While the solution (2.4-29) is an asymptotically GLS estimation, the relations (2.4-38) and (2-4.40) mean an IV estimation each.

Experiences shows that these procedures are preferably to be applied sequentially, in order to achieve more an more exact results. For changes in order heuristic strategies can be designed.

## 2.5 The method of instrumental variables

According to the method of "Instrumental Variables" (hereinafter IV) in case of a system equation linear in parameters the equation

$$\hat{\underline{p}} = \left[\underline{\underline{G}}^{\mathrm{T}}(\underline{u},\underline{v}) \ \underline{\underline{F}}(\underline{u},\underline{v})\right]^{-1} \ \underline{\underline{G}}^{\mathrm{T}}(\underline{u},\underline{v})\underline{v} =$$

$$\equiv \left(\underline{\underline{G}}^{\mathrm{T}}_{uv} \ \underline{\underline{F}}_{uy}\right)^{-1} \ \underline{\underline{G}}^{\mathrm{T}}_{uv} \ \underline{v} \qquad (2.5-1)$$

yields an asymptotically unbiased parameter estimation if the conditions

$$\underset{N \to \infty}{\text{plim}} \left(\frac{1}{N} \stackrel{G}{=} \stackrel{T}{N} \stackrel{F}{=} \stackrel{N}{N}\right) = \underset{3}{\underline{S}}^{<\infty} \quad \text{and} \quad \underset{N \to \infty}{\text{plim}} \left(\frac{1}{N} \stackrel{G}{=} \stackrel{T}{N} \stackrel{r}{=} \stackrel{N}{N}\right) = \underbrace{O} \quad (2.5-2)$$

are fulfilled where N subscript indicates the number of the samples. In (2.5-2) the notation  $\underline{r}_{N}$  whose value is

$$\underline{\mathbf{r}}_{\mathrm{N}} = \underline{\mathbf{y}}_{\mathrm{N}} - \underline{\underline{\mathbf{F}}}_{\mathrm{N}} \underline{\mathbf{p}} = \underline{\mathbf{y}} - \underline{\underline{\mathbf{F}}}(\underline{\mathbf{u}}, \underline{\mathbf{y}})\underline{\mathbf{p}}, \qquad (2.5-3)$$

emphasizes still more that the asymptotic unbiasedness depends on the fact whether the elements of  $\underline{G}$  are uncorrelated with the equation error or not.

The IV method was dealt with in detail by POLLAK and WONG, who deduced a great number of theorems on estimation properties. Equations for the identification of discrete-time SISO systems were transformed by YOUNG [143] to a form easy to be used.

The general SISO system equation (1.2-1) can be also written in the following form linear in parameters

$$y(t) = \underline{f}^{T}(u, y, t) \underline{p}_{ba} + A(z^{-1})w(t)$$
 (2.5-4)

or for N samples

$$\underline{\mathbf{y}} = \underline{\mathbf{F}}(\underline{\mathbf{u}}, \underline{\mathbf{y}}) \underline{\mathbf{p}}_{ba} + \underline{\mathbf{A}}^{-1} \underline{\mathbf{w}}.$$
(2.5-5)

The IV estimation of  $\underline{p}_{ba}$  is yielded by

$$\hat{\underline{p}}_{ba} = \left[\underline{G}^{T}(\underline{u},\underline{v}) \ \underline{F}(\underline{u},\underline{v})\right]^{-1} \ \underline{G}^{T}(\underline{u},\underline{v}) \ \underline{v}$$
(2.5-6)

where

$$\underline{G}(\underline{u},\underline{v}) = [\underline{S}\underline{u}, \dots, \underline{S}^{n}\underline{u}; -\underline{S}\underline{v}, \dots, -\underline{S}^{n}\underline{v}]. \qquad (2.5-7)$$
(cf. Appendix F.5.)

Here

$$\underline{\mathbf{v}} = \underline{\mathbf{A}}^{-1} \underline{\mathbf{B}} \underline{\mathbf{u}} = \underline{\mathbf{B}} \underline{\mathbf{u}} - \underline{\mathbf{A}} \underline{\mathbf{v}} = \underline{\mathbf{G}}(\underline{\mathbf{u}}, \underline{\mathbf{v}}) \underline{\mathbf{p}}_{\mathrm{ba}}, \qquad (2.5-8)$$

i.e. contains the values of the noiseless output signal of the system. As the equation error  $A(z^{-1})w(t)$  depends only on the uncorrelated e(t) source noise, the elements of  $\underline{G}(\underline{u},\underline{v},) = \underline{G}(\underline{u},\underline{A}^{-1}\underline{B}\underline{u})$  will be uncorrelated with the equation error because they are only the functions or u(t) uncorrelated with e(t). Note that the described IV estimation yields the asymptotically unbiased estimation of the process parameters for every noise model of Table 1.2-I.

The quasilinearization of the equation (1.2-2) of the general noise model enables an iterative scheme to be designed also for the estimation of the noise parameters. This noise model type, however, - alike the third extended matrix method - will not be discussed in this paper.

The IV estimation (2.5-6) can, of course, be realized only by an iteration technique as  $\underline{v}$  can not be produced without knowing the parameters. A possible iterative solution is the following:

- 80 -

- 1. Simple LS estimation for  $\underline{p}_{ba}$ ,
- 2. Calculate <u>v</u> with the help of  $\underline{\hat{p}}_{ba}$  and for the auxiliary quantities required for (2.5-6)
- 3. Perform the IV estimation according to (2.5-6), thereupon return to 2 and continue the iteration until the achievement of the given accuracy.

Note that also with the IV algorithm such a convergence accelerating process can be designed, as with the STIEGLITZ -McBRIDE method, when we make the gradient zero in every step.

## 2.6 The priori knowledge fitting method

Apart from the LS method, all other ones until now contained iterative procedures. By using only those assumptions had been applied heretofore, PETERKA and his co-workers elaborated an explicit method [102, 103, 104] which yields the estimation of the process parameters in a single step. The process model applied is

$$y(t) = \frac{B(z^{-1})}{A(z^{-1})} u(t) + w(t)$$
(2.6-1)

so that it formally agrees with the previous models. But it is sufficient to assume that w(t) is a stationary random signal series, having zero mean and uncorrelated with the input signal. On the other hand, it yields a substantial ease in the assumptions regarding the noise that the type of the distribution is indifferent and there is no need to assume a given structure for the noise model.

The method elaborated by PETERKA uses the uncorrelatedness of the input signal and the output noise. The name of the method comes from the fact that the fitting of the model strongly depends upon the prior knowledge. ("Priori Knowledge <u>Fitting</u>", hereinafter PKF). Thus we used to speak of a method using prior knowledge, after its English abbreviation PKF method, or a method based on the principle of tallying the uncorrelatedness of the input signal and output noise. ("Tally Principle" = TP) [103].

The vector form of Eq. (2.6-1) for N samples:

$$\underline{\mathbf{y}} = \underline{\mathbf{A}}^{-1} \underline{\mathbf{B}} \underline{\mathbf{u}} + \underline{\mathbf{w}} = \underline{\mathbf{B}} \underline{\mathbf{u}} - \underline{\mathbf{A}} \underline{\mathbf{y}} + \underline{\mathbf{A}} \underline{\mathbf{w}} = \underline{\mathbf{F}}(\underline{\mathbf{u}}, \underline{\mathbf{y}})\underline{\mathbf{p}}_{ba} + \underline{\mathbf{r}}, \quad (2.6-2)$$

when the notations used heretofore were applied and  $\underline{r}$ , the vector of the residuals

$$\underline{\mathbf{r}} = \underline{\mathbf{A}} \underline{\mathbf{w}} = \underline{\mathbf{y}} - \underline{\mathbf{F}}(\underline{\mathbf{u}}, \underline{\mathbf{y}})\underline{\mathbf{p}}_{ba} = \underline{\mathbf{y}} - \underline{\mathbf{F}}_{uv} \underline{\mathbf{p}}_{ba} \cdot$$
(2.6-3)

As w(t) and u(t) are assumed to be uncorrelated, it follows from (2.6-3) that r(t) and u(t) are uncorrelated, too. Assume the opposite i.e. that in the difference  $\underline{y}-\underline{F}_{uy}\underline{p}_{ba}$  yielding the residuals terms dependent on  $\underline{u}$  or yielding correlation with  $\underline{u}$  occur. This dependence is assumed to be linear, then according to our latter statement the relations

$$\underline{\mathbf{y}} - \underline{\mathbf{F}}_{uy} \stackrel{\frown}{\underline{\mathbf{p}}}_{ba} = \underline{\mathbf{r}} + \underline{\mathbf{K}}_{u} = \underline{\mathbf{r}} + \underline{\mathbf{M}}(\underline{\mathbf{u}})\underline{\mathbf{k}} \equiv \underline{\mathbf{r}} + \underline{\mathbf{M}}_{u} \underline{\mathbf{k}} \qquad (2.6-4)$$

should have to be fulfilled. Let here be

$$\underline{\mathbf{k}} = \sum_{i=1}^{\nu} \underline{\mathbf{s}}^{i} \mathbf{k}_{i} \qquad (2.6-5)$$
$$\underline{\mathbf{k}} = \left[\mathbf{k}_{1}, \dots, \mathbf{k}_{\nu}\right]^{\mathrm{T}}, \qquad (2.6-6)$$

and

$$\underline{\underline{\mathbf{M}}}(\underline{\mathbf{u}}) = \underline{\underline{\mathbf{M}}}_{\mathbf{u}} = \begin{bmatrix} \underline{\underline{\mathbf{m}}}^{\mathrm{T}}(\underline{\mathbf{u}}, 1) \\ \vdots \\ \vdots \\ \underline{\underline{\mathbf{m}}}^{\mathrm{T}}(\underline{\mathbf{u}}, N) \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} \underline{\underline{\mathbf{S}}}\underline{\mathbf{u}}, \dots, \underline{\underline{\mathbf{S}}}^{\vee}\underline{\mathbf{u}} \end{bmatrix}, \qquad (2.6-7)$$

where

$$\underline{\mathbf{m}}(\underline{\mathbf{u}},t) = \left[\mathbf{u}(t-1),\ldots,\mathbf{u}(t-v)\right]^{\mathrm{T}}.$$
(2.6-8)

If, on the other hand, the uncorrelatedness exists in fact, then we must get such a  $\hat{\underline{p}}_{ba}$  estimation, for which  $\underline{k} = \underline{0}$  or at least

$$Q(\underline{p}_{ba}) = \frac{1}{2} \underline{k}^{T} \underline{k}$$
(2.6-9)

is minimum.

On the basis of (2.6-4) we can write formally in a simple way the LS estimation of <u>k</u>

$$\hat{\underline{\mathbf{k}}} = (\underline{\underline{\mathbf{M}}}_{u}^{\mathrm{T}} \underline{\underline{\mathbf{M}}}_{u})^{-1} \underline{\underline{\mathbf{M}}}_{u}^{\mathrm{T}} (\underline{\mathbf{y}} - \underline{\underline{\mathbf{F}}}_{uy} \underline{\underline{\mathbf{p}}}_{ba}).$$
(2.6-10)

By substituting the obtained  $\underline{\hat{k}}$  into (2.6-9) and minimizing it according to  $\underline{p}_{ba}$  (cf. Appendix 8) we get

$$\hat{\underline{p}}_{ba} = \begin{bmatrix} \underline{F}_{uy}^{T} & \underline{M}_{u} & (\underline{M}_{u}^{T} & \underline{M}_{u})^{-1} & (\underline{M}_{u}^{T} & \underline{M}_{u})^{-1} & \underline{M}_{u}^{T} & \underline{F}_{uy} \end{bmatrix}^{-1} \times$$

The obtained solution gives an explicit expression for the estimation of  $\underline{\hat{p}}_{ba}$  without any iterative process. The asymptotic properties of the estimation were studied in detail in [103] (otherwise the estimation is asymptotically unbiased which is not proved here because of lack of space.)

The formula (2.6-11) can be considered as a least squares estimation weighted by the weighting matrix

$$\underline{\mathbb{M}}_{u} \left( \underline{\mathbb{M}}_{u}^{\mathrm{T}} \underline{\mathbb{M}}_{u} \right)^{-1} \left( \underline{\mathbb{M}}_{u}^{\mathrm{T}} \underline{\mathbb{M}}_{u} \right)^{-1} \underline{\mathbb{M}}_{u}^{\mathrm{T}}$$

but also as an IV estimation where the auxiliary matrix is

$$\mathbf{\underline{F}}_{uy}^{\mathrm{T}} \underline{\underline{M}}_{u} \left( \underline{\underline{M}}_{u}^{\mathrm{T}} \underline{\underline{M}}_{u} \right)^{-1} \left( \underline{\underline{M}}_{u}^{\mathrm{T}} \underline{\underline{M}}_{u} \right)^{-1} \underline{\underline{M}}_{u}^{\mathrm{T}} .$$

Many authors are keen on using the PKF method although its accuracy is somewhat behind that of the ML method [62]. However, the method is credited with the extraordinary advantage of yielding an explicit solution. As one of its heaviset drawbacks has been considered, its failure to give an estimation for the parameters of the noise model. Herebelow an iteration method enabling also an ASTRÖM noise model to be determined on the basis of the  $\hat{\underline{p}}_{ba}$  parameter estimation obtained by the explicit PKF method will be presented. Accordingly assume for w(t) the existence of the relation

$$w(t) = \frac{C(z^{-1})}{A(z^{-1})} e(t)$$
(2.6-12)

where the notations on the right side of the equation are already known. This means that on the basis of (2.6-2) the equation error will be according to

$$r(t) = C(z^{-1})e(t) = \tilde{C}(z^{-1})e(t) + e(t)$$
 (2.6-13)

where

$$C(z^{-1}) = 1 + c_1 z^{-1} + \dots + c_n z^{-n} = 1 + \tilde{C}(z^{-1}).$$
 (2.6-14)

On the basis of  $\underline{u}$  and  $\underline{y}$  containing the measurements, as well as on the basis of the  $\underline{\hat{p}}_{ba}$  estimation according to (2.6-11) the estimation of  $\underline{r}$  can be determined from (2.6-3):

$$\hat{\underline{r}} = \underline{v} - \underline{F}_{uv} \hat{\underline{p}}_{ba} . \qquad (2.6-15)$$

By taking the values r(t) on the basis of the equation (2.6-13) an iteration procedure consisting of repeated LS estimations can be formed for the estimation of the noise parameters

$$\underline{\mathbf{p}}_{\mathbf{c}} = \begin{bmatrix} \mathbf{c}_1, \mathbf{c}_2, \dots, \mathbf{c}_n \end{bmatrix}^{\mathrm{T}}$$
(2.6-16)

in the form

$$\hat{\underline{p}}_{c}[j] = \left[\underline{G}^{T}(\hat{\underline{e}}_{j-1})\underline{G}(\hat{\underline{e}}_{j-1})\right]^{-1} \underline{G}^{T}(\hat{\underline{e}}_{j-1})\hat{\underline{r}} \qquad (2.6-17)$$

Here

$$\hat{\underline{e}}_{j} = \hat{\underline{r}} - \underline{\underline{G}}(\hat{\underline{e}}_{j-1})\hat{\underline{p}}_{c}[j]$$
and
$$(2.6-18)$$

$$\underline{\underline{G}}(\hat{\underline{e}}_{j}) = \begin{bmatrix} \underline{\underline{g}}_{j}^{\mathrm{T}}(1) \\ \vdots \\ \vdots \\ \underline{\underline{g}}_{j}^{\mathrm{T}}(N) \end{bmatrix}$$

where

$$\underline{g}_{j}(t) = [\hat{e}_{j}(t-1), \dots, \hat{e}_{j}(t-n)]^{T}.$$
 (2.6-20)

(2.6-19)

## 2.7 The KOOPMANS-LEVIN method

With the methods discussed heretofore, the condition of getting asymptotically unbiased estimation was to assume the input signal to be measured without error. There are fairly divergent opinions in the literature, as to the identifiability in the case of input noise. Several authors assert that the elimination of input noises by measurement tech niques is much more efficient than the construction of such a statistical (sometimes very artificial) estimation which is usually inefficient because of the "a priori" information required for its proper application.

The methods applied in the regression analysis for the elimination of the input noise are essentially various trends of the FRISCH confluent analysis. From the identification methods of linear dynamic systems applicable in case of noisy inputs, the method of KOOPMANS and LEVIN can be considered as best founded in theory. In the following this method is presented and its modified version developed by us is also given [26].

For the study of this method consider Fig. 2.7-1. Denote here  $u_0(t)$  and  $y_0(t)$  the noiseless input and output of the process,  $w_u(t)$  and  $w_y(t)$  the measurement noises at the input, and the output, respectively. (As this method has a logic totally different from those mentioned heretofore, the noiseless output will be denoted here by  $y_0$  instead of v). Let further be  $B(z^{-1})$  and  $A(z^{-1})$  according to the relation (2.1-4). Considering that the differece equation of the noiseless system is determined by the polynomials  $B(z^{-1})$  and  $A(z^{-1})$  the system equation can also be written in a form linear in parameters (arranged for 0) not discussed until now, viz.

 $\underline{g}_{o}^{T}(u_{o}, y_{o}, t) \underline{p}_{bla} = 0,$ 

$$(2.7-1)$$

- 88 -

where

$$\underline{\mathbf{g}}_{0}(\mathbf{u}_{0},\mathbf{y}_{0},\mathbf{t}) = [\mathbf{u}_{0}(\mathbf{t}),\mathbf{u}_{0}(\mathbf{t}-\mathbf{l}),\dots,\mathbf{u}_{0}(\mathbf{t}-\mathbf{n});-\mathbf{y}_{0}(\mathbf{t}),-\mathbf{y}_{0}(\mathbf{t}-\mathbf{l}),\dots,\mathbf{u}_{0}(\mathbf{t}-\mathbf{n});-\mathbf{y}_{0}(\mathbf{t}),\dots,\mathbf{y}_{0}(\mathbf{t}-\mathbf{l}),\dots,\mathbf{y}_{0}(\mathbf{t}-\mathbf{n})]^{\mathrm{T}}$$
(2.7-2)

and

$$\underline{\mathbf{p}}_{bla} = \begin{bmatrix} \mathbf{b}_0, \mathbf{b}_1, \dots, \mathbf{b}_n, \mathbf{1}, \mathbf{a}_1, \mathbf{a}_2, \dots, \mathbf{a}_n \end{bmatrix}^{\mathrm{T}}.$$
 (2.7-3)

By writing (2.7-1) in detail:

$$\sum_{i=0}^{n} b_{i}u_{0}(t-i) - y_{0}(t) - \sum_{i=0}^{n} a_{i}y_{0}(t-i) = 0.$$
(2.7-4)

If we introduce the vector

$$\underline{\mathbf{w}}(t) = \left[ \mathbf{w}_{u}(t), \mathbf{w}_{u}(t-1), \dots, \mathbf{w}_{u}(t-n); -\mathbf{w}_{y}(t), -\mathbf{w}_{y}(t-1), \dots, -\mathbf{w}_{y}(t-n) \right]^{T}$$
(2.7-5)

representing the input and output noises, then for the vector containing measurements corresponding to the noisy measurement situation

$$\underline{g}(u,y,t) = [u(t), u(t-1), \dots, u(t-n); -y(t), -y(t-1), \dots, -y(t-n)]^{T}$$
(2.7-6)

the equation

$$\underline{\mathbf{w}}(t) = \underline{\mathbf{g}}(\mathbf{u}, \mathbf{y}, t) - \underline{\mathbf{g}}_{0}(\mathbf{u}_{0}, \mathbf{y}_{0}, t)$$

$$(2.7-7)$$

holds.



Fig. 2.7-1



Fig.2.7-2

$$\mathbf{E} \{ \underline{\mathbf{w}}(t) \underline{\mathbf{w}}^{\mathrm{T}}(t) \} = \underline{Z}$$
(2.7-8)

is known. Here the stationarity of the disturbances has also been assumed as  $\underline{Z}$  is a time-independent constant. The covariance matrix  $\underline{Z}$  can be logically decomposed to the following four submatrices:

$$\underline{\underline{Z}} = \begin{bmatrix} \underline{\underline{Z}}_{uu} & \underline{\underline{Z}}_{uy} \\ \\ \underline{\underline{Z}}_{yu} & \underline{\underline{Z}}_{yy} \end{bmatrix}.$$
 (2.7-9)

Here  $\underline{Z}_{\underline{i}\underline{u}\underline{u}}$  contains the values of the autocorrelation series of the input noise  $w_{\underline{u}}(t)$ ,  $\underline{Z}_{\underline{i}\underline{v}\underline{v}\underline{v}}$  those of the output noise, in a way shown in Fig. 2.7-2. Likewise  $\underline{Z}_{\underline{i}\underline{u}\underline{v}\underline{v}}$  and  $\underline{Z}_{\underline{i}\underline{v}\underline{u}\underline{v}}$  contain the values of the cross-correlation products. From the special cases the assumptions

1. 
$$\underline{Z}_{uu} = \delta^2 \underline{I}$$
,  $\underline{Z}_{uy} = \underline{Z}_{yu} = \underline{O}$ ,  $\underline{Z}_{yy} = \lambda^2 \underline{I}$ ;  
2.  $\underline{Z}_{uu} = \delta^2 \underline{I}$ ,  $\underline{Z}_{uy} = \underline{Z}_{yu} = \underline{O}$ 

hold several times in the practice and make the calculations as well as the preliminary determination (estimation) of  $\underline{\underline{Z}}$  easier.

Generally the probability density function of the vector w(t) of dimension q=2(n+1)

$$d(\underline{w}|\underline{g}_{0}) = (2\pi)^{-\frac{\alpha}{2}} |\underline{z}|^{-\frac{1}{2}} \exp\{-\frac{1}{2} \underline{w}^{T}(t) \underline{z}^{-1} \underline{w}(t)\}, \quad (2.7-10)$$
  
as we have seen e.g. in (1.3-2).

The joint density function for N independent samplings

$$d_{N}(\underline{w}|\underline{g}_{0}) = (2\pi) |\underline{z}| = \exp\{-\frac{1}{2}\sum_{t=1}^{N} \underline{w}^{T}(t)\underline{z}^{-1} \underline{w}(t)\} (2.7-11)$$

Let us write the likelihood function for the application of the ML estimation method, i.e. the natural logarithm of (2.7-11)

$$L(\underline{p}_{bla}) = -\frac{qN}{2} \ln(2\pi) - \frac{N}{2} \ln \left| \underline{Z} \right| - \frac{1}{2} \sum_{t=1}^{N} \underline{w}^{T}(t) \underline{Z}^{-1} \underline{w}(t)$$

$$(2.7-12)$$

The ML estimation of the  $\underline{p}_{bla}$  parameter vector is obtained by the maximization of this term in according to  $\underline{p}_{bla}$ . The task is further complicated by the fact that the maximization has to be performed under constraint (2.7-1), so that

$$\underline{g}_{0}^{T}(u_{0}, y_{0}, t)\underline{p}_{bla} = 0, \text{ for } t=1,2,...,N \qquad (2.7-13)$$

should be fulfilled. This constraint means that simultaneously with the estimation of the parameters  $\underline{p}_{bla}$  the noiseless inputs and outputs  $\underline{g}_{0}(u_{0}, y_{0}, t)$  have also to be estimated from the noisy measurement data.

The maximization task with this constraint can be solved in a well-known way with the method of Lagrange multipliers [41] tracing back it to the minimization of the following term:

$$Q(\underline{p}_{bla}) = \frac{1}{2} \sum_{t=1}^{N} \left[ \underline{w}^{T}(t) \underline{z}^{-1} \underline{w}(t) + 2\Psi(t) \underline{g}_{0}^{T}(u_{0}, y_{0}, t) \underline{p}_{bla} \right].$$

$$(2.7-14)$$

In point A.9 of the Appendix it is deduced that the minimum according to  $\underline{g}_0(u_0, y_0, t)$  of the term (2.7-14) can be achieved by the minimization of the quantity

$$Q^{\mathbf{x}}(\underline{p}_{b|a}) = \frac{1}{2} \quad \frac{\mathbf{p}_{b|a}^{\mathrm{T}} \quad \underline{G}\underline{p}_{b|a}}{\underline{p}_{b|a}^{\mathrm{T}} \quad \underline{G}\underline{p}_{b|a}} \tag{2.7-15}$$

by pbla, where

$$\underline{\underline{G}} = \sum_{\Sigma} \underline{\underline{g}}(u,y,t) \underline{\underline{g}}^{\mathrm{T}}(u,y,t). \qquad (2.7-16)$$
  
t=1

It is known from linear algebra that the greatest lower bound of the generalized quadratic form (2.7-15) is yielded by the smallest eigenvalue of the generalized eigenvalue problem

 $\underline{\mathbf{G}} \ \underline{\mathbf{p}}_{\mathbf{b}|\mathbf{a}} = \mu \underline{\mathbf{Z}} \ \underline{\mathbf{p}}_{\mathbf{b}|\mathbf{a}} \tag{2.7-17}$ 

and the  $\underline{p}_{bla}$  yielding the minimum is the eigenvector belonging to the smallest eigenvalue.

Although there are known numerical methods [94] to solve the generalized eigenvalue problems, because of their complexity we reduce the problem (2.7-17) in Appendix 10 to a simple eigenvalue problem, viz. to a solution requiring only the determination of the eigenvalue of the symmetric matrix. The finding of the real eigenvalues of a symmetric matrix is already considered nowadays a routine task in numerical analysis.

Assume that  $\underline{p}^{\texttt{X}}$  is obtained for the eigenvalue belonging to the least eigenvalue of the eigenvalue problem (2.7-17). Since  $\underline{p}_{bla}$  is of a special construction in the sense that the value of its (n+2)nd component has to be 1 under any circumstances. This can be simple ensured by dividing the elements of vector  $\underline{p}^{\texttt{X}}$  by the (n+2)nd element of the vector,  $p_{n+2}^{\texttt{X}}$ 

- 92 -

$$\hat{\underline{p}}_{bla} = \frac{1}{p_{n+2}^{\mathbf{x}}} \underline{p}^{\mathbf{x}}$$
.

(2.7-18)

It can be demonstrated [107] that the estimation (2.7-18) is consistent and generally biased for finite N. If the standard deviation of the input noises are substantially less than that of the input signals, this bias is less than the standard derivation of the parameters.

The basic principle of the method can be demonstrated as the deduction of the covariance matrix representing the statistical property of the noises from the covariance matrix formed from observations. This latter one is approximately the sum of the covariance matrices of the useful signals and the perturbing noises, the deduction will therefore be in case of infinitely large samples asymptotically perfect. If our knowledges about the covariance matrix of the noises are not sure, the estimation is generally biased, because the deduction of the covariance matrix of the noises does not occur even asymptotically. (The above explanation means, of course, only a very rough demonstration of the correct statistical investigations).

From the point of view of computational techniques the KOOPMANS-LEVIN method is a relatively simple procedure, on the other hand, the demand of priori information, the requirement of the knowledge of  $\underline{Z}$  seems to be quite considerable.

In practical cases the submatrix  $\underline{Z}_{uu}$  of  $\underline{Z}$  is estimated but for the other part of  $\underline{Z}$  only assumptions can be taken. Because of these difficulties, we have elaborated a method for the case  $\underline{Z}_{uu} = \underline{O}$ ,  $\underline{Z}_{uy} = \underline{O}$  in order to update  $\underline{Z}_{yy}$  and got the iterative version of the KOOPMANS-LEVIN method. In accordance with our previous assumptions now

$$\underline{\mathbf{w}}(t) = [0,0,\ldots,0; -\mathbf{w}_{y}(t), -\mathbf{w}_{y}(t-1), \ldots, -\mathbf{w}_{y}(t-n)]^{T} \quad (2.7-19)$$

and also further on

$$w_{y}(t) = y(t) - y_{0}(t).$$
 (2.7-20)

Here y(t) is the measured value, and  $y_0(t)$  can be calculated by the given  $\hat{\underline{p}}_{bla}$  (previously estimated) i.e.

$$y_{0}(t) = \sum_{i=0}^{n} \hat{b}_{i} u(t-i) - \sum_{i=1}^{n} \hat{a}_{i}y_{0}(t-i).$$
 (2.7-21)

By calculating the values of  $y_0(t)$ ,  $w_y(t)$  for t=1,2,...,N and constructing  $\underline{w}(t)$ , an estimation of  $\underline{Z}$  can be obtained by the expression

$$\hat{\underline{Z}} = \frac{1}{N} \sum_{t=1}^{N} \underline{w}(t) \underline{w}^{T}(t). \qquad (2.7-22)$$

Of course, it is enough to estimate only the part  $\underline{Z}_{yy}$  of  $\underline{Z}_{yy}$  of  $\underline{Z}_{yy}$  for the rest is zero.

On the basis of the above, we can from an iterative process for the estimation of the process parameters by using the modified KOOPMANS-LEVIN method. The iterative method can be constructed in the following way:

- 1. Determine the preliminary estimation of the process parameters  $\underline{p}_{ba}$  by the simple LS estimation.
- 2. Calculate  $w_v(t)$ , thereafter  $\underline{Z}$  through  $\underline{w}(t)$ .
- 3. Determine the parameter estimation  $\hat{\underline{p}}_{bla}$  yielding the minimum of (2.7-15).
- 4. Return to point 2. and continue the iteration until the attainment of a given accuracy.

The application of the iterative method is made easier by  $\underline{\underline{D}}$  being independent from  $\underline{\underline{p}}_{bla}$  with the decomposition of  $\underline{\underline{G}}$ , so that it has to be calculated only once. Compared with the iteration methods published in other chapters of this report, here therefore not inversion, but eigenvalue search has to be performed by iterations.

## 2.8 Identification in closed loop

As already indicated in the Introduction, this report deals with the identification methods applicable in open loop, when the input signal of the process is independent from the output signal and the output noise. The discussion of identification methods applicable in closed loop, would demand an another way of approach, on the one hand, the estimation techniques applicable there are also very different from those applied in this report on the other hand. Methods, computer procedures elaborated for open loop can be applied, however, directly or only with slight modification for some particular cases of the identification in closed loops. These possibilities will be illustrated in this subsection [65, 73, 145].

Let us investigate the identification in the closed loop system shown in Fig. 2.8-1. Beside the notations used here-tofore, here  $u_a(t)$  is the reference value and  $u_z(t)$  the artifical disturbance independent from e(t), further the  $P(z^{-1})/Q(z^{-1})$  is the transfer function, where

$$P(z^{-1}) = p_0 + p_1 z^{-1} + \dots + p_k z^{-k}$$
 (2.8-1)

$$Q(z^{-1}) = 1 + q_1 z^{-1} + \dots + q_k z^{-k}$$
 (2.8-2)

By taking advantage of the rules of determination of the resultant transfer functions for the closed loop, we obtain that

$$y(t) = \frac{P(z^{-1})B(z^{-1})}{A(z^{-1})Q(z^{-1}) + B(z^{-1})P(z^{-1})} u_{a}(t) + \frac{Q(z^{-1})B(z^{-1})}{A(z^{-1})Q(z^{-1}) + B(z^{-1})P(z^{-1})} u_{z}(t) + \frac{Q(z^{-1})B(z^{-1})}{A(z^{-1})Q(z^{-1}) + B(z^{-1})P(z^{-1})} u_{z}(t) + \frac{Q(z^{-1})B(z^{-1})}{B(z^{-1})Q(z^{-1}) + B(z^{-1})P(z^{-1})} u_{z}(t) + \frac{Q(z^{-1})B(z^{-1})B(z^{-1})}{B(z^{-1})P(z^{-1})} u_{z}(t) + \frac{Q(z^{-1})B(z^{-1})B(z^{-1})}{B(z^{-1})P(z^{-1})} u_{z}(t) + \frac{Q(z^{-1})B(z^{-1})B(z^{-1})}{B(z^{-1})Q(z^{-1})} u_{z}(t) + \frac{Q(z^{-1})B(z^{-1})B(z^{-1})}{B(z^{-1})Q(z^{-1})} u_{z}(t) + \frac{Q(z^{-1})B(z^{-1})B(z^{-1})}{B(z^{-1})Q(z^{-1})} u_{z}(t) + \frac{Q(z^{-1})B(z^{-1})B(z^{-1})}{B(z^{-1})} u_{z}(t) + \frac{Q(z^{-1})B(z^{-1})}{B(z^{-1})} u_{z}(t) + \frac{Q(z^{-1})B(z^{-1})$$



Fig.2.8-1

$$\frac{Q(z^{-1})C(z^{-1})}{A(z^{-1})Q(z^{-1})+P(z^{-1})B(z^{-1})} e(t).$$
(2.8-3)

If any of  $u_a(t)$  or  $u_z(t)$  is stationary, then by considering either the

$$\frac{P.B}{AQ+B.P} u_{a}(t) + \frac{QC}{AQ+PB} e(t)$$
(2.8-4)

or

+

$$\frac{QB}{AQ+B.P} \quad u_{z}(t) + \frac{QC}{AQ+PB} \quad e(t) \quad (2.8-5)$$

error terms as "output" noise, we can apply one of the methods worked out for the SISO systems, by taking the  $u_z(t)$  or  $u_a(t)$  variables as input signals. Regarding the structure, the ML method seems to be here the best fitting for the parameter estimation. The estimation of the parameters of the denominator AQ+BP can be an intermediary objective, hence in the knowledge of P and Q,A and B can already be determined (see below).

Assume that during the investigations the reference value  $u_a(t)$  is zero (or it is constant and then we work with a model valid for changes). In this case the closed system is described by the following two equations:

$$y(t) = \frac{B(z^{-1})}{A(z^{-1})} u(t) + \frac{C(z^{-1})}{A(z^{-1})} e(t)$$
(2.8-6)

and

$$u(t) = -\frac{P(z^{-1})}{Q(z^{-1})} \quad y(t).$$
 (2.8-7)

- 98 -

For this latter equation, we have assumed that the artifical distrubance  $u_z(t)$  was also zero. By a simple substitution the two equations can be reduced to a single one

$$y(t) = -\frac{B(z^{-1})p(z^{-1})}{A(z^{-1})Q(z^{-1})}y(t) + \frac{C(z^{-1})}{A(z^{-1})}e(t)$$
(2.8-8)

i.e.

$$\left[ A(z^{-1})Q(z^{-1}) + P(z^{-1})B(z^{-1}) \right] y(t) = Q(z^{-1})C(z^{-1})e(t).$$
 (2.8-9)

This latter equation corresponds to a mixed autoregressive - moving average (ARMA) stochastic process, i.e.

$$R(z^{-1})y(t) = S(z^{-1})e(t),$$
 (2.8-10)

where by assuming  $b_0 \equiv 0$  the equations have the form

$$R(z^{-1}) = 1 + r_1 z^{-1} + \dots + r_{k+n} z^{-(k+n)}$$
(2.8-11)

and

$$s(z^{-1}) = 1 + s_1 z^{-1} + \dots + s_{k+n} z^{-(k+n)}$$
 (2.8-12)

Assume that the coefficients  $R(z^{-1})$  could have been determined by a certain identification method. If the parameters of the regulator are known, i.e.  $P(z^{-1})$  and  $Q(z^{-1})$ , then from the equation

$$A(z^{-1})Q(z^{-1}) + B(z^{-1})P(z^{-1}) = R(z^{-1})$$
(2.8-13)

 $A(z^{-1})$  and  $B(z^{-1})$  can be obtained. By performing the polynomial multiplications in (2.8-13), by comparing the cofficients we obtain that  $\underline{\mathbf{M}} \ \underline{\mathbf{p}}_{\mathbf{ba}} = \begin{bmatrix} \mathbf{p}_{0} & 0 & \cdots & 0 & | 1 & 0 & \cdots & 0 \\ \mathbf{p}_{1} & \mathbf{p}_{0} & \cdots & 0 & | q_{1} & 1 & \cdots & 0 \\ \vdots & \vdots & \ddots & \vdots & | \vdots & \vdots & \ddots & \vdots \\ \mathbf{p}_{k-1} & \mathbf{p}_{k-2} & \cdots & \mathbf{p}_{0} & q_{k-1} & q_{k-2} & \cdots & 1 \\ \mathbf{p}_{k} & \mathbf{p}_{k-1} & \cdots & \mathbf{p}_{1} & q_{k} & q_{k-1} & \cdots & q_{1} \\ 0 & \mathbf{p}_{k} & \cdots & \mathbf{p}_{2} & \cdots & q_{k} & \cdots & q_{2} \\ \vdots & \vdots & \vdots & \vdots & \vdots & \vdots & \vdots \\ \mathbf{0} & \mathbf{0} & \cdots & \mathbf{p}_{k} & \mathbf{0} & \cdots & q_{n} \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} \mathbf{p}_{1} \\ \mathbf{p}_{2} \\ \vdots \\ \mathbf{p}_{k} \\ \mathbf{p}_{k} \\ \mathbf{p}_{k} \\ \mathbf{p}_{k} \\ \mathbf{p}_{k} \\ \mathbf{p}_{k-1} \\ \mathbf{p}_{k} \\ \mathbf{p}_$ 

(2.8-14)

The condition of the determination of  $\underline{p}_{ba}$  is that either  $Q(z^{-1})$  or  $P(z^{-1})$  is of the n-th degree as we have 2n unknown parameters and thus  $R(z^{-1})$  has to be of 2n-th degree which is fulfilled only under condition k=n. In this case we obtain the estimation of the process parameters in the form

 $\hat{\underline{p}}_{ba} = \underline{\underline{M}}^{-1} \underline{\underline{m}} . \qquad (2.8-15)$ 

(Note that similar considerations can be made for the estimation of  $C(z^{-1})$ , too.)

Several methods have already been elaborated for the estimation of the parameters of the ARMA stochastic process (2.8-10)[2, 5, 33]. Here we would like to point out that by prohibiting the estimation of the coefficients relating to the input signals u(t), i.e. by masking, the estimation of the coefficients of  $R(z^{-1})$  can be obtained either by the ML, or the SEXM method.

If  $u_a(t)$  is zero but  $u_z(t)$  nct, then the equation (2.8-7) will have the form

- 100 -

 $u(t) = -\frac{P(z^{-1})}{Q(z^{-1})} y(t) + u_z(t). \qquad (2.8-16)$ 

By substituting this into (2.8-6), we obtain the system equation

$$\left[ A \left( z^{-1} \right) Q \left( z^{-1} \right) + B \left( z^{-1} \right) P \left( z^{-1} \right) \right] y(t) =$$

$$= A \left( z^{-1} \right) Q \left( z^{-1} \right) B \left( z^{-1} \right) u_{z}(t) + Q \left( z^{-1} \right) C \left( z^{-1} \right) e(t).$$

$$(2.8-17)$$

It is obvious that the ML structure according to (1.2-5) was formally achieved, so that either the ML, or the SEXM or any other identification method valid for similar models can be applied. Now, of course, here is no need of masking and  $u_z(t)$  has to be considered as input signal. The decomposition of the obtained denominator can be performed also according to (2.8-15).

If the  $u_a(t)$  and  $u_z(t)$  signals are neither of zero value, nor are they stationary, then the closed loop or the denominator AQ+BP can be identified on the basis of the system equation (2.8-31) as a two-input ( $u_a$ ,  $u_z$ ) and single output (y) system.Thus, e.g. the application of the ML procedure worked out for the MISO systems can be thought of.

It is not our intention to examine now thoroughly the various possible cases (which transfer is known, which signal can be measured, which preliminary conditions are true, etc.), we have pointed out that the identification methods elaborated for open loops can be applied to closed loops, too, if the system is analyzed in detail and certain supplementary calculations are made in a given case.

# III. OFF-LINE IDENTIFICATION METHODS FOR MULTIPLE OUTPUT SYSTEMS

As seen in the preceding chapter, the number of the inputs of a system does not influence substantially the identification technique. Despite the multiple inputs a MISO system equation does not require, compared with the SISO system equation, any form of description different in kind, only the sizes of the featuring memory resp. the parameter vectors, increase. Likewise the loss functions to be minimized retain their character unchanged.

On the other hand, turning to the examination of the MIMO systems by the increase of the number of outputs there is a change in dimension: the memory vector becomes memory matrix, the parameter vector parameter matrix, etc. This could be recognized in subsection 1.2, where also the MIMO system equations were discussed. Accordingly, the loss functions also depend in a substantially more complex way from the parameters.

Methods used for single output systems were discussed for the case of d=O as a given d value can always be set by shifting the series of input and output values with respect to each other. This can be achieved, of course, also in the case of a MISO system by considering the deadtimes by inputs in their mutual dependence, only the algorithm will be somewhat more sophisticated. With MIMO systems we are unable to form a deadtime given for all inputs by shifting input and output signals with regard to each other. Therefore, it will now be required to denote the deadtimes by zero symbols of certain coefficients of the matrix polynomial  $\underline{B}(z^{-1})$ . (For that matter this is possible also with single output systems but there the shifting technique has proved to be more simple.) Here, among the introductory remarks referring to the MIMO systems, we will present the technique for the masking (prohibition) of the parameters not included in the estimation and not wanted. (The same was shown for the SISO systems at the beginning of Chapter 2.) Most of the off-line identification methods of the multiple output systems require matrix inversion. The place of the inversion, either an explicit solution or an iterative method is considered, can be demonstrated as follows:

 $\underline{\underline{P}} = \underline{\underline{V}} \underline{\underline{M}}^{-1} \tag{3-1}$ 

where  $\underline{\mathbb{M}}$  is a symmetric square matrix,  $\underline{\mathbb{V}}$  a matrix of suitable dimension. With MIMO systems only one column of the parameter matrix  $\underline{\mathbb{P}}$  can be prohibited at a time, the single elements not. This, however, is completely suitable from the theoretical point of view, since the conditions of uniqueness [108] refer to the columns of  $\underline{\mathbb{P}}$ . If we now do not wish to estimate the i-th column of the parameter matrix or, with other words, we wish to prescribe a zero constraint for the coefficients in the i-th column, then we can achieve this in the following way. We make the i-th row and column of matrix  $\underline{\mathbb{M}}$  equal to zero, thereafter we choose e.g. 1 for the  $\underline{\mathbb{M}}_{ii}$  element at their intersection. Thereupon we make the i-th column of matrix  $\underline{\mathbb{V}}$  equal to zero. Thus we obtain absolutely zero for the i-th column of  $\underline{\mathbb{P}}$ :

P_ =		o c		•••• 0	-1 =	0	•••	(3-2)
	0		0	-		0		
		1			1	-	_	

For the practical use (programming) a mask matrix used to be given whose dimensions are identical with  $\underline{P}$ , and it contains value 1 where we wish to estimate the element and 0 where we do not. The expounding of simple examples can convince us that this technique can in fact be applied only to the prohibition of columns and not to elements occurring in any places.

Also for the off-line identification methods of the MIMO system is valid the statement that if the parameter matrix  $\underline{P}$ has to be estimated on the basis of N conjugate  $\underline{u}(t)$  and  $\underline{y}(t)$ vectors by simultaneous processing, then we face even now deterministic extremum seeking problem where the corresponding loss function has to be minimized as a criterion in the space of the numerous parameters of the MIMO system.

Hereinafter we will give a survey of the parametric identification methods of the MIMO systems, all those which can be considered as direct generalizations of procedures well-known for SISO systems.

#### 3.1 Least squares method

We get an uncorrelated equation error vector term from the general equation (1.2-26) of the discrete-time MIMO system models under the condition  $\underline{C}(z^{-1}) \equiv \underline{I}$ , i.e. possibility to use the simple LS method. In this case the system equation is

$$\underline{y}(t) = \sum_{i=0}^{n} \underline{u}(t-i) - \sum_{i=1}^{n} \underline{A}_{i} \underline{y}(t-i) + \underline{e}(t)$$
(3.1-1)

where the deadtime was not stated separately, but implied in the parameter matrices  $\underline{B}_i$ . This form is linear in the parameter matrices, i.e. it can be written also in the form

$$\underline{\mathbf{y}}(t) = \underline{\mathbf{P}}_{BA} \underline{\mathbf{f}}(\underline{\mathbf{u}}, \underline{\mathbf{y}}, t) + \underline{\mathbf{e}}(t)$$
(3.1-2)

where

$$\underline{P}_{BA} = \begin{bmatrix} \underline{B}_{0}, \underline{B}_{1}, \dots, \underline{B}_{n}, \underline{A}_{1}, \dots, \underline{A}_{n} \end{bmatrix}$$
(3.1-3)  
and

$$\underline{f}^{\mathrm{T}}(\underline{u},\underline{y},t) = [\underline{u}^{\mathrm{T}}(t),\ldots,\underline{u}^{\mathrm{T}}(t-n);-\underline{y}^{\mathrm{T}}(t-1),\ldots,-y^{\mathrm{T}}(t-n)] = \underline{f}^{\mathrm{T}}(t).$$
(3.1-4)

If we wish to estimate the parameters on the basis of N conjugate  $\underline{u}(t)$ ,  $\underline{y}(t)$  values, then it is reasonable to use also here the system equation relating to N samples, similarly to the SISO systems.

Let us introduce the notations

 $\underline{\underline{Y}} = [\underline{y}(1), \dots, \underline{y}(N)],$ 

$$(3.1-5)$$

$$\underline{F} = [\underline{f}(1), \dots, \underline{f}(N)]$$
and
$$\underline{F} = [\underline{e}(1), \dots, \underline{e}(N)].$$
(3.1-6)
(3.1-6)
(3.1-7)

The joint system matrix equation

$$Y = P_{BA}F + E$$
. (3.1-8)

With the help of the operation vec(...) (see Appendix 3), we obtain from (3.1-8) that

$$\operatorname{vec}(\underline{\underline{Y}}) = \operatorname{vec}(\underline{\underline{P}}_{BA} \underline{\underline{F}} + \underline{\underline{E}}) = \operatorname{vec}(\underline{\underline{P}}_{BA} \underline{\underline{F}}) + \operatorname{vec}(\underline{\underline{E}}) =$$
$$= (\underline{\underline{F}}^{T} \otimes \underline{\underline{I}}_{q}) \operatorname{vec}(\underline{\underline{P}}_{BA}) + \operatorname{vec}(\underline{\underline{E}}), \qquad (3.1-9)$$

where we have used the advantage of the identity (A.4-3)and  $\underline{I}_q$  is a (qxq) unit matrix, where q is the number of outputs. By applying the notations of (1.2-42) and (1.2-43), according to which

$$\underline{\mathbf{y}}_{\mathrm{M}} = \mathrm{vec}(\underline{\mathbf{y}}) \tag{3.1-10}$$

and

84

 $\underline{e}_{\mathbb{M}} = \operatorname{vec}(\underline{E}) \tag{3.1-11}$ 

further  $\underline{u}_{M}$ , too, has a similar meaning, the equation (3.1-9) will take the form

$$\underline{\mathbf{y}}_{\mathbf{W}} = \underline{\mathbf{G}} \, \underline{\mathbf{p}}_{\mathbf{B}\mathbf{A}} + \underline{\mathbf{e}}_{\mathbf{W}} \,. \tag{3.1-12}$$

Here we have used the notations

$$\underline{\underline{G}} = \underline{\underline{F}}^{\mathrm{T}} \otimes \underline{\underline{I}}_{\mathrm{q}} = \underline{\underline{G}} \left( \underline{\underline{u}}_{\mathrm{M}}, \underline{\underline{y}}_{\mathrm{M}} \right)$$
(3.1-13)
and

$$\underline{\mathbf{p}}_{\mathrm{BA}} = \mathrm{vec}\left(\underline{\mathbf{p}}_{\mathrm{BA}}\right) \cdot (3.1-14)$$

Note that the detailed analysis of (1.2-44) leads to the system equation (3.1-12) also under the assumption of  $\underline{C}(z^{-1}) = \underline{I}$ , i.e. in consequence of the above

$$\underline{\mathbf{y}}_{\mathrm{M}} = \begin{bmatrix} \sum_{i=0}^{n} \underline{\mathbf{s}}_{\mathrm{N}}^{i}(1) \otimes \underline{\mathbf{s}}_{\mathrm{i}} \end{bmatrix} \underline{\mathbf{u}}_{\mathrm{M}} - \begin{bmatrix} \sum_{i=1}^{n} \underline{\mathbf{s}}_{\mathrm{N}}^{i}(1) \otimes \underline{\mathbf{s}}_{\mathrm{i}} \end{bmatrix} \underline{\mathbf{y}}_{\mathrm{M}} + \underline{\mathbf{e}}_{\mathrm{M}} = \\ = \underline{\mathbf{g}}(\underline{\mathbf{u}}_{\mathrm{M}}, \underline{\mathbf{y}}_{\mathrm{M}}) \underline{\mathbf{p}}_{\mathrm{BA}} + \underline{\mathbf{e}}_{\mathrm{M}}.$$
(3.1-15)

It is deduced in Appendix 11 that even starting from various modes of approaches the LS estimation of the system parameters can be obtained in the forms

$$\hat{\underline{P}}_{BA} = \underline{\underline{Y}} \underline{\underline{F}}^{T} (\underline{\underline{F}} \underline{\underline{F}}^{T})^{-1}$$
(3.1-16)

or

$$\hat{\underline{p}}_{BA} = \left[ \left( \underline{F} \ \underline{F}^{T} \right)^{-1} \ \underline{F} \otimes \underline{I}_{q} \right] \underline{x}_{M}$$

(3.1-17)

### 3.2 Maximum likelihood method

Alike the SISO systems the ML parameter estimation of the MIMO systems has conceptually been incorporated to a certain structure and this corresponds to the generalization of the single output ASTRÖM model, thus according to (1.2-30)[108]

$$\underline{\mathbf{y}}(\mathbf{t}) = \sum_{i=0}^{n} \underline{\mathbf{B}}_{i} \underline{\mathbf{u}}(\mathbf{t}-i) - \sum_{i=1}^{n} \underline{\mathbf{A}}_{i} \underline{\mathbf{y}}(\mathbf{t}-i) + \sum_{i=1}^{n} \underline{\mathbf{C}}_{i} \underline{\mathbf{e}}(\mathbf{t}-i) + \underline{\mathbf{e}}(\mathbf{t}).$$
(3.2-1)

This system equation can be written also in the form

$$\underline{\mathbf{y}}(t) = \underline{\underline{P}}_{BAC} \underline{\mathbf{f}}(\underline{\mathbf{u}}, \underline{\mathbf{y}}, \underline{\mathbf{e}}, t) + \underline{\mathbf{e}}(t)$$
(3.2-2)

where

$$\underline{\underline{P}}_{BAC} = [\underline{\underline{B}}_{0}, \underline{\underline{B}}_{1}, \dots, \underline{\underline{B}}_{n}; \underline{\underline{A}}_{1}, \dots, \underline{\underline{A}}_{n}; \underline{\underline{C}}_{1}, \dots, \underline{\underline{C}}_{n}] = [\underline{\underline{P}}_{B}; \underline{\underline{P}}_{A}; \underline{\underline{P}}_{C}]$$
(3.2-3)

and

$$\underline{f}(\underline{u},\underline{y},\underline{e},t) = [\underline{u}^{\mathrm{T}}(t), \dots, \underline{u}^{\mathrm{T}}(t-n); -\underline{y}^{\mathrm{T}}(t-1), \dots, -\underline{y}^{\mathrm{T}}(t-n);$$

$$\underline{e}^{\mathrm{T}}(t-1), \dots, \underline{e}^{\mathrm{T}}(t-n)]^{\mathrm{T}}.$$
(3.2-4)

It is deduced in App.5 that for MIMO systems the maximization of the likelihood function is equivalent with the solution of the minimization problem

$$Q(\hat{\underline{P}}_{BAC}) = \min_{\underline{P}_{BAC}} Q(\underline{\underline{P}}_{BAC}) = \min_{\underline{\underline{P}}_{BAC}} |\hat{\underline{A}}(\underline{\underline{P}}_{BAC})| =$$
$$= \min_{\underline{\underline{P}}_{BAC}} |\frac{1}{N} \sum_{\substack{\underline{\Sigma} \\ \underline{t} = 1}}^{N} \underline{\underline{e}}(\underline{t}) \underline{\underline{e}}^{T}(\underline{t})|. \qquad (3.2-5)$$

Here  $\hat{\underline{\Lambda}}$  is the ML estimation of the  $\underline{\underline{\Lambda}}$  covarience matrix of the source noise vector  $\underline{e}(t)$ . The calculation of  $\hat{\underline{\underline{\Lambda}}}$  is given by (App.5-25):

$$\hat{\underline{\Lambda}} = \frac{1}{N} \sum_{t=1}^{N} \underline{\underline{e}}(t) \underline{\underline{e}}^{T}(t). \qquad (3.2-6)$$

Herebelow we shall use the forms ordered in vectors of  $\underline{P}_{BA}$  and its submatrices:

- $\operatorname{vec}(\underline{P}_{BAC}) = \underline{p}_{BAC},$  (3.2-7)
- $\operatorname{vec}\left(\underline{p}_{B}\right) = \underline{p}_{B}$ , (3.2-8)

$$\operatorname{vec}(\underline{P}_{A}) = \underline{P}_{A}$$
, (3.2-9)

$$\operatorname{vec}(\underline{P}_{C}) = \underline{P}_{C}$$
 (3.2-10)

The minimization of the loss function (3.2-5) is a complicated nonlinear extremum seeking task. As the cost function is a more complex formation than a quadratic one in the parameters, so explicit solution can not be given for the minimum, only iterative processes can be chosen. As it yields the fastest convergence speed in the quadratic sense, being at the same time the most widespread method for the ML estimation of the SISO systems, we suggest now again the application of the NEWTON-RAPHSON procedure for the extremum seeking. The canonical form of the algorithm is:

$$\underline{p}(j+1) = \underline{p}(j) - \underline{T}^{-1}[\underline{p}(j)] \frac{dQ[p(j)]}{d p(j)}, \qquad (3.2-11)$$

i.e. the gradient of Q and the Hessian matrix  $\underline{T}$  are required in every iterative step. Although the loss function (3.2-5), has a physical meaning which can be well interpreted, it is more practical to consider for minimization the cost function

$$\widetilde{Q}(\underline{P}_{BAC}) = \frac{N}{2} \ln \left| \hat{\underline{A}}(\underline{P}_{BAC}) \right|$$
(3.2-12)

whose handling for numerical calculations and deductions is more convenient, at the same time, its extremum is equal to the minimum of  $Q(P_{BAC})$  as the logarithm function is a monotonous function. Thus our iterative algorithm will finally take the form

$$\underline{p}(j+1) = \underline{p}(j) - \underline{\underline{T}}^{-1}[\underline{p}(j)] \frac{d\tilde{Q}[\underline{p}(j)]}{d \underline{p}(j)} . \qquad (3.2-13)$$

(Here, of course,  $\underline{p} = \underline{p}_{BAC} = vec(\underline{p}_{BAC})$ )

Let us examine the generation of the first and second derivatives. The deduction is given in App.12 that the gradient of the loss function can be calculated according to the following relation:

$$\frac{d\tilde{Q}(\underline{P}_{BAC})}{d\underline{p}_{BAC}} = \sum_{t=1}^{N} \frac{\partial \underline{e}^{T}(t)}{\partial \underline{p}_{BAC}} \stackrel{\widehat{\Delta}}{=} \stackrel{-1}{=} \underline{e}(t). \qquad (3.2-14)$$

By introducing the notations

$$\underline{\underline{f}}_{\underline{u}}(t) = [\underline{\underline{u}}^{\mathrm{T}}(t), \underline{\underline{u}}^{\mathrm{T}}(t-1), \dots, \underline{\underline{u}}^{\mathrm{T}}(t-n)]^{\mathrm{T}}, \qquad (3.2-15)$$

$$\underline{\underline{f}}_{\underline{\underline{y}}}(t) = [\underline{\underline{y}}^{\mathrm{T}}(t-1), \underline{\underline{y}}^{\mathrm{T}}(t-2), \dots, \underline{\underline{y}}^{\mathrm{T}}(t-n)]^{\mathrm{T}}, \qquad (3.2-16)$$

$$\underline{\underline{f}}_{\underline{e}}(t) = [\underline{e}^{\mathrm{T}}(t-1), \underline{e}^{\mathrm{T}}(t-2), \dots, \underline{e}^{\mathrm{T}}(t-n)]^{\mathrm{T}} \qquad (3.2-17)$$

the system equation can be written also in the form of

$$\underline{\underline{C}}(z^{-1})\underline{\underline{e}}(t) = \underline{\underline{v}}(t) + \underline{\underline{P}}_{A} \underline{\underline{f}}_{\underline{\underline{v}}}(t) - \underline{\underline{P}}_{B} \underline{\underline{f}}_{\underline{\underline{u}}}(t). \qquad (3.2-18)$$

- 110 -

Hence a formal derivation yields that

$$\underline{\underline{C}}(z^{-1}) \frac{\partial \underline{\underline{e}}(t)}{\partial \underline{\underline{p}}_{B}^{T}} = - \underline{\underline{f}}_{\underline{\underline{u}}}^{T}(t) \otimes \underline{\underline{I}}_{q}, \qquad (3.2-19)$$

$$\underline{\underline{C}}(z^{-1}) \frac{\partial \underline{\underline{e}}(t)}{\partial \underline{\underline{p}}_{A}^{T}} = \underline{\underline{f}}_{\underline{\underline{Y}}}^{T}(t) \otimes \underline{\underline{I}}_{q}, \qquad (3.2-20)$$

$$\underline{\underline{c}}(z^{-1}) \xrightarrow{\partial \underline{p}}_{C}^{T} = - \underline{\underline{f}}_{e}^{1}(t) \otimes \underline{\underline{I}}_{eq}. \qquad (3.2-21)$$

These moving-average filter equations already yield the mode of calculation of the partial derivatives of the  $\underline{e}(t)$ . By taking into account the relation (3.2-4), the three equations can be reduced to solve one equation:

$$\underline{\underline{C}}(z^{-1}) \frac{\partial \underline{\underline{e}}(t)}{\partial \underline{\underline{p}}_{BAC}^{T}} = - \underline{\underline{f}}^{T}(\underline{\underline{u}}, \underline{\underline{y}}, \underline{\underline{e}}, t) \otimes \underline{\underline{I}}_{q}. \qquad (3.2-22)$$

In order to interprete the filter equations, further to facilitate computer programming, it is worth expanding the relations by the particular elements of parameter matrices. By expanding the particular components we get that

$$\underline{\underline{c}}(z^{-1}) \frac{\partial \underline{e}(t)}{\partial B_{kij}} = \begin{bmatrix} 0 \\ \vdots \\ -z^{-k} u_{j}(t) \\ \vdots \\ 0 \end{bmatrix} \leftarrow i-th row , \qquad (3.2-23)$$

- 111 -

$$\underline{\underline{C}}(z^{-1}) \frac{\partial \underline{e}(t)}{\partial A_{kij}} = \begin{bmatrix} 0 \\ \vdots \\ z^{-k} y_j(t) \\ \vdots \\ 0 \end{bmatrix} \leftarrow i-th row, \quad (3.2-24)$$

$$\underline{\underline{C}}(z^{-1}) \frac{\partial \underline{e}(t)}{\partial C_{kij}} = \begin{bmatrix} 0 \\ \vdots \\ -z^{-k} e_j(t) \\ \vdots \\ 0 \end{bmatrix} \leftarrow i-th row. \quad (3.2-25)$$

Here  $B_{kij}$ ,  $A_{kij}$ ,  $C_{kij}$  are the i, j-th elements of the corresponding  $\underline{B}$ ,  $\underline{A}$ ,  $\underline{C}$  matrices. It is obvious from the relations that

$$\frac{\partial \underline{\mathbf{e}}(\mathbf{t})}{\partial B_{kij}} = \frac{\partial \underline{\mathbf{e}}(\mathbf{t} - \mathbf{k} + 1)}{\partial B_{lij}}$$
(3.2-26)

which saves substantial calculation. The same holds also for the derivatives according to  $A_{kij}$  and  $C_{kij}$ . This means that alike with the single output systems, it is also here possible to form recursively partial derivatives. The relations in this respect are also presented in App. 12.

As the calculation of both  $\underline{\hat{A}}$  and the gradient requires the error vector  $\underline{e}(t)$ , it is reasonable to calculate it by a recursive model with state vectors:

- 112 -

$$\underline{x}(t) = \begin{bmatrix} -\underline{\mathbb{G}}_{1} & \underline{\mathbb{I}} & \underline{\mathbb{O}} & \cdots & \underline{\mathbb{O}} \\ -\underline{\mathbb{G}}_{2} & \underline{\mathbb{O}} & \underline{\mathbb{I}} & \cdots & \underline{\mathbb{O}} \\ \vdots & \vdots & \vdots & \vdots \\ -\underline{\mathbb{G}}_{n-1} & \underline{\mathbb{O}} & \underline{\mathbb{O}} & \cdots & \underline{\mathbb{I}} \\ -\underline{\mathbb{G}}_{n} & \underline{\mathbb{O}} & \underline{\mathbb{O}} & \underline{\mathbb{O}} \end{bmatrix} \underbrace{\underline{x}(t-1)}_{(t-1)} + \begin{bmatrix} \underline{\mathbb{A}}_{1} & \underline{\mathbb{I}} - \underline{\mathbb{B}}_{1} & \underline{\mathbb{B}}_{0} \\ \underline{\mathbb{A}}_{2} & \underline{\mathbb{O}} - \underline{\mathbb{B}}_{2} & \underline{\mathbb{O}} \\ \vdots & \vdots & \vdots & \vdots \\ \underline{\mathbb{A}}_{n-1} & \underline{\mathbb{O}} - \underline{\mathbb{B}}_{n-1} & \underline{\mathbb{O}} \\ \underline{\mathbb{A}}_{n-1} & \underline{\mathbb{O}} - \underline{\mathbb{B}}_{n-1} & \underline{\mathbb{O}} \\ \underline{\mathbb{A}}_{n} & \underline{\mathbb{O}} - \underline{\mathbb{B}}_{n} & \underline{\mathbb{O}} \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} \underline{x}(t-1) \\ \underline{x}(t) \\ \underline{u}(t-1) \\ \underline{u}(t) \end{bmatrix} \\ (3.2-27) \end{bmatrix}$$

and

$$\underline{e}(t) = [\underline{I}, \underline{0}, \dots, \underline{0}, \underline{0}] \underline{x}(t). \qquad (3.2-28)$$

This latter equation pair can be considered as the generalization of the equations (2.2-8) and (2.2-9).

An i, j-th element of the matrix of the second order derivatives is obtained by the derivation of the i-th element of the gradient vector according to the j-th coefficient

$$\frac{\partial^{2} \tilde{Q}(\underline{P}_{\underline{BAC}})}{\partial p_{i} \partial p_{j}} = \sum_{t=1}^{N} \frac{\partial \underline{e}^{T}(t)}{\partial p_{i}} \hat{A}^{-1}_{t} \frac{\partial \underline{e}(t)}{\partial p_{j}} + \sum_{t=1}^{N} \frac{\underline{e}^{T}(t)}{\underline{e}^{T}(t)} \hat{A}^{-1}_{t} \frac{\partial^{2} \underline{e}(t)}{\partial p_{i} \partial p_{j}} . \qquad (3.2-29)$$

Here the first term makes the always positive  $\underline{\mathbb{T}}_1$  part of the Hessian matrix, while the second one, the  $\underline{\mathbb{T}}_2$  part which sometimes changes even its definiteness. (Here the assumption  $\underline{\mathbb{T}} = \underline{\mathbb{T}}_1 + \underline{\mathbb{T}}_2$  was used.) The  $\underline{\mathbb{T}}_1$  matrix can be expressed also in a concise form:

- 113 -

$$\underline{\mathbf{T}}_{1} = \sum_{t=1}^{N} \frac{d\underline{\mathbf{e}}^{\mathrm{T}}(t)}{d\underline{\mathbf{p}}_{\mathrm{BAC}}} \stackrel{\widehat{\Lambda}}{=}^{-1} \frac{d\underline{\mathbf{e}}(t)}{d\underline{\mathbf{p}}_{\mathrm{BAC}}^{\mathrm{T}}} \qquad (3.2-30)$$

As the construction of  $\underline{T}_2$  is very complicated with the MIMO systems, it is reasonable to use the approximation  $\underline{T} \cong \underline{T}_1$ which yields in the majority of the cases a satisfactory result. Although the relations of the calculation of  $T_2$ , are given in App.12., we did not use them in the practice because of their complexity. This means that our minimization process is an approximative NEWTON-RAPHSON technique. This version ensures, far from the minimum, practically the same convergence speed slows down with small samples, on the other hand the requirement of the investigation of the definiteness does not arise. For a large number of samples, the two versions of the method are practically equivalent with each other, because by increasing N,  $\underline{T}_2$  becomes asymptotically zero. (This has been already pointed out with the SISO systems.) Note furthermore that with the computer program written for the method, the NEWTON-RAPHSON searching technique is also combined with the determination of a suboptimal step as with the ML method of the SISO systems but, this part of the algorithm, will not be discussed here in detail.

- 114 -

#### 3.3 The generalized least squares method

The GLS method of CLARKE worked out for the SISO systems [33] can be generalized also for MIMO systems, although this cannot be performed by simple formal tricks, e.g. by the appropriate extensions of the dimensions. The main reason for this is that the "whitening" filtration for the MIMO systems is more complicated than for the SISO systems.

In the system equation (1.2-26) we obtain the GLS structure of the MIMO system by introducing the matrix polynomial  $\underline{H}(z^{-1})$  which formally satisfies the equality  $\underline{C}(z^{-1}) = \underline{H}^{-1}(z^{-1})$ 

$$\underline{\mathbf{y}}(t) = \underline{\mathbf{A}}^{-1}(z^{-1}) \underline{\mathbf{B}}(z^{-1}) \underline{\mathbf{u}}(t) + \underline{\mathbf{A}}^{-1}(z^{-1}) \underline{\mathbf{H}}^{-1}(z^{-1}) \underline{\mathbf{e}}(t).$$
(3.3-1)

The system equation can be written also in the rearranged form

$$\underline{\underline{H}}(z^{-1})\underline{\underline{v}}(t) = \underline{\underline{H}}(z^{-1})\underline{\underline{B}}(z^{-1})\underline{\underline{u}}(t) - \underline{\underline{H}}(z^{-1})\underline{\underline{A}}(z^{-1})\underline{\underline{v}}(t) + \underline{\underline{e}}(t).(3\cdot 3-2)$$

As the multiplication by  $\underline{H}(z^{-1})$  cannot be transposed in a general case either by  $\underline{B}(z^{-1})$ , or by  $\underline{A}(z^{-1})$ , thus we cannot construct the filtered values of  $\underline{u}(t)$  and  $\underline{y}(t)$  in the way usual and permissible with the SISO systems.

Let us write the equation (3.3-2) more in detail:

$$\underline{\underline{H}}(z^{-1})\underline{\underline{V}}(t) = \underline{\underline{H}}(z^{-1})\underline{\underline{B}}_{0} \underline{\underline{u}}(t) + \dots + \underline{\underline{H}}(z^{-1})\underline{\underline{B}}_{n} \underline{\underline{u}}(t-n) - \\ - \underline{\underline{H}}(z^{-1})\underline{\underline{A}}_{1} \underline{\underline{V}}(t-1) - \dots - \underline{\underline{H}}(z^{-1})\underline{\underline{A}}_{n} \underline{\underline{V}}(t-n) + \underline{\underline{e}}(t).$$

$$(3.3-3)$$

By utilizing  $vec(\underline{A} \ \underline{B} \ \underline{C}) = (\underline{C}^{T} \otimes \underline{A})vec(\underline{B})$ , the terms in (3.3-3) can be written also in the following way:

$$\underline{\underline{H}}(z^{-1}) \underline{\underline{A}}_{i} \underline{\underline{\chi}}(t-i) = [\underline{\underline{\chi}}^{T}(t-i) \otimes \underline{\underline{H}}(z^{-1})] \operatorname{vec}(\underline{\underline{A}}_{i})$$
i=1,2,...,n
(3.3-4)
namely
$$\operatorname{vec}[\underline{\underline{H}}(z^{-1}) \underline{\underline{A}}_{i} \underline{\underline{\chi}}(t-i)] = \underline{\underline{H}}(z^{-1}) \underline{\underline{A}}_{i} \underline{\underline{\chi}}(t-i), \qquad (3.3-5)$$
as the vec(...) of a vector is itself.
In a similar way we obtain that
$$H(z^{-1}) \underline{\underline{B}}_{i} \underline{\underline{u}}(t-i) = [\underline{\underline{u}}^{T}(t-i) \otimes \underline{\underline{H}}(z^{-1})] \operatorname{vec}(\underline{\underline{B}}_{i}) \qquad (3.3-6)$$
and
$$\underline{\underline{H}}(z^{-1}) \underline{\underline{\chi}}(t) = [\underline{\underline{\chi}}^{T}(t) \otimes \underline{\underline{H}}(z^{-1})] \operatorname{vec}(\underline{\underline{I}}_{q}). \qquad (3.3-7)$$
Let  $\underline{\underline{H}}(z^{-1})$  be of the following structure:

- 116 -

$$\underline{H}(z^{-1}) = \underline{I}_{q} + \underline{H}_{1}z^{-1} + \dots + \underline{H}_{k}z^{-k}, \qquad (3.3-8)$$

then, e.g.

$$\underline{\mathbf{y}}^{\mathrm{T}}(\mathtt{t}-\mathtt{i}) \otimes \underline{\mathbb{H}}(\mathtt{z}^{-\mathtt{l}}) = [y_{1}(\mathtt{t}-\mathtt{i})]_{\underline{\mathbb{H}}_{q}} + \cdots + y_{1}(\mathtt{t}-\mathtt{i}-\mathtt{k})]_{\underline{\mathbb{H}}_{k}},$$
  
$$\cdots, y_{q}(\mathtt{t}-\mathtt{i})]_{\underline{\mathbb{H}}_{q}} + \cdots + y_{q}(\mathtt{t}-\mathtt{i}-\mathtt{k})]_{\underline{\mathbb{H}}_{k}}]. \qquad (3.3-9)$$

It is easy to see that the matrix elements can be calculated without difficulty. Let us apply the following notations for the matrices of the filtered values

$$\underline{\underline{Y}}_{F}(t-i) = \underline{\underline{Y}}^{T}(t-i) \otimes \underline{\underline{H}}(z^{-1}), \qquad (3.3-10)$$

$$\underline{\underline{U}}_{F}(t-i) = \underline{\underline{u}}^{T}(t-i) \otimes \underline{\underline{H}}(z^{-1}), \qquad (3.3-11)$$

$$\underline{\mathbf{x}}_{\mathrm{F}}(\mathrm{t-i}) = \left[ \underline{\mathbf{x}}^{\mathrm{T}}(\mathrm{t}) \otimes \underline{\mathrm{H}}(\mathrm{z}^{-1}) \right] \operatorname{vec}(\underline{\mathrm{I}}_{\mathrm{q}}) . \tag{3.3-12}$$

The system equation can be reduced by these notations to the form

$$\underline{\underline{Y}}_{F}(t) = \underline{\underline{U}}_{F}(t) \operatorname{vec}(\underline{\underline{B}}_{0}) + \dots + \underline{\underline{U}}_{F}(t-n)\operatorname{vec}(\underline{\underline{B}}_{n}) - \\ - \underline{\underline{Y}}_{F}(t-1)\operatorname{vec}(\underline{\underline{A}}_{1}) - \dots - \underline{\underline{Y}}_{F}(t-n) \operatorname{vec}(\underline{\underline{A}}_{n}) + \underline{\underline{e}}(t) \quad (3.3-13)$$

or still more briefly

$$\underline{\mathbf{y}}_{\mathbf{F}}(t) = \underline{\mathbf{X}}_{\mathbf{F}}(t)\underline{\mathbf{p}}_{\mathbf{B}\mathbf{A}} + \underline{\mathbf{e}}(t). \tag{3.3-14}$$

Here  $\underline{p}_{BA} = vec(\underline{p}_{BA})$  holds also hereinafter, as well as  $\underline{x}_{F}(t) = [\underline{u}_{F}(t), \dots, \underline{u}_{F}(t-n); -\underline{y}_{F}(t-1), \dots, -\underline{y}_{F}(t-n)]$ . (3.3-15) If N measurements are available, then by using the notations

$$\underline{\mathbf{w}}_{\mathrm{F}} = \left[ \underline{\mathbf{y}}_{\mathrm{F}}^{\mathrm{T}}(1), \underline{\mathbf{y}}_{\mathrm{F}}^{\mathrm{T}}(2), \dots, \underline{\mathbf{y}}_{\mathrm{F}}^{\mathrm{T}}(N) \right]^{\mathrm{T}}$$
(3.3-16)

$$\underline{\underline{F}}_{F} = \begin{bmatrix} \underline{x}_{F}^{T}(1), \underline{x}_{F}^{T}(2), \dots, \underline{x}_{F}^{T}(N) \end{bmatrix}^{T}$$

$$\underline{\underline{d}} = \begin{bmatrix} \underline{e}^{T}(1), \underline{e}^{T}(2), \dots, \underline{e}^{T}(N) \end{bmatrix}^{T}$$

$$(3.3-17)$$

$$(3.3-18)$$

the joint system equation will be

$$\underline{\mathbf{w}}_{\mathbf{F}} = \underline{\mathbf{F}}_{\mathbf{F}} \underline{\mathbf{p}}_{\mathbf{BA}} + \underline{\mathbf{d}} \quad . \tag{3.3-19}$$

- 117 -

As in (3.3-14) - in consequence of the filtering - the equation error is white noise, we can use the LS method which leads on the basis of the equation (3.3-19) to the well-known explicit solution

$$\hat{\underline{p}}_{BA} = (\underline{\underline{F}}_{F}^{T} \underline{\underline{F}}_{F})^{-1} \underline{\underline{F}}_{F}^{T} \underline{\underline{w}}_{F}$$
(3.3-20)

The filtering equations (3.3-10) - (3.3-12) require by all means the knowledge of  $\underline{H}(z^{-1})$ , therefore let us examine the estimation possibility of the parameter matrices  $\underline{H}_{i}$ . Assume the knowledge of  $\hat{\underline{P}}_{BA}$ .

Rewrite the system equation (3.3-1) into the form

$$\underline{\underline{H}}(z^{-1})[\underline{\underline{A}}(z^{-1})\underline{\underline{v}}(t) - \underline{\underline{B}}(z^{-1})\underline{\underline{u}}(t)] = \underline{\underline{H}}(z^{-1})\underline{\underline{r}}(t) = \underline{\underline{e}}(t) \quad (3.3-21)$$

where

$$\underline{\mathbf{r}}(t) = \underline{\underline{A}}(z^{-1}) \underline{\mathbf{y}}(t) - \underline{\underline{B}}(z^{-1}) \underline{\mathbf{u}}(t) = \underline{\mathbf{y}}(t) - \underline{\widehat{\underline{P}}}_{BA} \underline{\underline{f}}(\underline{\mathbf{u}}, \underline{\mathbf{y}}, t) \quad (3.3-22)$$

denotes the equation error vector (cf. also the notations in (3.1-2)!). Considering the construction of  $\underline{H}(z^{-1})$ , the auto-regressive  $\underline{r}(t)$  will be as follows:

$$\underline{\mathbf{r}}(t) = -\underline{\underline{H}}_{1} \underline{\mathbf{r}}(t-1) - \dots - \underline{\underline{H}}_{k} \underline{\mathbf{r}}(t-k) + \underline{\underline{e}}(t). \qquad (3.3-23)$$

This is a system equation linear in parameter matrices with white noise equation error, thus the LS estimation of the form (3.1-16) can be employed here too, i.e.:

$$\hat{\underline{P}}_{\mathrm{H}} = \underline{\underline{R}} \ \underline{\underline{G}}^{\mathrm{T}} (\underline{\underline{G}} \ \underline{\underline{G}}^{\mathrm{T}})^{-1}$$
(3.3-24)

where

$$\underline{P}_{H} = [\underline{H}_{1}, \underline{H}_{2}, \dots, \underline{H}_{k}],$$

$$\underline{R} = [\underline{r}(1), \underline{r}(2), \dots, \underline{r}(N)],$$

$$\underline{G} = [\underline{g}(1), \underline{g}(2), \dots, \underline{g}(N)],$$

$$(3.3-26)$$

$$(3.3-27)$$

and

$$\underline{g}(t) = \left[-\underline{r}^{\mathrm{T}}(t-1), \dots, -\underline{r}^{\mathrm{T}}(t-k)\right]$$
(3.3-28)

As according to  $(3.3-22) \underline{r}(t)$  depends directly only on  $\hat{\underline{P}}_{BA}$ and not on  $\hat{\underline{P}}_{H}$ , we can also now develop the well-known iteration (successive approximation) technique of the GLS method elaborated for the SISO systems. This means that first the equality  $\underline{\underline{H}}(z^{-1}) = \underline{\underline{I}}_{q}$  is assumed and thus  $\hat{\underline{p}}_{BA}$  (resp.  $\hat{\underline{P}}_{BA}$ ) is estimated. That is a simple LS estimation. Thereupon the  $\underline{r}(t)$  vectors are calculated, the matrices  $\underline{\underline{R}}$  and  $\underline{\underline{G}}$  are constructed, thereafter the estimation  $\underline{\underline{P}}_{H}$  is determined. With the obtained  $\underline{\underline{H}}(z^{-1})$  the filtering is carried out and the estimation  $\hat{\underline{p}}_{BA}$  is updated.

It should now be stressed again that the basic difference from the GLS method worked out for SISO systems consisted now in that the multiplication by  $\underline{H}(z^{-1})$ , that is the filtering, could not be replaced by other matrix polynomials. This accounted for the need of the introduction of the special filter equations (3.3-10) - (3.3-12).

The extended matrix methods are virtually based on LS technique, so that their generalization for MIMO systems can be simply achieved. As the method to be presented now can be employed for every extended matrix method elaborated for the SISO systems, therefore the generalization for MIMO systems of only the SEXM method, as entitled to the most widespread application, will be shown in detail.

The equation (1.2-30) of the MIMO system can be written also in the form of

$$\underline{\mathbf{y}}(t) = \underline{\mathbf{P}}_{BAC} \underline{\mathbf{f}}(\underline{\mathbf{u}}, \underline{\mathbf{y}}, \underline{\mathbf{e}}, t) + \underline{\mathbf{e}}(t)$$
(3.4-1)

where

$$\underline{\underline{P}}_{BAC} = [\underline{\underline{B}}_{0}, \underline{\underline{B}}_{1}, \dots, \underline{\underline{B}}_{n}, \underline{\underline{A}}_{1}, \dots, \underline{\underline{A}}_{n}, \underline{\underline{C}}_{1}, \dots, \underline{\underline{C}}_{n}]$$
(3.4-2)

and

$$\underline{f}(\underline{u},\underline{y},\underline{e},t) = [\underline{u}^{\mathrm{T}}(t), \dots, \underline{u}^{\mathrm{T}}(t-n); -\underline{y}^{\mathrm{T}}(t-1), \dots, \\ -\underline{y}^{\mathrm{T}}(t-n); \underline{e}^{\mathrm{T}}(t-1), \dots, \underline{e}^{\mathrm{T}}(t-n)]^{\mathrm{T}} = \underline{f}(t). \quad (3.4-3)$$

The joint matrix equation relating to the N samples is

$$\underline{\underline{Y}} = \underline{\underline{P}}_{BAC} \underline{\underline{E}}_{UYE} + \underline{\underline{E}} .$$
(3.4-4)

Here

$$\underline{\underline{F}}_{UYE} = [\underline{\underline{f}}(1), \dots, \underline{\underline{f}}(N)]$$
(3.4-5)

furthermore the definitions of  $\underline{\underline{Y}}$  and  $\underline{\underline{\underline{F}}}$  are according to subsection 3.1.

Formally (3.4-4) is equivalent with (3.1-8), so that we can employ also now the LS estimation of the form (3.1-16) according to which

$$\hat{\underline{P}}_{BAC} = \underline{\underline{Y}} \quad \underline{\underline{F}}_{UYE}^{T} \quad (\underline{\underline{F}}_{UYE} \quad \underline{\underline{F}}_{UYE}^{T})^{-1} \quad (3.4-6)$$

As  $\underline{f}(\underline{u},\underline{y},\underline{e},t)$  and so  $\underline{F}_{UYE}$  also contain the values  $\underline{e}(t)$ , which we do not know in advance, only an iterative solution can be applied. In order to use (3.4-6) an  $\underline{e}(t)$  series (e.g. zeros corresponding to the LS estimate) have to be assumed at the start, thereafter with the help of the estimated parameter matrix  $\hat{P}_{BAC}$ , a new estimation can be made for the  $\underline{e}(t)$ -s in the form of

$$\underline{\hat{e}}(t) = \underline{y}(t) - \underline{\hat{P}}_{BAC} \underline{f}(\underline{u}, \underline{y}, \underline{e}, t). \qquad (3.4-7)$$

The iterative process will be carried until the attainment of a given accuracy as with the SISO systems.

#### 3.5 The priori knowledge fitting method

As the PKF method worked out for SISO systems actually uses the LS technique with certain constraints, it is much easier to be extended to MIMO systems than the GLS or ML methods, where the generalization of the autoregressive or moving average filtering caused difficulties [136].

The MIMO generalization of the SISO system equation (2.6-1) is:

$$\underline{\mathbf{y}}(t) = \underline{\mathbf{A}}^{-1}(z^{-1})\underline{\mathbf{B}}(z^{-1})\underline{\mathbf{u}}(t) + \underline{\mathbf{w}}(t)$$
(3.5-1)

i.e. coincides with the MIMO models presented until now, only it does not assume a separate noise model for the output noise  $\underline{w}(t)$ . This system equation can be written also in the form

$$\underline{y}(t) = \sum_{i=0}^{n} \underline{B}_{i} \underline{u}(t-i) - \sum_{i=1}^{n} \underline{A}_{i} \underline{y}(t-i) + \underline{r}(t) =$$
$$= \underline{P}_{BA} \underline{f}(\underline{u}, \underline{y}, t) + \underline{r}(t) \qquad (3.5-2)$$

where

$$\underline{\mathbf{r}}(t) = \underline{\mathbf{w}}(t) + \sum_{i=1}^{n} \underline{\mathbf{A}}_{i} \underline{\mathbf{w}}(t-i). \qquad (3.5-3)$$

According to the PKF method, the parameters of the model have to be fitted to the measured values, so as to fulfil at the same time (as a constraint) the uncorrelatedness of the output noise vector (as a calculated value) and the input signal vector. Assume of the  $\underline{w}(t)$  output noise, similarly to the SISO systems, that it is ergodic, has zero mean and is a random stochastic vector variable uncorrelated with the input vector [103, 136]. It is easy to see that the uncorrelatedness of  $\underline{r}(t)$  and  $\underline{u}(t)$  follows from the uncorrelatedness of  $\underline{w}(t)$  and  $\underline{u}(t)$  as  $\underline{r}(t)$  is the linear combination of the values  $\underline{w}(t)$  of preceding instants. Assume the contrary, i.e. the occurrence of terms dependent from or correlated with  $\underline{u}$  in the difference  $\underline{y}(t) - \underline{p}_{BA} \underline{f}(\underline{u},\underline{y},t)$  yielding the residuals. Assume this dependent the relation

 $\underline{y}(t) - \underline{P}_{BA} \underline{f}(\underline{u}, \underline{y}, t) = \underline{r}(t) + \underline{P}_{k} \underline{g}(\underline{u}, t) =$ 

$$= \underline{r}(t) + \sum_{i=0}^{s} \underline{K}_{i} \underline{u}(t-i)$$
(3.5-4)

had to be fulfilled. Here

$$\underline{P}_{k} = \begin{bmatrix} \underline{K}_{0}, \underline{K}_{1}, \dots, \underline{K}_{S} \end{bmatrix}$$
(3.5-5)

and

$$\underline{g}(\underline{u},t) = [\underline{u}^{\mathrm{T}}(t), \underline{u}^{\mathrm{T}}(t-1), \dots, \underline{u}^{\mathrm{T}}(t-s)]^{\mathrm{T}}. \qquad (3.5-6)$$

As a result of the identification we have to get a  $\tilde{P}_{BA}$  estimation for which  $P_{k} = 0$  or at least

$$Q(\underline{P}_{BA}) = \frac{1}{2} \left[ \operatorname{vec}(\underline{P}_{k}) \right]^{T} \left[ \operatorname{vec}(\underline{P}_{k}) \right] = \frac{1}{2} \operatorname{tr}(\underline{P}_{k}^{T} \underline{P}_{k})$$
(3.5-7)

is minimal.

On the basis of (3.5-4), the joint matrix equation for N samples

 $\underline{\underline{Y}} - \underline{\underline{P}}_{BA} = \underline{\underline{P}}_{k} = \underline{\underline{P}}_{k} = + \underline{\underline{R}}$ (3.5-8)

where

 $\underline{\underline{Y}} = [\underline{\underline{Y}}(1), \dots, \underline{\underline{Y}}(N)], \qquad (3.5-9)$   $\underline{\underline{R}} = [\underline{\underline{r}}(1), \dots, \underline{\underline{r}}(N)], \qquad (3.5-10)$   $\underline{\underline{F}} = [\underline{\underline{f}}(1), \dots, \underline{\underline{f}}(N)], \qquad (3.5-11)$ 

and

$$\underline{\mathbf{G}} = \left[ \underline{\mathbf{g}}(1), \dots, \underline{\mathbf{g}}(N) \right]. \tag{3.5-12}$$

By formal comparison of the equations (3.1-8) and (3.5-8), we can simply set the LS estimation according to (3.1-16) for the auxiliary parameter matrix  $P_{\equiv k}$ 

$$\hat{\underline{P}}_{k} = (\underline{\underline{Y}} - \underline{\underline{P}}_{BA} \underline{\underline{F}}) \underline{\underline{G}}^{\mathrm{T}} (\underline{\underline{G}} \underline{\underline{G}}^{\mathrm{T}})^{-1}.$$
(3.5-13)

Substitute now  $\hat{\underline{P}}_{k}$  into (3.5-7) and perform the minimization according to  $\underline{\underline{P}}_{BA}$ . We get according to App. 13. that

 $\widehat{\underline{\mathbf{f}}}_{BA} = \underline{\underline{\mathbf{Y}}} \ \underline{\underline{\mathbf{G}}}^{\mathrm{T}} (\underline{\underline{\mathbf{G}}} \ \underline{\underline{\mathbf{G}}}^{\mathrm{T}})^{-1} (\underline{\underline{\mathbf{G}}} \ \underline{\underline{\mathbf{G}}}^{\mathrm{T}})^{-1} \ \underline{\underline{\mathbf{G}}} \ \underline{\underline{\mathbf{F}}}^{\mathrm{T}} \mathbf{x}$  $\mathbf{x} [\underline{\underline{\mathbf{F}}} \ \underline{\underline{\mathbf{G}}}^{\mathrm{T}} (\underline{\underline{\mathbf{G}}} \ \underline{\underline{\mathbf{G}}}^{\mathrm{T}})^{-1} (\underline{\underline{\mathbf{G}}} \ \underline{\underline{\mathbf{G}}}^{\mathrm{T}})^{-1} \ \underline{\underline{\mathbf{G}}} \ \underline{\underline{\mathbf{F}}}^{\mathrm{T}}]^{-1}, \qquad (3.5-14)$ 

which is an explicit expression for the estimated parameter matrix [136].

- 125 -

IV. ON-LINE IDENTIFICATION METHODS FOR SINGLE OUTPUT SYSTEMS

As already mentioned above, off-line and on-line identifications have to be distinguished with respect to data processing. We speak of off-line identification if the method is based on the simultaneous presence of data. From the point of view of loss function minimization this is a deterministic problem (for the same parameter vector the loss function has always the same value for a given measurement data set). On the other hand, the on-line method, by means of direct contact with the process, updates the previous results of the estimation according to the new measurements. With the on-line strategies beside the estimated parameters belonging to the preceding samples, there are also required such auxiliary quantities, concentrating in themselves the information of the preceding measurements and renewable by new measurements, by means of which the parameter estimates can be corrected. From the point of view of the loss function minimization the on-line methods are stochastic processes as in the case of the same parameter vector the loss function can have different values depending on the new data. The on-line method is called recursive if a procedure is obtained which yields, after processing N related input-output data pairs, the same result as the off-line evaluation of N samples.

As the on-line methods minimize loss functions, where the value of the function is disturbed by stochastic disturbances, these procedures can be discussed uniformly by the stochastic approximation. From the various approaches [12, 37, 38, 47, 113, 119, 126] the TZYPKIN approach will be used as being the best applicable for identification tasks and nearest to the engineering concept [37, 38]. One of the possible general forms of the step-by-step solution formula of the stochastic approximation is the following:

$$\underline{p}(t) = \underline{p}(t-1) + \underline{k}_{t}[\underline{x}(t), \underline{p}(t-1)].$$
(4-1)

Here t, the subscript of the steps of stochastic approximation continues to denote discrete time with the on-line methods. <u>p</u> denotes the parameters to be determined, <u>x</u> the vector of the stochastic observations.  $\underline{k}_t$  means the correction function.

According to TZYPKIN [37], if the general step-by-step formula (4-1) can be transformed to the canonical relation

$$\underline{\mathbf{p}}(t) = \underline{\mathbf{p}}(t-1) - \underline{\mathbf{R}}(t)\underline{\mathbf{g}}[\underline{\mathbf{x}}(t), \underline{\mathbf{p}}(t-1)], \qquad (4-2)$$

this latter can be attributed with an expressive meaning. If namely we are facing the task

$$J(\underline{p}^{\mathbf{x}}) = \min_{\underline{p}} E_{\underline{x}} \{Q[\underline{x}(t), \underline{p}(t)]\}$$
(4-3)

then the algorithm (4-2) ensures to find the minimum if Q is unimodal [90] and the convergence or weighting matrix  $\underline{R}(t)$  meets certain conditions. This requires the coincidence of <u>g</u> with the gradient of Q, as a realization, by <u>p</u>. Here  $\underline{E}_{\underline{X}}\{\ldots\}$  denotes the expectation according to <u>x</u>. The train of thought can be followed also if it is converted the solution of the stochastic extremum seeking problem (4-3) can be obtained by iteration algorithms of form (4-2).

In this report the analysis of the necessary and sufficient conditions of the convergence is not discussed, we refer only to [37, 38, 90], according to which the maximum eigenvalue of  $\underline{R}(t)$  has to tend to zero in a prescribed extent. Although the stochastic approximation and its mathematical background are covered by an extensive literature, only very few authors deal with its identification applications, with special regard to the convergence behaviours [90, 102, 113]. In this subsection the applicability of the canonical algorithm (4-2) for identification methods will be presented on the one hand, and in some cases new algorithms also elaborated by the use of formal analogies, on the other.

With the methods of the stochastic approximation (hereinafter STA) the loss function to be minimized has the form

$$J[\underline{p}(t)] = E_{x} \{Q[\underline{x}(t), \underline{p}(t)]\}$$

$$(4-4)$$

i.e. it is the expected value of the stochastic function  $Q[\underline{x}(t),\underline{p}(t)]$ . In the majority of the practical cases, by assuming the stationary  $\underline{x}(t)$  random process rather the loss function

$$J[\underline{p}(t)] = M_{x} \{Q[\underline{x}(t), \underline{p}(t)]\}$$

$$(4-5)$$

is applied. Here  $M_{\underline{x}} \{ \dots \}$  denotes the average value in time, according to  $\underline{x}$ .

The canonical form of the algorithm yielding the solution [37]

$$\underline{p}(t) = \underline{p}(t-1) - \underline{R}(t) \frac{dQ[\underline{x}(t), \underline{p}(t-1)]}{d\underline{p}(t-1)}$$
(4-6)

or in another way

$$\Delta \underline{p}(t-1) = \underline{p}(t) - \underline{p}(t-1) = -\underline{\underline{R}}(t) \quad \frac{dQ[\underline{x}(t), \underline{p}(t-1)]}{d\underline{p}(t-1)} \quad (4-7)$$

It is easy to see that the preceding equations are formally completely identical with those of the methods employing the gradient applicable for deterministic minimization tasks. As

to their content, the meaning of the equations is, on the other hand, of much greater importance. The equation (4-6) means that although the loss function to be minimized is stochastic and Q is now a stochastic variable, it is sufficient, to utilize the gradient of a realization of Q (with a given  $\underline{x}(t)$ ) for the minimum seeking. The conditions of convergence have already been mentioned [37, 90].

In App.14 it is deduced that the seeking method optimal in quadratic sense can be ensured by the convergence matrix

$$\underline{\underline{R}}(t) = \begin{bmatrix} t \\ \Sigma \end{bmatrix} \underbrace{\underline{H}} \{ \underline{\underline{Q}}[\underline{x}(j), \underline{p}(t-1)] \} = 1$$

$$(4-8)$$

Here  $\underline{H}$  means the Hessian matrix formed from the second derivatives of Q by  $\underline{p}(t-1)$  so that

$$\underline{H}\left\{\mathbb{Q}\left[\underline{x}(j), \underline{p}(t-1)\right]\right\} = \frac{d^2 \mathbb{Q}\left[\underline{x}(j), \underline{p}(t-1)\right]}{d\underline{p}(t-1) d \underline{p}^{\mathrm{T}}(t-1)} \qquad (4-9)$$

Note that in  $\underline{\mathbb{R}}(t)$  the argument of  $\underline{p}$  does not depend on the running subscript j.

In the following the on-line algorithms relating to the various models and basic identification methods will be discussed on the basis of the algorithm (4-6). This approach can, in our opinion, be considered more general than the transformation of the off-line methods into recursive form by using various identities. If namely there exists a recursive solution, then STA with the optimal  $\underline{R}(t)$  yields likewise the recursive on-line algorithm (cf.e.g. the recursive on-line LS method). It is important to remark that for the purpose of identification not only the optimal STA algorithm, but also a convergence matrix or scalar convergence coefficient of another construction can be used. In these cases the convergence can also be assured but with different convergence speed. [37, 90]

Note further that a procedure completely identical with the STA algorithm can be used also for solving off-line identification problems, but the task is here basically deterministic and therefore the method, too, can be considered as a version of the gradient methods.

#### 4.1 The on-line least squares method

We have seen in subsection 2.1 that the system equation for the LS method has the form

$$y(t) = \underline{f}^{T}(u,y,t) \underline{p}_{ba} + e(t) = \underline{f}^{T}(t)\underline{p}_{ba} + e(t).$$
 (4.1-1)

Thus choose for Q the quantity

$$Q = Q[\underline{\mathbf{x}}(t), \underline{\mathbf{p}}(t)] = \frac{1}{2} e^{2}(t) = \frac{1}{2} [y(t) - \underline{\mathbf{f}}^{\mathrm{T}}(t)] = \frac{1}{2} (4.1-2)$$

which corresponds to the least squares principle. Now

$$\underline{\mathbf{x}}(t) = [u(t), y(t)]^{\mathrm{T}}, \qquad (4.1-3)$$

which is of common construction for the SISO system with the on-line algorithms [77].

Determine the quantities required for the algorithm (4-6). Form first the gradient vector:

$$\frac{dQ[\underline{x}(t),\underline{p}_{ba}(t-1)]}{d\underline{p}_{ba}(t-1)} = -\underline{f}(t)[y(t) - \underline{f}^{T}(t)\underline{p}_{ba}(t-1)] . \quad (4.1-4)$$

By deriving again the expression (4.1-4), we obtain that

$$\frac{d^2 Q[\underline{x}(j), \underline{p}_{ba}(t-1)]}{d\underline{p}_{ba}(t-1) d\underline{p}_{ba}^{T}(t-1)} = \underline{f}(j) \underline{f}^{T}(j) = \underline{f}(u, y, j) \underline{f}^{T}(u, y, j). \quad (4.1-5)$$

Thus on the basis of (4-8) the optimal convergence matrix is

$$\underline{\mathbf{R}}(t) = \begin{bmatrix} t \\ \Sigma \\ j=1 \end{bmatrix} \underbrace{\mathbf{f}(j) \underline{\mathbf{f}}^{\mathrm{T}}(j)}^{-1}.$$
(4.1-6)

We deduce in App.15 that  $\underline{\mathbb{R}}(t)$  can in this case be recursively formed

$$\underline{\underline{R}}(t) = \underline{\underline{R}}(t-1) - \frac{\underline{\underline{R}}(t-1)\underline{f}(t)\underline{f}^{T}(t)\underline{\underline{R}}(t-1)}{1+\underline{f}^{T}(t)\underline{\underline{R}}(t-1)\underline{f}(t)}$$
(4.1-7)

where it must not be forgotten that  $\underline{\mathbb{R}}(t)$  is, on the basis of (4.1-6), a symmetric matrix.

The on-line least squares method requires therefore the step-by-step updating of  $\underline{R}(t)$  according to (4.1-7), furthermore the form of the relation (4-6) is now by considering (4.1-4)

$$\underline{p}_{ba}(t) = \underline{p}_{ba}(t-1) + \underline{R}(t)\underline{f}(t)[y(t)-\underline{f}^{T}(t)\underline{p}_{ba}(t-1)]. \quad (4.1-8)$$

The off-line LS estimation for N data pairs is yielded by the relation (2.1-7) in the form

$$\underline{p}_{ba}(N) = \left[ \underline{F}_{uy}^{T}(N) \underline{F}_{uy}(N) \right]^{-1} \underline{F}_{uy}^{T}(N) \underline{y}_{N} \cdot \qquad (4.1-9)$$

The number of the processed samples was denoted here by N. Assume now that the solution according to (4.1-9) is available. The equation yielding the LS estimation for the (N+1)th measurements u(N+1), y(N+1) can be given by using f(N+1)formed according to (2.1-3),

$$\underline{p}_{ba}(N+1) = \left[ \underbrace{F}_{uy}^{T}(N+1) \underbrace{F}_{uy}(N+1) \right]^{-1} \underbrace{F}_{uy}^{T}(N+1) \underbrace{\chi}_{N+1} = \left\{ \left[ \underbrace{F}_{uy}(N) \right]^{T} \left[ \underbrace{F}_{uy}(N+1) \right]^{T} \left[ \underbrace{F}_{uy}(N+1) \right]^{T} \left[ \underbrace{F}_{uy}(N+1) \right]^{T} \left[ \underbrace{F}_{uy}(N) \underbrace{F}_{uy}(N) \underbrace{F}_{uy}(N) + \underbrace{F}_{uy}(N+1) \underbrace{F}_{uy}(N+1) \right]^{-1} \left[ \underbrace{F}_{uy}^{T}(N) \underbrace{\chi}_{N} + \underbrace{F}_{uy}(N+1) \underbrace{F}_{uy}(N+1) \right].$$

$$(4.1-10)$$

On the basis of the Eqs. (2.1-8), (4.1-6), (A.15-1) and (A.15-6) we can write that

$$\left[\mathbb{E}_{uy}^{T}(N+1)\mathbb{E}_{uy}(N+1)\right]^{-1}$$

$$= \left[ \underline{F}_{uy}^{\mathrm{T}}(\mathrm{N}) \underline{F}_{uy}(\mathrm{N}) \right]^{-1} - \frac{\left[ \underline{F}_{uy}^{\mathrm{T}}(\mathrm{N}) \underline{F}_{uy}(\mathrm{N}) \right]^{-1} \underline{f}(\mathrm{N}+1) \underline{f}^{\mathrm{T}}(\mathrm{N}+1) \left[ \underline{F}_{uy}^{\mathrm{T}}(\mathrm{N}) \underline{F}_{uy}(\mathrm{N}) \right]^{-1}}{1 + \underline{f}^{\mathrm{T}}(\mathrm{N}+1) \left[ \underline{F}_{uy}^{\mathrm{T}}(\mathrm{N}) \underline{F}_{uy}(\mathrm{N}) \right]^{-1} \underline{f}(\mathrm{N}+1)}$$

(4.1-11)

Hence we obtain by the notation

$$\underline{\underline{R}}(\underline{N}) = \left[\underline{\underline{F}}_{uy}^{T}(\underline{N})\underline{\underline{F}}_{uy}(\underline{N})\right]^{-1}$$
(4.1-12)

the direct relation between the recursive least squares method and the stochastic approximation.

It is deduced in App.16 that the recursive form of (4.1-10)

 $\underline{\mathbf{p}}_{ba}(\mathbf{N}+\mathbf{1}) = \underline{\mathbf{p}}_{ba}(\mathbf{N}) + \left[\underline{\mathbf{F}}_{=uy}^{\mathrm{T}}(\mathbf{N}+\mathbf{1}) \underline{\mathbf{F}}_{=uy}(\mathbf{N}+\mathbf{1})\right]^{-1} \underline{\mathbf{f}}(\mathbf{N}+\mathbf{1}) \left[\mathbf{y}(\mathbf{N}+\mathbf{1}) - \underline{\mathbf{f}}^{\mathrm{T}}(\mathbf{N}+\mathbf{1}) \underline{\mathbf{p}}_{ba}(\mathbf{N})\right]^{-1}$ 

$$(4.1-13)$$

formally exactly corresponds to the Eq. (4.1-8) obtained by STA using the notation (4.1-12) if the  $\underline{\mathbb{R}}(t)$  convergence matrix is optimized.

The following should be noted of the choice of the initial values  $\underline{R}(0)$  and  $\underline{p}_{ba}(0)$ . The numerical examination of many authors [37, 81] has found that the convergence of the on--line LS estimation is practically independent from the starting point  $\underline{p}_{ba}(0)$ . On the one hand we can choose a matrix calculated from a preliminary off-line estimate or stored data according to the relation (4.1-12), on the other hand, we achieve a satisfactory result also with a suffi- 133 -

ciently large matrix  $\mathbb{R}(0) = \text{const.I}$ .

The above presented equivalence of the recursive LS method and the optimal STA algorithm means that by starting from identical initial conditions  $\underline{p}_{ba}(0)$  and  $\underline{\mathbb{R}}(0)$  the two methods yield the same result.

In discussing the on-line LS estimation algorithm, we have to mention the application of the forgetting factor, resp. the various forgetting strategies [15, 47]. If, namely instead of the matrix

$$\underline{\underline{F}}_{uy}(N+1) = \begin{bmatrix} \underline{\underline{F}}_{uy}(N) \\ \underline{\underline{f}}^{T}(N+1) \end{bmatrix}$$
(4.1-14)

the expansion of the matrix  $\underline{F}_{uy}(t)$  is formed according to the relation

 $\underline{\underline{F}}_{uy}^{\mathbf{X}}(N+1) = \begin{bmatrix} \rho(N+1) \underline{\underline{F}}_{uy}(N) \\ \underline{\underline{f}}^{T}(N+1) \end{bmatrix}$ (4.1-15)

then it will be possible to take the previous measurement results into account with a weight less than 1 by applying the forgetting factor  $0 \le \rho(t) \le 1$ . If  $\rho(t)$  is independent of time ( $\rho = \text{const}$ ), then we have the so-called exponential forgetting [130]. The appropriate choice of the time function  $\rho(t)$  can yield, of course, manifold forgetting strategies. The application of a constant  $\rho$  corresponds to a weighted LS estimation achieved by the weight matrix

 $\underline{Z}_{t}^{-1} = \text{diag} < \rho^{t-1}, \rho^{t-2}, \dots, \rho, 1^{>} . \qquad (4.1-16)$ 

(Here subscript t refers to the size of  $\underline{Z}$ .)

In case of  $\rho = \text{const}$  it is easy to see [130] that in on-line LS algorithms only the relation with the purpose to update  $\underline{R}(t)$  is modified

$$\underline{\underline{R}}(t) = \frac{1}{\rho^2} \left[ \underline{\underline{R}}(t-1) - \frac{\underline{\underline{R}}(t-1) \underline{\underline{f}}(t) \underline{\underline{f}}^{\mathrm{T}}(t) \underline{\underline{R}}(t-1)}{\rho^2 + \underline{\underline{f}}^{\mathrm{T}}(t) \underline{\underline{R}}(t-1) \underline{\underline{f}}(t)} \right].$$
(4.1-17)

The application of the forgetting factor - by forgetting the previous measurements - makes the on-line LS method in fact adaptive, i.e. enables the changes having occurred in the process parameters to be followed up.

## 4.2 The on-line maximum likelihood method

On the basis of the loss function (2.2-3) of the off-line ML method the momentary loss function to be applied for the on--line STA algorithms is

$$Q(t) = \frac{1}{2} e^{2}(t).$$
 (4.2-1)

The STA algorithm optimal in quadratic sense requires the gradient of Q(t) and the Hessian matrix. On the basis of the relation (2.2-12) and the respective equations

$$\frac{de(t)}{dp_{bac}} = -\underline{f}(u^{F}, y^{F}, e^{F}, t)$$
(4.2-2)
where

$$\underline{f}(u^{F}, y^{F}, e^{F}, t) = = [u^{F}(t-1), \dots, u^{F}(t-n); -y^{F}(t-1), \dots, -y^{F}(t-n); e^{F}(t-1), \dots, e^{F}(t-n)]^{T}. \qquad (4,2-3)$$

Here

$$u^{F}(t) = \frac{1}{c(z^{-1})} u(t); y^{F}(t) = \frac{1}{c(z^{-1})} y(t); e^{F}(t) = \frac{1}{c(z^{-1})} e(t).$$
(4.2-4)

Thus

$$\frac{dQ(t)}{dp_{bac}} = \frac{de(t)}{dp_{bac}} e(t) = -\underline{f}(u^F, y^F, e^F, t) e(t), \qquad (4.2-5)$$

where

$$e(t) = y(t) - \underline{f}^{T}(u,y,e,t)\underline{p}_{bac}$$

$$(4.2-6)$$

and the structure of f(u, y, e, t) is according to (2.2-14).

According to the canonical algorithm (4-6) of the STA the quantities according to the relations (4.2-5) and (4.2-6) are to be computed on the basis of the newest (at the moment t) observations and the preceding (i.e. known heretofore as best) parameter estimates phac(t-1). The on-line verison of the above discussed off-line methods of the discrete-time models can - apart from the LS method - be elaborated only by certain approximations just by reason of this prior fact. The problem is caused by the occurrence of the parameter-dependent time function in the momentary gradient (and the same way, of course, with the Hessian matrix). Then namely beside the current parameter vector, the complete realization of the given variable had to be calculated by starting from the initial conditions of the system in order to obtain the theoretically exact values. In the present case the values  $u^{F}(t), y^{F}(t), e^{F}(t)$  and e(t) had also to be calculated by the parameter vector  $\underline{p}_{bac}(t-1)$ . This, on the other hand, would require the storing of all previous measurements which is obviously impossible in the on-line procedure. As an approximate solution a method can be chosen according to which the above-mentioned auxiliary quantities are generated recursively (this can always be done, for they can be written with linear difference equations) and in every step the parameter values  $\underline{p}_{bac}(t-1)$  will be considered only in such parts of the recursive equations which relates to the updating. If the on-line procedure is really convergent, then this type of approach will be asymptotically perfect and the algorithm tends toward the canonical algorithm of STA.

The algorithm of the on-line ML method takes the following form according to our assumptions up till now

$$\underline{p}_{bac}(t) = \underline{p}_{bac}(t-1) + \underline{R}(t) \underline{f}(u^{F}, y^{F}, e^{F}, t) [y(t) - \underline{f}^{T}(u, y, e, t) \underline{p}_{bac}(t-1)].$$

$$(4.2-7)$$

Here the updating of the auxiliary quantities is made as follows (cf. the equations in subsection 2.2):

$$\underline{f}(u^{F}, y^{F}, e^{F}, t) = \underline{\Omega}_{1}[\underline{p}_{bac}(t-1)] \underline{f}(u^{F}, y^{F}, e^{F}, t-1) + \underline{\omega}_{1}(t) \quad (4.2-8)$$

which can be detailed after (2.2-26). The e(t) can be calculated recursively on the basis of (2.2-8) and (2.2-9). Also in these relations  $\underline{p}_{bac}(t-1)$  has to be used.

Thereafter let us investigate the formation of the matrix of the second derivatives. It can be established from (2.2-27) that here the generation of the parameter-dependent auxiliary quantities is also needed. Therefore we have to use the same approximations discussed with the formation of the gradient, i.e. only the updating of the auxiliary quantities is made by the last estimated parameter values.

New difficulties are met when forming  $\underline{\mathbb{R}}(t)$  on the basis of the second derivatives. The Hessian matrix according to (2.2-27) cannot be formed recursively, only its first part, the  $\underline{\mathbb{T}}_1$  determined by a diadic sum. When calculating the momentary second derivatives, it is therefore reasonable to take advantage of the approximation

$$\underline{\underline{H}}\{Q(t)\} = \frac{d^2 Q(t)}{d\underline{p}_{bac} d\underline{p}_{bac}^{T}} \cong \frac{de(t)}{d\underline{p}_{bac}} \cdot \frac{de(t)}{d\underline{p}_{bac}^{T}} = \frac{\underline{f}(u^F, y^F, e^F, t) \underline{f}^{T}(u^F, y^F, e^F, t)}{d\underline{p}_{bac}^{T}} = (4.2-9)$$

- 138 -

Thus

$$\underline{\underline{R}}(t) = \begin{bmatrix} t \\ \Sigma \\ i=1 \end{bmatrix} \underline{f}(u^{F}, y^{F}, e^{F}, i) \underline{f}^{T}(u^{F}, y^{F}, e^{F}, i) \end{bmatrix}^{-1}, \qquad (4.2-10)$$

which can already be formed recursively if the vector  $\underline{p}_{bac}(t-1)$  is considered only for the updating of the recursive equation. Thus, on the basis of the formal analogy with (4.1-7)

$$\underline{\underline{R}}(t) = \underline{\underline{R}}(t-1) - \frac{\underline{\underline{R}}(t-1)\underline{\underline{f}}(u^{F}, y^{F}, e^{F}, t)\underline{\underline{f}}^{T}(u^{F}, y^{F}, e^{F}, t)\underline{\underline{R}}(t-1)}{1+\underline{\underline{f}}^{T}(u^{F}, y^{F}, e^{F}, t)\underline{\underline{R}}(t-1)\underline{\underline{f}}(u^{F}, y^{F}, e^{F}, t)}$$

$$(4.2-11)$$

As in this relation only the dependence of  $f(u^F, y^F, e^F, t)$  on <u>p</u><sub>bac</sub>(t-1) is assumed, here also the equation (4.2-8) is used.

Our approximate assumption relating to the Hessian matrix holds also asymptotically as for infinitely large samples  $\underline{T}_2$  tends with the real parameters toward zero, as it was already mentioned. In spite of this it is possible, to form the convergence matrix (4.2-11) according to the principle described in 4.3 in connection with on-line GLS method in order to approximate better the exact Hessian matrix (cf. equation (4.3-20)), the required calculations are, however, much more complex here. The main difference comes, of course, from the calculation of  $\underline{W}(t)$ . With the on-line GLS method only e(t) is needed to form  $\underline{W}(t)$ , since u(t) and y(t) are available. On the other hand, with the ML method in consequence of the construction of  $\underline{T}_2$ , values  $u^{FF}(t), y^{FF}(t)$  and  $e^{FF}(t)$  according to (2.2-31) -(2.2-33) have also to be generated.

To our best knowledge, we have been the first to publish the detailed discussion of the approximations needed for the realization of the on-line ML method in [17] in Hungarian.

# 4.3 The on-line version of the generalized least squares method

The GLS structure assuming the special autoregressive noise model and the related CLARKE' off-line estimation method were discussed in subsection 2.3. The on-line identification algorithm for the GLS structure was elaborated by HASTINGS--JAMES and SAGE [68, 123]. The system equation (2,3-1) can be written in two equations linear in parameters:

$$\mathbf{y}^{\mathbf{F}}(\mathbf{t}) = \underline{\mathbf{f}}^{\mathbf{T}}(\mathbf{u}^{\mathbf{F}}, \mathbf{y}^{\mathbf{F}}, \mathbf{t}) \underline{\mathbf{p}}_{\mathbf{b}\mathbf{a}} + \mathbf{e}(\mathbf{t})$$
(4.3-1)

and

$$r(t) = -g^{T}(r,t) \underline{p}_{h} + e(t)$$
 (4.3-2)

(cf. the relations (2.3-5) and (2.3-14) with the related notations and definitions.) Here

$$r(t) = y(t) - \underline{f}^{T}(u, y, t) \underline{p}_{ba}$$
 (4.3-3)

The equations (4.3-1) and (4.3-2) are linear in parameters and correspond formally to the system equation (4.1-1) applied with the LS method. Thus, considering the loss functions

$$Q_1(t) = \frac{1}{2} \left[ y^F(t) - \underline{f}^T(u^F, y^F, t) \underline{p}_{ba} \right]^2$$

$$(4.3-4)$$

and

$$Q_2(t) = \frac{1}{2} \left[ \mathbf{r}(t) + \underline{g}^{\mathrm{T}}(\mathbf{r}, t) \underline{p}_{\mathrm{h}} \right]^2 \qquad (4.3-5)$$

which can be formed now also according to the LS principle, the optimal canonical algorithm of the STA can be applied, namely

$$\underline{p}_{ba}(t) = \underline{p}_{ba}(t-1) + \underline{R}_{1}(t)\underline{f}(u^{F}, y^{F}, t) [y^{F}(t) - \underline{f}^{T}(u^{F}, y^{F}t)\underline{p}_{ba}(t-1)],$$
(4.3-6)

$$\underline{\underline{R}}_{1}(t) = R_{1}(t-1) - \frac{\underline{\underline{R}}_{1}(t-1) \underline{f}(u^{F}, y^{F}, t) \underline{f}^{T}(u^{F}, y^{F}, t) \underline{\underline{R}}_{1}(t-1)}{1 + \underline{f}^{T}(u^{F}, y^{F}, t) \underline{\underline{R}}_{1}(t-1) \underline{f}(u^{F}, y^{F}, t)}$$

$$(4.3-7)$$

as well as  

$$\underline{p}_{h}(t) = \underline{p}_{h}(t-1) - \underline{R}_{2}(t)\underline{g}(r,t)[r(t)+\underline{g}^{T}(r,t)\underline{p}_{h}(t-1)], \quad (4.3-8)$$

$$\underline{\underline{R}}_{2}(t) = \underline{\underline{R}}_{2}(t-1) - \frac{\underline{\underline{R}}_{2}(t-1)\underline{g}(r,t)\underline{g}^{T}(r,t)\underline{\underline{R}}_{2}(t-1)}{1+\underline{g}^{T}(r,t)\underline{\underline{R}}_{2}(t-1)\underline{g}(r,t)} .$$

$$(4.3-9)$$

These equations are to be used together with the relations (2.3-4) resp. (4.3-3) applied for the formation of  $y^{\rm F}(t)$ ,  $u^{\rm F}(t)$  and r(t). The sequence of the application of the equations follows accordingly.

The on-line GLS method uses the outputs of a moving-average filter which is more advantageous than the autoregressive filter of the ML structure in the sense that after the collection of data in a required quantity these filter equations can be started without the uncertainty of the initial state as the memories of the filters can be filled up. On the other hand, with the autoregressive filter the initial state is usually not known. The moving-average filter is more advantageous also from the consideration that in case of missing. data the on-line parameter estimation can be continued by the filling up of memory vectors and restarting the filtering. For the on-line GLS method - as in general for methods where additional auxiliary quantities have to be calculated - it is especially important by which time the estimated parameters get in an acceptably close neighbourhood of their real values. In itself the on-line LS algorithm is practically convergent independently from the initial value. On the other hand, the on-line GLS method given by the equations (4.3-6) - (4.3-9)is very sensitive for the start of the algorithms, viz. in the following sense. The relation between the on-line updating of the estimation  $\underline{p}_{ba}$  and  $\underline{p}_{h}$  is actually given by the filter equations (2.3-4) and the relation (2.3-14). Hence it follows that if the estimated values of  $\underline{p}_{ba}$  and  $\underline{p}_{h}$  are not sufficiently exact then the error can accumulate easily through r(t), the filtered  $y^{F}(t)$  and  $u^{F}(t)$ , i.e. we get a divergent procedure. In the practice this problem can usually be eliminated only by using - after the start of the algorithms for a given time - the simple on-line LS method instead of (3.4-6), i.e. the values y(t) and u(t) instead of  $y^{F}(t)$  and  $u^{F}(t)$ . During this, of course, r(t) and the estimation of  $\underline{p}_h$  is calculated. At a given moment, on the other hand, the LS method is already replaced by the GLS method, by taking advantage of the values of the filtered variables. In the majority of cases a convergent algorithm is obtained this way, but for the time of the LS-GLS replacement any statement can be made only on the basis of experience. Another useful advice is to delay the start of the estimation of  $\underline{p}_h$  with respect to the LS estimation of  $\underline{p}_{ba}$  in order to obtain r(t)-s with sufficient exactness. Therefore the on-line estimation of  $\underline{p}_h$  is practically situated between the LS start and the GLS start.

In particular very noisy systems it can be useful if for the calculation of r(t) at any time not directly  $\underline{p}_{ba}(t)$  but its averaged value, i.e. filtered by a first-class filter is used. By this, the disturbing fluctuations in the parameter estimation can be reduced to a great extent. The equation of such a filter for the input  $\underline{p}_{ba}$  and output  $\underline{p}_{ba}^{F}$  of the filter is

$$\frac{\mathbf{p}_{ba}^{\mathrm{F}}(t) = (1-\alpha) \underline{\mathbf{p}}_{ba}(t) + \alpha \underline{\mathbf{p}}_{ba}^{\mathrm{F}}(t-1). \qquad (4.3-10)$$

$$(0 \le \alpha \ge 1)$$

Here the "time constant" of the smoothing can be set by  $\alpha$ .

The Eqs. (4.3-6) - (4.3-9) minimizing the average value of the two functionals in the separated subspaces of  $\underline{p}_{ba}$  and  $\underline{p}_{h}$ , could have been set on the basis of the properties of  $Q_{1}(t)$ and  $Q_{2}(t)$  that for a fixed  $\underline{p}_{h}$ ,  $Q_{1}(t)$  is linear in parameters  $\underline{p}_{ba}$ , and  $Q_{2}(t)$  in  $\underline{p}_{h}$  for a fixed  $\underline{p}_{ba}$ . Otherwise,  $Q_{1}(t)$  and  $Q_{2}(t)$  represent actually the same loss, only with respect to the two subspaces.

It has to be mentioned that there is possibility for minimizing the loss function  $Q_1(t)$  in the space of the joint parameter vector, too:

$$\underline{\mathbf{p}}_{bah} = \left[\underline{\mathbf{p}}_{ba}^{\mathrm{T}}, \underline{\mathbf{p}}_{h}^{\mathrm{T}}\right]^{\mathrm{T}}.$$
(4.3-11)

Since the on-line solution of HASTINGS-JAMES performed the minimization with optimal steps realized by subspaces [123], it is obvious that the optimal steps feasible in the whole parameter space yield greater convergence speed.

In discussing the on-line ML method, it was already explained that because of practical considerations it is impossible to update the auxiliary quantities in the gradient and Hessian matrices beginning from the starting point of the observations, accordingly both now and later on the parameters estimated at last will be taken into account for the updating of the recursive relations. This circumstance makes no great problem with the GLS structure as for the values  $u^{F}(t)$ ,  $y^{F}(t)$ formed by moving-average filtering, there is no need of recalculation, the above bound has to be observed only with the calculation of r(t), resp. e(t).
On the basis of the Eqs. (2.3-21) - (2.3-23), resp. (2.3-24)

$$\frac{dQ_1(t)}{dp_{bah}} = -\underline{f}(u^F, y^F, r, t)e(t), \qquad (4.3-12)$$

where the construction of  $\underline{f}(u^{F}, y^{F}, r, t)$  is according to (2.3-26) and e(t) can be obtained by the following equivalent calculation methods:

$$e(t) = y^{F}(t) - \underline{f}^{T}(u^{F}, y^{F}, t) \underline{p}_{ba} =$$

$$= r(t) + \underline{g}^{T}(r, t) \underline{p}_{h} = y(t) - \underline{f}^{T}(u, y, r) \underline{p}_{bah} \qquad (4.3-13)$$

(cf. relations (2.3-5), (2.3-14) and (2.4-1)). The on-line estimation of <u>p</u><sub>bah</sub> can therefore be carried out on the basis of (4-6) according to the equation:

$$\underline{p}_{bah}(t) = \underline{p}_{bah}(t-1) + \underline{R}(t)\underline{f}(u^{F}, y^{F}, r, t)e(t). \qquad (4.3-14)$$

In connection with the Eqs. (2.3-28), (2.3-29) and (2.3-30), on the basis of which the second order derivatives can be calculated, we get the following result (by using the notation (4-1)), i.e. the Hessian matrix belonging to the t-th sample can be formed according to [53]

$$\underline{H}\{Q_{1}(t)\} = \underline{f}(u^{F}, y^{F}, r, t) \underline{f}^{T}(u^{F}, y^{F}, r, t) + \underline{W}(t). \qquad (4.3-15)$$

Here  $\underline{\underline{W}}(t)$  is of structure of  $\underline{\underline{T}}_{2}$  in (2.3-30) and consists of elements of types -u(t-i-j)e(t) and y(t-i-j)e(t) in the nonzero submatrix places according to the Eqs. (2.3-30) - (2.3-32). The construction of  $\underline{\underline{W}}(t)$  or  $\underline{\underline{T}}_{2}$  means that the seeking in the subspaces  $\underline{\underline{p}}_{ba}$  and  $\underline{\underline{p}}_{h}$  independently from each other is performed optimally according to the Eqs. (4.3-6) - (4.3-9), while in the joint  $\underline{\underline{p}}_{bah}$  parameter space the steps done in the two subspaces are already in interaction. Unfortunately, the formula (4.3-15) of the instantaneous Hessian matrix has the consequence that the convergence matrix  $\underline{R}(t)$  can no more be formed recursively. Following (4-8)let us think of that now

$$\underline{\underline{R}}^{-1}(t) = \underline{\underline{R}}^{-1}(t-1) + \underline{\underline{f}}(u^{F}, y^{F}, r, t) \underline{\underline{f}}^{T}(u^{F}, y^{F}, r, t) + \underline{\underline{W}}(t), \quad (4.3-16)$$

which is already not the customary diadic sum.

The problem is caused by the presence of  $\underline{W}(t)$  and the recursivity can be achieved only by certain approximation. (Al-though it must not be forgotten that the particular construction of  $\underline{W}(t)$  reduces the calculations through its diadic resolution compared with a matrix of general construction.)

Let

$$\underline{\underline{R}}^{-1}(t) = \underline{\underline{R}}^{-1}(t) + \underline{\underline{W}}(t), \qquad (4.3-17)$$

then  $\underset{=x}{\mathbb{R}}(t)$  can be updated according to the relation already known:

$$\underline{\underline{R}}_{\underline{\mathbf{x}}}(t) = \underline{\underline{R}}_{\underline{\mathbf{x}}}(t-1) - \frac{\underline{\underline{R}}_{\underline{\mathbf{x}}}(t-1) \underline{\underline{f}}(u^{\overline{F}}, y^{\overline{F}}, \mathbf{r}, t) \underline{\underline{f}}^{T}(u^{\overline{F}}, y^{\overline{F}}, \mathbf{r}, t) \underline{\underline{R}}_{\underline{\mathbf{x}}}(t-1)}{1 + \underline{\underline{f}}^{T}(u^{\overline{F}}, y^{\overline{F}}, \mathbf{r}, t) \underline{\underline{R}}_{\underline{\mathbf{x}}}(t-1) \underline{\underline{f}}(u^{\overline{F}}, y^{\overline{F}}, \mathbf{r}, t)}$$

$$(4.3-18)$$

Then we obtain from (4.3-17) that

$$\underline{\underline{R}}(t) = \left[\underline{\underline{R}}_{\mathbf{x}}^{-1}(t) + \underline{\underline{W}}(t)\right]^{-1} = \underline{\underline{R}}_{\mathbf{x}}(t) \left[\underline{\underline{I}} + \underline{\underline{W}}(t)\underline{\underline{R}}_{\mathbf{x}}(t)\right]^{-1}. \quad (4.3-19)$$

Approximate now the second term of the right side by its first order matrix serie:

$$\underline{\underline{R}}(t) \stackrel{\sim}{=} \underline{\underline{R}}_{\mathbf{x}}(t) \begin{bmatrix} \underline{\underline{I}} & - \underline{\underline{W}}(t) \underline{\underline{R}}_{\mathbf{x}}(t) \end{bmatrix} = \underline{\underline{R}}_{\mathbf{x}}(t) - \underline{\underline{R}}_{\mathbf{x}}(t) \underline{\underline{W}}(t) \underline{\underline{R}}_{\mathbf{x}}(t). \quad (4.3-20)$$

- 144 -

The applied approximation enabled us to obtain not very complicated relations, while the recursivity still holds.

With respect to the application of the equation (4.3-20) it has to be remarked that this relation - because of its strongly approximating character - can change the positive definiteness of R(t) which on its turn entails the loss of convergence. Therefore the relevant investigations (e.g. the signs of the elements in the main diagonal) have to be made in every step and if a negative definiteness arises, then only  $\underline{R}_{\bullet}(t)$  has to be used as  $\underline{R}(t)$ . This is feasible also because - as already pointed out in the preceding chapters, while discussing the off-line methods - as the number of the processed samples grows the effect of  $\underline{T}_{2}$  on the identification diminishes. This follows also from (4.3-20), since simultaneously with the transition  $\mathbb{R}_{=*}(t) \rightarrow \mathbb{Q}$ ,  $\mathbb{R}_{=*}(t) \rightarrow \mathbb{R}(t)$  also comes about. This is the fact why the approximate first part of the Hessian matrix is used - in particular with the extended matrix methods - for the formation of the convergence matrix, the error due to the approximation is decreasing asymptotically, on the other hand the part corresponding to  $\underline{T}_1$  can always be constructed recursively, being a diadic sum.

- 145 -

The extended matrix methods discussed in subsection 2.4 are based on the observation that the system equations assuming various noise models can be written in a form linear in parameters. This fact enabled the off-line LS method to be used almost exclusively although because of the application of variables which cannot be directly measured (only estimated or calculated) only iterative solutions could be chosen. Over and above the preceding remarks the on-line versions of the extended matrix methods also utilize the fact that the Hessian matrix of the loss function asymptotically agrees with its first part, the matrix  $\underline{T}_1$ . This matrix is, on the other hand, a diadic sum making the recursivity, discussed with the LS method, possible. This, of course, does not exclude that we count also here, alike the solution investigated at the on-line GLS method, with the exact second derivatives, but in this case we will lose the advantages of the recursivity.

The first extended matrix method (FEXM) related to the GLS structure was elaborated for the system equation

$$y(t) = \underline{f}^{T}(u, y, r, t) \underline{p}_{bah} + e(t)$$
 (4.4-1)

obtainable from the Eqs. (2.3-1), (2.3-3), (2.3-5) and (2.3-14) [120]. Here

$$f(u,y,r,t) = [u(t-1), \dots, u(t-n); -y(t-1), \dots, -y(t-n);$$
  
-r(t-1), ..., -r(t-n)]<sup>T</sup>, (4.4-2)

where r(t) is according to (2.3-14). The algorithm of the on-line FEXM method (following the on-line LS method) is

$$\underline{p}_{bah}(t) = \underline{p}_{bah}(t-1) + \underline{R}(t)\underline{f}(u,y,r,t)[y(t) - \underline{f}^{T}(u,y,r,t)\underline{p}_{bah}(t-1)].$$

$$(4.4-3)$$

 $\underline{R}(t)$  is updated by  $\underline{f}(u,y,r,t)$  using the relation (4.1-7). By comparing (4.3-14) and (4.4-3), it is easy to see that the two methods lead to not identical results. The difference comes from the fact that there is  $\underline{f}(u^F, y^F, \ldots)$  instead of  $f(u,y,\ldots)$  in the real gradient of the loss function

$$Q = \frac{1}{2} \left[ y(t) - \underline{f}^{T}(u, y, r, t) \underline{p}_{bah} \right]^{2}$$

$$(4.4-4)$$

as we have already seen with (4.3-12). Beside the approximation of the second derivatives the FEXM method applies also an approximation of the first derivative making the calculation easier as we can get the Eq. (4.4-3) only by neglecting the dependence of r on  $\underline{p}_{bah}$  in Q according to (4.4-4). The above idea has to be followed essentially also in presenting the on-line version of the SEXM method [130, 131]. The SEXM method refers to the Eq. (2.2-5) which gives the ML structure in a form linear in parameters:

$$y(t) = \underline{1}^{T}(u, y, e, t) \underline{p}_{bac} + e(t).$$
 (4.4-5)

Thus the equation of the on-line algorithm is now:

$$\underline{p}_{bac}(t) = \underline{p}_{bac}(t-1) + \underline{\mathbb{R}}(t) \underline{f}(u,y,e,t) [y(t) - \underline{f}^{T}(u,y,e,t)] \underline{p}_{bac}(t-1)],$$

$$(4.4-6)$$

where  $\underline{\mathbb{R}}(t)$  is updated by  $\underline{f}(u, y, e, t)$  according to the relation (4.1-7). e(t) is, of course, not measured but it is now only an estimated resp. calculated value:

$$e(t) = y(t) - \underline{f}^{T}(u, y, e, t) \underline{p}_{bac}(t).$$
 (4.4-7)

Here  $\underline{p}_{bac}$  is taken at the t-th moment because it is the newest estimate and gives also for e(t) the most accurate result. The same approximations are valid for the on-line version of the SEXM method, as refer to the on-line FEXM method. Thus on the one hand the relation (4.4-6) does not use the real gradient because we disregard the dependence of e(t) on  $\underline{p}_{bac}$ , on the other hand, only the  $\underline{T}_{l}$  part of the Hessian matrix is taken to form  $\underline{R}(t)$ .

On the basis of completely similar considerations, the on--line estimation algorithm can be given also for other, quasilinearized structures discussed in subsection 2.4, since every method could be formally reduced to the LS estimation by the linearization in parameters. The approximations hold, of course, also hereinafter.

Although this report does not deal with a more detailed analysis of the above methods, we note that the preceding approximations relate to the algorithm of STA optimal in second order sense as a successive approximative solution to the gradient technique.

## 4.5 The on-line version of the instrumental variable method

The on-line version of the instrumental variable (IV) method can be practically derived from the off-line solution (2.5-6). By following the deduction of the recursive version of the LS method [143], we get the algorithm:

$$\underline{p}_{ba}(t) = \underline{p}_{ba}(t-1) + \underline{R}(t)\underline{f}(u,v,t)[y(t) - \underline{f}^{T}(u,y,t)\underline{p}_{ba}(t-1)],$$

$$(4.5-1)$$

where

$$\underline{f}(u, y, t) = [u(t-1), \dots, u(t-n); -y(t-1), \dots, -y(t-n)]^{T} (4.5-2)$$
has the usual form and

$$\underline{f}(u,v,t) = [u(t-1), \dots, u(t-n); -v(t-1), \dots, -v(t-n)]^{T} . (4.5-3)$$

Here v(t) is the calculated (estimated) value of the output of the noiseless system:

$$\mathbf{v}(t) = \underline{\mathbf{f}}^{\mathrm{T}}(u, \mathbf{v}, t) \underline{\mathbf{p}}_{\mathrm{ba}}(t). \qquad (4.5-4)$$

As following from (2.5-6) now:

$$\underline{\underline{R}}(t) = \begin{bmatrix} t \\ \underline{\Sigma} \\ \underline{\underline{f}}(u, v, i) \\ \underline{\underline{f}}^{\mathrm{T}}(u, y, i) \end{bmatrix}^{-1}$$
(4.5-5)

therefore the recursive relation updating  $\underline{\underline{R}}(t)$  will have the form:

$$\underline{\underline{R}}(t) = \underline{\underline{R}}(t-1) - \frac{\underline{\underline{R}}(t-1)\underline{\underline{f}}(u,v,t)\underline{\underline{f}}^{T}(u,y,t)\underline{\underline{R}}(t-1)}{1+\underline{\underline{f}}^{T}(u,v,t)\underline{\underline{R}}(t-1)\underline{\underline{f}}(u,y,t)} .$$
(4.5-6)

In consequence,  $\underline{R}(t)$  here is not symmetric!

The proportions of the preceding sections indicate our stand point already mentioned according to which in the Introduction under the present technical conditions, we attribute a much greater practical importance to the off-line identification methods than to the on-line ones. All this holds in particular for the multiple output systems.

As also with the estimation methods of multiple output systems, a scalar loss function has to be minimized, in discussing their on-line versions we could apply also now the canonical algorithm of the STA, but as the well applicable on-line identification algorithms of the MIMO systems correspond to the recursive solutions of the LS-type methods, hereinafter we, too, will follow this approach. The generalization of the LS method valid for the MIMO systems has been discussed in detail in subsection 3.1. The explicit estimation obtained for the parameter matrix  $P_{BA}$  of the system equation (3-2) is according to (3.1-16)

$$\hat{\underline{P}}_{BA} = \underline{\underline{Y}} \underline{\underline{F}}^{T} (\underline{\underline{F}} \underline{\underline{F}}^{T})^{-1}, \qquad (5.1-1)$$

where

$$Y = [y(1), \dots, y(N)]$$
(5.1-2)

and

$$\underline{\mathbf{F}} = [\underline{\mathbf{f}}(1), \dots, \underline{\mathbf{f}}(N)]. \tag{5.1-3}$$

The definition of  $\underline{f}(t)$  corresponds to (3.1-4).

By analyzing the relation (5.1-1) in detail, we can obtain a recursive solution. Let us write the off-line LS estimation for the case of containing N and N+1 samples:

$$\hat{\underline{P}}_{BA}(N) = \underline{\underline{Y}}_{N} \underline{\underline{F}}_{N}^{T} (\underline{\underline{F}}_{N} \underline{\underline{F}}_{N}^{T})^{-1}$$

$$\hat{\underline{P}}_{BA}(N+1) = \underline{\underline{Y}}_{N+1} \underline{\underline{F}}_{N+1}^{T} (\underline{\underline{F}}_{N+1} \underline{\underline{F}}_{N+1}^{T})^{-1} .$$
(5.1-4)
(5.1-5)

Consider further that

 $\underline{\underline{F}}_{N+1} = \left[\underline{\underline{F}}_{N}, \underline{\underline{f}}(N+1)\right], \qquad (5.1-6)$ 

as well as

 $\underline{\underline{Y}}_{N+1} = [\underline{\underline{Y}}_{N}, \underline{\underline{Y}}(N+1)],$ 

(5.1-7)

- 152 -

thus

$$\underline{\underline{F}}_{N+1} \underline{\underline{F}}_{N+1}^{T} = \underline{\underline{F}}_{N} \underline{\underline{F}}_{N}^{T} + \underline{\underline{f}} (N+1) \underline{\underline{f}}^{T} (N+1), \qquad (5.1-8)$$

and

$$\underline{Y}_{N+1} \underline{F}_{N+1}^{T} = \underline{Y}_{N} \underline{F}_{N}^{T} + \underline{Y}(N+1) \underline{f}_{-}^{T}(N+1). \qquad (5.1-9)$$

Under the diadic extension according to (5.1-8) the recursive equation is

$$(\underline{\mathbf{F}}_{N+1} \underline{\mathbf{F}}_{N+1}^{T})^{-1} = (\underline{\mathbf{F}}_{N} \underline{\mathbf{F}}_{N}^{T})^{-1} - \frac{(\underline{\mathbf{F}}_{N} \underline{\mathbf{F}}_{N}^{T})^{-1} \underline{\mathbf{f}} (N+1) \underline{\mathbf{f}}^{T} (N+1) (\underline{\mathbf{F}}_{N} \underline{\mathbf{F}}_{N}^{T})^{-1}}{1 + \underline{\mathbf{f}}^{T} (N+1) (\underline{\mathbf{F}}_{N} \underline{\mathbf{F}}_{N}^{T})^{-1} \underline{\mathbf{f}} (N+1)}$$

$$(5.1-10)$$

as it was deduced in App. 15.

On the basis of all these, the recursive form of  $\hat{\underline{P}}_{BA}(N+1)$  is  $\hat{\underline{P}}_{BA}(N+1) = \underline{\underline{Y}}_{N+1} \underline{\underline{F}}_{N+1}^{T} (\underline{\underline{F}}_{N+1} \underline{\underline{F}}_{N+1}^{T})^{-1} =$   $= [\underline{\underline{Y}}_{N} \underline{\underline{F}}_{N}^{T} + \underline{\underline{Y}}(N+1) \underline{\underline{f}}^{T}(N+1)] [(\underline{\underline{F}}_{N} \underline{\underline{F}}_{N}^{T})]^{-1} - \frac{(\underline{\underline{F}}_{N} \underline{\underline{F}}_{N}^{T})^{-1} \underline{\underline{f}}(N+1) (\underline{\underline{f}}_{N} \underline{\underline{F}}_{N}^{T})^{-1}}{1 + \underline{\underline{f}}^{T}(N+1) (\underline{\underline{F}}_{N} \underline{\underline{F}}_{N}^{T})^{-1} \underline{\underline{f}}(N+1)} .$  (5.1-11)

Hence with the notation

$$\underline{\mathbf{R}}_{N+1} = (\underline{\mathbf{F}}_{N+1} \ \underline{\mathbf{F}}_{N+1}^{\mathrm{T}})^{-1}$$
(5.1-12)

we obtain

$$\hat{\underline{P}}_{BA}(N+1) = \hat{\underline{P}}_{BA}(N) + \underline{\underline{V}}(N+1) \underline{\underline{f}}^{T}(N+1) \underline{\underline{R}}_{N+1} - \hat{\underline{P}}_{BA}(N) \underline{\underline{f}}(N+1) \underline{\underline{f}}^{T}(N+1) \underline{\underline{R}}_{N+1} = \\
= \hat{\underline{P}}_{BA}(N) + [\underline{\underline{V}}(N+1) - \hat{\underline{P}}_{BA}(N) \underline{\underline{f}}(N+1)] \underline{\underline{f}}^{T}(N+1) \underline{\underline{R}}_{N+1}.$$
(5.1-13)

The great formal similarity with the algorithm of the on-line LS method applied for the single output systems can be recognized easily. The updating of the convergence matrix  $\mathbb{R}_{N+1} = \mathbb{R}(N+1)$  can be performed by the recursive relation (5.1-10) in the same way as for the on-line methods of the single output systems. [109].

The above presented on-line LS algorithm of the multiple output systems can be applied without any particular change to the realization of the on-line version of the GLS or extended matrix methods. As also these methods refer to the system equations linear in parameter matrices, the formal generalization is very simple to be achieved, so that we will not deal with their detailed discussion.



Appendix 1.

In this section our statements concerning the structural problems of the MIMO system equations are summarized from identification point of views.

The inner construction and structural problems of the state--space description of multiple input multiple output discrete-time, linear dynamic systems have already been dealt whith a great number of authors who achieved valuable, basic theoretical results [42]. Thus the most important canonical forms of the state equations of the MIMO systems, the conditions of description in state-space of minimal dimension, the requirements of controllability and observability are already well-known.

While with the methods of control or state estimation (forecasting and filtering) the authors usually prefer the state space description form, with the identification methods, the models given by ordinary or vector difference equations are much more frequent. This certainly can be explained by the simpler form of the dependence of the output signals from the parameter vector (or matrix). The procedures which transform a state space description to a vector difference equation and vice versa are well-known in the literature. [42, 108].

From the aspect of identification, the rules of observability and identifiability of the MIMO systems are the most important regarding the theory. From the point of view of the practical identification technique, however, the construction of the OI observability index and the theorems relating to them, are considered as most essential. Here we refer to the theorem - most clearly presented by Rowe according to which necessary and sufficient condition of the unambiguous identification of the coefficient matrices of a vector difference equation is to have at least OI number of nonzero columns among (in the) matrices  $\underline{A}_{j}$  [108]. This involves from the point of view of the identification technique that in the case of matrix elements estimated as non-significant, the omission of the whole columns is practically or theoretically justified.

As the above can be considered known from the literature, hereinafter we make such independently formed statements about MIMO systems' structures suitable for identification which have a direct relevance to the computer processing of measurements.

Consider in Fig. A.1-1 the discrete-time, linear, dynamic, MIMO system with an m-dimensional input vector <u>u</u> and a q dimensional output vector <u>v</u>. Disregard first the interaction of the outputs, i.e. every input signal should have an effect upon every output, but the latter ones not upon each other. In this case the dynamic property of the process can be described by a discrete transfer function matrix  $\underline{W}(z^{-1})$ whose  $W_{ij}(z^{-1})$ -th element represents the effect of the j-th input signal upon the i-th output signal. In a general case also the numerators and denominators of the  $W_{ij}$ -s are different:

$$\underline{\underline{W}}(z^{-1}) = \begin{bmatrix} \frac{F_{11}(z^{-1})}{G_{11}(z^{-1})} & \cdots & \frac{F_{1m}(z^{-1})}{G_{1m}(z^{-1})} \\ \vdots & \vdots & \vdots \\ \vdots & \vdots & \vdots \\ \vdots & \vdots & \vdots \\ \frac{F_{q1}(z^{-1})}{G_{q1}(z^{-1})} & \cdots & \frac{F_{qm}(z^{-1})}{G_{qm}(z^{-1})} \end{bmatrix}$$

(A.1-1)

- 156 -

By allowing certain redundancy in the particular elements, after reduction to a common denominator, we obtain that

$$\underline{\underline{W}}(z^{-1}) = \frac{1}{A(z^{-1})} \begin{bmatrix} B_{11}(z^{-1}) & \cdots & B_{1m}(z^{-1}) \\ \vdots & \vdots & \vdots \\ B_q(z^{-1}) & \cdots & B_{qm}(z^{-1}) \end{bmatrix} = \frac{1}{A(z^{-1})} \underline{\underline{B}}(z^{-1}),$$
(A.1-2)

where  $B_{ij}(z^{-1})$  -s are polynomials (without denominator). On the basis of this latter expression the vector difference equation of the system can be written as:

$$\underline{\mathbf{v}}(t) = \sum_{i=0}^{n} \underbrace{\mathbb{B}}_{i} \underline{\mathbf{u}}(t-i) - \sum_{i=1}^{n} \underbrace{\mathbb{A}}_{i} \underline{\mathbf{v}}(t-i) =$$
$$= \underbrace{\mathbb{B}}(z^{-1}) \underline{\mathbf{u}}(t) - \underbrace{\widetilde{\mathbb{A}}}(z^{-1}) \underline{\mathbf{v}}(t). \qquad (A.1-3)$$

Here

$$\underline{\underline{A}}(z^{-1}) = \underline{\underline{I}} + \underline{\underline{A}}_{1}z^{-1} + \dots + \underline{\underline{A}}_{n}z^{-n} = \underline{\underline{I}} + \underline{\underline{\underline{A}}}(z^{-1}), \quad (A.1-4)$$
$$\underline{\underline{B}}(z^{-1}) = \underline{\underline{B}}_{0} + \underline{\underline{B}}_{1}z^{-1} + \dots + \underline{\underline{B}}_{n}z^{-n}, \quad (A.1-5)$$

where

$$\underline{A}_{i} = a_{i} \underline{I}$$
 (A.1-6)

namely

$$A(z^{-1}) = 1 + a_1 z^{-1} + \dots + a_n z^{-n}$$
 (A.1-7)

The above train of thought serves to demonstrate that if we can neglect in advance the interaction of the outputs, the vector difference equation of the system can always be sought in the form of (A.1-3) by assuming special diagonal A, coefficient matrices. In this case the transfer functions referring to the dependence result directly in the form  $B_{ii}(z^{-1})/A(z^{-1})$ . As this structure allows certain redundancy in the elements of the transition matrix, their further examination for possible reducibility is advisable. This form is particularly advantageous for the estimation of structure (order of the system) because practically only n has to be changed. Under the preceding assumption, these same assumptions refer to the noise model, too, of which we can easily be convinced, for also there  $A(z^{-1})$  is the denominator. This is similarly true for the whole noisy system, as according to the Eq. (1.2-26) the measured noisy output signal vector results from the superposition of the process and the noise model.

Consider now Fig. A.1-2, where the interaction of the output signals is taken into consideration by a  $\underline{Q}(z^{-1})$  transfer function matrix. On the basis of the Figure

$$\underline{\mathbf{v}}(\mathbf{t}) = \underline{\mathbf{P}}(z^{-1})\underline{\mathbf{u}}(\mathbf{t}) + \underline{\mathbf{Q}}(z^{-1})\underline{\mathbf{v}}(\mathbf{t}), \qquad (A.1-8)$$

whence

$$\underline{\mathbf{v}}(t) = \left[\underline{\mathbf{I}} - \underline{\mathbf{Q}}(z^{-1})\right]^{-1} \underline{\mathbf{P}}(z^{-1})\underline{\mathbf{u}}(t), \qquad (A_{\bullet}1-9)$$

i.e. by comparing with Fig. A.1-1 the system can be substituted by the equivalent function matrix

$$\underline{\underline{W}}(z^{-1}) = \left[\underline{\underline{I}} - \underline{\underline{Q}}(z^{-1})\right]^{-1} \underline{\underline{P}}(z^{-1}).$$
(A.1-10)



Fig. A.1-1



Fig. A.1-2

Let be

$$\underline{I} - \underline{Q}(z^{-1}) = \frac{1}{F(z^{-1})} \quad \underline{G}(z^{-1}) \quad (A.1-11)$$

and

$$\underline{\underline{P}}(z^{-1}) = \frac{1}{H(z^{-1})} \underline{\underline{k}}(z^{-1}) \cdot (A.1-12)$$

The transformations according to these two assumptions, can always be carried out. By these notations we obtain from the Eq. (A.1-9) that

$$\frac{1}{F(z^{-1})} \quad \underline{\underline{G}}(z^{-1}) \underline{\underline{v}}(t) = \frac{1}{H(z^{-1})} \quad \underline{\underline{K}}(z^{-1}) \underline{\underline{u}}(t) . \tag{A.1-13}$$

By introducing the notations

$$H(z^{-1})\underline{G}(z^{-1}) = \underline{L}(z^{-1}) = \underline{L}_{0} + \underline{L}_{1}z^{-1} + \dots = \underline{L}_{0}[\underline{I} + \underline{\widetilde{L}}(z^{-1})]$$
(A.1-14)

and

$$F(z^{-1})\underline{K}(z^{-1}) = \underline{M}(z^{-1}) = \underline{M}_{0} + \underline{M}_{1}z^{-1} + \dots$$
 (A.1-15)

and assuming that  $\underline{L}_{0}$  is regular, we get the form

$$\underline{\mathbf{v}}(\mathtt{t}) = \underline{\mathbf{L}}_{0}^{-1} \underline{\mathbf{w}}(z^{-1}) \underline{\mathbf{u}}(\mathtt{t}) - \underline{\tilde{\mathbf{L}}}(z^{-1}) \underline{\mathbf{v}}(\mathtt{t}) = \underline{\mathbf{B}}'(z^{-1}) \underline{\mathbf{u}}(\mathtt{t}) - \underline{\tilde{\mathbf{A}}}'(z^{-1}) \underline{\mathbf{v}}(\mathtt{t})$$
(A.1-16)

for the system equation. It is easy to see that this equation shows a complete formal identity with the Eq. (A.1-3). The deduction shows that in this case the matrices  $\underline{A}_{i}$  have no special construction (no form  $a_{i}\underline{I}$ ), further that the

- 160 -

 $\underline{P}(z^{-1})$  and  $\underline{Q}(z^{-1})$  matrices can not be reset from the vector difference equation (A.1-16) and the equivalent (A.1-10) corresponds formally to the general equation

$$\underline{\Psi}(z^{-1}) = \underline{A}^{-1}(z^{-1})\underline{B}^{-1}(z^{-1})$$
 (A.1-17)

and not to (A.1-2).

The reduction to a common denominator can be, of course, achieved also with the (A.1-16), resp. (A.1-17) transfer function matrices and then again we get  $\underline{A}_{\pm i}$  matrices of special construction, but the memory represented by  $\underline{B}^{*}(z^{-1})$ increases. Our statements can be extended to the noise model, too, and as a result of similar considerations we get there a general form  $\underline{A}^{*-1}(z^{-1}) \underline{C}^{*}(z^{-1})$ .

The above can be summarized as follows. Either, the outputs have an interaction or not, a MIMO system in a general case can be written by a vector difference equation of general construction from whose coefficient matrices the original (real) structure cannot be unambiguously reset. (Let us think of that in the i-th output signal a given dynamic change can be ensured in a direct channel from the j-th input signal, moreover via the interaction of the output signals there are a lot of other ways, too. This question is closely related to the fact that the state space description of a system and thus its inner construction also is determined only to the extent of a linear transformation). In both cases there exists also a vector difference equation with special construction (with diagonal A, matrices), (perhaps with a greater memory, i.e. model order), which, on the other hand, does not contain the interaction of the outputs.

The identification therefore ensures essentially an input--output equivalent model without clearing the relations of the outputs. On the other hand, we can mention as its advantage that the prescription concerning the observability index can be simply respected by special  $A_{\underline{i}}$  matrices. This involves that the search of structure in n contains the search in observability index, too. Appendix 2. [6, 7, 145]

Definition:

The following matrix operator is called a generalized TOEPLITZ matrix:



(A.2-1)

and  $\underline{S}_{N}^{i}(\underline{A}) = \underline{O}$ , if  $i \geq N$ .

If the size of matrix  $\underline{\underline{A}}$  is mxn, then the size of  $\underline{\underline{S}}_{N}^{i}(\underline{\underline{A}})$  is N.mxN.n. The generalized TOEPLITZ matrix is easy to de defined also by the KRONECKER matrix product (cf. A.3).

(A.2-1) can be rewritten in the form as:

 $\underline{\underline{s}}_{N}^{i}(\underline{\underline{A}}) = \underline{\underline{s}}_{N}^{i}(1) \otimes \underline{\underline{A}} .$ 

Here  $\underline{S}_{\mathbb{N}}^{i}(1)$  has a size of N\*N and is defined also by (A.2-1), so that units are only in its i-th row under the main diago-

nal, its other elements are zeros.  $\underline{S}_{\mathbb{N}}^{i}(1)$  is called on the basis of the following simple example a shift matrix and denoted only by  $\underline{S}^{i}$ . Let namely be

$$\underline{\underline{S}}_{3}^{1}(1) = \underline{\underline{S}}^{1} = \underline{\underline{S}} = \begin{bmatrix} 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 1 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 1 & 0 \end{bmatrix}$$
 (A.2-3)

and

$$\mathbf{x} = \begin{bmatrix} \mathbf{y}_1 & \mathbf{y}_2 & \mathbf{y}_3 \end{bmatrix}^{\mathrm{T}} = \begin{bmatrix} \mathbf{y}_1 \\ \mathbf{y}_2 \\ \mathbf{y}_3 \end{bmatrix}. \quad (A.2-4)$$

Then

$$\underline{\underline{s}}_{3}^{1}(1)\underline{\underline{y}} = \underline{\underline{s}} \underline{\underline{y}} = \begin{bmatrix} 0 \\ y_{1} \\ y_{2} \end{bmatrix}, \qquad (A.2-5)$$

so that the meaning of "shifting" is easy to be followed.

The most important identities valid for the generalized TOEPLITZ matrices will be presented in brief. Let

$$\underline{\mathbf{T}}_{\mathbf{NL}} = \sum_{i=0}^{n_{\mathbf{L}}} \underline{\mathbf{S}}_{\mathbf{N}}^{i}(\underline{\mathbf{L}}_{i})$$

$$(A.2-6)$$

and

$$\underline{\mathbf{T}}_{\mathrm{NM}} = \sum_{i=0}^{n} \underline{\mathbf{S}}_{\mathrm{N}}^{i} (\underline{\mathbf{M}}_{i}), \qquad (A.2-7)$$

(A.2-8)

(A.2-13)

where

$$\underline{L}(z) = \sum_{i=0}^{n_{L}} z^{i} \underline{L}_{i}$$

as well as

(A.2-9)  $\underline{\underline{M}}(z) = \sum_{i=0}^{n} z^{i} \underline{\underline{M}}_{i}.$ 

Then we can declare the following rules:

l. If

$$\underline{\underline{L}}(z) + \underline{\underline{M}}(z) = \underline{\underline{K}}(z) = \sum_{\Sigma}^{n_{K}} z^{i} \underline{\underline{K}}_{i}, \qquad (A.2-10)$$

$$i=0$$

where

$$\underline{\underline{K}}_{i} = \underline{\underline{L}}_{i} + \underline{\underline{M}}_{i} \text{ and } \underline{\underline{n}}_{K} = \max \{\underline{\underline{n}}_{L}, \underline{\underline{n}}_{M}\}, \quad (A.2-11)$$

then the relation

$$\underline{\mathbf{T}}_{\mathrm{NL}} \pm \underline{\mathbf{T}}_{\mathrm{NM}} = \sum_{i=0}^{n_{\mathrm{K}}} \underline{\mathbf{S}}_{\mathrm{N}}^{i} (\underline{\mathbf{K}}_{i})$$
(A.2-12)

holds.

2. If

$$\underline{\underline{L}}(z)\underline{\underline{M}}(z) = \sum_{\Sigma}^{n_{K}} z^{i} \underline{\underline{K}}_{i},$$

$$i=0$$

where

$$\underset{i=0}{\overset{i}{\underset{j=0}{\overset{}}}} \underset{i=0}{\overset{i}{\underset{j=i-j}{\overset{}}}} \underset{m_{K}=n_{L}}{\overset{n_{K}=n_{L}}{\underset{k=1}{\overset{}}}} \underset{m_{K}=n_{L}}{\overset{n_{K}=n_{L}}}{\overset{n_{K}=n_{L}}{\overset{n_{K}=n_{L}}{\overset{n_{K}=n_{L}}}{\overset{n_{K}=n_{L}}{\overset{n_{K}=n_{L}}{\overset{n_{K}=n_{L}}{\overset{n_{K}=n_{L}}}{\overset{n_{K}=n_{L}}{\overset{n_{K}=n_{L}}}{\overset{n_{K}=n_{L}}}{\overset{n_{K}=n_{L}}}{\overset{n_{K}=n_{L}}{\overset{n_{K}=n_{L}}}{\overset{n_{K}=n_{L}}}{\overset{n_{K}=n_{L}}}{\overset{n_{K}=n_{L}}}{\overset{n_{K}=n_{L}}}{\overset{n_{K}=n_{L}}}{\overset{n_{K}=n_{L}}}{\overset{n_{K}=n_{L}}}{\overset{n_{K}=n_{L}}}{\overset{n_{K}=n_{L}}}{\overset{n_{K}=n_{L}}}{\overset{n_{K}=n_{L}}}{\overset{n_{K}=n_{L}}}{\overset{n_{K}=n_{L}}}{\overset{n_{K$$

- 166 -

then

$$\underline{\mathbf{T}}_{\mathrm{NL}} \cdot \underline{\mathbf{T}}_{\mathrm{NM}} = \sum_{i=0}^{n_{\mathrm{K}}} \underline{\mathbf{S}}_{\mathrm{N}}^{i} (\underline{\mathbf{K}}_{i}) \qquad (\mathbf{A} \cdot 2 - 15)$$
  
holds.

3. Let

$$\underline{\underline{L}}(z) = \underline{\underline{L}}_{0} + \sum_{i=1}^{n} z^{i} \underline{\underline{L}}_{i}. \qquad (A.2-16)$$

If  $\underset{=i}{\text{L}}$  is quadratic and  $\underset{=o}{\text{L}}$  not singular, then

$$\underline{\mathbf{T}}_{\mathbf{NL}}^{-1} = \sum_{i=0}^{N-1} \underline{\mathbf{S}}_{\mathbf{N}}^{i}(\underline{\mathbf{K}}_{i}), \qquad (A.2-17)$$

where

$$\underline{\underline{K}}(z) = \underline{\underline{L}}^{-1}(z) = \sum_{i=0}^{\infty} z^{i} \underline{\underline{K}}_{i}$$
 (A.2-18)

1

and

$$\begin{split} \underline{K}_{0} &= \underline{L}_{0}^{-1} \\ \underline{K}_{1} &= -\underline{L}_{0}^{-1} \underline{L}_{1} \underline{K}_{0} \\ \underline{K}_{2} &= -\underline{L}_{0}^{-1} (\underline{L}_{1} \underline{K}_{1} + \underline{L}_{2} \underline{K}_{0}) \\ \vdots \\ \underline{K}_{N-1} &= -\underline{L}_{0}^{-1} (\underline{L}_{1} \underline{K}_{N-2} + \underline{L}_{2} \underline{K}_{N-3} + \dots + \underline{L}_{N-1} \underline{K}_{0}) \end{split}$$

$$\begin{split} (A.2-19) \\ \vdots \\ \underline{L}_{1} &= \underline{0}, \text{ of course, if } i > n_{L}. \end{split}$$

(A.2-20)

inde:

A very important property of the shift matrices  $\underline{S}_{N}^{i}(1) = \underline{S}^{i}$  is the interchangeability which means the following:

 $\underline{\underline{s}}^{\mathbf{i}} \cdot \underline{\underline{s}}^{\mathbf{j}} = \underline{\underline{s}}^{\mathbf{j}} \cdot \underline{\underline{s}}^{\mathbf{i}} = \underline{\underline{s}}^{\mathbf{i}+\mathbf{j}}.$ 

Appendix 3. [97]

## Definition:

Let A be an (mxn) matrix and B an (rxs) matrix. The KRONECKER product of the A an B matrices means the following expression:

$$\mathbf{A} \otimes \mathbf{B} = \begin{bmatrix} \mathbf{a}_{11} \mathbf{B} & \mathbf{a}_{12} \mathbf{B} & \cdots & \mathbf{a}_{1n} \mathbf{B} \\ \mathbf{a}_{21} \mathbf{B} & \mathbf{a}_{22} \mathbf{B} & \cdots & \mathbf{a}_{2n} \mathbf{B} \\ \vdots & & & & & \\ \mathbf{a}_{m1} \mathbf{B} & \mathbf{a}_{m2} \mathbf{B} & \cdots & \mathbf{a}_{mn} \mathbf{B} \end{bmatrix}$$
(A.3-1)

where the size of matrix  $\underline{A} \otimes \underline{B}$  is (m.r) x (n.s).

The following operational identities are the most important for the KRONECKER matrix product:

 If A and C, as well as B and D matrices are multipliable, then

$$(\underline{\mathbf{A}} \otimes \underline{\mathbf{B}}) (\underline{\mathbf{C}} \otimes \underline{\mathbf{D}}) = (\underline{\mathbf{A}} \underline{\mathbf{C}} \otimes \underline{\mathbf{B}} \underline{\mathbf{D}}).$$
 (A.3-2)

2. If the inverses of the matrices A and B exist, then

$$\left(\underline{\mathbf{A}} \otimes \underline{\mathbf{B}}\right)^{-1} = \underline{\mathbf{A}}^{-1} \otimes \underline{\mathbf{B}}^{-1} \cdot \tag{A.3-3}$$

3. The transposition rule of the KRONECKER products can be formulated as follows:

$$(\underline{\mathbf{A}} \otimes \underline{\mathbf{B}})^{\mathrm{T}} = \underline{\mathbf{A}}^{\mathrm{T}} \otimes \underline{\mathbf{B}}^{\mathrm{T}} . \tag{A.3-4}$$

4. If the condition of the addition of matrices is fulfilled, then:

$$(\underline{\mathbf{A}} + \underline{\mathbf{B}}) \otimes (\underline{\mathbf{C}} + \underline{\mathbf{D}}) = \underline{\mathbf{A}} \otimes \underline{\mathbf{C}} + \underline{\mathbf{A}} \otimes \underline{\mathbf{D}} + \underline{\mathbf{B}} \otimes \underline{\mathbf{C}} + \underline{\mathbf{B}} \otimes \underline{\mathbf{D}} .$$
(A.3-5)

5. The order of operations can be prescribed:

$$\underline{\mathbf{A}} \otimes (\underline{\mathbf{B}} \otimes \underline{\mathbf{C}}) = (\underline{\mathbf{A}} \otimes \underline{\mathbf{B}}) \otimes \underline{\mathbf{C}} . \tag{A.3-6}$$

6. The trace of the KRONECKER products can be calculated as follows:

$$tr(\underline{A} \otimes \underline{B}) = tr(\underline{A}) \cdot tr(\underline{B}) \cdot (A \cdot 3 - 7)$$

The identities can be understood in the simplest way by the expansion of simple examples.

## Appendix 4. [97]

The generation rules of vectors from matrices can be defined by KRONECKER products.

## Definition:

Let  $\underline{\underline{A}}$  be (mxn) matrix, then denote by  $vec(\underline{\underline{A}})$  the following arrangement (arrangement into vectors) of the elements of the matrix:

$$\operatorname{vec}(\underline{A}) = \begin{bmatrix} \underline{a}_{1} \\ \underline{a}_{2} \\ \vdots \\ \vdots \\ \underline{a}_{n} \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} \underline{a}_{1}^{\mathrm{T}}, \ \underline{a}_{2}^{\mathrm{T}}, \ \cdots, \ \underline{a}_{n}^{\mathrm{T}} \end{bmatrix}^{\mathrm{T}}, \qquad (A.4-1)$$

where  $\underline{a}_1, \underline{a}_2, \dots, \underline{a}_n$  are the column vectors of the matrix  $\underline{A}$ . The most important identities related to the arrangement into vectors are the following:

1. If y is a column vector, then

$$\operatorname{vec}(\underline{\mathbf{y}}) = \operatorname{vec}(\underline{\mathbf{y}}^{\mathrm{T}}) = \underline{\mathbf{y}}$$
 (A.4-2)

2. The arrangement into vectors of the product matrices can be defined by KRONECKER products as:

$$\operatorname{vec}(\underline{A} \ \underline{B} \ \underline{C}) = (\underline{C}^{\mathrm{T}} \otimes \underline{A}) \operatorname{vec}(\underline{B}) \cdot \qquad (A \cdot 4 - 3)$$

3. If A is a (mxn) and B a (nxr) matrix, then from (A.4-3) it is obvious that

$$\operatorname{vec}(\underline{A} \underline{B}) = (\underline{B}^{T} \otimes \underline{I}_{m}) \operatorname{vec}(\underline{A}) = (\underline{B}^{T} \otimes \underline{A}) \operatorname{vec}(\underline{I}_{n}) = (\underline{I}_{r} \otimes \underline{A}) \operatorname{vec}(\underline{B}),$$

$$(A \cdot 4 - 4)$$

where the index of the unit matrices refers to their size. Here we have taken advantage of the trivial identities

$$\operatorname{vec}(\underline{A} \underline{B}) = \operatorname{vec}(\underline{I}_{\underline{m}} \underline{A} \underline{B}) = \operatorname{vec}(\underline{A} \underline{I}_{\underline{n}} \underline{B}) = \operatorname{vec}(\underline{A} \underline{B} \underline{I}_{\underline{r}}).$$

$$(A.4-5)$$

4. The following identities refer to the calculation of the trace of the product matrices:

$$tr(\underline{A} \ \underline{B} \ \underline{C}) = [vec(\underline{A}^{T})]^{T} (\underline{I} \otimes \underline{B}) vec(\underline{C})$$

$$tr(\underline{A} \ \underline{B}) = [vec(\underline{A}^{T})]^{T} vec(\underline{B})$$

$$tr(\underline{A} \ \underline{Z}^{T} \ \underline{B} \ \underline{Z} \ \underline{C}) = [vec(\underline{Z})]^{T} (\underline{A}^{T} \ \underline{C}^{T} \otimes \underline{B}) vec(\underline{Z}) =$$

$$= [vec(\underline{Z})]^{T} (\underline{C} \ \underline{A} \otimes \underline{B}^{T}) vez(\underline{Z}).$$

$$(A.4-6)$$

The identities can be understood in the most simple way by expanding simple examples.

Appendix 5.

In this section the estimation methods summarized in subsection 1.3 and to be applied in this report are discussed in detail.

Consider first the least squares method. With the LS method the loss function of the form (1.3-7) has to be minimized, i.e. the extreme value problem

$$Q(\hat{\underline{p}}) = \min_{p} Q(\underline{p}) = \min_{p} \frac{1}{2} \sum_{t=1}^{N} [y(t) - \underline{\underline{f}}^{T}(u,y,t)\underline{p}]^{2} =$$

$$= \min_{\underline{p}} \frac{1}{2} \left( \underline{y} - \underline{F}_{uy} \underline{p} \right)^{T} \left( \underline{y} - \underline{F}_{uy} \underline{p} \right)$$
(A.5-1)

has to be solved. Here  $Q(\underline{p})$  is

$$Q(\underline{p}) = \frac{1}{2} \left( \underline{y}^{\mathrm{T}} \underline{y} - 2\underline{y}^{\mathrm{T}} \underline{F}_{\mathrm{uy}} \underline{p} + \underline{p}^{\mathrm{T}} \underline{F}_{\mathrm{uy}}^{\mathrm{T}} \underline{F}_{\mathrm{uy}} \underline{p} \right), \qquad (A.5-2)$$

where the notations according to subsections 1.3 and 2.1 have been used and the joint vector equation valid for N samples of the equation (1.3-8) is applied in the form

$$\underline{\mathbf{y}} = \underline{\mathbf{F}}(\underline{\mathbf{u}}, \underline{\mathbf{y}})\underline{\mathbf{p}} + \underline{\mathbf{e}} = \underline{\mathbf{F}}_{\underline{\mathbf{u}}} \underline{\mathbf{p}} + \underline{\mathbf{e}} . \tag{A.5-3}$$

The loss function  $Q(\underline{p})$  is therefore quadratic in  $\underline{p}$  with the LS method for the (1.3-8) system equation linear in parameters. This means at the same time that by making the gradient

$$\frac{d}{d\underline{p}} Q(\underline{p}) = -\underline{F}_{uy}^{T} \underline{y} + \underline{F}_{uy}^{T} \underline{F}_{uy} \underline{p} \qquad (A.5-4)$$

of the loss function by <u>p</u> equal to zero vector an explicit solution is obtained for the parameter estimation  $\hat{p}$  [46, 57].

 $\hat{\underline{p}} = (\underline{\underline{F}}_{uy}^{T} \underline{\underline{F}}_{uy})^{-1} \underline{\underline{F}}_{uy}^{T} \underline{\underline{v}} = [\underline{\underline{F}}^{T}(\underline{\underline{u}},\underline{\underline{v}})\underline{\underline{F}}(\underline{\underline{u}},\underline{\underline{v}})]^{-1} \underline{\underline{F}}^{T}(\underline{\underline{u}},\underline{\underline{v}})\underline{\underline{v}}. (A.5-5)$ 

The Hessian matrix of the second derivatives  $\mathbf{F}_{uy}^{T} \mathbf{F}_{uy}$  is a Grammian matrix that is non-negative definite. Thus the solution (A.5-5) (the solution of the Gauss normal equation system) gives a minimum point if  $\mathbf{F}_{uy\equiv uy}^{T}$  is not singular (i.e. has a full rank). The necessary condition of the regularity is that the number of the rows of  $\mathbf{F}_{uy}$  (i.e. the measurement points) be greater than or equal with the number of the columns (i.e. parameters), further that the elements of the vector of the function components  $\underline{f}(u,y,t)$  have a linear independence.

 $\underline{F}$  contains also a stochastic variable with the models generally dynamic used for discrete identification. In these cases only asymptotically unbiased estimation can be obtained for <u>p</u> but it has to be assumed that [15, 46, 57]

 $\underset{N \to \infty}{\text{plim}} \frac{1}{N} \left( \underline{\underline{F}}_{N}^{T} \underline{\underline{F}}_{N} \right) = \underline{\underline{S}}_{1}^{< \infty} \text{ and } \underset{N \to \infty}{\text{plim}} \frac{1}{N} \left( \underline{\underline{F}}_{N}^{T} \underline{\underline{e}}_{N} \right) = \underline{\underline{O}}, \quad (A, 5-6)$ 

where the N subscript denotes now the number of the processed samples. Then namely on the basis of (A.5-5) and (A.5-3)

$$\lim_{N \to \infty} \hat{\underline{p}}_{N} = \lim_{N \to \infty} (\underline{F}_{N}^{T} \underline{F}_{N})^{-1} \underline{F}_{N} \underline{Y}_{N} = \hat{\underline{p}}_{N} +$$

$$+ \lim_{N \to \infty} (\frac{1}{N} \underline{F}_{N}^{T} \underline{F}_{N})^{-1} \lim_{N \to \infty} (\frac{1}{N} \underline{F}_{N}^{T} \underline{e}_{N}) = \underline{p} .$$

$$(A.5-7)$$

Here the identity has been used according to which the probability limit of the product agrees with the product of the probability limits of the factors. Note that just now because of the statistical dependence of the two factors the formation of the expected value cannot be applied (with a given finite N), only the probability limit can. This accounts for the estimation being only asymptotically unbiased.

Under the conditions of (A.5-6) the LS estimation is asymptotically unbiased and, as proven by several authors [80,125], of all linear estimates it has the least standard deviation, is consistent and asymptotically efficient one. May we also remark at this point that the LS estimation can be applied not only in case of an error with normal distribution but agrees with the ML estimation in case of normal distribution.

With the generalized least squares method the detailed form of the loss function (1.3-5) to be minimized is by considering (A.5-3) and an arbitrary symmetrical <u>W</u> weight matrix:

$$Q(\underline{p}) = \frac{1}{2} (\underline{y} - \underline{F}_{uy} \underline{p})^{T} \underline{w} (\underline{y} - \underline{F}_{uy} \underline{p}) =$$
$$= \frac{1}{2} (\underline{y}^{T} \underline{w} \underline{y} - 2\underline{y}^{T} \underline{w} \underline{F}_{uy} \underline{p} + \underline{p}^{T} \underline{F}_{uy}^{T} \underline{w} \underline{F}_{uy} \underline{p}). \quad (A.5-8)$$

By forming the gradient and making it equal to zero vector for the necessary condition required by the minimum, we obtain that [15, 57]

$$\hat{\underline{p}} = \left[ \underline{F}^{\mathrm{T}}(\underline{u}, \underline{y}) \underline{\mathbb{Y}} \quad \underline{F}(\underline{u}, \underline{y}) \right]^{-1} \quad \underline{F}^{\mathrm{T}}(\underline{u}, \underline{y}) \underline{\mathbb{Y}} =$$

$$= \left( \underline{F}^{\mathrm{T}}_{\mathrm{uy}} \quad \underline{\mathbb{Y}} \quad \underline{F}_{\mathrm{uy}} \right)^{-1} \quad \underline{F}^{\mathrm{T}}_{\mathrm{uy}} \quad \underline{\mathbb{Y}} \quad .$$
(A.5-9)

This equation is the general solution of the GLS method and with the choice of  $\underline{W} = \underline{Z}^{-1}$  it agrees with the ML estimate in case of normal distribution. For the asymptotically unbiased estimate now the conditions - 175 -

$$\lim_{N \to \infty} \frac{1}{N} \left( \underline{\mathbb{F}}_{N}^{T} \underline{\mathbb{W}}_{N} \underline{\mathbb{F}}_{N} \right) = \underline{\mathbb{S}}_{2}^{< \infty} \text{ and } \lim_{N \to \infty} \frac{1}{N} \left( \underline{\mathbb{F}}_{N}^{T} \underline{\mathbb{W}}_{N} \underline{\mathbf{e}}_{N} \right) = \underline{0} \quad (A.5-10)$$

have to be fulfilled [57]. The subsequent train of thought agrees already with that applied in the equation (A.5-7). The properties of the GLS estimate agree with those of the LS estimate but the estimate with the minimum standard deviation requires the condition  $\underline{W} = \underline{Z}^{-1}$ .

On the basis of the conditions (A.5-7) and (A.5-10) we can attain the instrumental variables method. If, namely such instrumental variables can be constructed which participate in a  $\underline{G}_{N}$  instrumental matrix, where the conditions [57, 143]

 $\lim_{N \to \infty} \frac{1}{N} \left( \underline{\mathbf{G}}_{N}^{T} \underline{\mathbf{F}}_{N} \right) = \underline{\mathbf{S}}_{3}^{< \infty} \text{ and } \lim_{N \to \infty} \frac{1}{N} \left( \underline{\mathbf{G}}_{N}^{T} \underline{\mathbf{e}}_{N} \right) = \underline{\mathbf{O}} \quad (A.5-11)$ 

are fulfilled, then also the estimate

$$\hat{\underline{p}} = (\underline{\underline{G}}_{N}^{T} \underline{\underline{F}}_{N})^{-1} \underline{\underline{G}}_{N}^{T} \underline{\underline{V}}_{N}$$
(A.5-12)

will be asymptotically unbiased. In order to construct  $\underline{G}$  usually the noiseless output v(t), resp. in the practice its estimate is employed, therefore the notation  $\underline{G}(u,v) = \underline{G}_{uv}$  is justified. Thus (A.5-12) will have the form

$$\widehat{\underline{p}} = \left[ \underline{G}^{T}(\underline{u}, \underline{v}) \underline{F}(\underline{u}, \underline{v}) \right]^{-1} \underline{G}^{T}(\underline{u}, \underline{v}) \underline{v} =$$

$$\equiv \left( \underline{G}^{T}_{uv} \underline{F}_{uy} \right)^{-1} \underline{G}^{T}_{uv} \underline{v} \cdot \qquad (A.5-13)$$

By substituting  $\underline{y}$  by (A.5-3) into (A.5-12) and considering (A.5-11), we obtain that

$$\underset{N \to \infty}{\text{plim}} \ \hat{\underline{p}}_{N} = \underset{N \to \infty}{\text{plim}} (\underline{\underline{G}}_{N}^{T} \underline{\underline{F}}_{N})^{-1} \underline{\underline{G}}_{N}^{T} \underline{\underline{Y}}_{N} = \underline{p} +$$

$$+ \underset{N \to \infty}{\text{plim}} (\frac{1}{N} \underline{\underline{G}}_{N}^{T} \underline{\underline{F}}_{N})^{-1} \underset{N \to \infty}{\text{plim}} (\frac{1}{N} \underline{\underline{G}}_{N}^{T} \underline{\underline{e}}_{N}) = \underline{p} \cdot$$

$$(A.5-14)$$

The asymptotic properties of the IV method agree with those of the methods LS and GLS discussed above and it is easy to see [57, 143] that the optimal instrumental matrix  $\underline{G}$  is  $\underline{G} = \begin{bmatrix} \underline{F}^T & \underline{Z}^{-1} \end{bmatrix}^T$  that is it agrees with the ML estimate of general covariance matrix.

In what has gone before, the LS, GLS and IV methods were dealt with in detail in the case of a system model linear in parameters. The LS, GLS methods can, of course, be applied also in a case nonlinear in parameters, but the solution is much more complicated and usually obtained in a non-explicit form, but by some iterative minimization tehenique. Actually, the same holds for the ML estimation nonlinear in parameters, too, since the relation to the methods LS, GLS have already been made clear. Let us now make some supplementary remarks on the maximum likelihood method.

In case of  $\underline{Z} = \lambda^2 \underline{I}$ , i.e. an uncorrelated error, the detailed form of the likelihood function (1.3-4) is [8]:

$$L(\underline{p},\lambda) = -\frac{N}{2} \ln 2\P - \frac{N}{2} \ln \lambda^2 - \frac{1}{2\lambda^2} \underline{e}^T \underline{e}^T , \qquad (A.5-15)$$

where we have indicated that L is the function of both <u>p</u> and  $\lambda$ . We obtain the loss function (1.3-7) simply by assuming  $\lambda$  known. It is shown now that (1.3-7) remains valid also in the case of an unknown  $\lambda$  and we are enable to estimate  $\lambda$ , too. Let us form the partial derivative of (A.5-15) by  $\lambda$  and make it equal to zero.

$$\frac{\partial L(\underline{p},\lambda)}{\partial \lambda} = -\frac{N}{\lambda} + \frac{\underline{e}^{T} \underline{e}}{\lambda^{3}} = 0, \qquad (A.5-16)$$

whence the estimate of  $\lambda^2$ 

$$\hat{\lambda}^{2} = \lambda^{2}(\hat{\underline{p}}) = \frac{1}{N} \underline{e}^{T} \underline{e} \Big|_{\hat{\underline{p}}} = \frac{2}{N} Q(\hat{\underline{p}}). \qquad (A.5-17)$$

Here it is denoted by  $\hat{p}$  that the calculations have to be carried out with that p which ensures the maximum of L, i.e. with the estimated ML parameter vector. As now  $\lambda$  is a function of <u>p</u>, let substitute it back into (A.5-15):

Hence it is already easy to see that the maximum of  $L(\underline{p})$  can be achieved by minimizing the loss function

$$Q(\hat{\underline{p}}) = \min Q(\underline{p}) = \min \frac{1}{2} \underline{e}^{\mathrm{T}} \underline{e} \qquad (A.5-19)$$

as we have stated it on the basis of simpler considerations.

In case of the likelihood function (1.3-15) set for the MIMO systems, the solution is no more so self- evident. By simply considering only that in case of a given  $\frac{\Lambda}{=}$  the maximum of L is obtained by minimizing the expression

 $\sum_{\Sigma} \underline{e}^{T}(t) \underline{A}^{-1} \underline{e}(t)$ , then we would get quite another result, t=1

than by analyzing L in detail. Here the main problem is caused by  $\underline{\Lambda}$  being now a matrix. The likelihood function is now the function of  $\underline{P}$  and  $\underline{\Lambda}$  [108], i.e.

$$L(\underline{P}, \underline{A}) = -\frac{qN}{2} \ln 2\pi - \frac{N}{2} \ln \left|\underline{A}\right| - \frac{1}{2} \sum_{t=1}^{N} \underline{e}^{T}(t) \underline{A}^{-1} \underline{e}(t).$$
(A.5-20)

In order to determine the extremum value of L according to  $\Lambda_{\underline{a}}$ , for the simplicity let us make the matrix derivated by  $\Lambda_{\underline{a}}^{-1}$  equal to zero matrix:

$$\frac{\partial L(\underline{P},\underline{\Lambda})}{\partial \underline{\Lambda}^{-1}} = \frac{\underline{N}}{2} \quad \underline{\Lambda}^{-1} = -\frac{\underline{1}}{2} \quad \underline{\Sigma}^{-1} \underbrace{e^{(t)}\underline{e^{T}(t)}}_{t=1} \underbrace{$$

whence the estimate of  $\underline{\Lambda}$  is:

$$\hat{\underline{A}} = \hat{\underline{A}}(\hat{\underline{P}}) = \frac{1}{N} \sum_{\substack{\Sigma \\ t=1}}^{N} \frac{\underline{e}(t)\underline{e}^{T}(t)}{\underline{e}^{T}(t)} \Big|_{\hat{\underline{P}}} . \qquad (A.5-22)$$

Here  $\hat{\underline{P}}$  denotes that the calculations have to be carried out with that  $\underline{\underline{P}}$  which ensures the maximum of L, i.e. estimated ML parameter matrix. As now  $\underline{\underline{A}}$  is the function of  $\underline{\underline{P}}$ , let it be substituted back into (A.5-20).

$$L(\underline{P},\underline{A}) = L(\underline{P}) = -\frac{q \cdot N}{2} (\ln 2\pi + 1) - \frac{N}{2} \ln |\hat{\underline{A}}(\underline{P})|. \quad (A \cdot 5 - 23)$$

This relation is obtained by the following way. Let be

$$\underline{\underline{\mathbf{E}}} = \left[\underline{\mathbf{e}}(1), \dots, \underline{\mathbf{e}}(N)\right]. \tag{A.5-24}$$

By this notation

$$\hat{\underline{A}} = \frac{1}{N} \underline{\underline{E}} \underline{\underline{E}}^{\mathrm{T}}$$
 (A.5-25)

as we can find out by a simple expansion. By taking advantage of the identities related to the trace of the matrix, the (A.5-20) can be written also in the following form by considering the notation (A.5-24):

$$L(\underline{P},\underline{\Lambda}) = -\frac{qN}{2} \ln 2\pi - \frac{N}{2} \ln \left|\underline{\Lambda}\right| - \frac{1}{2} \sum_{t=1}^{N} tr[\underline{\Lambda}^{-1} \underline{e}(t)\underline{e}^{T}(t)] =$$
$$= -\frac{qN}{2} \ln 2\pi - \frac{N}{2} \ln \left|\underline{\Lambda}\right| - \frac{1}{2} tr(\underline{E}^{T} \underline{\Lambda}^{-1} \underline{E}). \quad (A.5-26)$$
Considering here 
$$\hat{\Lambda}$$
 according to  $(\mathbf{A}.5-25)$ :  

$$L(\underline{P},\underline{\Lambda})\Big|_{\hat{\underline{\Lambda}}} = L(\underline{P}) = -\frac{\mathbf{q}N}{2} \ln 2\P - \frac{\mathbf{N}}{2} \ln \left|\hat{\underline{\Lambda}}(\underline{P})\right| - \frac{\mathbf{N}}{2} \operatorname{tr}[\underline{\mathbf{E}}^{\mathrm{T}}(\underline{\mathbf{E}}^{\mathrm{T}} \underline{\mathbf{E}})^{-1} \underline{\mathbf{E}}] = -\frac{\mathbf{q}N}{2} \operatorname{tr}[\underline{\mathbf{E}}^{\mathrm{T}}(\underline{\mathbf{E}}^{\mathrm{T}} \underline{\mathbf{E}})^{-1} \underline{\mathbf{E}}] = -\frac{\mathbf{q}N}{2} \ln 2\P - \frac{\mathbf{N}}{2} \ln \left|\hat{\underline{\Lambda}}(\underline{\mathbf{P}})\right| - \frac{\mathbf{N}}{2} \operatorname{tr}[(\underline{\mathbf{E}}^{\mathrm{T}} \underline{\mathbf{E}})^{-1} \underline{\mathbf{E}}^{\mathrm{T}} \underline{\mathbf{E}}] = -\frac{\mathbf{q}N}{2} \ln 2\P - \frac{\mathbf{N}}{2} \ln \left|\hat{\underline{\Lambda}}(\underline{\mathbf{P}})\right| - \frac{\mathbf{N}}{2} \operatorname{tr}[(\underline{\mathbf{E}}^{\mathrm{T}} \underline{\mathbf{E}})^{-1} \underline{\mathbf{E}}^{\mathrm{T}} \underline{\mathbf{E}}] = -\frac{\mathbf{q}N}{2} \ln 2\P - \frac{\mathbf{N}}{2} \ln \left|\hat{\underline{\Lambda}}(\underline{\mathbf{P}})\right| - \frac{\mathbf{N}}{2} \operatorname{tr}(\underline{\mathbf{I}}_{\mathbf{q}}) = -\frac{\mathbf{q}\cdot\mathbf{N}}{2} (\ln 2\P + 1) - \frac{\mathbf{N}}{2} \ln \left|\hat{\underline{\Lambda}}(\underline{\mathbf{P}})\right|, \quad (\mathbf{A}.5-27)$$

- 179 -

the unit matrix  $I_{aq}$  is now an (qxq) matrix.

With the MIMO systems therefore the loss function to be minimized ensuring the maximum of the likelihood function [108] is

$$Q(\hat{\underline{P}}) = \min_{\underline{P}} \left| \hat{\underline{A}}(\underline{P}) \right| = \min_{\underline{P}} \left| \frac{1}{N} \underbrace{\underline{E}}_{\underline{P}} \underbrace{\underline{E}}^{T} \right| = \min_{\underline{P}} \left| \frac{1}{N} \underbrace{\underline{\Sigma}}_{\underline{E}} \underbrace{\underline{e}(t) \underline{e}^{T}(t)}_{\underline{E}} \right|,$$

$$(A.5-28)$$

i.e. the determinant of a matrix (the covariance matrix of the source noise).

Appendix 6.

## Definition:

The bounded u(t) signal is called persistently exciting with order q (CESARO condition) if

$$\overline{u} = \lim_{N \to \infty} \frac{1}{N} \sum_{t=1}^{N} u(t)$$
 (A.6-1)

and

$$r(k) = \lim_{N \to \infty} \frac{1}{N} \sum_{t=1}^{N} [u(t)-\overline{u}][u(t+k)-\overline{u}]$$
(A.6-2)

quantities exist and the (qxq) covariance matrix

$$\underline{R}_{q} = \begin{bmatrix} r(0) & r(1) & \dots & r(q-1) \\ r(1) & r(0) & \dots & r(q-2) \\ \vdots & & & \\ \vdots & & & \\ r(q-1) & r(q-2) & \dots & r(0) \end{bmatrix}$$
(A.6-3)

is posivite definite [12, 88].

Appendix 7.

According to Appendix 5, the LS estimation of the parameters is given by the solution

 $\hat{\underline{p}}_{ba} = (\underline{\underline{F}}_{uy}^{T} \underline{\underline{F}}_{uy})^{-1} \underline{\underline{F}}_{uy}^{T} \underline{\underline{v}} = [\underline{\underline{F}}^{T}(\underline{\underline{u}},\underline{\underline{v}})\underline{\underline{F}}(\underline{\underline{u}},\underline{\underline{v}})]^{-1} \underline{\underline{F}}^{T}(\underline{\underline{u}},\underline{\underline{v}})\underline{\underline{v}}.$ (A.7-1)

As the system equation has the form for N measurements

 $\underline{\mathbf{y}} = \underline{\mathbf{F}}(\underline{\mathbf{u}}, \underline{\mathbf{y}}) \underline{\mathbf{p}}_{ba} + \underline{\mathbf{e}} \equiv \underline{\mathbf{F}}_{uy} \underline{\mathbf{p}}_{ba} + \underline{\mathbf{e}} , \qquad (A.7-2)$ substituting it into (A.7-1) we get  $\widehat{\mathbf{p}}_{ba} = (\underline{\mathbf{F}}_{uy}^{T} \underline{\mathbf{F}}_{uy})^{-1} \underline{\mathbf{F}}_{uy}^{T} \underline{\mathbf{p}}_{ba} + (\underline{\mathbf{F}}_{uy}^{T} \underline{\mathbf{F}}_{uy})^{-1} \underline{\mathbf{F}}_{uy}^{T} \underline{\mathbf{e}} =$   $= \underline{\mathbf{p}}_{ba} + (\underline{\mathbf{F}}_{uy}^{T} \underline{\mathbf{F}}_{uy})^{-1} \underline{\mathbf{F}}_{uy}^{T} \underline{\mathbf{e}} . \qquad (A.7-3)$ 

Form now the probability boundary value of both sides

$$\lim_{N \to \infty} \hat{\underline{p}}_{ba} = \underline{p}_{ba} + \lim_{N \to \infty} (\frac{1}{N} \underline{F}_{uy}^{T} \underline{F}_{uy})^{-1} \lim_{N \to \infty} (\frac{1}{N} \underline{F}_{uy}^{T} \underline{e}) . \quad (A.7-4)$$

In case of the fulfilment of the conditions (A.5-6), the second term of the right side would be a zero vector and thus the estimation asymptotically unbiased. The condition related to the matrix  $\underline{S}_{1}$  in (A.5-6) is fulfilled if the input signal is persistently exciting with order 2n [12, 88].

Therefore the question is whether the condition

 $\lim_{N \to \infty} \left( \frac{1}{N} \operatorname{F}_{uy}^{\mathrm{T}} \underline{e} \right) = \underline{0} \tag{A.7-5}$ 

is fulfilled? Let us use the definition of  $\underline{F}_{uy}$  according to (2.1-6). On this basis we can write that

$$\underline{\underline{F}}_{uy}^{T} \underline{\underline{e}} = \underline{\underline{F}}^{T}(\underline{\underline{u}}, \underline{\underline{v}}) \underline{\underline{e}} = \underline{\underline{F}}^{T}(\underline{\underline{u}}, \underline{\underline{v}}) \underline{\underline{e}} + \underline{\underline{F}}^{T}(\underline{\underline{0}}, \underline{\underline{A}}^{-1} \underline{\underline{e}}) \underline{\underline{e}} . \qquad (A.7-6)$$

Here the equations (1.2-38), (2.1-5) and (2.1-6) have been considered and

$$\underline{\mathbf{v}} = \underline{\mathbf{A}}^{-1} \underline{\mathbf{B}} \underline{\mathbf{u}}, \qquad (\mathbf{A} \cdot 7 - 7)$$

i.e.  $\underline{v}$  is an N dimensional vector containing the values of the noiseless output of the process. Expand in detail the matrices  $\underline{F}^{T}(\underline{u},\underline{v})$  and  $\underline{F}^{T}(\underline{0},\underline{A}^{-1} \underline{e})\underline{e}$ 



similarly

$$\underline{\mathbf{F}}^{\mathrm{T}}(\underline{\mathbf{O}},\underline{\mathbf{A}}^{-1}\underline{\mathbf{e}}) = -\underline{\mathbf{e}}^{\mathrm{T}}(\underline{\mathbf{A}}^{-1}), \underline{\mathbf{T}}(\underline{\mathbf{S}}^{\mathrm{T}})$$
$$-\underline{\mathbf{e}}^{\mathrm{T}}(\underline{\mathbf{A}}^{-1}), \underline{\mathbf{T}}(\underline{\mathbf{S}}^{\mathrm{T}})$$
$$\vdots$$
$$-\underline{\mathbf{e}}^{\mathrm{T}}(\underline{\mathbf{A}}^{-1}), \underline{\mathbf{T}}(\underline{\mathbf{S}}^{\mathrm{T}})^{\mathrm{T}}$$

(A.7-9)

- 182 -

On the basis of the above equations the probability limits of the quadratic forms

$$\underset{N \to \infty}{\text{plim}} \left[ \frac{1}{N} \underline{u}^{\mathrm{T}} \left( \underline{\underline{s}}^{\mathrm{T}} \right)^{\mathrm{j}} \underline{e} \right]$$
(A.7-10)

and

$$\underset{N \to \infty}{\text{plim}} \begin{bmatrix} \frac{1}{N} e^{T} & (\underline{s}^{T})^{j} & \underline{e} \end{bmatrix}$$
(A.7-11)

have to be formed in (A.7-5). The <u>B</u>, resp.  $\underline{A}^{-1}$  TOEPLITZ matrices in (A.7-8) and (A.7-9) can always be written as the sums (linear combinations) of the <u>S</u> shift matrices, as it can be followed in App.2. In the formulas (A.7-10) and (A.7-11)the products of values of two signals shifted by j samples have to be added and averaged. This means therefore that

$$\lim_{N \to \infty} \left[ \frac{1}{N} \underline{u}^{\mathrm{T}} (\underline{\underline{s}}^{\mathrm{T}})^{\mathrm{j}} \underline{\underline{e}} \right] = r_{\mathrm{ue}}(\mathrm{j})$$
 (A.7-12)

and

$$\lim_{N \to \infty} \left[ \frac{1}{N} \underline{e}^{\mathrm{T}} (\underline{\underline{s}}^{\mathrm{T}})^{j} \underline{e} \right] = r_{ee}(j)$$
 (A.7-13)

where  $r_{ue}(j)$  is the value belonging to j shifts of the cross--correlation series of the signals u(t) and e(t), as well as  $r_{ee}(j)$  is the value belonging to j shifts of the autocorrelation series of e(t). According to our assumption for the uncorrelatedness of the input signal and the source noise,  $r_{ue}(j)$  is zero for all j-s. Likewise  $r_{ee}(j)$  is also zero for the values  $j \neq 0$  as e(t) is assumed to be a white noise. As j is never zero with the quadratic form (A.7-13), the condition (A.7-5) of the asymptotic unbiasedness is fulfilled. It is easy to see that if the equation error contains, instead of <u>e</u>, components of any other form (generally e.g. <u>Ce</u>), i.e.  $\underline{S}^{i}\underline{e}$  too, then because of the occurrence of the quadratic forms  $\underline{e}^{T}(\underline{S}^{T})^{j}$   $\underline{S}^{i}\underline{e}$  the (A.7-5) is no more fulfilled. Appendix 8.

According to (2.6-10)  $\hat{\underline{k}} = (\underline{M}_{u}^{\mathrm{T}} \underline{M}_{u})^{-1} \underline{M}_{u}^{\mathrm{T}} (\underline{y} - \underline{F}_{uv} \underline{p}_{ba}).$ (A.8-1) Substitute this into the term of the loss function  $Q(\underline{p}_{ba}) = \frac{1}{2} \underline{k}^{T} \underline{k}$ (A.8-2) then  $Q(\underline{p}_{ba}) = \frac{1}{2} (\underline{y} - \underline{F}_{uv} \underline{p}_{ba})^{T} \underline{M}_{u} (\underline{M}_{uv}^{T} \underline{M}_{u})^{-1} (\underline{M}_{uv}^{T} \underline{M}_{u})^{-1} *$  $\mathbf{x} \mathbf{M}_{u}^{\mathrm{T}}(\mathbf{y} - \mathbf{F}_{uv} \mathbf{p}_{ba}),$ (A.8-3)where it is used that  $\underline{M}_{u}^{T} \underline{M}_{u}$  and thus its inverse, too, are symmetric matrices. The gradient of the loss function  $\frac{\mathrm{dQ}(\underline{p}_{\mathrm{ba}})}{\mathrm{dp}_{\mathrm{ba}}} = - \operatorname{F}_{\mathrm{uv}}^{\mathrm{T}} \operatorname{M}_{\mathrm{u}}(\operatorname{M}_{\mathrm{u}}^{\mathrm{T}} \operatorname{M}_{\mathrm{uv}})^{-1}(\operatorname{M}_{\mathrm{uv}}^{\mathrm{T}} \operatorname{M}_{\mathrm{uv}})^{-1} *$  $\mathbf{x} \quad \underline{\mathbf{M}}_{\mathbf{u}}^{\mathrm{T}}(\underline{\mathbf{y}} - \underline{\mathbf{F}}_{\mathbf{u}\mathbf{v}} \, \underline{\mathbf{p}}_{\mathbf{b}\mathbf{a}}),$ (A.8-4)and by making it equal to zero vector we get

 $\hat{\mathbf{p}}_{ba} = \begin{bmatrix} \mathbf{F}_{uy}^{T} & \underline{\mathbf{M}}_{u} (\underline{\mathbf{M}}_{u}^{T} & \underline{\mathbf{M}}_{u})^{-1} (\underline{\mathbf{M}}_{u}^{T} & \underline{\mathbf{M}}_{u})^{-1} & \underline{\mathbf{M}}_{u}^{T} & \mathbf{F}_{uy} \end{bmatrix}^{-1} \\ \mathbf{x} \quad \mathbf{F}_{uy}^{T} & \underline{\mathbf{M}}_{u} (\underline{\mathbf{M}}_{u}^{T} & \underline{\mathbf{M}}_{u})^{-1} (\underline{\mathbf{M}}_{u}^{T} & \underline{\mathbf{M}}_{u})^{-1} & \underline{\mathbf{M}}_{u}^{T} & \mathbf{x} \\ \mathbf{x} \quad \mathbf{F}_{uy}^{T} & \underline{\mathbf{M}}_{u} (\underline{\mathbf{M}}_{u}^{T} & \underline{\mathbf{M}}_{u})^{-1} (\underline{\mathbf{M}}_{u}^{T} & \underline{\mathbf{M}}_{u})^{-1} & \underline{\mathbf{M}}_{u}^{T} & \mathbf{x} \\ \mathbf{x} \quad \mathbf{F}_{uy}^{T} & \underline{\mathbf{M}}_{u} (\underline{\mathbf{M}}_{u}^{T} & \underline{\mathbf{M}}_{u})^{-1} (\underline{\mathbf{M}}_{u}^{T} & \underline{\mathbf{M}}_{u})^{-1} & \underline{\mathbf{M}}_{u}^{T} & \mathbf{x} \\ \mathbf{x} \quad \mathbf$ 

- 185 -

Appendix 9.

The maximization of the likelihood function according to (2.7-12) - as referred to above several times - is a task equivalent with the minimization of the loss function

$$Q(\underline{\mathbf{p}}_{bla}) = \frac{1}{2} \sum_{t=1}^{N} \underline{\mathbf{w}}^{T}(t) \underline{\underline{z}}^{-1} \underline{\mathbf{w}}(t). \qquad (A.9-1)$$

The minimization has to be performed in such a way, that

$$\underline{g}_{0}^{\mathrm{T}}(u_{0}, y_{0}, t) \underline{p}_{\mathrm{bla}} = \underline{g}_{0}^{\mathrm{T}}(t) \underline{p}_{\mathrm{bla}} = 0 \qquad (A.9-2)$$

should be fulfilled for t=1,2,...,N. The extremum value problem under this constraint can be solved in the simplest way by the introduction of LAGRANGE multiplicators [41, 141]. Let  $2\Psi(t)$  be the multiplicator, then the original task can be reduced to the minimization of the modified loss function

$$Q^{*}[\underline{\mathbf{g}}_{0}(t), \Psi(t)] = \frac{1}{2} \sum_{t=1}^{N} [\underline{\mathbf{w}}^{T}(t)\underline{\mathbf{z}}^{-1} \underline{\mathbf{w}}(t) + 2\Psi(t)\underline{\mathbf{g}}_{0}^{T}(u_{0}, y_{0}, t)\underline{\mathbf{p}}_{bla}]$$
(A.9-3)

according to  $\underline{g}_{0}(u_{0}, y_{0}, t)$  and  $\Psi(t)$  [106]. Derive Q'

$$\frac{d\mathbf{Q}^{\prime}\left[\underline{\mathbf{g}}_{0}(t),\Psi(t)\right]}{d\underline{\mathbf{g}}_{0}(t)} = -\underline{\mathbf{Z}}^{-1} \underline{\mathbf{w}}(t) + \Psi(t)\underline{\mathbf{p}}_{bla}, \qquad (A.9-4)$$

where the relation (2.7-7) is also taken into consideration, i.e. the dependence of  $\underline{w}(t)$  from  $\underline{g}_0$ . By making the gradient (A.9-4) equal to zero vector, we obtain that

$$\underline{\mathbf{w}}(t) = \underline{\mathbf{g}}(\mathbf{u},\mathbf{y},t) - \underline{\mathbf{g}}_{0}(\mathbf{u}_{0},\mathbf{y}_{0},t) = \Psi(t) \underline{\underline{Z}} \underline{p}_{bla}.$$
(A.9-5)

Hence multiplying by 
$$\underline{p}_{bla}^{T}$$
  
 $\underline{p}_{bla}^{T} \underline{g}(u,y,t) - \underline{p}_{bla}^{T} \underline{g}_{0}(u_{0},y_{0},t) = \Psi(t)\underline{p}_{bla}^{T} \underline{z} \underline{p}_{bla}$ . (A.9-6)  
If we consider that  
 $\underline{p}_{bla}^{T} \underline{g}_{0}(u_{0},y_{0},t) = \underline{g}_{0}^{T}(u_{0},y_{0},t)\underline{p}_{bla} = 0, t=1,2,...,N,$ 

then

$$\underline{\mathbf{p}}_{bla}^{T} \underline{\mathbf{g}}(\mathbf{u}, \mathbf{y}, \mathbf{t}) = \Psi(\mathbf{t}) \underline{\mathbf{p}}_{bla}^{T} \underline{\mathbf{z}} \underline{\mathbf{p}}_{bla}$$
(A.9-8)

(A.9-7)

and finally  $\Psi(t)$  ensuring the minimum according to  $\underline{g}_{0}(t)$ :

$$\Psi(t) = \frac{\underline{p}_{bla}^{T} \underline{g}(u, y, t)}{\underline{p}_{bla}^{T} \underline{Z} \underline{p}_{bla}}; \quad t=1,2,\ldots,N. \quad (A.9-9)$$

On the other hand by expressing  $g_0(u_0, y_0, t)$  from (A.9-5)

$$\underline{g}_{0}(u_{0}, y_{0}, t) = \underline{g}(u, y, t) - \psi(t) \underline{z} \underline{p}_{bla}$$
(A.9-10)

and substituting it into (A.9-3), after the arrangement we obtain the expression

$$Q' = \frac{1}{2} \sum_{t=1}^{N} \Psi(t) \underline{g}^{T}(u, y, t) \underline{p}_{bla}, \qquad (A.9-11)$$

where the relation (A.9-8) is also taken account. As neither (A.9-9) nor (A.9-11) depend upon  $\underline{g}_0(t)$ , thus by substituting the  $\Psi(t)$  value belonging to the minimum according to (A.9-9) into (A.9-11), we obtain the minimum value  $Q^{\texttt{X}}$  according to  $\underline{g}_0(t)$  of Q' (and thus of Q, too, for we have considered the constraint). Therefore

- 187 -

- 188 -

$$Q^{\mathbf{x}} = \min_{\underline{g}_{0}(t)} Q^{\mathbf{y}} = \frac{1}{2} \sum_{t=1}^{N} \frac{\underline{p}_{bla}^{T} \underline{g}(u, y, t) \underline{g}^{T}(u, y, t) \underline{p}_{bla}}{\underline{p}_{bla}^{T} \underline{z} \underline{p}_{bla}} = \frac{1}{2} \frac{\underline{p}_{bla}^{T} [\underbrace{z}_{t=1}^{T} \underline{g}(u, y, t) \underline{g}^{T}(u, y, t)] \underline{p}_{bla}}{\underline{p}_{bla}^{T} \underline{z} \underline{p}_{bla}}$$

$$= \frac{1}{2} \frac{\underline{p}_{bla}^{T} \underline{g} \underline{p}_{bla}}{\underline{p}_{bla}^{T} \underline{g} \underline{p}_{bla}} = Q^{*}(\underline{p}_{bla}), \qquad (A.9-12)$$

where

$$\underline{G} = \sum_{t=1}^{\Sigma} \underline{g}(u,y,t) \underline{g}^{T}(u,y,t). \qquad (A.9-13)$$

Appendix 10.

The KOOPMANS-LEVIN method leads to the minimization according to  $\underline{p}_{bla}$  of the form

$$Q^{\mathbf{X}}(\underline{p}_{bla}) = \frac{1}{2} \frac{\underline{p}_{bla}^{T} \underline{g} \underline{p}_{bla}}{\underline{p}_{bla} \underline{z} \underline{p}_{bla}}$$
(A.10-1)

as written in (2.7-15).

It is well-known [105] that the solution of the extremum value problem

$$\frac{\underline{p}^{\mathrm{T}} \underline{G} \underline{p}}{\underline{p}^{\mathrm{T}} \underline{Z} \underline{p}} = \min \qquad (A.10-2)$$

is given by the eigenvector belonging to the least eigenvalue of the generalized eigenvalue problem

 $(\underline{\mathbf{G}} \mathbf{p} - \mu \underline{\mathbf{Z}} \mathbf{p}) = \underline{\mathbf{0}} . \tag{A.10-3}$ 

## G resolution:

Let the diagonal matrix formed from the eigenvalues of the symmetric matrix  $\underline{G}$  be  $\underline{L}$ , the matrix of its orthonormed eigen-vectors be  $\underline{A}$ . On the basis of the well-known theorems of the main diagonal transformation of the quadratic forms [105] it can be written that

$$\underline{\mathbf{A}}^{\mathrm{T}} \underline{\mathbf{G}} \underline{\mathbf{A}} = \underline{\mathbf{L}} ,$$

(A.10-4)

where because of orthonormality

	(A.10-5)
i.e.	
$\underline{\underline{A}}^{-1} = \underline{\underline{A}}^{\mathrm{T}} \cdot$	(A.10-6)
By expressing G from (A.10-4)	
$\mathbf{G} = (\mathbf{A}^{\mathrm{T}})^{-1} \mathbf{L} \mathbf{A}^{-1} = (\mathbf{A}^{-1})^{-1} \mathbf{L} \mathbf{A}^{-1} = \mathbf{A} \mathbf{L} \mathbf{A}^{\mathrm{T}} =$	
$= \underline{\mathbf{A}} \underline{\mathbf{L}}^{1/2} \underline{\mathbf{L}}^{1/2} \underline{\mathbf{A}}^{\mathrm{T}} = \underline{\mathbf{D}} \underline{\mathbf{D}}^{\mathrm{T}},$	(A.10-7)

where

$$\underline{\mathbf{D}} = \underline{\mathbf{A}} \ \underline{\mathbf{L}}^{1/2} \ . \tag{A.10-8}$$

The calculation of the square root matrix  $\underline{L}^{1/2}$  is now very simple because of the diagonality. By taking the resolution (A.10-7) in the original equation (A.10-3) into account, we obtain

$$(\underline{p} \ \underline{p}^{\mathrm{T}} - \mu \underline{Z}) \underline{p} = \underline{0} \quad . \tag{A.10-9}$$

With a rearrangement:

$$\underline{\mathbf{D}}[\underline{\mathbf{I}} - \mu \underline{\mathbf{D}}^{-1} \underline{\mathbf{Z}}(\underline{\mathbf{D}}^{-1})^{\mathcal{T}}]\underline{\mathbf{D}}^{\mathcal{T}} \underline{\mathbf{p}} = \underline{\mathbf{0}}, \qquad (\mathbf{A}, 10 - 10)$$

whence with the substitution

$$\underline{q} = -\underline{p}^{\mathrm{T}} \underline{p}$$
 (11-01.A)

we obtain that

$$\begin{bmatrix} \underline{\mathbf{p}}^{-1} & \underline{\mathbf{Z}} (\underline{\mathbf{p}}^{-1})^{\mathrm{T}} - \frac{1}{\mu} & \underline{\mathbf{I}} \end{bmatrix} \underline{\mathbf{q}} = (\underline{\mathbf{P}} - \mathbf{v} \underline{\mathbf{I}}) \underline{\mathbf{q}} = \underline{\mathbf{O}} \cdot$$
 (A.10-12)

Here already  $\underline{P} = \underline{P}^{T}$  so that the original general eigenvalue problem was reduced to the seeking of the eigenvalue of a symmetric matrix. The course of the solution is therefore the following:

- 1. Determine the eigenvalues and eigenvectors of the symmetric <u>G</u> matrix, thereupon form the <u>L</u> and <u>A</u> matrices,
- 2. Generate matrix  $\underline{P}$  resulting from the resolution of  $\underline{G}$  and determine the symmetric matrix  $\underline{P} = \underline{D}^{-1} \underline{Z} (\underline{D}^{-1})^{\mathrm{T}}$ .
- 3. As there is a reciprocal relation between  $\mu$  and  $\nu$ , we determine the eigenvector  $\underline{a}^{\texttt{X}}$  belonging to the greatest eigenvalue  $\nu$ .

(A.10-13)

(A.10-14)

4. On the basis of (A.10-11) we retransform  $\underline{q}^{\mathbf{x}}$ 

 $\underline{\mathbf{p}}^{\mathbf{x}} = -(\underline{\mathbf{p}}^{-1})^{\mathrm{T}} \underline{\mathbf{q}}^{\mathbf{x}}.$ 

5. As  $\underline{p}^{*}$  yields only an optimal direction in the parameter space, we have to ensure also that the (n+2)-nd component of  $\underline{p}_{bla}$  should be made equal to 1 according to the definition (2.7-3) to obtain the appropriate normalization of the vector. Therefore the final parameter estimation will have the form

$$\hat{\underline{p}}_{bla} = \frac{1}{\underset{p_{n+2}}{\underline{x}}} \underline{p}^{\underline{x}},$$

where  $p_{n+2}^{\mathbf{x}}$  denotes the (n+2)nd component of  $\underline{p}^{\mathbf{x}}$ . The above described scheme therefore requires the determination of the eigenvalues, eigenvectors of only a <u>symmetric</u> matrix.

## Z resolution:

Similarly to the  $\underline{G}$  resolution according to (A.10-7), the  $\underline{Z}$  resolution can also be carried out. Also in this case we would get to the preceding five points, resp. their application according to sense. Now, of course, the eigenvalues

and eigenvectors of  $\underline{Z}$  have to be determined in the first step. The problem of the  $\underline{Z}$  resolution arises just with the above initial step. In the practice it is a natural requirement to allow for certain "degeneration" of  $\underline{Z}$  when in (2.7-9)  $\underline{Z}_{uu}$  or  $\underline{Z}_{yy}$  is a zero matrix, or at least partially is. If the input signal is measured without error, the  $\underline{Z}_{uu} = \underline{0}$ . The application of the  $\underline{Z}$  resolution would cause a great problem for the performance of the main diagonal transformation. The choice of the  $\underline{G}$  resolution seems to be more reasonable because of such and similar problems.

Note that Eq. (A.10-3) multiplied by the inverse of the invertible matrix can be reduced to a simple eigenvalue problem but, of course, the eigenvalue of a non-symmetric matrix has to be found. Appendix 11.

Examine now the estimation of the parameter matrix  $P_{BA}$  of the system equation (3.1-8) according to the least squares method. The direct generalization of the LS estimation discussed with the SISO systems would be obtained by the minimization of the loss function

$$\underline{\underline{W}} = \sum_{t=1}^{N} \underline{\underline{e}}(t) \underline{\underline{e}}^{T}(t) = \underline{\underline{E}} \underline{\underline{E}}^{T}.$$
(A.11-1)

where

 $\underline{\underline{\mathbf{E}}} = \underline{\underline{\mathbf{Y}}} - \underline{\underline{\mathbf{P}}}_{\mathbf{B}\mathbf{A}} \underline{\underline{\mathbf{F}}} \quad . \tag{A.11-2}$ 

Thus  $\underline{W}$  is really proportional to the matrix of the moments of the calculated residuals  $\underline{e}(t)$ . As  $\underline{W}$  is a matrix, several kinds of scalar measures can really be used for minimization and this set of problems makes the essential difference compared to the SISO systems. After the choice of the appropriate scalar measure, it is usually intended with the MIMO systems that only the derivation of the scalar according to a vector should have to be used for minimization and the application of the derivative according to the matrix possibly avoided. Now the explicit solution of the LS parametric identification of the MIMO systems is given also via various approaches.

Choose as a scalar measure (loss function) the logarithm of the determinant of  $\underline{W}$  [57]. Then the condition

$$\frac{d \ln |\underline{\mathbf{W}}|}{d \underline{\mathbf{P}}_{BA}} = 2(\underline{\mathbf{Y}} \underline{\mathbf{F}}^{\mathrm{T}} - \underline{\underline{\mathbf{P}}}_{BA} \underline{\mathbf{F}} \underline{\mathbf{F}}^{\mathrm{T}}) \underline{\mathbf{W}}^{-1} = \underline{\mathbf{Q}}$$
(A.11-3)

 $\hat{\underline{P}}_{BA} = \underline{\underline{Y}} \underline{\underline{F}}^{T} (\underline{\underline{F}} \underline{\underline{F}}^{T})^{-1}.$ (A,11-4)

(In the relation(A.11-3) the rules of the derivation of the determinant according to the matrix have been used.)

We have shown in Appendix 5 that  $|\hat{\underline{\Lambda}}(\underline{P})|$  determinant is to be minimized with the ML parameter estimation of the MIMO systems. It is easy to see from the comparison of (A.5-28) and (A.11-1) that with the condition (A.11-3) we essentially solve the minimization of (A.5-28), too. This means that alike the SISO systems - in case of  $\underline{e}(t)$  source noise of normal distribution the LS and ML estimations coincide also with the MIMO systems and lead to the explicit solution according to (A.11-4)

Examine also another possible mode of approach. According to Eq. (3.1-12), the joint (matrix) system equation (3.1-18) can be arranged also in a vectorial form:

 $\underline{\mathbf{Y}}_{\mathbf{M}} = \underline{\mathbf{G}} \, \underline{\mathbf{p}}_{\mathbf{B}\mathbf{A}} + \underline{\mathbf{e}}_{\mathbf{M}} \,. \tag{A.11-5}$ 

As the measuring error appears now in the form of the vector  $\underline{e}_{M}$ , the ML estimation technique discussed with the SISO systems can be applied also now. The loss function formed in analogous way with the expression (1.3-5):

$$Q(\underline{\mathbf{p}}_{\mathbf{BA}}) = \frac{1}{2} \underline{\mathbf{e}}_{\mathbf{M}}^{\mathbf{T}} (\underline{\mathbf{I}}_{\mathbf{N}}^{\otimes \Lambda - 1}) \underline{\mathbf{e}}_{\mathbf{M}} .$$
(A.11-6)

Here we have considered that the covariance matrix of an

e(t) is  $\underline{A}$ , thus for the all set is  $\underline{I}_N \otimes \underline{A}$ . The N subscript indicates the size of the unit matrix. By further rewriting of (A.11-6), we obtain that  $Q(\underline{p}_{BA}) = \frac{1}{2} \left[ \underline{y}_{M}^{T} \left( \underline{I}_{N} \otimes \underline{A}^{-1} \right) \underline{y}_{M} - 2\underline{y}_{M}^{T} \left( \underline{I}_{N} \otimes \underline{A}^{-1} \right) \underline{g} \underline{p}_{BA} +$ +  $\underline{p}_{BA}^{T} \underline{G}^{T} (\underline{I}_{N} \otimes \underline{\Lambda}^{-1}) \underline{G} \underline{p}_{BA} ].$ (A.11-7) Let us form the gradient of Q according to pRA:  $\frac{\partial Q(\underline{p}_{BA})}{\partial Q(\underline{p}_{BA})} = -\underline{G}^{T}(\underline{I}_{N} \otimes \underline{A}^{-1})\underline{y}_{M} + \underline{G}^{T}(\underline{I}_{N} \otimes \underline{A}^{-1})\underline{G}\underline{p}_{BA},$ (A.11-8) 2DDV and making it equal to zero, we obtain:  $\hat{\underline{p}}_{\mathsf{B}\mathsf{A}} = \begin{bmatrix} \underline{\mathbf{G}}^{\mathrm{T}} & (\underline{\mathbf{I}}_{\mathrm{N}} \otimes \underline{\wedge}^{-1}) \underline{\mathbf{G}} \end{bmatrix}^{-1} \quad \underline{\mathbf{G}}^{\mathrm{T}} & (\underline{\mathbf{I}}_{\mathrm{N}} \otimes \underline{\wedge}^{-1}) \underline{\mathbf{Y}}_{\mathrm{M}} \quad .$ (A.11-9) By taking the definition of G in (3.1-13) into account:  $\hat{\underline{p}}_{BA} = \left[ \left( \underline{\underline{F}} \otimes \underline{\underline{I}}_{q} \right) \quad \left( \underline{\underline{I}}_{N} \otimes \underline{\underline{\Lambda}}^{-1} \right) \quad \left( \underline{\underline{F}}^{T} \otimes \underline{\underline{I}}_{q} \right) \right]^{-1} \left( \underline{\underline{F}} \otimes \underline{\underline{I}}_{q} \right) \left( \underline{\underline{I}}_{N} \otimes \underline{\underline{\Lambda}}^{-1} \right) \underbrace{\underline{\nu}}_{M} =$  $= (\underline{\mathbf{F}} \underline{\mathbf{F}}^{\mathrm{T}} \otimes \underline{\Lambda}^{-1})^{-1} (\underline{\mathbf{F}} \otimes \underline{\Lambda}^{-1}) \underline{\mathbf{y}}_{\mathrm{M}} = [(\underline{\mathbf{F}} \underline{\mathbf{F}}^{\mathrm{T}})^{-1} \underline{\mathbf{F}} \otimes \underline{\mathbf{I}}_{\mathrm{M}}] \underline{\mathbf{y}}_{\mathrm{M}}.$ (A.11-10)

Appendix 12.

Consider the loss function

$$\tilde{Q}(\underline{P}_{BAC}) = \frac{N}{2} \ln \left| \hat{A} = \underline{P}_{BAC} \right|$$
 (A.12-1)

to be minimized. Form the scalar derivative according to the  $p_k$ -th component:

$$\frac{\partial \mathbf{Q} \left(\underline{\mathbf{P}}_{\underline{\mathbf{BAC}}}\right)}{\partial \mathbf{p}_{\mathbf{k}}} = \frac{\partial}{\partial \mathbf{p}_{\mathbf{k}}} \frac{N}{2} \ln \left| \hat{\mathbf{A}} \left(\underline{\mathbf{p}}_{\underline{\mathbf{BAC}}}\right) \right| = \frac{N}{2} \frac{\mathbf{q}}{\sum_{i=1}^{\Sigma} \sum_{j=1}^{\Sigma} \frac{\partial \ln \left| \hat{\mathbf{A}} \right|}{\partial \hat{\lambda}_{ij}}} \frac{\partial \lambda_{ij}}{\partial \mathbf{p}_{\mathbf{k}}}, \quad (A.12-2)$$

where the rule of differentiation of the indirect function is applied, namely first the derivatives according to the elements  $\hat{\lambda}_{ij}$  of the matrix  $\hat{\underline{\Lambda}}$  have been formed. By utilizing that

$$\frac{\partial \ln \underline{X}}{\partial \underline{X}} = \underline{X}^{-1}$$
 (A.12-3)

and denoting by  $\hat{\lambda}^{ij}$  the i,j-th element of matrix  $\hat{\underline{\lambda}}^{-1}$ , we obtain the expression

$$\frac{\partial Q(\underline{P}_{BAC})}{\partial p_{k}} = \sum_{i=1}^{Q} \sum_{j=1}^{Q} \hat{\lambda}^{ij} \frac{\partial}{\partial p_{k}} \begin{bmatrix} \frac{1}{2} & \sum_{k=1}^{N} e_{i}(t)e_{j}(t) \end{bmatrix} =$$

$$= \sum_{t=1}^{N} \underline{e}^{T}(t) \hat{\underline{A}}^{-1} \frac{\partial \underline{e}(t)}{\partial p_{k}}$$
 (A.12-4)

which is only one element of the gradient.

On this basis the complete gradient vector [108] is:

$$\frac{\partial \tilde{Q}(\underline{P}_{BAC})}{\partial \underline{p}_{BAC}} = \sum_{t=1}^{N} \frac{d\underline{e}^{T}(t)}{d\underline{p}_{BAC}} \hat{\underline{A}}^{-1} \underline{e}(t) \cdot \qquad (A_{.}12-5)$$

Examine now the various expanded forms of the filter equation (3.2-22) in order to construct a recursive formula for their easy computation.

Arrange the partial derivatives the following way into a vector  $(i, j=1, \ldots, q)$ 

$$\underline{g}_{ij}^{B}(t) = \begin{bmatrix} \frac{\partial \underline{e}^{T}(t)}{\partial B_{oij}} & \dots, & \frac{\partial \underline{e}^{T}(t)}{\partial B_{nij}} \end{bmatrix}^{T} , \qquad (A.12-6)$$

$$\underline{g}_{ij}^{A}(t) = \begin{bmatrix} \frac{\partial \underline{e}^{T}(t)}{\partial A_{lij}} & \dots, & \frac{\partial \underline{e}^{T}(t)}{\partial A_{nij}} \end{bmatrix}^{T} , \qquad (A.12-7)$$

$$\underline{g}_{ij}^{C}(t) = \begin{bmatrix} \frac{\partial \underline{e}^{T}(t)}{\partial C_{lij}} & \dots, & \frac{\partial \underline{e}^{T}(t)}{\partial C_{nij}} \end{bmatrix}^{T} . \qquad (A.12-8)$$

By considering the relations (3.2-23) - (3.2-26), the following recursive equations can be written:

$$\underline{g}_{ij}^{B}(t) = \underline{S} \ \underline{g}_{ij}^{B}(t-1) + \underline{h}_{ij}^{B}(t) , \qquad (A.12-9)$$

$$\underline{g}_{ij}^{A}(t) = \underline{S} \ \underline{g}_{ij}^{A}(t-1) + \underline{h}_{ij}^{A}(t) , \qquad (A.12-10)$$

$$\underline{g}_{ij}^{C}(t) = \underline{S} \ \underline{g}_{ij}^{C}(t-1) + \underline{h}_{ij}^{C}(t) , \qquad (A.12-11)$$

where



(A.12-12)

furthermore

$$\underline{\mathbf{h}}_{ij}^{\mathrm{B}}(t) = \begin{bmatrix} 0 & \dots - u_{j}(t) & \dots 0, & \underline{0}^{\mathrm{T}}, & \dots, 0^{\mathrm{T}} \end{bmatrix}^{\mathrm{T}}, \qquad (A.12-13)$$

$$i - th$$

$$\underline{\mathbf{h}}_{ij}^{\mathbf{A}}(t) = \begin{bmatrix} 0 & \cdots & \mathbf{y}_{j}(t) & \cdots & \mathbf{0}, \\ \mathbf{0}^{\mathrm{T}}, & \cdots & \mathbf{0}^{\mathrm{T}} \end{bmatrix}^{\mathrm{T}}, \qquad (A.12-14)$$

$$i\hat{\mathbf{t}}_{\mathrm{th}}$$

$$\underline{\mathbf{h}}_{ij}^{C}(t) = \begin{bmatrix} 0 & \dots - e_{j}(t) & \dots & 0, \underline{0}^{T}, & \dots, \underline{0}^{T} \end{bmatrix}^{T}.$$

$$i\underline{\uparrow}_{th}$$
(A.12-15)

Here it has to be noted that  $\underline{S}$  in the equation (A.12-9) contains really by one more hypermatrices consisting of zeros under the fictive coefficient matrix  $\underline{C}_{n+1} \equiv \underline{0}$ . This has to be taken into account because of the coefficient  $\underline{B}_0$ . This slight inaccuracy in the notation does not cause any particular problem because we never perform in reality the multiplication by  $\underline{S}$  in its totality (let us think of the many zero elements) but we multiply only according to the first hyper row and set the other elements by shift. The relations presented now correspond to the generalization of the equation (2.2-26) for MIMO systems. elements of  $\underline{g}_{i,j}^{B}(t)$  we suggest to use the matrix

$$\underline{\underline{G}}_{ij}^{\mathrm{B}}(t) = \begin{bmatrix} \frac{\partial \underline{e}(t)}{\partial B_{oij}} & \dots & \frac{\partial \underline{e}(t)}{\partial B_{nij}} \end{bmatrix}$$

resp. the matrix constructed from these:

$$\underline{\underline{G}}_{11}^{B}(t)$$

$$\underline{\underline{G}}_{1q}^{B}(t)$$

$$\underline{\underline{G}}_{1q}^{B}(t)$$

$$\underline{\underline{G}}_{21}^{B}(t)$$

$$\underline{\underline{G}}_{21}^{B}(t)$$

$$\underline{\underline{G}}_{q1}^{B}(t)$$

$$\vdots$$

$$\underline{\underline{G}}_{qq}^{B}(t)$$

(A.12-17)

The way that the way that the second

(A.12-16)

The same can be carried out for the matrices  $\underline{G}^{A}(t)$  and  $\underline{G}^{C}(t)$ and all partial derivatives are contained in the matrix

$$\underline{\underline{G}}(t) = \begin{bmatrix} \underline{\underline{G}}^{C}(t) \\ \underline{\underline{G}}^{R}(t) \\ \underline{\underline{G}}^{C}(t) \end{bmatrix}$$
(A.12-18)

By following the equations (A.12-16) - (A.12-18), it can be found that by the recursive formation of the elements it ' is also very easy to calculate the gradient vector and the The calculation of the second order partial derivatives  $\partial^2 \underline{e}(t)/\partial p_i \partial p_j$  is fairly complicated so their computer programming can seldom occur. In spite of this, we give the relations. It is easy to see from the relations (3.2-23) - (3.2-25) that the second derivatives according to the elements of the coefficient matrices  $\underline{B}$  and  $\underline{A}$  have zero values, in consequence there is no interaction, while the second order derivatives formed by the elements of  $\underline{C}$  are not zeroes. Thus, the construction of  $\underline{T}_2$  similar to what was used with the SISO systems. The formation of the second order derivatives formed to the elements  $C_{kij}$  and  $C_{fgh}$ . Derive first both sides of the system equation (3.2-18) according to  $C_{kij}$ 

$$\frac{\partial \underline{c}(z^{-1})}{\partial c_{kij}} \underline{e}(t) + \underline{c}(z^{-1}) \frac{\partial \underline{e}(t)}{\partial c_{kij}} = \underline{0}$$
 (A.12-19)

i.e.

$$z^{-k} \underset{=ij}{\delta} \underline{e}(t) + \underline{c}(z^{-1}) \frac{\partial \underline{e}(t)}{\partial C_{kij}} = \underline{0}, \qquad (A.12-20)$$

whence

$$\underline{\underline{C}}(z^{-1})\frac{\partial \underline{e}(t)}{\partial C_{kij}} = -z^{-k} \underset{=ij}{\overset{\delta}{=}} \underline{e}(t) = \begin{bmatrix} 0 \\ \vdots \\ \vdots \\ -z^{-k} \\ e_{j}(t) \\ \vdots \\ \vdots \\ 0 \end{bmatrix} \leftarrow i-th .$$
(A.12-21)

- 201 -

The Eqs. (3.2-22) - (3.2-25) can be directly obtained by a deduction of such type. Here  $\delta_{ij}$  is the so-called KRONECKER matrix whose ij-th element has the value 1, all others have the value of zero. Derive now (A.12-21) according to  $C_{fgh}$ :

$$\frac{\partial \underline{\underline{c}}(z^{-1})}{\partial c_{fgh}} \quad \frac{\partial \underline{\underline{e}}(t)}{\partial c_{kij}} + \underline{\underline{c}}(z^{-1}) \frac{\partial^2 \underline{\underline{e}}(t)}{\partial c_{fgh} \partial c_{kij}} = -z^{-k} \underbrace{\delta_{ij}}_{\partial c_{fgh}} \frac{\partial \underline{\underline{e}}(t)}{\partial c_{fgh}},$$
(A.12-22)

resp.

$$z^{-f} \leq gh \frac{\partial \underline{e}(t)}{\partial C_{kij}} + \underline{c}(z^{-1}) \frac{\partial^{2} \underline{e}(t)}{\partial C_{fgh} C_{kij}} = -z^{-k} \leq ij \frac{\partial \underline{e}(t)}{\partial C_{fgh}}.$$
(A.12-23)

Hence the moving average filter equation serving for the generation of the second order derivative can be simply obtained:

$$\underline{\underline{C}}(z^{-1}) \frac{\partial^2 \underline{\underline{e}}(t)}{\partial \underline{C}_{fgh} \partial \underline{C}_{kij}} = -z^{-k} \underbrace{\underline{\delta}}_{\underline{\underline{i}}j} \frac{\partial \underline{\underline{e}}(t)}{\partial \underline{C}_{fgh}} - z^{-f} \underbrace{\underline{\delta}}_{\underline{\underline{e}}h} \frac{\partial \underline{\underline{e}}(t)}{\partial \underline{C}_{kij}} \cdot (A.12-24)$$

Here it is very difficult to find a solution as simple as for the SISO systems where the formation of the second order derivative coincided - regarding the technique - with that of the first order ones. Otherwise (A.12-24) can be written also in the form



by taking into account the identities (3.2-26). On the basis of this latter equation, the rules of recursive formation similar to the equations (A.12-9) - (A.12-11) can also be given for the generation of second order derivatives. The results can be extended, of course, to the formation of the other non-zero second order partial derivatives.

- 202 -

Appendix 13.

The loss function to be minimized is

$$Q(\underline{P}_{BA}) = \frac{1}{2} \left[ \operatorname{vec}(\underline{P}_{K}) \right]^{T} \left[ \operatorname{vec}(\underline{P}_{K}) \right] = \frac{1}{2} \operatorname{tr}(\underline{P}_{K}^{T} \underline{P}_{K}), \quad (A.13-1)$$

where  $\underline{\underline{P}}_{=k}$  is considered which ensures the LS fit and whose formula is

$$\hat{\underline{P}}_{k} = (\underline{Y} - \underline{P}_{BA} \underline{F})\underline{G}^{T} (\underline{G} \underline{G}^{T})^{-1}.$$
(A.13-2)

Form the arrangement of both sides of (A.13-2) into vector  $\operatorname{vec}(\hat{\underline{P}}_{k}) = [(\underline{\underline{G}} \underline{\underline{G}}^{\mathrm{T}})^{-1} \underline{\underline{G}} \otimes \underline{\underline{I}}] \operatorname{vec}(\underline{\underline{Y}} - \underline{\underline{P}}_{\mathrm{BA}}) \underline{\underline{F}}, \qquad (A.13-3)$ 

consequently

$$\mathbb{Q}\left(\underline{\mathbb{P}}_{BA}\right) = \frac{1}{2} \left\{ \left[ \left(\underline{\mathbb{G}} \ \underline{\mathbb{G}}^{\mathrm{T}}\right)^{-1} \ \underline{\mathbb{G}} \otimes \underline{\mathbb{I}} \right] \operatorname{vec}\left(\underline{\mathbb{Y}} - \underline{\mathbb{P}}_{BA} \ \mathbb{F}\right) \right\}^{\mathrm{T}} \times \right\}$$

$$\frac{dQ(\underline{p}_{BA})}{d\underline{P}_{BA}} = \{ 2(\underline{F} \otimes \underline{I}) [\underline{G}^{T} (\underline{G} \ \underline{G}^{T})^{-1} (\underline{G} \ \underline{G}^{T})^{-1} \ \underline{G} \otimes \underline{I} ] (\underline{F}^{T} \otimes \underline{I}) \operatorname{vec} (\underline{P}_{BA}) - (\underline{F} \otimes \underline{I}) [\underline{G}^{T} (\underline{G} \ \underline{G}^{T})^{-1} (\underline{G} \ \underline{G}^{T})^{-1} \ \underline{G} \otimes \underline{I} ] (\underline{F}^{T} \otimes \underline{I}) \operatorname{vec} (\underline{Y}) - (\underline{F} \otimes \underline{I}) [\underline{G}^{T} (\underline{G} \ \underline{G}^{T})^{-1} (\underline{G} \ \underline{G}^{T})^{-1} \ \underline{G} \otimes \underline{I} ] (\underline{F}^{T} \otimes \underline{I}) \operatorname{vec} (\underline{Y}) - (\underline{F} \otimes \underline{I}) [\underline{G}^{T} (\underline{G} \ \underline{G}^{T})^{-1} (\underline{G} \ \underline{G}^{T})^{-1} \ \underline{G} \otimes \underline{I} ] (\underline{F}^{T} \otimes \underline{I}) \operatorname{vec} (\underline{Y}) \} \frac{1}{2} \cdot (\underline{F} \otimes \underline{I}) [\underline{G}^{T} (\underline{G} \ \underline{G}^{T})^{-1} (\underline{G} \ \underline{G}^{T})^{-1} \ \underline{G} \otimes \underline{I} ] (\underline{F}^{T} \otimes \underline{I}) \operatorname{vec} (\underline{Y}) \} \frac{1}{2} \cdot (A.13-6)$$

By making the gradient equal to zero vector, we obtain  

$$\operatorname{vec}(\hat{\underline{P}}_{BA}) = \{(\underline{F} \otimes \underline{I}) [ \underline{G}^{T} (\underline{G} \ \underline{G}^{T})^{-1} (\underline{G} \ \underline{G}^{T})^{-1} \ \underline{G} \otimes \underline{I} ] (\underline{F}^{T} \otimes \underline{I}) \}^{-1} \times$$
  
 $\times (\underline{F} \otimes \underline{I}) [ \underline{G}^{T} (\underline{G} \ \underline{G}^{T})^{-1} (\underline{G} \ \underline{G}^{T})^{-1} \ \underline{G} \otimes \underline{I} ] \operatorname{vec}(\underline{Y}).$  (A.13-7)  
By the simplification of this latter equation:

$$\operatorname{vec}(\widehat{\underline{\mathbf{P}}}_{BA}) = \left[ \underline{\mathbf{F}} \ \underline{\mathbf{G}}^{\mathrm{T}}(\underline{\mathbf{G}} \ \underline{\mathbf{G}}^{\mathrm{T}})^{-1}(\underline{\mathbf{G}} \ \underline{\mathbf{G}}^{\mathrm{T}})^{-1} \ \underline{\mathbf{G}} \ \underline{\mathbf{F}}^{\mathrm{T}} \otimes \underline{\mathbf{I}} \right]^{-1} \quad \mathbf{x}$$

$$\mathbf{x} \left[ \underline{\mathbf{F}} \ \underline{\mathbf{G}}^{\mathrm{T}}(\underline{\mathbf{G}} \ \underline{\mathbf{G}}^{\mathrm{T}})^{-1}(\underline{\mathbf{G}} \ \underline{\mathbf{G}}^{\mathrm{T}})^{-1} \ \underline{\mathbf{G}} \right] \operatorname{vec}(\underline{\mathbf{Y}}) =$$

$$= \{ \underline{\mathbf{G}}^{\mathrm{T}}(\underline{\mathbf{G}} \ \underline{\mathbf{G}}^{\mathrm{T}})^{-1}(\underline{\mathbf{G}} \ \underline{\mathbf{G}}^{\mathrm{T}})^{-1} \ \underline{\mathbf{G}} \ \underline{\mathbf{F}}^{\mathrm{T}} \left[ \underline{\mathbf{F}} \ \underline{\mathbf{G}}^{\mathrm{T}}(\underline{\mathbf{G}} \ \underline{\mathbf{G}}^{\mathrm{T}})^{-1}(\underline{\mathbf{G}} \ \underline{\mathbf{G}}^{\mathrm{T}})^{-1} \\ \underline{\mathbf{G}} \ \underline{\mathbf{F}}^{\mathrm{T}} \right]^{-1} \otimes \underline{\mathbf{I}} \} \quad \mathbf{x} \operatorname{vec}(\underline{\mathbf{Y}}) \quad . \qquad (A.13-8)$$

On the basis of (A.4-4) this expression can already be written back into the form of a matrix relation

 $\mathbf{\mathbf{G}} \mathbf{\mathbf{F}}^{\mathrm{T}} \mathbf{\mathbf{\mathbf{J}}^{-1}}$ .

(A.13-9)

Appendix 14.

The second order TAYLOR series of the loss function (4-5) at  $\underline{p}(t)$  for the reference point  $\underline{p}(t-1)$  is [17]:

$$J[\underline{p}(t)] \cong J[\underline{p}(t-1)] + \Delta \underline{p}^{T}(t-1) \frac{dJ[\underline{p}(t-1)]}{d\underline{p}(t-1)} +$$

+  $\frac{1}{2} \Delta \underline{p}^{\mathrm{T}}(t-1) \underline{H} \{ J[\underline{p}(t-1)] \} \Delta \underline{p}(t-1), \qquad (A.14-1) \}$ 

where

$$\Delta \underline{p}(t-1) = \underline{p}(t) - \underline{p}(t-1) .$$
 (A.14-2)

During the seeking optimal in the second order sense we are looking for the minimum of (A.14-1) in every step, that is such a  $\Delta \underline{p}(t-1)$  step for which the necessary condition of the minimum

$$\frac{dJ[\underline{p}(t)]}{d\underline{p}(t)} = \frac{dJ[\underline{p}(t-1)]}{d\underline{p}(t-1)} + H\{J[\underline{p}(t-1)]\} \quad \Delta \underline{p}(t-1) = \underline{0} \quad (A.14-3)$$

will be fulfilled.

Determine the terms in (A.14-3). As the distribution or time function of Q is not known, (4-5) will be approximated in the following form:

$$J[\underline{p}(t)] = \frac{1}{t} \sum_{j=1}^{t} Q[\underline{x}(j), \underline{p}(t)]. \qquad (A.14-4)$$

Consider that although in (4-6) the argument is  $\underline{p}(t-1)$  but  $\underline{x}(t)$  has already arrived and  $\underline{x}(j)=\underline{x}(t)$  is in Q. On the basis of these and taking (A.14-4) into account:

- 207 -

$$\underline{H}\{J[\underline{p}(t-1)]\} = \frac{1}{t} \sum_{j=1}^{t} \underline{H}\{Q[\underline{x}(j), \underline{p}(t-1)]\}. \quad (A.14-5)$$

It is easy to see that we still do not know the new <u>p</u> (on the other hand we already know  $\underline{x}(t)$ ), therefore exists <u>p</u>(t-1).

Likewise we obtain that

$$\frac{dJ[\underline{p}(t-1)]}{d\underline{p}(t-1)} = \frac{1}{t} \sum_{j=1}^{t} \frac{dQ[\underline{x}(j),\underline{p}(t-1)]}{d\underline{p}(t-1)} . \quad (A.14-6)$$

If we have performed the steps until now in the on-line STA algorithm optimally, then the condition

$$\frac{1}{t} \sum_{j=1}^{t-1} \frac{dQ[\underline{x}(j), \underline{p}(t-1)]}{d\underline{p}(t-1)} = 0 \qquad (A.14-7)$$

must hold. Therefore

$$\frac{dJ[\underline{p}(t-1)]}{d\underline{p}(t-1)} = \frac{1}{t} \frac{dQ[\underline{x}(t),\underline{p}(t-1)]}{d\underline{p}(t-1)} .$$
(A.14-8)

In connection with the summations in the relations (A.14-5)and (A.14-6), not the following: Here the running index j in the argument of <u>x</u> and <u>p</u> is always the last known value. This circumstance makes the calculations very difficult, since the summation had to be repeated after the determination of every <u>p</u> value from the beginning of the data collection. In connection with (A.14-6) this problem will be solved due to the assumption (A.14-7), but we can obtain the better computational form (A.14-5) if <u>H</u> is only the function of the series <u>x</u>(j) and does not depend upon <u>p</u>. (This is only a necessary condition!)

According to the above, Eq. (A.14-3) becomes

$$\frac{1}{t} \frac{dQ[\underline{x}(t),\underline{p}(t-1)]}{d\underline{p}(t-1)} + \begin{bmatrix} \frac{1}{t} & \sum_{j=1}^{t} & \underline{H}\{Q[\underline{x}(j),\underline{p}(t-1)]\} \end{bmatrix} \Delta \underline{p}(t-1) = \underline{0} .$$
(A.14-9)

Hence

$$\Delta \underline{p}(t-1) = \begin{bmatrix} t \\ \Sigma \\ j=1 \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} \frac{t}{2} & \underline{H} \{Q[\underline{x}(j), \underline{p}(t-1)]\} \end{bmatrix} -1 & \frac{dQ[\underline{x}(t), \underline{p}(t-1)]}{d\underline{p}(t-1)} \\ (A.14-10)$$

As the on-line algorithm has the form

$$\Delta \underline{p}(t-1) = -\underline{R}(t) \frac{dQ[\underline{x}(t),\underline{p}(t-1)]}{d\underline{p}(t-1)} , \qquad (A.14-11)$$

thus the optimal value of  $\underline{R}(t)$  from the comparison of the two equations is

$$\underline{\underline{R}}(t) = \begin{bmatrix} t \\ \sum \\ j=1 \end{bmatrix} \underbrace{\underline{H}} \{ Q[\underline{x}(j), \underline{p}(t-1)] \} \end{bmatrix}^{-1} . \quad (A.14-12)$$

Appendix 15.

On the basis of (4.1-6) we can write that

$$\underline{\underline{R}}(t) = \left[\underline{\underline{R}}^{-1}(t-1) + \underline{\underline{f}}(t)\underline{\underline{f}}^{T}(t)\right]^{-1}.$$
(A.15-1)

Apply now the general identity relating to the partitioned matrices (proved among others also in [80]):

$$(\underline{A} + \underline{B} \underline{D} \underline{B}^{\mathrm{T}})^{-1} = \underline{A}^{-1} - \underline{A}^{-1} \underline{B}(\underline{D}^{-1} + \underline{B}^{\mathrm{T}} \underline{A}^{-1} \underline{B})^{-1} \underline{B}^{\mathrm{T}} \underline{A}^{-1}.$$
(A.15-2)

Let be

$$\underline{\underline{A}} \stackrel{\Delta}{=} \underline{\underline{B}}^{-1}(t-1) , \qquad (A.15-3)$$

$$\underline{\underline{B}} \stackrel{\Delta}{=} \underline{\underline{f}}(t) \qquad (A.15-4)$$
and

Thus

$$\underline{\underline{R}}(t) = \underline{\underline{R}}(t-1) - \underline{\underline{R}}(t-1) \underline{\underline{f}}(t) \mathbf{x}$$

$$\mathbf{x} \Big[ 1 + \underline{\underline{f}}^{T}(t) \underline{\underline{R}}(t-1) \underline{\underline{f}}(t) \Big]^{-1} \underline{\underline{f}}^{T}(t) \underline{\underline{R}}(t-1) =$$

$$= \underline{\underline{R}}(t-1) - \frac{\underline{\underline{R}}(t-1) \underline{\underline{f}}(t) \underline{\underline{f}}^{T}(t) \underline{\underline{R}}(t-1)}{1 + \underline{\underline{f}}^{T}(t) \underline{\underline{R}}(t-1) \underline{\underline{f}}(t)} \cdot (\mathbf{x} - 1) \mathbf{x} - \mathbf$$

- 209 -

- 210 -

Appendix 16.

Substitute the relation (4.1-11) into the formula (4.1-10) of the parameter estimation:

$$\underline{\mathbf{p}}_{ba}(\mathbf{N}+1) = \underline{\mathbf{R}}(\mathbf{N})\underline{\mathbf{F}}_{uy}^{\mathrm{T}}(\mathbf{N})\underline{\mathbf{y}}_{\mathrm{N}} - \frac{\underline{\mathbf{R}}(\mathbf{N})\underline{\mathbf{f}}(\mathbf{N}+1)\underline{\mathbf{f}}^{\mathrm{T}}(\mathbf{N}+1)\underline{\mathbf{R}}(\mathbf{N})}{1+\underline{\mathbf{f}}^{\mathrm{T}}(\mathbf{N}+1)\underline{\mathbf{R}}(\mathbf{N})\underline{\mathbf{f}}(\mathbf{N}+1)} \underline{\mathbf{F}}_{uy}^{\mathrm{T}}(\mathbf{N})\underline{\mathbf{y}}_{\mathrm{N}} +$$

+ 
$$\underline{\underline{R}}(\underline{N})\underline{\underline{f}}(\underline{N+1})\underline{y}(\underline{N+1}) - \frac{\underline{\underline{R}}(\underline{N})\underline{\underline{f}}(\underline{N+1})\underline{\underline{f}}^{T}(\underline{N+1})\underline{\underline{R}}(\underline{N})}{1+\underline{\underline{f}}^{T}(\underline{N+1})\underline{\underline{R}}(\underline{N})\underline{\underline{f}}(\underline{N+1})} \underline{\underline{f}}(\underline{N+1})\underline{y}(\underline{N+1}),$$
  
(A.16-1)

where the notation (4.1-12) is taken into account. By using the relations (4.1-9) and (4.1-12)

$$\underline{\mathbf{p}}_{ba}(\mathbf{N}+1) = \underline{\mathbf{p}}_{ba}(\mathbf{N}) + \frac{\underline{\mathbb{P}}(\mathbf{N})\underline{\mathbf{f}}(\mathbf{N}+1)}{1+\underline{\mathbf{f}}^{\mathrm{T}}(\mathbf{N}+1)\underline{\mathbb{P}}(\mathbf{N})\underline{\mathbf{f}}(\mathbf{N}+1)} [\mathbf{y}(\mathbf{N}+1)-\underline{\mathbf{f}}^{\mathrm{T}}(\mathbf{N}+1)\underline{\mathbf{p}}_{ba}(\mathbf{N})].$$
(A.16-2)

By multiplying both sides of the relation (4.1-7) by  $\underline{f}(t)$  it is easy to see that in the latter equation

$$\frac{\underline{\mathbf{R}}(\underline{\mathbf{N}})\underline{\mathbf{f}}(\underline{\mathbf{N}+1})}{\underline{\mathbf{I}}(\underline{\mathbf{N}+1})\underline{\mathbf{f}}(\underline{\mathbf{N}+1})} = \underline{\underline{\mathbf{R}}}(\underline{\mathbf{N}+1})\underline{\mathbf{f}}(\underline{\mathbf{N}+1}), \qquad (A.16-3)$$

$$1 + \underline{\mathbf{f}}^{\mathrm{T}}(\underline{\mathbf{N}+1})\underline{\underline{\mathbf{R}}}(\underline{\mathbf{N}})\underline{\mathbf{f}}(\underline{\mathbf{N}+1})$$

therefore

$$\underline{\mathbf{p}}_{ba}(\mathbf{N}+1) = \underline{\mathbf{p}}_{ba}(\mathbf{N}) + \underline{\mathbf{R}}(\mathbf{N}+1) \underline{\mathbf{f}}(\mathbf{N}+1) \left[ \mathbf{y}(\mathbf{N}+1) - \underline{\mathbf{f}}^{\mathrm{T}}(\mathbf{N}+1) \underline{\mathbf{p}}_{ba}(\mathbf{N}) \right].$$
(A.16-4)

## REFERENCES

- 1 AASNAES, H.B. KAILATH, T.: An Innovations Approach to Least-Squares Estimation - Part VII: Some Applications of Vector Autoregressive - Moving Average Models, IEEE Trans. on Aut. Control, Vol. 18, No 6, 1973.
- 2 AKAIKE, H.: Maximum likelihood identification of Gaussian autoregressive moving average models, Biometrika, Vol. 60, No 2, 1973.
- 3 AKAIKE, H.: On a decision procedure for system Identification, IFAC, Kyoto, 1970.
- 4 ANDERSSON, T.W.: An Introduction to Multivariate Statistical Analysis, John Wiley & Sons, New York, 1962.
- 5 ANDERSON, T.W.: The Statistical analysis of time series, John Wiley & Sons, Inc. 1971.
- 6 AOKI,C. YUE, P.C.: On Certain Convergence Questions in System Identification, SIAM J. Control, Vol, 8, No 2., 1970.
- 7 AOKI, M. YUE, P.C.: On A Priori Error Estimates of Some Identification Methods, IEEE Trans. on Aut. Control, Vol. 15, No 5, 1970.
- 8 ASTRÖM,K.J. BOHLIN,T. WENSMARK,S.: Automatic construction of linear stochastic dynamic models for stationary industrial processes with random distrubances using operating records, TP 18.150, Technical paper June 1, 1965. IBM Nordic Laboratory, Sweden.

- 9 ASTRÖM,K.J. BOHLIN,T.: Numerical Identification of Linear Dynamic Systems from Normal Operating Records, IFAC Symposium on the theory of Self-Adaptive Systems, Teddington, 1965.
- 10 ASTRÖM,K.J.: On the choice of Sampling Rates in Parametric Identification of Time Series, Information Sciences, <u>1</u>, 1969.
- 11 ASTRÖM, K.J.: On the Achievable Accuracy in Identification Problems, IFAC, Prague, 1967.
- 12 ASTRÖM, K.J. EYKHOFF, P.: System Identification A survey, IFAC, Prague, 1970.
- 13 ASTRÖM, K.J.: Introduction to Stochastic Control Theory Academic Press, New York and London, 1970.
  - ASTRÖM,K.J. KALLSTRÖM,C.: Identification and Modelling of Ship Dynamics, Report 7202, Lund Inst. of Tech., Div. of Aut. Control, 1972.
- 15 BALAKRISHNAN, A.V. PETERKA, V.: Identification in Automatic Control Systems, Automatica, Vol. 5. 1969.

14

16 BÁNYÁSZ,Cs. - dr.GERTLER,J.: A parameteridentifikáció maximum likelihood módszerének numerikus vizsgálata. VI. Magyar Automatizálási Konferencia, Budapest, 1970.

- BÁNYÁSZ,Cs.: Diszkrét identifikációs módszerek számitógépes vizsgálata.
   Müszaki Egyetemi Doktori Disszertáció. 1971.
   MTA-AKI Közlemények, 1972,5.
- 18 BÁNYÁSZ,Cs. dr. GERTLER,J.: On two methods of discrete system identification. Problems of Control and Information Theory, Vol. 1(3-4), pp. 287-296. (1972).
- 19 BÁNYÁSZ,Cs.: Identification in the presence of drift. MTA SZTAKI Közlemények, 1974/4. és Lund Institute of Technology, Division of Automatic Control, Report 7343. Dec. 1973.
- 20 BÁNYÁSZ,Cs. HABER,R. KEVICZKY,L.: Some estimation methods for nonlinear discrete-time identification. 3<sup>rd</sup> IFAC Symposium on Identification and System Parameter Estimation, 1973. Hague.
- 21 BÁNYÁSZ,Cs. HABER,R. KEVICZKY,L.: Identification of discrete dynamic systems with separable nonlinearity, 3<sup>rd</sup> All-Union Conference on Statistical Methods in Control Theory. Vilnius, 1973.
- 22 BÁNYÁSZ,Cs.: Identifikációs módszerek lineáris diszkrét idejü rendszerekre. VII. Magyar Automatizálási Konferencia, Budapest, 1973. okt. 15-18.
- BÁNYÁSZ,Cs. KEVICZKY,L. HÁBER,R.: Nemlineáris diszkrétidejű rendszerek identifikációja,
   VII. Magyar Automatizálási Konferencia, Budapest,
   1973. okt. 15-18.
- BÁNYÁSZ,Cs. KEVICZKY,L.: Lineári dinamikus folyamatok identifikációja mintavételezett adatok alapján.
   I-II. Elektrotechnika, <u>67</u>, 1974. és <u>68</u>, 1975.
- 25 BÁNYÁSZ,Cs. KEVICZKY,L.: "Some experiences with the PKF discrete-time identification method. Problems of Control and Information Theory, <u>4</u>, 3, 1974, pp.259-274.
- 26 BÁNYÁSZ,Cs.:- KEVICZKY,L.: A new version of the KOOPMANS-LEVIN identification method. Fifth Iranian Conference on Electrical Engineering, 1975. oct. 27-30. Pahlavi University, Shiraz, Iran.
- 27 BOHLIN, T.: On the Maximum likelihood Method of Identification IBM J.Res. Develop., 1970.
- 28 BOHLIN, T.: On the Problems of Ambiguities in Maximum Likelihood Identification. Automatica 7, 1971.
- 29 van den BOOM,A.J.W. van den ENDEN,A.W.M.: The determination of the orders of process and noise dynamics, 3<sup>rd</sup> IFAC Symp on Ident, and Syst. Parameter Estimation, Hague/Delft, 1973.
- 30 van den BOOM, A.J.W. MELIS, J.H.A.M.: A comparison of some process Parameter estimating schemes, IFAC, Warsaw 1969.
- 31 CHAN, Y.T.: Parameter Estimation of Linear Multivariable Plants Using the Instrumental Variable Method., IFAC, Hague/Delft, 1973.
- 32 CHOW, J.C.: On the Estimation of the Moving-Average Parameters, IEEE Transactions on Aut. Control, 1972. April.

- 33 CLARKE, D.W.: Generalized least-squares estimation of the parameters of a Dynamic Model, IFAC, Prague, 1967.
- 34 COURTIOL, B.: On a Multidimensional Systems Identification Method, IEEE Trans. on Aut. Contr., 1972. June
- 35 CUENOD, M. SAGE, A.P.: Comparison of Some Methods used for Process Identification, IFAC, Prague, 1967.
- 36 CUMMING, I.G.: On-line Identification of a Steel Mill, Automatica, Vol. 8., 1972.
- 37 ЦЫПКИН, Я.З.: Адаптация и обучение в автоматических системах. Издательство "Наука". Москва, 1968.
- 38 ЦЫПКИН, Я.З.: Основы теории обучающихся систем. Издательство "Наука". Москва, 1970.
- 39 ЦЫПКИН, Я.З.: Принципы построения адаптивных и обучающихся систем. Материал семинарии проф. Цыпкина и Фу. Будапешт, 1971.
- 40 CSÁKI,F.: Szabályozások, dinamikája, Akadémiai Kiadó, Budapest, 1966.
- 41 CSÁKI, F.: Korszerü szabályozáselmélet, Akadémiai Kiadó, Budapest, 1970.
- 42 CSÁKI, F.: Fejezetek a szabályozástechnikából.
   Állapotegyenletek,
   Müszaki Könyvkiadó, Budapest, 1973.

- 43 DAVIES, W.D.T. DOUCE, J.L.: On-line System Identification in the Presence of Drift., IFAC, Prague, 1967.
- 44 EATON, J.H.: Identification for control purposes, IEEE Winter meeting, New York, 1967.
- 45 EKLUND, K. GUSTAVSSON, I.: Identification of drum boiler dynamics, Report, 7327, Lund Institute of Technology Division of Automatic Control, 1973.
- 46 EYKHOFF, P.: Some Fundamental Aspects of Process Parameter Estimation, IEEE. Trans. on Aut. Control, 1963.
- 47 EYKHOFF, P.: System identification, Parameter and state estimation, John Wiley & Sons, Ltd. 1974.
- 48 FRIGYES, A.: Determinisztikus jelekkel pertrubált rendszerek gyors identifikációja, különös tekintettel folyamatirányitó számitógép operációs rendszerében való alkalmazás lehetőségére. Doktori értekezés, Budapest, 1973.
- 49 FURTH, B.P.: Maximum likelihood identification of Aström model by quasilinearization. 3<sup>rd</sup> IFAC Symp. on Ident, and Syst. Par.Est., Hague/ Delft, 1973.
- 50 GANGLIARDI, R.M.: Input Selection for Parameter Identification in Discrete Systems, IEEE Trans. on Aut. Control, 1967. Oct.

- 51 GALIANA, F.D.: On the Approximation of Multiple Input Multiple Output constant linear systems. Int.J.Control, Vol, 17, No.6., 1973.
- 52 GERTLER, J.: Diszkrét rendszerek korrelációs sorozatainak számitása időtartományban, Mérés és Automatika, No 6., 1970.
- 53 GERTLER, J. BÁNYÁSZ, Cs.: A Recursive /On-Line/ Maximum Likelihood Identification Method, IEEE Transactions on Automatic Control, Vol. Ac-19, No.6. December 1974.
- 54 GERTLER, J. BÁNYÁSZ, Cs.: On-line maximum likelihood módszer, Mérés és Automatika, <u>5</u>, 1974.
- 55 GIBSON,R.C.: Recursive Maximum Likelihood Estimates Using the Ito Calculus. IEEE on Aut. Control, 1969. Oct.
- 56 GODFREY, K.R. GOODWIN, G.C.: IFAC Report, Industry-University Confrontation on Process Identification. Automatica, Vol, 10. 1974.
- 57 GOLDBERGER, A.S.: Economic Theory. John Wiley & Sons, Inc. 1964.

58 GRAUPE, D. - SWANICK, B.H. - CASSIR, G.R.: Reduction and Identification of Multivariable Processes Using Regression Analysis, IEEE Transactions on Aut. Control, 1968. Oct.

- 59 GUPTA, N.N.: System Parameter Determination via Linear Functional Estimation, Int.J. Systems Sci., Vol. 2, No 2, 1971.
- 60 GUSTAVSSON, I.: Parametric Identification of Multiple Input Single Output Linear Dynamic Systems, Report 6907, Lund Institute of Technology, Division of Automatic Control.
- 61 GUSTAVSSON,I.: Identification of Dynamics of a Distillation Column. Report, 6916, Lund Inst. of Techn, Div. of Aut. Control 1969.
- 62 GUSTAVSSON, I.: Comparison of different methods for identification of industrial processes, Report 7107 B, September 1971. Lund Institute of Technology Division of Automatic Control
- 63 GUSTAVSSON, I.: Comparison of different methods for Identification of industrial Processes, Automatica, Vol.8, 1972.
- 64 GUSTAVSSON,I.: Survey of applications of identification on chemical and physical processes, Report 7313, Lund Institute of Technology, Division of Automatic Control, 1973.
- 65 GUSTAVSSON,I. LJUNG,L. SÖDERSTRÖM,T.: Identification of Linear, Multivariable Process Dynamics Using Closed Loop Experiments. Report 7401, Lund Inst. of Techn. Div. of Aut. Control 1974.

66

GUSTAVSSON,I.: Identification of Industrial process dynamics, Report 7402, January 1974. Lund Institute of Technology, Division of Automatic Control.

- 67 GUSTAVSSON,I. LJUNG,L. SÖDERSTRÖM,T.: Identification of linear, multivariable process dynamics using closed loop experiments. Report 7401, January 1974. Lund Institute of Technology, Division of Automatic Control.
- 68 HASTINGS JAMES, R. SAGE, M.W.: Recursive generalizedleast-squares procedure for on-line identification of process parameters. Proc. IEE. Control & Science, Vol. 116., No. 12, 1969.
- 69 HEYMANN, M.: A Unique canonical form for multivariable linear systems. Int. J. Control, Vol. 12, No.6, 1970.
- 70 HÖGE, H.: Stochastic Algorithms in system Identification, Int. J. Control, Vol, 17, No 6, 1973.
- 71 HSIA,T.C.: New Generalized least-squares estimation Algorithm for System Identification, IEEE Conference on Decision and Control, 1973.
- 72 ISERMANN, R. BAUR, U. BAMBERGER, W. KNEPPO, P. -SIEBERT, H.: Comparison of Six On-line Identification and Parameter Estimation Methods, Automatica, Vol. 10, 1974.

- 73 KURZ,H. ISERMANN,R.: Methods for On-line Process Identification in closed Loop, IFAC Congress, Boston, 1975.
- 74 KAILATH,T. DICKINSON,B. MORF,M. SIDHU,G.S.: Some New Algorithms for Recursive Linear Estimation and Related Problems, IEEE Conf. on Decision and Control, 1973.
- 75 KALE, B.K.: On the solution of likelihood equation by iteration processes. Biometrika, <u>48</u>, 1961.
- 76 KALE, B.K.: On the solution of likelihood equations by iteration processes. The multiparametric case. Biometrika, <u>49</u>, 1962.
- 77 KALMAN, R.E.: Design of a self-optimizing control System, Trans. ASME, Vol 80, 1958.
- 78 KASHYAP,R.L.: Maximum Likelihood Identification of Stochastic Linear Systems, IEEE Trans. on Aut. Control, Vol.15, No 1, 1970.
- 79 KAYA,Y. ISHIKAWA,M.: Test of goodness of fit of a dynamic system model, 3<sup>rd</sup> Hawaii Int. Conf. on Syst. Sc., Honolulu, 1970.
- 80 KENDALL, M.G. STUART.A.: The advanced Theory of Statistics, Vol 1-2. Charles Griffin & Company Limited London. 1961.
- 81 KEVICZKY,L. BÁNYÁSZ,Cs. KOCSIS,J.: On some problems of adaptive optimal process control. Periodica Polytechnica, 18, 1. 85-97, 1974.

- 221 -

- 82 KEVICZKY,L. BÁNYÁSZ,Cs.: Some innovations to the multiple input multiple output identification and control. Periodica Polytechnica, Vol. 19, 4, 1975, pp. 317-327.
- 83 KEVICZKY,L.: On the Equivalence of Discrete and Continuous Transfer Functions, PCIT, Vol.6,2, 1977, pp. 111-128.
- 84 KULLBACK, S.: Information Theory and Statistics. John Willey & Sons, Inc. 1966.
- 85 LEDEN, B.: Identification of Dynamics of a one dimensional heat diffusion process, Report 7121, Lund Inst. of Tech, Div. of Aut. Control, 1971.
- 86 LEVIN, M.J.: Estimation of a System Pulse Transfer Function in the Presence of Noise. IEEE Transactions on Aut. Control 1964.
- 87 LINDBERGER, N.A.: Stochastic Modelling of Computer Regulated Linear Plants in Noisy Environments. Int.J.Control, Vol, 17. No 1, 1973.
- 88 LJUNG,L.: Characterization of the Concept of "Persistently exciting" in the frequency domain. Report 7119 November 1971 Lund Institute of Technology Division of Automatic Control
- 89 LJUNG,L.: On consistency for prediction Error Identification Methods. Report 7405, March 1974. Lund Institute of Technology Division of Automatic Control

- 90 LJUNG,L.: Stochastic Convergence of Algorithms for Identification and Adaptive Control. Report 7406, March 1974. Lund Institute of Technology Division of Automatic Control.
- 91 LOBBIA,R.N. SARIDIS,G.N.: On-line Identification of multivariable stochastic feedback systems, Proc. JACC Conf., 1972.
- 92 MEDITCH, J.S.: Stochastic Optimal Linear Estimation and Control, Mc. Graw-Hill, 1969.
- 93 MEHRA, R.K.: On-line identification of linear dynamic systems with applications to Kalman Filtering. IEEE Transactions on Automatic Control, Vol. AC-16, No.1, 1971.
- 94 MOLER, C.B. STEWART, G.W.: An Algorithm for generalized matrix eigenvalue problems, SIAM J. Numer.Anal., Vol. 10, No 2, 1973.
- 95 MOORE,R.L. SCHWEPPE,F.C.: Model Identification for Adaptive Control of Nuclear Power Plants, Automatica, Vol. 9., 1973.
- 96 MURTHY, D.N.P. KRONAUER, R.E.: Method for Identifying Linear Dynamic Systems, IEEE Trans. on Aut. Control, 1973. oct.
- 97 NEUDECKER, H.: Some theorems on matrix differentiation with special reference to Kronecker matrix products. American Statistical Association Journal, 1969. Sept.

- 98 NIEMAN, R.E. FISHER, D.G. SEBORG, D.E.: A Review of Process Identification and Parameter Estimation Techniques, Int, J. Control, Vol. 13, No. 2, 1971.
- 99 OLSSON,G.: Maximum Likelihood Identification of Some Loops of the Halden Boiling Water Reactor, Report 7207, Lund Inst. of Techn. Division of Aut. Control, 1972.
- 100 PANUSKA, V.: An adaptive hybrid model for system identification, 3<sup>rd</sup> Hawaii Int. Conf. on Syst. Sc., Honolulu, 1970.
- 101 PASSERI, D.P. HERGER, C.J.: Parameter Identification of a Class of Multiple Input/Multiple Output Linear Discrete-Time Systems.
- 102 PETERKA, V.: A new Approach to the Identification of Discrete Dynamics, Kybernetika, Vol. 4, No 5, 1968.
- 103 PETERKA, V. HALOUSKOVA, A.: Tally Estimate of Aström Model for Stochastic Systems, IFAC, Prague, 1970.
- 104 PETERKA,V. SMUK,K.: On-line estimation of dynamic model parameters from input-output data, IFAC, Warsaw, 1969.
- 105 RAO,C.R.: Linear statistical inference and its applications, John Wiley & Sons, 1965.

- 106 ROGERS, A.E. STEIGLITZ, K.: Maximum likelihood Estimation of Rational Transfer Function Parameters, IEEE Transactions on Automatic Control, 1967. Oct
- 107 ROGERS, A.E. STEIGLITZ, K.: On System Identification from noise-obscured input and output measurements. Int.J. of Control, Vol. 12, No. 4, 1970.
- 108 ROWE, I.H.: A Statitical Model for the Identification of Multivariable Stochastic Systems, IFAC, Düsseldorf, 1968.
- 109 ROWE, I.H.: A Bootstrap Method for the Statistical Estimation of Model Parameters, Int. J. Control, Vol. 12, No.5, 1970,
- 110 SAGE, A.P. MELSA, J.L.: Estimation Theory with Applications to Communications and Control, Mc Graw - Hill, 1971.
- 111 SAGE, A.P. MELSA, J.L.: System Identification, Academic Press, 1971.
- 112 SAGE, A.P. WAKEFIELD, C.D.: On invariant imbedding and maximum likelihood adaptive estimation, IEEE Syst., Man and Cybern. Group Annual Symp., Anaheim, California, 1971.
- 113 SARIDIS,G.N. STEIN,G.: Stochastic Approximation Algorithms for Linear Discrete-Time System Identification, IEEE Trans. on Aut. Contr., Vol 13, No 5. 1968.
- 114 SARIDIS,G.N. LOBBIA,R.N.: Parameter identification and Control of Linear Discrete-Time Systems, IEEE. Trans. on Aut. Contr. Vol. 17, No 1, 1972.

- 115 SARRIS, A.H. EISNER, M.: Parameter Estimation of ARMA models Using a Computationally Efficient Maximum Likelihood Technique, IEEE Conf. on Decision and Control, 1973.
- 116 SCHULLER,G.: On the Order of Convergence of Certain
  Quasi-Newton-Methods,
  Numerische Math, Vol, 23, 1974.
- 117 SHEARER, B.R. TURLEY, P.: Reference Manual for Aström Parameter Estimation Routine. Department of Computing and Control, Imperial College, 1971.
- 118 SHERIF, A. WU, M.Y.: Identification of linear dynamic systems, Int. J. Control, Vol. 19, No-1, 1974.
- 119 SINHA, N.K. SEN, A.: Comparison of some on-line identification methods for a simulated first order process, Aut. Control Theory and Applications, Vol. 2, No 2, 1974.
- 120 SMETS, A.J.: The Instrumental Variable Method and Related Identification Schemes, TH-Report 70-E -15, Eindhoven University of Technology Netherlands, Department of Electrical Engineering, 1970.
- 121 SMITH, N.H. SAGE, A.P.: A Sequential Method for System Identification in Hierarchical Structure, Automatica, Vol, 9. 1973.
- 122 SOUDACK, A.C. SURYANARAYANAN, K.L. RAO, S.G.: A unified approach to discrete-time system identification, Int. J. Control, Vol. 14. No.6, 1009-1029, 1971.

- 123 SÖDERSTRÖM,T.: On the convergence properties of the generalized least-squares identification method. Report 7228, November 1972. Lund Institute of Technology Division of Automatic Control.
- 124 SÖDERSTRÖM,T.: Uniqueness and on-line algorithms in identification of linear dynamic systems. Report 7314, April 1973. Lund Institute of Technology Division of Automatic Control.
- SÖDERSTRÖM,T.: On the Asymptotic estimates of least squares identification. Report 7327 /C/ November 1973 Lund Institute of Technology Division of Automatic Control
- 126 SÖDERSTRÖM,T.: An on-line algorithm for approximate maximum likelihood identification of linear dynamic systems. Report 7308, March 1973. Lund Institute of Technology Division of Automatic Control
- 127 SÖDERSTRÖM,T.: On the Uniquess of Maximum Likelihood Identification, Automatica, Vol. 11, 1975.
- 128 STEFANSKI, A. WEYGANDT, C.N.: Extension of the STEIGLITZ and Mc.BRIDE identification Technique, IEEE Trans. on Aut. Control, 1971. Oct.
- 129 STEIGLITZ, K. Mc.BRIDE, L.E.: A Technique for the Identification of Linear Systems, IEEE Transactions on Aut. Control, 1965. Oct.

- 130 TALMON, J.L.: Approximated Gauss-Markov estimators and related schemes. TH-Report 71-E-17 Eindhoven University of Technology Dept. of El. Engineering Netherland, 1971.
- 131 TALMON, J.L. van den BOOM, A.J.W.: On the Estimation of the Transfer Function parameters of Process - and Noise Dynamics Using a Single - Stage Estimator. 3<sup>rd</sup> IFAC Symp. on Ident.and Syst. Par. Est., Hague/ Delft, 1973.
- 132 THATHACHAR, M.A.L. RANGANATH, H.S.: On-line Identification of Linear Systems. Int.J.Systems Science, Vol,2, No 2., 1971.
- 133 TRETTER,S.A.: Pulse-Transfer-Function Identification Using Discrete Orthonormal Sequences, IEEE Trans. on Audio and Electroacoustics, Vol.18, No.2, 1970.
- 134 TZAFESTAS,S.G.: Some computer-aided estimators in stochastic control systems identification. Int. J. of Control, Vol, 12, No. 3, 1970.
- 135 VAJK,I. KEVICZKY, L. BÁNYÁSZ,Cs.: The PROCAL in the Service of Control Engineering. A.I.C.A. Symposium on "Simulation Languages for Dynamic Systems, London, 1975.
- 136 VALIS, J.: On-line identification of Multivariable Linear Systems of Unknown Structure from Input-Output Data, IFAC Symp, on Ident. and Process Parameter Est. Prague, 1970.

- 137 VÁMOS,T: Nagy ipari folyamatok irányitása, Akadémiai Kiadó, Budapest, 1970.
- 138 ZADEH,L.A. DESOER,C.A.: Linear System Theory. The State Space Approach, Mc Graw-Hill Book Company, Inc., 1963.
- 139 WESTENBERG, J.Z.: Some identification schemes for nonlinear noisy processes, TH-Report 70-E-15, December 1969. Eindhoven University of Technology Dept. of Electrical Engineering Netherlands
- 140 WIESLANDER, J.: Real time identification Part I. Report 6908 November 1969. Lund Institute of Technology Division of Automatic Control
- 141 WILDE, D.J.: Optimum Seeking Methods, Prentice-Hall, Inc. 1964.
- 142 WOODSIDE, C.M.: Estimation of the Order of Linear Systems, Automatica, Vol.7, 1971.
- 143 YOUNG, P.C.: An Instrumental Variable Method for Real-Time Identification of a Noisy Process, Automatica, Vol.6, 1970.
- 144 YU-CHI-HO, LEE, R.C.K.: Identification of Linear Dynamic Systems, Information and Control, Vol. 8, 1965.
- 145 YUE, P.C.: The Identification of Constrained Systems with High Dimension, Dissertation, University of California, Los Angeles 1970.





